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PREFACE

HE Anglo-Russian convention took such an unconscion-

Tablc time to mature that Sir Sidney Lee thought it was an
excellent illustration of the proverb “Tout vient a point a qui
saitattendre.” Itsprogress was accompanied and often delayed
by several extraneous events, which none the less exercised a
decisive influence. The first two chapters of this volume sketch
the course of the Anglo-Russian reconciliation through the
years between the first overture in 1898 until after the close
of the Russo-Japanese war, during which period the idea of
arriving at a general understanding barely managed to survive.
The chronological course of the final, successful negotiations,
and the contemporaneous attitude towards them of the most
interested outsiders, are recounted in the third chapter. Then
follow three other chapters devoted to the positions occupied,
and to the settlements reached, by Great Britain and Russia
in the three Asiatic countries specifically concerned in the
treaty, which were so utterly helpless to command any con-
sideration of their own desires. In the last chapter the recep-
tion accorded the convention in its own day is recalled, while
a fresh interpretation of its worth concludes this study.
//In quoting from documents and books (among which there
1s not much material available in Russian) I have regularized
the spelling of proper names, and I have generally followed
the style used by the Journal of Modern History for capital-
ization and arrangement of footnotes. I have received much
helpful assistance in writing this account. I am greatly in-
debted to Professors Samuel N. Harper and Bernadotte E.
Schmitt, of the University of Chicago, who saw me through
the whole of this work. For their criticisms and suggestions,
which saved me many mistakes, and for the kindness with
which these were given, I am heartily thankful.

CHIcAGO, ILLINOIS,
21 JANUARY 1939.






CHAPTER ONE

FORSAKING RIVALRY: THE AGREEMENT OF 1899

NE April day in 1899, in the quiet of his office in the

Wilhelmstrasse, the crabbed Friedrich von Holstein put
into writing some thoughts on German foreign policy over
which he had earnestly brooded. It seemed probable, to start
with, that the incessant rivalry between France and Great
Britain in colonial questions could not be settled. The conces-
sions that could be offered by Great Britain would not be sufh-
cient to pry France loose from its alliance with Russia, and
the French position in Morocco would be unwelcome to Great
Britain, because it lay athwart the British control of the short-
est sea route to Egypt and India. It would be still more difh-
cult for Russia and Great Britain to compose their sharp
quarrels, because the concessions that the latter could offer
were even less than could be given to France. Anyhow, the
leaders of Russian policy were surely convinced that a strong
Germany was essential to their country, and there were no
interests between the two nations which collided. What Ger-
many might have to fear in the future was not Russian state
policy, but only an occasional outburst of national feeling. The
antagonism between Russia and Great Britain, however, ap-
peared to be an unalterable fact, which could be counted upon
in the determination of a proper German foreign policy.* The
time was close at hand when no political opponent of Germany
would dare attempt anything without being previously sure of
the German attitude. They would soon be approaching Ger-
many seeking its friendship on such terms and conditions as it
should choose to exact. The only danger that the German
ambassador in London, Count Hatzfeldt, could think of was

a Johannes Lepsius, Albrecht Mendelssohn Bartholdy, and Friedrich Thimme,
editors, Die Grosse Politik der europiischen Kabinette 1871-1914. Sammlung
der diplomatischen Akten des Auswiartigen Amtes, (Berlin, 1922-1927), XIV,
part II, no. 4016, p. 536. (This collection is subsequently designated by the
initials G. P.) See also Otto Hammann, Deutsche Weltpolitik 18go-1912, (Ber-

lin, 1925), p. 97.
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that Great Britain might succeed in making a firm, political
understanding with Russia.’

No important German diplomat believed, in 1899, that
there was any likelihood of such an understanding. After
1898, when Great Britain first desired to escape from isolation
as the skies of the future began to cloud over, an early pro-
posal was made to Germany for an agreement. The German
reaction was cool, because that government saw no need for
limiting its freedom of action, but preferred to make its choice
of sides when the occasion should arise, and then on its own
terms.° Allusions to some new direction that would be given
to British policy, such as courting a peaceful settlement with
Russia, cost what it would, if Germany stood off too haughtily,
never won much credence.? While the kaiser was visiting at
Windsor, in November 1899, Mr. Balfour, by then Lord
Salisbury’s heir-apparent, mentioned that Asia was big enough
to hold both Russia and Great Britain, so that there need be
no unbridgable gulf between them, but the German foreign
minister, Bernhard von Biillow, remained unruffled.® Similar
Russian statements were treated with even less interest. The
Russian minister for foreign affairs, Count Muravyev, told
Prince Radolin, German ambassador in St. Petersburg, on 29
June 1899, that Russia_and Great Britain were not irrecon-
cilable rivals, and that an understanding between them in Asia
was quite possible, as the Chinese agreement of the previous
April testified. Muravyev was such a voluble sycophant that
he was seldom taken seriously, so Radolin never quivered an
eyelash at his “bombastic phrases.” They were only manu-
factured threats: Great Britain would never be duped for long
by Russia, nor would Russia resign from all its pretensions in
Asia for the sake of peace with an old enemy.!

b G. P, XIV, part I, no. 4019, p. 544

cJ. L. (;rarvm The Llfe of Joseph Chamberlam vol. 111, Empire and World
Policy, 1895-1900, (London, 1934), pp. 254-277. Eugen Flscher Holsteins grosses
Nein. Die deutsch-englischen Biindnisverhandlungen won 1898 1901, (Berlin,
1925), p. ix. Morrison B. Giffen, Fashoda: the Incident and Its Diplomatic
Setting, (Chicago, 1930), p. 194.

4 Garvin, III, 27s.

eFischer, pp. 201, 202. G. P., XV, no. 4398, p. 415s.

T1bid., X1V, part II, no. 4022, pp. 551-552. In Berlin, on 5 May 1899, the
Russian ambassador, Count Osten-Sacken, had informed Billow that it was
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Holstein's thoughts on unalterable antagonisms and impos-
sible combinations did not become dogmas in German foreign
policy all at once, but the foreign office increasingly counted
upon the permanence of the clash of interests between France
and Russia on the one hand, and Great Britain on the other.
It was not long, however, before this political phenomenon was
believed “‘with the assurance with which astronomers await
an eclipse of the sun.”” ® When a second attempt for an Anglo-
German agreement was being pushed in 1901 by Lord Lans-
downe, the British foreign secretary, the German government
was interested, but stood out for better terms, which it did not
obtain.® The mockery and scorn which greeted every sugges-
tion that Great Britain, rebuffed by Germany, would turn to
Russia, were unrestrained. Holstein distrusted ‘‘the friend-
ship storms of Chamberlain and Company,” while every threat
of seeking an accommodation with France or Russia was noth-
ing less than an ‘“‘absolute swindle,” or ‘‘nonsense and swindle."”
Billow considered the warning to be merely a “bugbear.”’

Indeed it did seem at the turn of the century sound doctrine
to hold that such strange creatures as personified by the whale
and the bear were certain to remain implacable and constant
enemies for a still further, and undisclosed length of time.
The animosity which was characteristic of the relations of
Russia and Great Britain was a development of the nineteenth
century. Before that century began, the intercourse between
these two countries had not been particularly abnormal, and
the first quarter of the century had not produced any specific
scene of conflict. From that time onwards, however, for well
over fifty years, with only temporary interludes, the policies
and objectives of each nation crossed, and created such distrust
that each commonly considered and referred to its antagonist

possible that Muravyev might make a more inclusive arrangement with Great
Britain than the recent Chinese agreement had been. Both of the Russian em-
presses cherished Anglophil sentiments, while Witte, because of financial reasons,
might use his influence for closer Anglo-Russian relations. [bid., no. 4020,
P- 547.

& Fischer, pp. ix-x.

b Sir Sidney Lee, King Edward VIl. A Biography, (London and New York,
1925, 1927), I, footnote 1, p. 798; 1I, 572. G. P., XVI1I, no. 4982, p. 19.

VIbid., no. 4984, p. 22; no. 498s, p. 22. Bernhard, First von Bilow, Deutsche
Politik, (Berlin, Volksausgabe, 1916), p. 25.
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as the chief enemy. When actual events did not serve to main-
tain the mutual aversion, the accumulating suspicion of each
other’s aims did. In consequence, each power endeavored to
thwart or curtail the achievements of the other in the affairs
of Europe and of Asia, often needlessly or excessively, with
the British generally being the more successful. This antagon-
ism reached its culmination only a few years before the end of
the century, when it first allowed some outsider to take advan-
tage of the situation and become a greater menace to the spe-
cial interests of both Russia and Great Britain than either was
to the other. In the closing years of the nineteenth century,
then, a few leading statesmen in Russia and Great Britain
first cautiously tried to discover a method whereby to allay this
deep-seated hostility.

In general, there were two main areas where Russian and
British policies conflicted during the nineteenth century. First
in point of time, and of longer duration, were the persistent
efforts made by Russia to obtain a warm water outlet to the
west through control of the straits of the Bosphorus and the
Dardanelles. These efforts involved several wars of aggres-
sion against the Ottoman empire, which possessed these
coveted places, and the objective of Russian policy was, for the
most part, to undermine the existence of that empire in the
hope of becoming its actual, even if undesignated heir. To this
purpose there was added the religious desire to replace the
Mohammedan crescent by the Orthodox cross on the ancient
Christian church of Saint Sophia, while increasingly during the
century the ‘‘historic mission” of the Russians to free their
weaker, Balkan Slavonic brothers from the Turkish yoke,
regularly declared to be oppressing them, became more im-
pelling and served as an humanitarian cloak for more selfish
Russian aims. Whatever the form it might assume, this for-
ward movement long met with stubborn British resistance.
British interests seemed to require that an independent Tur-
key be preserved in the eastern Mediterranean, although how
weak or how corrupt that state might be was of less import-
ance. A strong Russia in this part of the world would be, in
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all probability, too great a danger along the best route to
India, where British power was not yet fully secure in a land
already become the brightest jewel of the British crown, which
would be even richer in the future when a more perfect control
should be established.!

The other scene of rivalry between the two powers devel-
oped in the regions of central Asia with the territorial ex-
pansion of Russia into the Turkestan steppes and the Moham-
medan khanates, and the infiltration of Russian influence into
Persia and Afghanistan. The British again perceived in these
advances a serious future military threat to their supremacy
in India, despite the protection of towering mountains guard-
ing the northwest frontier and the dificult, arid distances a
Russian army would have to traverse before it could become a
real menace. Russian motives were the increase of the econom-
ic exploitation of Persia, the quest for a warm water port on
the Persian Gulf, besides a possibly sincere desire to keep in
check the spasmodic forays of the nomadic tribes of central
Asia into Russian territory.* For the first half of the nine-
teenth century British rivalry with Russia in Asia had been a
secondary affair; in fact, in Persia both countries went along
“hand in hand.” ' The check to Russian ambitions in the Near
East administered by the defeat in the Crimean war caused a
marked acceleration of Russian expansion in Persia and central

I Communist writers seldom let slip the opportunity to point this out, and
assert that India has been one of the most thoroughly exploited countries of
modern times. See A. Popov, “Anglo-russkoye soglasheniye o razdelye Kitaya
(1899 g.),” {The Anglo-Russian Agreement for the Partition of China in 1899],
Krasny Arkhiv, [Red Archive], XXV (1927), 112; and the same author’s “Angliy-
skaya politika v Indii i1 russko-indiyskiye otnosheniya v 1897-1905 g. g.,”
[British Policy in India and Russo-Indian Relations in 1897-1905], Krasny
Arkhiv, XIX (1926), 53-63.

k Calchas, “The Anglo-Russian Agreement,” Fortnightly Revieww, LXXXVIII
(1907), $39. Sufficient details of this Russian expansion can be read in F. A.
Skrine, The Expansion of Russia 180r-1899, (Cambridge, 1905) ; Alexis Krausse,
Russia in Asta, (New York, 1899).

I Theodor Schiemann, “Russisch-englische Beziehungen unter Kaiser Nikolaus
L” Zeitschrift fiir osteuropiische Geschichte, 111 (1913), 490-492. On 26 May
1844 the Journal des Debats expressed the French official belief that Russia
was building “a great central Asiatic state to menace British India,” and this
the London Times denied in “two succeeding articles.” (Ibid., p. 493.) Sketches
of the early penetration of Russia and Great Britain are given by Mary M.
McCarthy, Anglo-Russian Rivalry in Persia, (Buffalo, 1925), pp. 27-44, and
by William Habberton, Anglo-Russian Relations concerning Afghanistan, 1837-
1907, (Urbana, lllinois, 1937), pp. 9-22.
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Asia. While the Russians consolidated their advantage in
northern Persia, the British strove to block them off from an
outlet on the Persian Gulf and from approaching the Indian
frontier through southeastern Persia. Nevertheless, as the
Russian conquests in central Asia continually brought troops
closer to the Indian border, the British became ever more
alarmed, until this rivalry began to usurp first place among the
causes which poisoned Anglo-Russian relations.™ In opposition
to the Russian movement the British policy was a hostile, an-
noying one of ‘‘alternate threat and scuttle,” which succeeded
only in further straining relations.” Russian pronouncements,
on the other hand, already disclaimed any intention to injure
Great Britain along the route to India, and insisted that Rus-
sia sought only to obtain the necessary means of defence
against what was felt to be British hostility. There is trace
of a Russian proposal to Great Britain, evidently early in
1877, to determine together “‘Persian affairs in the interest of
our reciprocal tranquillity,” but the British government seems
not to have replied to this friendly suggestion.’

The embitterment of Anglo-Russian relations reached its
highest intensity in the years immediately following the Con-
gress of Berlin. Once again Russia had been effectively blocked
in the Near East, and this time no longer sought to maintain
the rivalry with Great Britain in this region. The years fol-
lowing the congress until the peaceful settlement of the Afghan
border incident which occurred at Penjdeh in 1885, were cer-
tainly among the most trying that ever existed between the
two governments. In the early 'eighties the Russians advanced
rapidly and completed their occupation of the Turkestan
steppes and the half-barbaric khanates, culminating with the
seizure in 1884 of the oasis of Merv, always described as
beautiful.”* Russian policy had been steadily trying to acquire

m From an article said to be “inspired”: “The Marquis of Salisbury,” Quar-
terly Review, CXCVI (1902), 659. Habberton, p. 23.

n Calchas, Fortnightly Review, LXXXVIII, 539.

° Gorchakov to Shuvalov, 18/30 May 1877, “Unprinted Documents. Russo-
British Relations during the Eastern Crisis: VI. The Russo-Turkish War,”
Slavonic Review, V (1927), 424.

P See Skrine, op. cit., for details. Habberton, pp. 40-43. A. L. P. Dennis, The
Anglo-Japanese Allzance, (Berkeley, Callforma, 1923), p. 15. S. A, Korff
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preponderant influence in northern Persia, and especially over
the shah at his capital of Teheran. This policy was meeting
with considerable success, while the British position was be-
coming weaker each year, until it was a distinct burden to re-
tain influence in southern Persia and around the Persian Gulf.
Russian commerce with Persia began to flourish, especially
when favored with preferential tariffs and subsidized by
government bounties. As a further aid in maintaining and
strengthening the Russian hold in central Asia and in Persia,
the government constructed the Transcaspian railroad between
1885 and 1888.% It had already become apparent to one Brit-
ish minister at Teheran that Persia was safely in Russian
hands."

The rapid Russian advance in central Asia caused British
statesmen to feel considerable alarm for the security of India,
and to seek ways to check any further approach. The British
government had for some time been strengthening its influ-
ence with the Amir of Afghanistan, while the Russian govern-
ment had voluntarily declared, in arrangements given in 1872
and 1873, that it “recognized that Afghanistan is entirely out-
side its sphere of action,” and had renewed this assurance on
numerous subsequent occasions.® The British government in
the time of Lord Beaconsfield inaugurated the effort to estab-
lish a protectorate over Afghanistan, in order to use it as a
buffer state between Russia and India.* When the Afghans
resisted this interference and sought to retain their full inde-
pendence by the war of 1879-1882, Russia sincerely perceived
in the British action a threat of aggression against its own po-

Russia’s Foreign Relations during the Last Half Century, (New York, 1922),
P- 33
9 Lord Onslow, “Lord Carnock,” Slavonic Review, VII (1929), s43.

rSir Arthur Nicolson wrote to Lord Dufferin in 1886: “Unless we are pre-
pared to offer some kind of guarantee to Persia we should not waste our
energies in endeavoring to counteract Russian influence on the central govern-
ment at Teheran. This part of the world is lost to us and we should devote
the modicum of attention which we seemed disposed to give to Persia to the
south alone.,” Harold Nicolson, Sir Arthur Nicolson, Bart. A Study in the OId
Diplomacy, (London, 2nd edition, 1930}, p. 6s.

5§ G, P. Gooch and Harold Temperley, editors, British Documents on the
Origins of the War 1898-19r4, (London, 1927-), I, no. 376, p. 306; no. 377,
enclosure, p. 310. (This collection will hereafter be cited by the initials B, D.)
Habberton, pp. 41, 87-89.

t Korff, pp. 32-33. Dennis, p. 15. Habberton, pp. 37-46.
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sition in Asia, and public opinion vigorously urged the govern-
ment to take counterbalancing regions.® Constant friction and
misunderstandings persisted between Russia and Great Britain
in consequence of these forward policies.

When Baron de Staal came to London in 1884 to begin
his long term as Russian ambassador to the court of St.
James, the pacifically inclined Russian foreign minister Giers
had prepared detailed instructions explaining what Russian
policy in the affairs of central Asia aimed to be. The Rus-
sian movements had been dictated by the desire to protect
legitimate interests, and by the necessity of securing a de-
fensive position against the hostility shown by Great Britain
during the Crimean and the more recent Turkish wars. Now,
however, in consequence of large sacrifices, Russia could con-
sider the control of its holdings as fully protected, and desired
nothing further than peace in order to consolidate them. The
Russian government was prepared to go along with Great
Britain in either a pacific or a hostile manner as the latter
should choose. Giers realized that the British domination of
India was founded essentially upon prestige, and he hoped to
be able to assist the Gladstone ministry of the time in its
policy of peace and moderation. The Russian foreign min-
ister closed his statement with this conviction:

We believe that this purpose can be attained if he [Gladstone] wishes to
persuade himself that the position taken by us in central Asia is a purely
defensive one, which does not have in view at all to do damage to the
Indian interests of Great Britain, but on the contrary to induce it to
live with us in peace, good understanding, and friendship.”

It was neither possible, nor sometimes seemingly desirable,
to maintain good relations in central Asia. Oftentimes the
actions of the local representatives of both countries could not
be regulated by their distant superiors. The imperfections in
the boundaries for Afghanistan, which had been arranged
jointly by Russia and Great Britain in 1872 and 1873, left

UIrene Grining, Die russische offentliche Meinung und thre Stellung zu den
Grossmdchte 1878-1894, (Berlin, 1928), pp. 62-63.

v Baron Alexander Meyendorff, editor, Correspondance diplomatique de M.
de Staal (1884-1900), (Paris, 1929), I, no. 7, p. 41.
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much still uncertain, and the matter became ever more disquiet-
ing to the British government as the progress of Russian con-
quests approached nearer to the western Afghan provinces.”
Equally uncertain was the point where the Persian and Afghan
frontier should be considered as meeting, and the British con-
sistently strove to push this point as far as possible to the
north for the purpose of increasing the distance which would
separate the Russians from the important Afghan city of
Herat.* In 1884 another joint boundary commission was set
up to revise and improve upon the former traces for Afghan-
istan. It was while this commission was awaiting the arrival
of the chief Russian delegate that the Penjdeh incident oc-
curred which threatened, for a brief period, to lead to war,
and which did mark the climax of the bitter Anglo-Russian
relations in those rancorous 'eighties.

The incident arose out of a dispute whether or not the fer-
tile Penjdeh district on the northern Afghan border belonged
to that country. At the same time the Russians asserted a
claim to the Zulfikar pass, which the Indian military author-
ities were determined to retain for Afghanistan.Y A special
Russian committee had met in St. Petersburg in December
1884 to consider

the danger of an extension of Afghan pretensions, encouraged by Great
Britain, especially with regard to Penjdeh, already occupied by the
Afghans, but inhabited by a Turkoman tribe, the Sarouks. In sacrificing
them the prestige of Russia can be injured among the Turkoman popula-
tion of the Transcaspian region.?

It was finally decided to proceed at once with military measures
to forestall “a probable advance of Afghan forces” by the
occupation of two points to insure the Russian position. Rus-
sian troops marched into the disputed territory, occupying as

wIbid., no. 8, pp. 44-45.

X Ibid., p. 47. It will be interesting to note that the British worked for this
same objective in describing the course of the line for the Russian northern
zone in the Persian arrangement of 1907.

Yy A. W. Ward and G. P. Gooch, The Cambridge History of British Foreign
Policy, (Baltimore, 1923), III, 189. This work is subsequently indicated by the
initials C. H. B. F. P.

z Meyendorff, I, 136, the procés-verbal of the Special Committee. This com-
mittee was convoked on 24 December 1884, and its conclusions were approved
by Tsar Alexander III on 31 December.
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much of it as possible, and on 30 March 1885 defeated Afghan
forces with a loss of 500 lives, driving them entirely out of
Penjdeh.* This Russian attack and victory greatly excited the
British, and the secretary of state for India did not conceal
from Staal his alarm at the strained situation, nor its possible
grave consequences. War seemed near, but was prevented
when the Amir of Afghanistan took an indifferent attitude,
while by 10 September the substance of a settlement had been
agreed upon by which Russia retained its spoils in Penjdeh,
but the Zulfikar pass was assigned to Afghanistan.® Then the
boundary commission went peacefully about its work and, in
the course of a few years, a series of boundary agreements
were signed, so that the Penjdeh incident remained merely
illustrative of the dangers inherent in Anglo-Russian relations
in Asia.c

The difficulty of avoiding trouble over so small a matter
seemed to show to a few individuals how dangerous the con-
tinuance of such distrustful Anglo-Russian rivalry might be-
come, and to suggest that possibly the points of friction could
be settled by peaceful means. The conservative part of the
Russian press still demanded no abandonment of the strong
forward policy in middle Asia, but the less numerous liberal
organs urged that an end should be put to this quarrel and a
return made to the real Russian tasks in the Balkans and at
the Straits.® In England, a few persons in high places who

aJbid, 1, 137. C. H. B. F. P., 111, 189. Nicolson, p. 62. Habberton, pp. 53-54.

b Meyendorff, I, no. 24, p. 164. C. H. B. F. P., 111, 191. Nicolson, p. 62.
Habberton, pp. s4-55. At the time of the incident the Amir Abdurrahman was
visiting the viceroy, Lord Dufferin, in India at Rawalpindi. Two contradictory
versions relate the Amir’s attitude and his part in the solution of the crisis.
According to one the Amir “was persuaded not to take the episode tragically,
and, on Lord Dufferin’s suggestion, he agreed to abandon Penjdeh, on condition
that Zulfikar pass remained to Afghanistan.” (C. H. B. F. P., 111, 189.) In
the other account the credit is given entirely to the Amir ‘“who did not wish
for war, [and] generously released us from our difficulty by stating that he did
not care about the Penjdeh valley in the least.” Nicolson, pp. 62-63.

¢ These are the most important of the several Afghan boundary arrange-
ments: Protocol signed at London on 10 September 1835, completed by a Protocol
signed at St. Petersburg, 10/22 July 1887. Others of lesser importance came
in 1888 and 1893, and the Pamirs boundary delimitation of 11 March 1895. See
Meyendorff, I, note, p. 260. Korff, p. 36. Habberton, pp. 56-57, 60-67, 89-92.
William L. Langer, T/he Diplomacy of Imperialism, 189o-1go2, (New York,
1935), I, 145-146.

4 The Festnik Evropy during April and May 1885 expressed this point of
view. “A combination with India, of which perhaps a few of our patriots
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strove for an improvement in Anglo-Russian relations thought
it would be wise to consider the possibility of an agreement
over the causes of estrangement in Asia. One of the earliest,
but meteoric upholders of this new conception was ‘“‘ce batail-
leur politique” Lord Randolph Churchill, who undertook a
journey to Russia in November 1887, and remained well into
the following year, to the consternation both of the Russian
and British foreign offices.® Lord Randolph had been given a
letter to the tsaritsa by the Prince of Wales, who also was
becoming more convinced of the desirability of better relations
with Russia, but the traveller had been warned to keep away
from Giers, and not to discuss international relations with
other Russian authorities, since this might lend an ofhcial color
to his visit. Once inside Russia LLord Randolph character-
istically broke all bounds and, “according to his communi-
cations to the Prince, proclaimed in all Russian quarters —
official and social — a complete identity of interest between
England and Russia,” and declared that Alexander III had
expressed his desire for an agreement.'

Sir Henry Drummond Wolft, at this time British minister
at Teheran, was also a convinced, but more rational proponent
of improved Anglo-Russian relations. He influenced the
Prince of Wales, particularly by his proposal of an economic
partition of Persia into two spheres, the British to predom-
inate in the south and the Russians in the north where each
had their greatest interest. Sir Henry was well acquainted
with Staal and expressed these opinions to him on many oc-
casions, which the Russian ambassador reported home, while
assuring Drummond Wolft of his own agreement.® Again

dream, would shift the center of gravity of Russia towards Asia and rob us
for a long time of the legitimate share of influence in Europe. The Balkan
peninsula would then finally fall to the control of Austria. One should not for-
get that our paramount interests lie not in Asia, but in Europe; our political
future is bound up with the fate of the Dardanelles and the Bosphorus, these
two natural keys of our house, which have for us an immeasurably greater
significance than all the keys to India.”” Griining, p. 88.

¢ Meyendorff, I, 376. It is said that British ambassadors in other nearby
capitals sent in a flood of protests to the foreign office. Lee, I, 683.

tIbid., pp. 682-683. Queen Victoria was angry about this activity and de-
manded that the prince, who was himself not greatly displeased, should endeavor
to restrain the man.

& Staal wrote to Giers on 7/19 February 1888: “I have believed it to be my



12 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

without consulting the foreign office, the Prince of Wales
furnished Sir Henry with a letter to the tsar, and urged him
to lay his ideas before the Russian ruler in Berlin where, in
the autumn of 1888, Alexander was visiting the German court.
At the meeting the tsar expressed his readiness to come to an
understanding with Great Britain in Persia. “We have no
interests in common in Europe. Our common interests lie in
Asia. There I desire to live in friendship with her, and to
establish an understanding which will enable us to be friends.” ®
When Salisbury first learned of this direct appeal he resented
it, and did not place much hope in the kind phrases of the
tsar, nor in those that Giers had used.! For a while he acted
with noticeable reticence, but by the summer of 1888 he was
surprizing Staal with his sympathetic language in regard to
Russia, and by the end of the year the British ambassador in
St. Petersburg was repeating Drummond Wolff's idea of two
commerical spheres in Persia to a still hesitant Giers.!

The opponents of this trend found new vigor under the
leadership of that congenital Russophobe, George N. Curzon,
whose ponderous volumes summing up his library researches
on Persian archaeology combined with his recent travel ex-
periences and political opinions, were hailed in 1892 as au-
thoritative works.* British policy in Persia, according to that
writer, was incomparably nobler than Russian, which he traced
as ‘“‘avowedly hostile.” He was “surprized to find British

duty to report to your excellency Sir H. D.-Wolff’'s profession of faith, It
seemed to me to be too explicit not to derive from instructions of the prineipal
secretary of state for foreign affairs.”” Meyendorff, I, no. 16, pp. 392-393; II,
no. 18, pp. 136-137.

hLee, I, 687.

1 Lord Salisbury “was not averse from Drummond WolfP’s general principles,
though he deprecated precipitate action and judged WolfP’s Persian dream un-
likely to come true for at least a generation.” Ibid. See also Meyendorff, I,
no. 24, p. 403.

i Staal reported some remarks by Salisbury in August, and added: “It has
been a long time since similar words have been pronounced by a British minister
in an official meeting.” (Ibid., I, no. 62, p. 439; no. 68, p. 444.) These flattering
comments, spoken at a Mansion House dinner, caused a conservative party
member (Mr. Alfred Austin) to inquire “what he was to understand from such
civility to the traditional enemy.” Lady Gwendolen Cecil, Life of Robert,
Marquis of Salisbury, (London, 1932), 1V, 83.

k George Nathaniel Curzon [later Baron, Earl and Marquess Curzon of
Kedleston], Persia and the Persian Question, (London, two volumes, 1892). Of
most interest here is the last chapter of the second volume, “British and Russian
Policy in Persia.”
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influence so powerful at Teheran as I take it to be,” even if
he did need to admit the fact of much Russian control in
Persian affairs.'! He expounded his belief that Great Britain
should demand that a line be drawn which would protect
British commercial and political ascendancy not only in south-
ern Persia, but also in the center, where Curzon almost alone
claimed that it existed. Thereupon Persia should warn an
invader from the north ‘‘thus far and no further.” In these
regions the British would then no longer need to ask for any
exclusive privileges, nor to exercise any dictation, nor to em-
ploy any threats, soldiers or guns, since all future triumphs
would be the result of peaceful penetration of ‘“common in-
terests,” ‘“industrial development” and ‘‘domestic reform.” ™
Despite his announced hope of being absolved ‘‘from the
charge of Russophobia,” the Russians never ceased to distrust
Curzon; were pleased when his travels in the Pamirs region
were impeded,” and apprehensive upon his appointment to a
subordinate post in the foreign office, but still more alarmed
when he was designated viceroy of India.

It did not seem impossible for Great Britain to reach an
understanding with Russia in Asia. It would be easier to
recognize the acquisitions and special interests of each other
which were securely possessed, where the other nation would
have small chance of successful competition, than for Great
Britain to come to similar solutions with France or Germany

1 Of this regeneration of British influence since 1885 which so surprised the
author, and doubtless others, Curzon wrote: “It is not now, nor at any time
in this century has it been, one of territorial cupidity. England does not covet
one square foot of Persian soil. The eighth and tenth commandments stand
in no danger of being violated by us.” (Ibid., II, 619-621.) Compare this with
nearby passages where he mentions some important places that it would be
well for Britain to have (pp. 588, 620-621). For a unique account of Russian
policy and its steady growth since 1813, see pp. 589-603; and for British policy,
PP. 621-627.

m Ibid., 11, 588, 620-621.

n On 4 September 1894 Staal wrote to .Giers: “Your excellency will notice, 1
think, with satisfaction the decision which the viceroy of India took in hinder-
ing the trip of Mr. George Curzon. It is hard not to see an attention to our
consideration on the part of the new viceroy; Lord Elgin avoids the least
incident of a nature disagreeable to us. Lord Kimberley has made known this
decision to the embassy by an official note.” Meyendorff, I, 249.

°“Mr. G. Curzon makes his appearance at the foreign office and he seems,
like Chamberlain for the colonies, a bad augury.” (Ibid., II, 256.) When he
became viceroy he was known to be a proponent of a “forward policy,” and a
“bitter and irascible person.” Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XIX, sé.
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over colonial expansion in parts of Africa and Asia where the
rivalry was fresher, and where positions were less secure, or
not yet sufficiently consolidated. Furthermore, British states-
men craftily noted that it was less necessary for them to draw
Russian animosity upon themselves at a time when Russia was
encountering sufficient opposition from Germany and Austria
to progress in the Balkan peninsula and the Ottoman empire.?
Britishers began to take less stock in the scares of a Russian
onslaught upon India, about which in the more hostile ’seven-
ties and 'eighties two shilling pamphleteers had so frantically
written.® More credit was given to provident Nature for the
marvellous mountain barriers protecting India; to the handi-
cap of the huge distances any Russian army must first traverse,
and then, at last, if war should ever threaten, to the possible
ability of the British and Indian army to defend the Indian
empire. It was also more frequently suspected that in reality
the Russian government had not so often harbored the hideous
intentions as had been imputed to it, but had, no doubt with
grim humor, only threatened in order to obtain some British
concession in another matter.” What the actual truth might
have been was of far less weight than the fact that the mass
of the British people habitually suspected the Russian inten-
tions. Very few understood that Russia, in turn, feared British
aggression against its central Asian properties and against its

P Meyendorff, II, 333. Nicolson, p. 34. “The Marquis of Salisbury,” Quar-
terly Review, CXCVI, 659-660.

4 See, for example, H. E. H. Jerningham, Russia’s W arnings, (London, 2nd
edition, 1885), and a later work in the same fire-frothing vein by Archibald
Ross) Colquhoun, Russia against India; the Struggle for Asia, (New York,
1901).

r “If the tsar’s government ever hints at dark plans concerning India, it can
only be to amuse itself with the owner.” (A. Rustem Bey de Bilinski, “Great
Britain and Russia,” Nineteenth Century and After, L [1901], 727-728.) “The
only possible excuse for the British conservatives of Disraeli’s camp who trem-
bled for their Asiatic possessions, was their absolute lack of knowledge about
Russia and the Russians.” (Korff, pp. 29-30.) Salisbury had come to consider
that Russian threats against India were not earnestly intended. (C. H, B. F. P,,
I11, 79.) On 19 February 1875 he had written to Lord Northbrook, then viceroy
of Indla “I agree with you in thinking that a Russian advance upon India is
a chlmera But I am by no means sure that an attempt to throw the Afghans
upon us is so improbable.” (Lady Gwendolen Cecil, II, 72.) In retrospect Sir
Edward Grey could remark to the Committee of Imperlal Defence on 26 May
1911: “I do not really think that Russia ever had designs on the Indian frontier
for the invasion of India.” B. D., VI, Appendix V, p. 783.
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growing influence in Persia.® The difficulties in the way of an
Anglo-Russian agreement were more the result of febrile
imagination than of material obstacles, which required willing-
ness and confidence more than anything else in order to reach
a settlement.

British statesmen were becoming more desirous of better
Anglo-Russian relations because the policy of ‘‘splendid isola-
tion” was beginning to appear inadequate. It was more diffi-
cult to maintain the former close association and friendship
with the powers of the Triple Alliance, especially after the
accession of the Emperor William II and the start of the rest-
less German quest for a place in the sun." When the colonial
expansion of other European powers ‘“began to invade the
vast solitary preserves of British enterprise,” most of all in
the scramble for Africa, and to set “‘a killing pace throughout
the eighties and nineties,” the weakness of splendid isolation
without any allies was forcibly brought home.* Great Britain
was embroiled in a state of constant friction over colonial
questions with most of the great European nations, in which
the least unpleasant incident promptly excited the public and
the press; and, although war never came, the rumors of war
were frequent. This rivalry without friendships became too
nerve-wracking in the face of seriously growing antagonism
with Germany, and isolation began to appear as a positive
danger. Slowly, with great caution, the Conservative govern-
ment of Lord Salisbury from 1896 onwards made efforts to
improve the British international position.”

There had already been talk of settling the outstanding
difficulties in Anglo-Russian Asiatic rivalry in conformity with
the special interests of each power as they had come to exist.
This preparation had taken place with no other nation, and

8Slavonic Review, V, 424. Meyendorff, I, no. 7, p. 41, and p. 136.

t Grey attributed the expression “splendid isolation” to Mr. Goschen, chancel-
lor of the exchequer in Salisbury’s cabinet of 1892. (Viscount Grey of Fallodon,
Tawenty-Five Years, 1892-1916, [New York, 1925], I, 4.) Curzon, critical of the
policy, feared that it was likely to become one of “masterly inactivity.” (Earl
of Ronaldshay, The Life of Lord Curzon, [London and New York, 1928], I,
276.) See also Giffen, pp. 124-125.

u Ibid., pp. 120-121.

vB. D, VI, Appendix V, p. 782. Garvin, III, 241-253. Meyendorff, II, n».
30, p. 323. Fischer, p. zor.



16 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

it may therefore have been simpler for British statesmen to
continue their efforts to persuade Russia that the hostility of
the Crimean war and Berlin congress days was past, so that
the time had come to reach an understanding on some, at least,
of their quarrels. The problem would be to convince the Rus.
sians that this new attitude existed, and to cause them to take
more tangible steps than merely to agree that something ought
to be done. What once had been Drummond Wolff’s ““dream”
now became Joseph Chamberlain’s “favorite thesis,” and the
more the latter reflected the more he succeeded in persuading
himself, and others, that Great Britain and Russia were not
separated by any irreconcilable interests.” Chamberlain fre-
quently expressed this conviction to the patient Russian am-
bassador, who assured him that Russia would not fail to
reciprocate his sentiments for an agreement. A few days after
one of these conversations Balfour spoke to Staal in the same
tone “if not with the same abandon.”” * This possibility was
further discussed during the tsar’s visit to England in the
summer of 1896, when he confessed his willingness to go along
in harmony with the British. He declared that there would
be no trouble in regard to India and ‘““admitted only a single
theme of friction between the two countries — the opening of
the Dardanelles to Russian ships, which he deemed a matter
of primary importance.””

Salisbury continued his favorable attitude towards Russia
and, at the Lord Mayor’s banquet near the end of the year,
he took occasion to reply openly to some assertions by Prince

¥ Meyendorff, II, no. 27, p. 358.

X Ibid., no. 6, p. 309. Chamberlain professed to believe: “Russia was vast
enough not to be inclined to colonial expansion, so that consequently no serious
rivalry was able to spring up between it and Great Britain, and that the
[proposed] entente between the two countries was a valuable pledge to bring
forward to the cause of peace and civilization.” See also Langer, I, 251-253.

Y Ibid., p. 330. Lee, I, 696. The tsar then went to France where he was
received with marked attention. This inspired a sagacious correspondent to
write Salisbury shortly afterwards of the ‘“great gain” it would be “to the
world, and to England not least, if England could come to a friendly under-
standing” not only with Russia but with France as well. (Ibid., p. 697.) British
relations with France, however, were particularly strained at this time. Con-
sequently Chamberlain thought it wise to try to reach an entente first with
Russia, and then ‘“par ricochet” with France. (Meyendorff, II, no. 27, p. 358.)
The reverse of this actually happened by the agreements of 1904 with France,
and the convention of 1907 with Russia.
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Bismarck, who had declared that the antagonism between
Russia and Great Britain was a fundamental element in the
existing political situation. Salisbury countered with the dec-
laration that Anglo-Russian relations would permit a most
perfect entente, and that possibly at the present moment Great
Britain had less contradictory interests to discuss with Russia
than with any other power.* Early in the next year the British
prime minister, criticising the British policy of the Crimean
and Berlin epochs, made his famous remark that Great Britain
‘“had put her money on the wrong horse,” although important
figures as Lord Cromer and Curzon still insisted otherwise.*
Chamberlain also persisted in expounding his favorite thesis
to Staal “with as much conviction as talent’’ that it would be
a sane policy for Great Britain to emerge from complete
isolation by arranging ententes with Russia, and France the
ally of Russia.?

Despite the fine phrases in speeches and conversations, the
old antagonism between Russia and Great Britain was still
virulent in 1898, and Russian policy remained hostile to Great
Britain in the Near East and throughout Asia. The viewpoint
of the Russian foreign minister Muravyev was not friendly,
and he let it be known in Berlin that Great Britain remained
the chief enemy of Russia.® The Russian press was as spiteful
as ever when concerned with British policy, while Nicholas 11
expressed the ungratified wish that he might live to see England
turned out of Egypt. Rivalry in China, for political influence
and commercial concessions, although comparatively new, was
becoming unpleasantly intense.? This conflict in interests cen-
tered particularly in the grant of foreign loans to China to be
used in payment of the indemnity due Japan, arising out of

z Jbid., no. 34, p. 327. Bismarck had been making his comments in the Ham-
burger Nachrichten, a paper under his influence.

2 Ibid., p. 335. Sir J. A. R. Marriott, The Eastern Question: an Historical
Study in European Diplomacy, (Oxford, 1918), pp. 249, 265. Staal reported
in March 1898 that there was no likelihood of a Crimean combination being
resuscitated since this was now ‘“actually condemned” by most eminent British
statesmen. Meyendorff, 11, 378.

b Ibid., no. 27, p. 358.

¢ Giffen, pp. 165-166. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 6 r12. G. P., XIlI, no.
3451, p. 89.

4 Grining, p. 79. Giffen, p. 166. G. P., XIII, no. 1444, p. 82. B. D, I, no.
I, pp. 1-2. Langer, I, 400.
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the defeat in war and the provision in the treaty of Shimono-
seki of 1895; and, in the second place, from other loans for
new railroad construction contemplated by China. Some of
these lines would eventually connect with the Russian-owned
Chinese Eastern railway in Manchuria, thereby further ex.
posing that province to the penetration of Russian influence.
British banking interests desired to share with Russia the
opportunities, which were certain to come in the future, for
underwriting additional loans. Russian policy at Peking ex-
erted pressure upon the Tsung-li-Yamen, the Board for For-
eign Affairs of China, to keep other powers out of Manchuria,
while British policy tended to leave to Japan the task of re-
straining Russia in Korea, and sought to maintain British
imperialistic interests unimpaired in the Yangtse valley.
These dissensions were made more acute by the seizure of
Kiaochow by a German naval squadron (14 November 1897),
which was followed after a short interval by the despatch of
some Russian warships to Port Arthur (4 December) to win-
ter there, so Muravyev first declared." Right at this juncture,
for reasons not precisely known, Salisbury suddenly took up
the idea of obtaining an understanding with Russia which
Chamberlain had been voicing, and prepared to act upon it.
In a pithy telegram to the British ambassador in St. Peters-
burg, Sir Nicholas O’Conor, Salisbury desired, if it were prac-
ticable, that Witte, as the strongest man in the Russian govern-
ment, should be sounded whether it would be possible for
England and Russia to work together in China, for their ob-

¢ Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 111-114. B. D., I, no. 1, pp. 1-2. Langer, I,
396-399.

f The murder of two German missionaries, Fathers Neis and Henle, killed by
Chinese at Kia-chwang on 1 November 1897, furnished the pretext for the
German occupation of Kiaochow, which had already been determined upon.
(A. M. Pooley, Japan’s Foreign Policies, [London, 1920], p. 143. B. D, I,
Editors’ Note, p. 1; no. 2, p. 3; no. 53, p. 3¢4. C. H. B. F. P, 111, 232. Langer,
I, 450-451. Garvin, III, 250-253.) The British soon foresaw that the Russians
might remain definitely at Port Arthur. (B. D., I, no. 4, p. 5.) Some unfriendly
comments by English newspapers are summarized in Meyendorff, II, no. 26,
P. 354.

8 lbid., p. 362. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 114. Langer, 1, 465. In the
debate on the Anglo-Russian convention of 1907 in the house of lords on 10
February 1908, Viscount Midleton (formerly Mr. Brodrick) declared that he
well remembered that “in 1898 the mind of the late Lord Salisbury was much
set on coming to some arrangement with the Russian government with regard
to Asia.,” Parliamentary Debates, 4th series, CLXXXIII, 1312,
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jects ‘‘are not antagonistic in any serious degree.” Salisbury
wrote also: “We would go far to further Russian commercial
objects in the north, if we could regard her as willing to work
with us.”” * In his interview with Muravyev the British ambas-
sador expressed his own opinion that a really eftective under-
standing ought not to be confined to some troublesome questions
in the Far East alone, but that it ‘“‘ought to extend to the gen-
eral area of our respective interests.” Although evidently
hesitant himself to make definite proposals, beyond discussing
in some detail the Russian sphere of influence wanted from
Peking northwards into Manchuria, the Russian foreign min-
ister expressed his agreement with the idea for a ‘“‘closer
understanding,” "as well as his readiness to consider imme-
diately any proposal Lord Salisbury might formulate, and “to
put his cards on the table, if your Lordship would do the
same.’" '

With remarkable decision and brevity Salisbury clarified his
general meaning in a telegram to O'Conor of 2§ January
1898:

Our idea was this. The two empires of China and Turkey are so weak
that in all important matters they are constantly guided by the advice of
foreign powers. In giving this advice Russia and England are constantly
opposed, neutralizing each other’s efforts much more frequently than
the real antagonism of their interests would justify; and this condition
of things is not likely to diminish, but to increase. It is to remove or

lessen this evil that we have thought an understanding might benefit
both nations.!

He hastened to add that ‘““we aim at no partition of territory,
but only a partition of preponderance,” and hoped that the
power less interested in such regions would give way, or even
assist the other where it possessed an interest.* Both Mura-

b Ibid.,, no. 5, p. s. Lord Newton, Lord Lansdowne. A Biography, (London,
1929), p. 214. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 114-115; and see pp. r13-114 for
an indication of the importance with which Russian diplomacy looked upon
northern China.

I'B. D, I, no. 6, p. 6. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 114-115. Langer, I,
467-470.

iB. D, 1, no. 9, p. 8.

k “We contemplate no infraction of existing rights. We would not admit the
violation of any existing treaties, or impair the integrity of the present empires
of either China or Turkey. These two conditions are vital.” Ibid.
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vyev and the influential Witte seem to have taken kindly to the
British proposition, especially because it would allay an in.
secure feeling which bothered Russia in its existing position
in the Far East. The Russian government had been seriously
displeased with the German seizure of Kiaochow, because no
official in it had known at the moment that the tsar had pre-
viously agreed to the importunities of the kaiser not to ob-
struct such action by Germany.! Witte told O’Conor on 23
January 1898 that Russia might be forced to stay on at Port
Arthur, and he hazarded the question: “What would England
say if Russia’s occupation of Port Arthur became permanent?”
The animosity between Russia and Japan was already devel-
oping, and the tsar’s ministers were most anxious that the
British should make no alliance with Japan which might in-
clude a promise of support against Russia. Witte's nervous-
ness was evident to O’Conor, who did not think it advisable
to exclude this possibility from the former’s political vision.™
The British ambassador also sensed the Russian apprehensive-
ness of complications in the Far East before the Transsiberian
railroad should be completed, and that this fact made the
proposal for an Anglo-Russian agreement over interests in
China welcome to the Russians under the existing circum-
stances.”

Muravyev told the tsar that the British proposal was valua-
ble, and he recommended the acceptance of Salisbury’s profter

1'There are several versions which vary in details but agree that the kaiser
sprung this request for Kiaochow upon the unsuspecting tsar during a visit at
Peterhof in August 1897. The tsar was displeased, but consented. It was only
after Muravyev and Witte had protested against the German seizure that
Nicholas owned up how he had given his consent. For details see G. P., XIV,
part I, pp. 3-75; no. 3733, p. 121. B. D., I, Editors’ Note, p. 1; no. 4, p. §;
no. 53, p. 34; no. 59, p. 38; IIl, no. 435, mmutes, pp. 381- 382 Meyendorff, 1I,
354, 365. Count S. Yu. W]tte, Iospomznaniya, [Memoirs] (Berlin, 1922), I, 112,
123; (see English translation by Abraham Yarmolinsky, The Memoirs of Count
Witte, [Garden City, N. Y., 1921], pp. 123, 410-411. This is not an acceptable
selection of the original Russian work). C. H. B. F. P., 1II, 232. Otto Ham-
mann, Der neue Kurs, (Berlin, 1918), pp. 115-117. E. J. Dnllon The Eclipse of
Rusna (New York, 1918), pp. 247-248. A. M. Pooley, Japan’'s Forezyn Policies,
pp. 143-147; also hxs Secret Memoirs of Count Tadasu Hayashi, (London,
1915), p. 98. The last book is later cited as Pooley, Hayaski.

m B D, I, no. 8, p. 7. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 125,

2B D, 1 no. 6, p. 6. At the same time O’Conor warned his government “to
take care that any understanding we may come to gives no such headway that
it cannot be set aside when it may seem to Russia to have served its temporary
purpose.”
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of a division of China into spheres of influence, so that Russian
interests would predominate in the region north of the Yellow
river, with British interests supreme in the Yangtse basin.
Such an agreement would accomplish the double purpose of
according Russia “full liberty of action around the Gulf of
Pechili” at the same time that it would furnish the possibility
of restraining ‘‘the British from every interference in the
affairs of northern China.” If the tsar would consent, Mura-
vyev was ready to enter into an exhaustive interchange of
ideas with the British ambassador on the basis of the proposal
made by Salisbury, provided that the discussions were limited
to what concerned China. Nicholas II did give his approval
to the inauguration of discussions within this scope; and,
at a court ball on the evening of 1 February, he encouraged
O’Conor when he declared such an arrangement to be “most
desirable and he believed the negotiations would succeed.” °
On the following day O'Conor called upon Muravyev, who
explained his readiness to enter upon conversations for reach-
ing an agreement, the scope of which should at first be limited
to Chinese affairs which were then most pressing. Possibly
later this could be extended to the question of spheres of in-
fluence in Turkey, and to the removal of any uneasiness arising
from suspected Russian designs upon the British position in
India. The ambassador desired that Muravyev would consider
Salisbury’s original suggestion for a broader understanding,
but he was unable to persuade him to go any further at once.
The tsar refused to permit such an extension, so the negotia-
tions had to be confined from the outset exclusively to Chinese
affairs.”

°Ibid., no. 10, p. 9. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 115-116. In a marginal
note dated 27 January the tsar expressed his doubt of reaching an agreement:
“Unfortunately, I am not convinced of the favorable outcome of such an
arrangement with England, that [by it] all our interests in the Far East will be
taken into account.” Ibid., footnote 3, p. 114.

PB. D, I, no. 11, p. 9; no. 12, p. 10. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 116, 118.
O’Conor persisted in believing that “now is the time . . . to make it clearly
understood that the arrangement between the two countries shall extend not
only to China but to all other regions where we have conflicting interests.”
(B. D., 1, no. 13, p. 10.) Salisbury, however, was less certain: “The difficulty
about extending the arrangement to Persia is that the northern part of Persia
which would be the natural sphere of Russian preponderance includes Teheran.”
Ibid., no. 14, p. 11,
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The Russian foreign minister showed great interest in try-
ing to find out the details of the exact sphere of influence in
northern China over which the British government would
recognize Russian predominance, and precisely what extent of
the Yangtse valley the British intended to demand for their
compensation. The prospect of an agreement over the spheres
each power should possess in China was obviously the outcome
of the negotiations desired by the Russians. Muravyev gave
O’Conor to understand that if the Russian sphere should com-
prise the part of China north of the Yellow river, Russia
would be prepared to recognize British influence in the south.
ern part of the Chinese empire.® Before Salisbury got around
to defining the British sphere, two other questions arose to
cause trouble, which took up most of the negotiations; while
Muravyev became ill and Count Lamsdorff carried on tem-
porarily in his place.”

The first difference arose over a possible new British loan
to China, which poisoned the atmosphere of these negotiations
from the start. The Chinese had obtained two loans in 1896,
one from Russia and the other from an Anglo-German syndi-
cate, but these were not sufhicient. In 1897 negotiations were
renewed with the latter syndicate for a further advance of
£16,000,000, against which the Russian government protested
at Peking, and threatened action.® This rivalry between Rus-
sia and Great Britain was still undecided when Salisbury turned
to Russia with his proposal for an understanding, and the
British ambassador attempted to persuade the Russian foreign
office to withdraw its objections so that the negotiations for a
Chinese agreement would not commence with ‘‘any angry
question between us.” Soon afterwards Muravyev informed

O’'Conor that he had heard that China had broken off the

a1bid., no. 12, p. 10; no. 13, p. 10. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 117.

*B. D, I, no. 13, p. 10; no. 17, p. 18. Meyendorff, II, 364.

sB. D, I, no. 1, p. 2. The technical terms of this loan which Great Britain
was trying to make to China are always omitted from the British Documents,
as they were really of little importance. A slight explanation of the British and
Russian attitudes is given by Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 116-118, and some
observations are in G. P., XIV, part I, pp. 174-189. In the British estimation
this loan was primarily a commercial and bankers’ transaction; the Russians al-
ways asserted that the terms had political implications and alienated Chinese
rights to the disadvantage of Russia.
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loan negotiations.! While he did not know the exact conditions
Great Britain had proposed, they were nevertheless regarded
as unfavorable to Russian interests in China, and he objected
to the conclusion of such a loan. He thought that the subject
could be discussed between the governments during their
efforts to compose their conflicting purposes in China.®
O’Conor then inquired whether Salisbury would consider
making a joint loan with Russia, or preferred to keep it en-
tirely in British control, while discussing the conditions for it
with Russia. Salisbury saw no advantage in attempting to
agree upon a joint loan, to which both sides appeared indiffer-
The British were especially disinclined because, although
presumably engaged in conversations with Russia for a settle-
ment of their discords in China, circumstances had changed:

Certain concessions were almost at once obtained by Her Majesty’s
government from China in compensation, though not ostensibly so, for
this refusal to accept a British loan. . . . These concessions having been
secured, both the loan and the understanding with Russia became mat-
ters of comparative indifference to Her Majesty’s government and the
negotiations dropped.’

Nevertheless, on 12 February 1898, O'Conor did give Lams-
dorff a note summarizing the course of the negotiations with
Russia as far as they had gone, because this had been enough
to warrant some more serious discussion of details. Lams-
dorff then assumed full control in place of the ailing Mura-
vyev. He obtained the tsar’s consent to consider the conditions
for a British loan to China, and to present the Russian counter-
demands for this possible concession to Great Britain.”

These Russian counter-demands introduced the second, but
less serious obstacle to the conversations. During an interview
on 16 February Lamsdorff revealed the Russian intention to
lease Port Arthur and the nearby Talianwan for a period of

tB. D, I no. 1, p. 2; no. 11, p. 9; no. 14, p. IL.

u Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 117-118. Meyendorff, II, 364; no. 4, p. 369,

YB. D, I, no. 1, p. 2; no. 13, p. 10; no. 14, p. 11; no. 15, p. 11; Editors’ Note,
p. I1. Sahsbury could still inform Sir Claude MacDonald, the British minister
at Peking, that “we have had some interchange of fnendly language at St.
Petersburg, but they are insincere and their language is ambiguous.” Ibid., no.

1§, p. 1I.
W Ibid., no. 16, and enclosure, pp. 11-13; no. 17, p. 14; no. 20, p. I§.
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time, possibly twenty years, or else some other port in northern
China which might later appear more desirable, as a future
railroad terminal, as an ice-free commercial outlet, and as a
safe harbor where Russian ships in the Far East could dock
and coal. He hastened to add that such a lease would not
destroy Chinese sovereignty.* O’Conor promptly labelled the
Russian demands ‘‘disproportionate and of a totally different
nature’ to the objects desired by the British government. On
22 February he neatly summed up the position into which the
negotiations had come when he ventured to think:

The question now resolves itself to the point of considering whether it
is best not to oppose Russian demands and to go on with the negotiations
for a good understanding; or to risk Russia getting what she wants
without our acquiescence and to see the negotiations break down leaving
inevitably behind them much sore feeling.”

Most probably the British government was no longer so
anxious to reach an understanding with Russia. After the first
Chinese refusal, on 2 February, to contract a loan with the
Anglo-German syndicate, the British had secretly continued
their efforts to induce China to conclude the loan. Suddenly,
on 1 March, the announcement was received in London that
a definite agreement for an Anglo-German advance had just
been signed; and Staal relayed this information to the Rus-
sian foreign office on the following day.* When O’Conor
called on Lamsdorff the next time he was plainly told of the
Russian displeasure on the conclusion of this loan, and that the
tsar was deeply offended by what he considered to be double-
dealing.® The loan increased the irritation in Russia which
the recent British political and commercial concessions obtained
from China had called forth, and the clauses guaranteeing the
repayment of the loan were considered in St. Petersburg as

X Meyendorff, II, footnote 3, p. 362; footnote 2, p. 372. B. D., I, no. 18, p. 14.
Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 114.

YB. D, I, no. 19, p. 15.

2 Ibid., no. 21, p. 15. Meyendorff, II, no. 10, p. 372.

&It is clear that the tsar was incensed at the British methods. “The loan
concluded in accord with Germany, to the exclusion of Russia, indisposed the
Emperor Nicholas II so strongly that he repulsed the overtures for an arrange-
ment respecting the affairs of China and Turkey which Lord Salisbury had
sketched.” Meyendorff, II, footnote 1, p. 359; also pp. 362, 364, footnote 2,
p. 372. B. D, I, no. 24, p. 17.
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constituting an alienation of rights on the part of China,
detrimental to Russian interests and to the service of prior
loans.® The British ambassador was able to gather that the
Russian government ‘‘did not seem inclined to pursue, for the
moment, at all events, the discussion of the broader question,”
and that the negotiations ‘‘have certainly had a severe check”
with little chance of being resumed before the annoyed tsar
had first been put in good humor.*

When the conversations for the understanding with Great
Britain appeared blocked, Muravyev no longer dallied with
British objections, but proceeded rapidly to the ultimate solu-
tion of the Russian position about Port Arthur.® He was pro-
lific with his justifications for the contemplated Russian action.
He explained the desire for a lease of Port Arthur and Talian-
wan as simply following the precedents established by Ger-
many and Japan, and as proper, although belated reward for
Russian assistance rendered China in making peace with Japan
at Shimonoseki. No Chinese sovereignty would be impaired
or destroyed by the lease, which also would not infringe
“rights and privileges guaranteed by existing treaties between
China and foreign countries.” ©° Muravyev took sounder
ground when he claimed that the occupation of Port Arthur
was ‘‘a vital necessity’’ because of its strategic value to Russia
in its location as ‘“‘the Bosphorus of the Far East.” * The port
would serve as an ice-free naval harbor for the Russian fleet
in the Pacific, to dock and to coal safely. It would make the

b Ibid., no. 22, p. 16. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 125, 130.

¢B. D, I, no. 22, p. 16. Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 118. Meyendorff, 11,
362: “The negotiations closed on 3 March.,” The editors of the British Docu-
ments remark that “the British overture to Russia between January and March
1898 . . . was terminated by Russia’s seizure of Port Arthur.” (B. D., I, p. xi.)
This is not correct. The Russians, not the British, suspended the negotiations
as a result of the conclusion of the Chinese loan. Port Arthur was only occupied
by force permanently on 16 March. Russia obtained the agreement for the
lease from China on 27 March. Yet the negotiations were dropped on the 3rd.
Ibid., no. 1, p. 2; Note, p. 22.

dIbid., no. 36, p. 23; no. 38, p. 24; no. 41, p. 28. Calchas, “Why Not a
Treaty with Russia?’ Fortnightly Review, LXXIV (1900), 678. The article
is a criticism of British policy in regard to the seizures of Kiaochow and Port
Arthur.

¢B. D., I, no. 18, p. 14; no. 22, p. 16; no. 36, p. 23; no. 37, p. 24. Meyen-
dorff, II, no. 14, pp. 375-377.

£B. D, I, no. 37, p. 24. Meyendorff, 11, 336. Witte, Fospominaniya, 1, 120;
see English translation, pp. 99-100.
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Russian position adequate for the defence of its interests in
northern China and the Gulf of Pechili, although Port Arthur
would still be of little value against Japan, unlike some fine
haven in Korea such as Masampo, because of the distance away
from Japan, as well as the vulnerable separation of eleven
hundred miles from Vladivostok.! The Chinese government
was powerless to withstand the Russian demands for the lease
of Port Arthur, Talianwan, and the territory surrounding them
on the Liaotung peninsula, although it did object." On 15/27
March 1898 the Chinese government granted this region to
Russia on a lease for twenty-five years, along with permission
to construct a branch line to connect with the Transsiberian
railroad.! That seemed time enough in which to make sure
of Russian predominance in Manchuria.

The British government had not originally intended to ob-
tain compensation for the German seizure of Kiaochow, but
after Russia had extorted the lease of Port Arthur from
China, it quickly decided to demand some ‘“‘makeweight” as
an ‘“equivalent compensation within the British sphere.”’
Some consideration had already been devoted to the availa-
bility of Weihaiwei, for which Curzon had pleaded in the last
days of 1897, but the place was not attractive because it
“would require too large a military force for its defence, and
except for appearances would be worth little to us if fortified
and still less if unfortified.” * Before Weihaiwei could be ob-
tained from China, negotiations were first carried on with
Japan, which was in temporary possession of the place, to
secure the promise of its transfer into British control upon its

& “Die zaristische Diplomatie tiber Russlands Aufgaben im Orient im Jahre
1900,” Kriegsschuldfrage, VI (1928), 653-654, 659-660. This is a translation of
Russian documents printed in Krasny Arkhiv, XVIII (1926). See also B. D., ],
no. 18, p. 14. Meyendorff, 11, no. 14, p. 376.

hTo overcome these objections and to secure the lease before other powers
could aid China, Witte resorted to the bribery of two Chinese ministers, whose
political careers were soon ruined. Witte, Yospominaniya, 1, 125-128, 131.

'B. D, I, no. 41, p. 27. Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 127.

IB. D, I, no. 3, p. 4; no. 32, pp. 21-22; no. 41, pp. 28-29. Meyendorff, II,
no. 15, p. 378. Newton, p. 214. The Russians were not surprized by this action,
and Lamsdorff seems to have offered no objections when it was hinted to him
that something might be taken by Great Britain. B. D., I, no. 18, p. 14.
.6“Ibid., no. 32, p. 22; no. 53, p. 35. Ronaldshay, I, 285. Meyendorff, 1I, no.
16, p. 379.
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evacuation. Japan could do little else than agree to the British
request, and if Weihaiwei had to go to some other nation,
Japan preferred that it should fall into the hands of one pre-
sumably more ‘‘disposed to assist in maintaining the inde-
pendence of China.” ' The demand for the lease of Weihaiwei
was pressed upon the Chinese government ‘‘at an interview
lasting three hours.” As the Chinese objected and delayed an
answer, the British minister presented what was virtually an
ultimatum, threatening in the event of anything other than an
afirmative reply within a short time to place the matter “in
[the] Admiral’s hands,” who was on his way with the British
fleet from Hongkong to the Gulf of Pechili.® China was ut-
terly incapable of resisting such pressure, so the Tsung-l-
Yamen agreed, on 2 April 1898, to lease the harbor of Weihai-
wel to Great Britain upon the same conditions as Russia had
obtained Port Arthur. The actual possession was to be taken
at the time that Japan should withdraw, and was to be re-
tained as long as Russia remained as the occupant of the Liao-
tung peninsula. By another arrangement an extension of
territory was granted Great Britain on the Kowloon promon-
tory of the mainland opposite Hongkong.” All that China
could do was to ask to retain certain privileges in the harbor
of Weihaiwei, and to receive support in resisting claims for
territorial concessions by other powers which were expected
to arise out of this surrender to Great Britain.® British in-
fluence at Peking, and the balance of power in the Gulf of
Pechili, upset by the German and Russian seizures, were
deemed to be restored.”

1B. D, I, no. 30, p. 21; no. 45, p. 30; no. 46, p. 3jo. At the time of this
negotlatlon both nations were conscious of a friendliness which was the initial
step on the way towards the Anglo-Japanese alliance of 1902. Ibid., no. 48, p.
32; no. 50, p. 33. Pooley, Hayashi, p. 83.

mB. D, I no. 39, p. 25; no. 42, p. 29; no. 43, p. 29. Meyendorff, II, no. 16,

P. 379.

nB. D, I, no. 44, pp. 29-30. The texts of these agreements are in British and
Foreign State Papers, XC, 16-18.

°France eventually sustained “her claims to consideration in the provinces
contiguous to Tongking.” In 1899 Italy put in a bid for some spoils, and in-
quired about the British attitude towards the venture. Salisbury replied that
“it would always be a matter of great satisfaction to us to have the ltalians
for neighbors.” The Chinese successfully stood off the Italians. B. D, I, no. 33,
P- 22; no. 60, p. 40.

? Ibid., no. 47, p. 31; no. §3, p. 35. Meyendorff, II, no. 16, p. 380.
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Such negotiations as still went on between Russia and Great
Britain had the character of ‘“‘bargaining over trifles,” but they
led in the end to a resumption of the original attempt for a
local understanding in China.* From July 1898, when Sir
Charles Scott replaced Sir Nicholas O'Conor as the British
ambassador at St. Petersburg, the Russian foreign office was
“bombarded” with notes and despatches to obtain an agree-
ment upon railroad concessions in China, and over the terms
of loans by which China could finance actual construction,
Even the tsar thought it would be possible to reach an under-
standing of this nature with the British." The Russians still
objected to making any broad settlement, and asked for a
precise definition of what the British intended to include in
their sphere. This was eventually delimited to comprise “the
provinces adjoining the Yangtse river, and in addition the
provinces of Honan and Chekiang.” It was left to the Rus-
sians to particularize the limits of their sphere in northern
China.®* Some of the bitterness in Anglo-Russian relations was
disappearing, and the French minister for foreign aftairs, Del-
cassé, who had recently assumed office, expressed his approval.
This early he revealed an objective of his own foreign policy
when he declared:

He . . . had not failed to let it be known in St. Petersburg that the
government of the Republic feel great anxiety that there should be no
misunderstanding between Great Britain and Russia, believing as they
do that there is no insuperable obstacle to the maintenance of harmony
between them.t

The first draft of an agreement to regulate railroad con-
cessions was prepared by the British foreign office, and handed
to the Russians on 16 September 1898. According to this the
British sphere comprised the Yangtse basin, and the Russian
sphere was located indefinitely in Manchuria. The one power
promised not to seek any railroad concessions, either on its
own behalf or for its subjects, in the region designated for the

a Popov, Krasny Arkkiv, XXV, 119. The British Documents do not show how
these negotiations were resumed.

r Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 121.

8 Ibid., p. 122. B. D., 1, no. 61, note 3, p

tIbid., no. 58, p. 37. Popov Kra.my Ark/wv XXV, rar1.
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other, nor there to oppose the acquisition of concessions by
that power for itself, or for its subjects whom it supported.*
When this solution to that Anglo-Russian rivalry appeared to
be on the threshhold of success, unanticipated objections post-
poned its acceptance, and a lapse of nearly two months held
up the conversations. Witte was dissatished with the arrange-
ment primarily because it prevented the participation of his
creation, the Russian Chinese bank, from affairs in the south
of China." By 2 November he had changed his viewpoint sufh-
ciently so that he assured Scott that ‘‘there was nothing he
had more at heart than the establishment of a thoroughly sin-
cere and satisfactory understanding, and of frank and friendly
relations between Russia and Great Britain on this and on all
other questions.” ¥ He then explained to the ambassador, as
he was often later to repeat, that he was himself no diplomat.
In his opinion “he did not regard paper agreements on such
concrete questions as the best way'’ to secure a satisfactory
understanding because ‘‘a far more solid basis for our future
relations would be established by a general agreement con-
cluded between the two governments and ratified by their
respective sovereigns.’’ *

British statesmen were also becoming favorably inclined
again to the idea of an agreement with Russia, now that pro-
posals for one with Germany had failed.” After the conversa-
tions were resumed Salisbury brought out other proposals
which, upon examination, were entirely unacceptable to the
Russians, who felt that they were required to make all the
concessions with no equivalent gains. If it were to prove im-

utbid., p. 122.

viIbid., p. 123.

Y B. D, 1, no. 59, p. 38.

X Ibid., no. 59, p. 39. Salisbury, who was a diplomat, feared ‘“that if we con-
cluded an agreement in M. de Witte’s language it would be a good deal laughed
at,” while Balfour believed that Witte’s suggestion was ‘‘derisory.” Ibid., no.
59, minute, p. 40.

¥ After the negotiations with Russia had fallen down on 3 March 1898,
Chamberlain and Balfour quickly turned to Germany with proposals for a
purely defensive alliance as the next move away from isolation. After a brief
course these negotiations failed, largely because the German foreign ofhice was
indifferent and set too high a price. For details see G. P., XIV, part I, pp.
193-256. On the British side these negotiations were privately conducted by
Chamberlain and Balfour, so that few references appear in the British col-
lection. B. D., II, p. xii. See also Garvin, III, 254-277. Langer, II, 485-53s.
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possible to obtain separate spheres for concessions, they pre.
ferred to make no agreement at all.* Yet an understanding
with Great Britain was desirable both for its own real value,
and to forestall any possible British support of Japan in the
existing troubled relations with that country. The natural
solution for Russian diplomacy was, therefore, to reject the
subsequent British proposals and to return to the original idea
of two distinct spheres in China wherein to acquire railroad
concessions as set forth in the first British draft of 16 Septem-
ber 1898.* Some definite Russian move was necessary in the
face of a growing British impatience and tendency to try for
railroad privileges in districts which Russia desired to retain
for its own exploitation. The Russian government admitted
its readiness to arrive at an agreement with Great Britain in
order to avoid conflicts which might arise at any time in the
future out of their interests in the affairs of China. It was
worth while to reach peaceful solutions of ‘“‘all questions in
the realm of the development of their industrial and commer-
cial interests,”’ especially because the Peking government had
decided to expedite the construction of railroads throughout
its extensive territories. A Russian note therefore revived
the negotiations with the virtual repetition of the British pro-
posals of the previous 16 September, oftering not to oppose
any British railroad enterprize in the region of the Yangtse
basin, in return for a similar British attitude toward Russia
in the area now defined as lying to the north of the Great
Chinese Wall.®

Muravyev thought that it would be easy to reach such an
agreement, as it was completely in harmony with the proposi-
tions which Great Britain had first submitted to Russia. The
British government did, indeed, quickly take up the Russian
offer, all the more so as it faced the prospect of war in South
Africa, and doubtless desired to terminate the Chinese nego-
tiations in the good position of an agreement with Russia,

which would do much to remove friction between them in the
zPopov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 124.

& Ibid., p. 125.
b Ibid., pp. 126-127.
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Far East. A note of 3 March 1899, handed to Scott by Mura-
vyev, contained all the material necessary for the conclusion
of this partial agreement between the two rivals, and a final
draft was at last signed at St. Petersburg on 28 April 1899.
By this understanding the spheres for railroad concessions for
the two powers were left unaltered from their previous defini-
tion. Both piously agreed that they had no intention of in-
fringing the sovereign rights of China or of impairing any
existing treaty provisions. The Chinese government was to
be informed of this arrangement, and consoled with the ex-
planation that the interests of China itself would really be
better served, because the agreement averted ‘‘all cause of
complications” between Russia and Great Britain. In addi-
tion, in supplementary notes, a few British rights to certain
railroad lines outside its delimited sphere, which had already
been obtained, were recognized and defined.° After more than
a year of negotiation from the time of Lord Salisbury’s first
suggestion, a partial Anglo-Russian agreement had been at-
tained.

The Chinese government did not placidly accept the terms
of this agreement when informed of it by the two contracting
parties. The Tsung-li-Yamen announced in reply that it could
not recognize the treaty as binding upon China, because the
fact that information of its conclusion had been received did
not constitute an acceptance of its terms, nor an obligation to
respect it at a later time.? Although the Russian minister did
not send a written rejection of this Chinese attitude, he did
recommend to his government that the first favorable oppor-
tunity should be seized to impress upon the Chinese that parts
of their empire had entered indubitably into the sphere of
Russian influence. After sustained pressure the Tsung-li-
Yamen was compelled to accede to the Russian demand for a
promise not to alienate to any power except Russia ‘‘the right
of railroad construction from Peking in a northerly or north-

¢The full texts of the agreement and the supplementary notes are printed
in British and Foreign State Papers, XCI, 91-94. Partially complete texts, or
summaries are in Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 122, 127-128. B. D., I, no. 61,
P- 41. Langer, II, 682-683.

dPopov, Krasny Arkhiv, XXV, 128,
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easterly direction.” ° Russian opinion rapidly attached great
value to this security for their concessions in the northern
sphere of China, because it matched the gains British diplo.
macy had obtained for its interests in the previous year, and
because the Russians quickly believed that no real profit had
come to them from this first step towards an understanding
with Great Britain.!

e Ibid., pp. 128-129. The Chinese ministry communicated this concession in

notes of 20 May and 9 June 1899.
t1bhid., p. 130.



CHAPTER TWO
TOWARDS A BETTER UNDERSTANDING, 1900-1905

HE conclusion of the Anglo-Russian agreement of 28

April 1899 in regard to railway enterprises in China was
a cautious step in the new British policy away from isolation,
as well as an attempt to reach some peaceful settlement of all
the clashing interests with Russia. This first treaty, obtained
after much difficulty, removed from the list only one of many
causes of friction, and British diplomacy was not satisfied with
the partial achievement. From the outset a broad and frank
understanding had been the British goal. The ultimate realiza-
tion of this had not been abandoned, although it had to be
dropped for the moment when the tsar refused to permit the
discussion of more than a specific problem. Late in the year
1898, however, the British ambassador had had a long and
cordial conversation with the influential Witte who, with little
restraint, expressed his belief in the advantage of reaching an
agreement with Great Britain on the Chinese and “all other
questions.” * Throughout 1899 there seems to have been con-
siderable optimism in England that it would be possible to
come to an agreement over Persian interests with Russia, as
the latter did not then appear to be in a rapacious mood.”
Salisbury had already noted as an objection that any arrange-
ment made must concede to Russia northern Persia, with the
seat of the government at Teheran. That would lay the Brit-
ish government open to the charge of having deserted the
feeble shah in order to bargain with Russia.® If, as some well-
informed persons believed, no agreement could be reached in
Persia with Russia, whose position there was too strong and
whose policy too selfish, there remained other possibilities by

aB. D, I no. 59, p. 38; see also no. 6, p. 6, for an earlier expression of the
British viewpoint.

bStephen Gwynn, editor, The Letters and Friendships of Sir Cecil Spring
Rice. A Record, (Boston and New York, 1929), I, 28,

¢B. D, I, no. 14, p. 1I.
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which Great Britain could break away from its isolation.t
Chamberlain, who had previously advocated a general under.
standing with Russia, and then, in 1898, an alliance with Ger.
many, now a year later was espousing his latest project of an
alliance between Great Britain, the United States and Ger.
many, but had succeeded only in arousing the distrust of the
Kaiser and the scorn of the Russians.®

The new French minister of foreign affairs, Théophile Del.
cass¢, endeavored to foster good relations between his Russian
ally and the British government. On 29 August 1898 he took
occasion to explain his hopes to Sir Edmund Monson, the
British ambassador in Paris:

He could see no reason why all the supposed divergent interests [between
Great Britain and Russia] should not be reconciled, just as he thought
it possible that every dificulty between England and France could by
patience, and by a conciliatory spirit, be peaceably solved. He had al-
ways . . . regarded as eminently desirable a cordial understanding be-
tween England, France, and Russia; and begged me to assure your
Lordship [Salisbury] that he is most anxious to co-operate “as far as
his feeble means could enable him” in smoothing the way both at St.
Petersburg and Paris for the attainment of this object.t

Despite the evident willingness of Great Britain for a more
general agreement with Russia, and the beginnings of a French
policy looking towards improved relations among Great Bri-
tain, Russia, and France, Russia was still conscious of its
power, unhumbled by any recent military defeats, and showed

A Gwynn, I, 278, 285. Grey, I, 148. Korff, p. 37. In 1900 Muravyev sum-
marized Russian policy as having made northern Persia ¢ ‘completely inaccessible
to foreigners,” and as opposed to any official recognition of British interests in
southern Persia, which were by no means as yet thoroughly secure. Kriegs-
schuldfrage, VI (1928), 651-652.

e Meyendorff, II, no. 17, p. 434. B. D., I, no. 53, pp. 34-35. William II
lectured the British Lieutenant-Colonel J. M. Grierson, sent to attend him on
his approaching visit to Windsor: “Your government in England appears to
have two heads, Lord Salisbury and Mr. Chamberlain, and the one will not do
what the other wants.” (Ibid., no. 154, p. 129.) Baron de Staal came to the
conclusion that “Mr. Chamberlain would do better, in his own interest, not to
touch upon subjects which entirely escape his competence.” Meyendorff, II,

no. 17, p. 434.

tB. D, 1, no. 262, p. 216. Using his “feeble means” at St. Petersburg, Del-
cassé mformed the Russians of the “great anxiety” felt by the French govern-
ment ‘“that there should be no serious misunderstanding between Great Britain
and Russia, believing as they do that there is no insuperable obstacle to the
maintenance of harmony between them.” Ibid., no. 58, p. 37. Maurice Bompard,
Mon ambassade en Russie (1903-1908), (Pans 1937), pp. iii-vi.
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no readiness to take any further step in agreement with the
British.® No sooner was Great Britain well involved in the
struggle with the Boers in South Africa than Muravyev's un-
friendliness became evident. In one respect was his attempt
to embarrass Great Britain by courting the association of other
governments in making offers of mediation. Another way,
little known at the time, was his consideration of what profits
could be obtained for Russia in many regions of the world
while effective British objections were impossible.

Even before the actual outbreak of the Boer war Muravyev
began his efforts to create a group of continental powers which
should institute ‘‘common action against the ever-increasing
aggressions and expansion of England.” * While temporarily
stopping at Biarritz, on 4 October 1899 he paid a hasty visit
to the Queen-Regent of Spain in San Sebastian, which at once
gave rise to suspicions. While nothing definite was suggested
to the Spanish government, Muravyev was supposed to have
been optimistic that an understanding between Russia, Ger-
many, and France could be arranged and directed against
Great Britain, from which Spain should not remain aloof.!
The next call Muravyev made was in Paris, and British diplo-
mats displayed considerable curiosity about the details of his
proposals to Delcassé, as well as the degree of acceptance
which they may have received. The information picked up,
even if not official, was at least reassuring, for Delcassé was
soon reported as having told Muravyev that the best policy
for France was ‘“‘to keep on a friendly footing with England,”
while the Russian minister returned home disappointed that
no other European power had hastened to join him in taking
advantage of British preoccupation.’ Nothing happened dur-
ing the remainder of 1899 because the German government,

& Langer, 11, 789-790.

hB. D., 1, no. 286, p. 233; no. 287, p. 234.

'G. P, XV no. 4212, p. 132; NO. 4399, P. 420; no. 4496, p. s4o. B. D.,
287. Pp. 234-235

Ibid., no. 286, pp. 233-234; no. 287, pp. 234-235; No. 290, p. 237, NO. 294,

pP. 239. Count Go]uchowskl, the Austro-Hungarian minister of foreign affairs,
whom the British ambassador at Vienna characterized as “seldom loth [sic]
to pass criticism on his St. Petersburg colleague,” believed that while Muravyev
had stayed in Paris his time had been “chiefly taken up with the amusements and
seductions of that city.” Ibid., no. 291, p. 237.
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by order of the kaiser, was not disposed to participate in any
joint intervention. It also professed to believe that the Russian
intentions were unduly magnified from French sources.* Count
Benckendorff, stopping at Copenhagen on his return to his post
in London, remarked on New Year’s day 1900 that the tsar
was striving to keep down Russian public feeling against Great
Britain, and that there would be no Russian interference with
the course of the Boer war.

Muravyev nursed his bitterness towards Great Britain and
persevered in his desire to form some association of European
powers for joint activity against it. On 12 January 1900
Count Osten-Sacken, the Russian ambassador at Berlin, in-
quired “for the third time” whether the German government
would be prepared to take up a common position against Great
Britain should that power actually attempt to close the harbor
at Delagoa Bay to traffic in arms going to the aid of the Boers,
but Bilow declared that Germany was not willing to do so.”
On the following day the kaiser called on the ambassador to
offer felicitations at the beginning of the Russian New Year
whereupon, according to the German account of the visit, the
ambassador renewed his suggestion of joint representations to
Great Britain. He asked in plain words if, in the existing cir-
cumstances, ‘‘a coalition against England were not thinkable,”
but the kaiser refused to join any or to ‘“‘give up his hitherto
neutral attitude, so long as he was not compelled to do so as
a result of British inconsiderateness which went too far.”®

kG. P, XV, no. 4459, p. sor, and Anlage, p. 502; no. 4460, p. 503. B. D, |,
no. 302, p. 244; NO. 307, p. 247.

11bid., no. 303, p. 244. Benckendorff also made the surprizing remark that
“Count Muravyev is loyally seconding the determination of His Imperial
Majesty.” The “pacific bent” of the tsar was already reported. Ibid., no. 290,
p. 237.

m G, P, XV, no. 4463, pp. 506-507; no. 4464, pp. 508-509.

n [bid., no. 4465, pp. 509-510. Something should be said of the version offered
by Sir Sidney Lee (I, 761-773). The account is given by paraphrases of letters
written by Osten-Sacken to Muravyev, copies of which were preserved in the
Russian embassy in London, where they were consulted by Lee. He speaks of
the kaiser’s visit to Osten-Sacken as taking place on 1 January 1900, whereas
it was on Russian New Year’s, the 13th. The kaiser is portrayed as cherishing
the “nefarious plan . . . to persuade Russia to initiate a coalition of the powers
which should take advantage of England’s difficulties in South Africa by making
war upon her during her time of stress.” (Ibid., pp. 761-763.) This is far toc
strong to agree with any of the rare translations of Osten-Sacken’s letters, and
no other documents substantiate the charge. In March, when Muravyev sought
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Osten-Sacken then asked whether Germany would attack Rus-
sia in Europe, if it became involved in ‘‘serious complications
in Asia” and had to intervene there “in the interests of peace
and quiet.” The kaiser answered this question by remarking
that he ‘“‘stood guard just as little for Great Britain in India
as for the [Franco-Russian] Dual Alliance in East Africa.” °

Muravyev, however, finally succeeded in persuading Del-
cassé to join with Russia in sounding out Germany concerning
a future joint action to be made in London, in which Germany
should take the initiative.* In consequence Muravyev's only
known definite proposal was sent from St. Petersburg on 15/27
February, and was received in Berlin on the following day. It
declared that the time had come when, as a result of the first
important British victories in the South African war, 1t was
desirable for the governments of Europe to join in friendly
pressure upon Great Britain to put a stop to the bloody de-
struction, which could only end in the complete suppression of
the Boer republics. In the event that the governments of Ger-
many and France sympathized with this idea, the Russian
government would be pleased to cooperate with them in an
action in keeping with the humanitarian principles professed
by the powers at the recent Hague conference.® The French
reply to this overture is not known, and is of slight import-
ance; for it depended primarily on the attitude of Germany
whether this proposition for common representation was to

to convey the impression that the kaiser had suggested through Osten-Sacken
that the Russian minister should take the initiative in proposing joint action
against Great Britain, the denials by the kaiser and the German government
were prompt, angry, and scathing. (See below, p. 38.) Lee never mentions
these, although he must have known that they existed; and Muravyev needed
no promptings from anyone to take the initiative in planning for representations
to Great Britain, which he had actually begun in the previous October. This
matter was still being disputed in the British foreign office early in 1907.
B. D., 111, no. 445, Appendix B, pp. 426-313.

°G P., XV, no. 4465, p. s10. Some rumors sprang up in European capitals
that secret negotiations were in progress between France, Germany, and Rus-
sia. Sir Charles Scott reported from St. Petersburg that the kaiser had told
an unnamed diplomat: “The moment had now come for the powers to fall upon
Great Britain, and he only marvelled that this did not happen.” The German
government denied this assertion. B. D., I, no. 308, p. 247. G. P, XV, no. 34469,
P. 5I3; DO. 4470, P. §14; NO. 4471, P 5IS.

P I1bid., no. 4474, and footnote *, p. 518.

9 /bid., no. 4472, p. 516, where the French text of Muravyev's proposal is
reproduced ; see also footnote on p. s41. Lee, 1, 766.
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become a reality. All hope of this vanished because any Ger-
man association with the other powers would only have taken
place after their acceptance of almost impossible conditions.”
The German government declined in any event to take the
initiative in approaching Great Britain, and returned the com-
pliment by pointing out how much more appropriate it would
be for Russia to do this.®

The Russian minister considered the German attitude to be
an “unequivocal rejection” of all participation, which bitterly
disappointed him. Yet he made a last attempt to win German
adherence by representing that it had been the kaiser who had
first broached the subject to him through Osten-Sacken.* The
kaiser indignantly labelled this assertion as ‘‘a brazen lie,”
declared that the ambassador ‘“‘must correct his own minister,”
and expressed his unbounded contempt for Muravyev by call-
ing him “ein kaltschniuziger Lignerischer Hallunke ohne
Gleichen!" * Not only did the kaiser vigorously deny putting
the idea up to the Russians, but he quickly revealed the nature
of the proposal for joint mediation to the British." However
much the incurably loquacious kaiser attributed to his own
efforts the forestalling of unfriendly continental combinations
against Great Britain, the Russian foreign secretary’s plan for
embarrassing the British forthwith sickened and died. By the
end of March 1900 British victories in South Africa made
hopeless further prospects for interference. There were too
many European preoccupations for other great powers to be
free for the venture, while for political and financial reasons
Russia was both unwilling and unable to accomplish anything

'G. P, XV, no. 4472, p. §17; no. 4476, p. 520; no. 4486, p. 528; no. 4496,
PP. 541-542.

®Ibid., no. 4472, pp. 516-517; no. 4473, p. 517; no. 4476, p. 520, and the
kaiser’s marginal note s.

tIbid., no. 4476, p. 519; no. 4486, pp. 528-529.

uIbid., no. 4486, kaiser’s marginal notes 2 and 3, p. 530; and another pun-
gently expressed denial: “Faule Fische, ich habe nie was dhnliches verlautbaren
lassen,” no. 4476, kaiser’s marginal note 2, p. 520. For complete repudiations
by the German government see no. 4496, p. 542; no. 4497, pp. 542-543; also
no. 4394, footnote **, pp. 406-407; no. 4493, footnote *, p. 534.

VB. D, I, no. 313, p. 254. Lee, I, 769. G. P, XV, no. 4478, p. 521. For the
British acknowledgments of the kaiser’s communications, which pleased him,
see Lee, I, 770, and G. P., XV, no. 4478, p. 521; no. 4480, pp. 523-524; kaiser’s
notes to no. 4475, p. 519.



TOWARDS A BETTER UNDERSTANDING, 1900-190§5 39

alone.” Very likely Muravyev’'s own hatred of Great Britain
was the chief motivation, and therefore Goluchowski could
well express his conviction that, everything considered, Great
Britain ‘‘could not have entered on the contest in South Africa
with a freer hand.” *

In January and February 1900 several of the Russian min-
isters did join Muravyev in composing memoranda revealing
what political advantages it seemed possible to pick up for
Russia in several parts of the world.” Muravyev was so fanci-
ful that he suggested that Russia might purchase Ceuta from
Spain. Ceuta, which lay opposite Gibraltar, could be the an-
swer to the British seizure of Weihaiwei in 1898, besides hav-
ing an excellent strategic importance in the event of a war with
Great Britain.? Turning his restless thoughts next in the direc-
tion of the Near East, Muravyev continued with the idea that
Germany could not be permitted ‘‘to play the leading part at
the Bosphorus.” The Russian ambassador in Berlin should
undertake to secure an agreement whereby Germany, as in the
time of William I, would recognize the exclusive right of

¥ B. D., 1, no. 290, p. 237; no. 292, p. 238; no. 321, p. 258. Lee, I, footnote 1,
p. 77t. G. P, XV, no. 4374, p. 388; no. 4464, footnote *, p. 508; no. 4486, pp.
529-530. See the kalsers concludmg note to no. 4458, p. 497, and his remark
to Sir Frank Lascelles: “I have kept those two tigers [France and Russia)
quiet” (B. D., I, no. 313, p. 254.) The editors of the Grosse Politik recognized
that the kaiser spoke too colorfully. It suits Lee’s humorless point of view to
take seriously all that the kaiser claimed. (Lee, I, 769-773.) What the kaiser’s
real attitude was to this entire question is best disclosed in two words minuted
on a report submitted by Biilow on 2 June 1900: “Count Alvensleben reports . . .
that Dr. Leyds also still holds on to the hope of an intervention of Russia and
France in case the governments of both these states had the certainty that Your
Majesty’s government would associate itself with them [here the kaiser noted:
“No!”], or would at least let the action quietly occur [here the kaiser noted:
“yes,” with no exclamation point].” G. P., XV, no. 4500, p. 546. Langer, 1I,
652-653.

*B. D, 1, no. 290, p. 237. G. P, XV, no. 4491, p. 533; no. 4492, p. 533.

Y Kriegsschuldfrage, V1, 645. The original Russian documents are printed in
Krasny Arkhiv, XVIII (1926), 3-29. A German commentary by V. A, Wro-
blewski, “Murajews Denkschrift aus dem Jahre 1900 und die englisch-russische
i(lonvention von 1907,” is in Kriegsschuldfrage, V (1927), 1221-1228. Langer,

, 665-667.

2 Kriegsschuldfrage, VI, 646. Muravyev’s opinion was opposed by the act-
ing minister of the marine, Tyrtov, who pointed out how worthless Ceuta
would be to Russia, and by Witte as being too costly a possession. ([Ibid., pp.
657, 661-664.) Something was known about Muravyev’s activity since Goluchow-
ski characterized it as “some absurd scheme.” (B. D., I, no. 291, p. 237.) At San
Sebastian, on 5 October 1899, Muravyev, lying brazenly, told the Spanish
prime minister Silvela: “Russia did not have the slightest desire for” Ceuta.
G. P, XV, no. 4212, p. 131.
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Russia ‘“‘to the protection and in case of need to the actual
occupation of the Bosphorus.”* Russian diplomacy should
try to win the assurance from Turkey that the Bosphorus
would not be fortified. If the sultan could be made to promise
that no railroad concessions would be granted to any foreign
power, except Russia, within a definite region along the south-
ern shore of the Black Sea, that would be adequate compensa-
tion for the concessions accorded Germany for the construc-
tion of the Bagdad railway.® There had been some suspicion
in Europe during recent years that Russian policy was becom-
ing more active in Balkan affairs, but the absorption of Russian
attention all over Asia inclined foreign diplomats not to worry
seriously about Russia and the régime of the straits.

When Muravyev and his colleagues considered what advan-
tages could be won for Russia in Asia, their proposals became
more realistic. Further strengthening of the Russian dominat-
ing position in Persia seemed possible in several ways. The
suggestion to seize a port on the Persian Gulf was laid aside
as being too costly an undertaking, nor was anything done with
the idea that a friendly understanding for the delimitation of
spheres of influence should be reached with Great Britain.
In 1900 Russia was too haughty and too successful to bargain
and share.? Russian influence was so high that it seemed only
necessary to give the weak shah of Persia a formal warning
that Russia would not stand idly by if Persia should concede
a port on the Gulf, or any nearby territory, in response to
British demands, but that equivalent measures would be taken
to reéstablish the Russian position.® Indeed Russia had just
made another loan to the shah, which would probably result
in the further ascendancy of Russian influence in Persia.f

& Kriegsschuldfrage, VI, 648-649; see also Kuropatkin’s view as minister of
war, p. 66r1.

b [hid., p. 648.

¢B. D, I, no. 367, and enclosure, pp. 296-297; no. 369, p. 298; no. 372, p. 30I.

dKrt_egmhu[dfraye, VI, 650-651. Still later, on 26 August 1901, the Austro-
Hungarian finance minister declared succinctly: “Every year that passed made
Russia more powerful and more independent.” (B. D., I, no. 372, p. 301.) France
was described as being disappointed “at the egotism and indifference of Russia.”’
Ihd., no. 351, p. 283.

e Kriegsschuldfrage, VI, 650-651. Langer, 11, 752-759.

'B. D, 1, no. 310, p. 249. At the time this loan was made the kaiser, none
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Nevertheless Muravyev and his fellow ministers reached the
conclusion that Russia ought not to attempt the acquisition of
new territory either in Persia or in Afghanistan, not even of
the enticing province of Herat, because such action was un-
desirable politically and would possibly react badly upon the
loosely held subject lands of central Asia, especially in the
emirate of Bokhara. If no territory were wrested from the
Amir of Afghanistan, hope ran high among the ministers that
the maintenance of friendly relations would result in improved
commercial intercourse and in some expansion of Russian
political influence, which might culminate in permission to
introduce Russian agents into the larger towns and trade
centers.®

There was, to be sure, the incontestable fact that in 1872
and 1873 Russia had entered into treaties with Great Britain
by which Afghanistan had freely been recognized as being
outside the sphere of Russian action. These renunciations had
been given a long time ago under vastly different circum-
stances; but treaties could be interpreted.® This time the Rus-
sians gave effect to their scheming in a2 famous memorandum
of 6 February 1900, in which the old limitations upon Russian
action in Afghanistan were reafirmed, but were explained as
referring only to political relationships. In the interval great
changes had taken place in Russia's position in central Asia.
No longer could a first rate power have no intercourse at all
with a neighboring state, so the Russian government consid-
ered it indispensable to reéstablish direct frontier relations
between the two countries, although assuredly these would be
strictly non-political in nature.! This communication alarmed
both the British government and the government of India,
especially when it appeared that “the Russian government had
no desire to enter into negotiations with the British govern-
ment as to their future relations with Afghanistan, but mere-

too considerately, reminded Lascelles ‘“of the prompt manner in which Lord
Beaconsfield’s government had purchased the Suez Canal shares.” [Ibid., no.
311, p. 250. Langer, II, 668.

& Kriegsschuldfrage, VI, 653, 655.

hB. D., I, no. 376, p. 306. Kriegsschuldfrage, V1, 653. Gwynn, I, 419.

1B. D., I, no. 376, pp. 306-307; no. 377, enclosure, pp. 309-310.
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ly made a formal notification of their intentions.” ' Such a
startling innovation could not be allowed to rest, and in
consequence an erratic, occasionally even an acrimonious cor-
respondence started which never reached a satisfactory solu-
tion for more than seven years.*

During the Boer war Russia did not seriously consider any
aggressive action against the British rule in India, although
reports of increases in the Russian troops in central Asia, the
conclusion of the successful military manoeuvers near Afghan-
istan, and the rapid extension of railroad construction to within
less than one hundred miles of Herat caused many anxious
moments for Great Britain.' On the whole Russian intentions
here were unexpectedly peaceable, because the finance min-
ister Witte was eager to obtain a commercial treaty with terms
favorable for the trade which he hoped to foster between
Russia and India. No success crowned his eftorts, and a trade
that in 1895 had had encouraging prospects for the future
steadily declined, until by 1908 it had dwindled entirely away.™
Still, the Russians were playing with the happy thought that
the appointment in 1898 of Lord Curzon as viceroy of India
might turn out to be of indirect benefit to Russia. He was
known to be a notorious partisan of a “forward policy” in
India, the actual carrying out of which, in the Russian estima-
tion, could conceivably lead to renewed unrest, and possibly to
uprisings of the native tribes, thereby weakening the British
power in India.®

It was in the Far East in the years following the peace of
Shimonoseki that Russian foreign policy had become most
active. Muravyev congratulated himself in his memorandum
of 1900 that the ice-free harbor of Port Arthur had been
leased from China in 1898, and that in a short time it would
be connected with the Transsiberian railroad by a branch line.
When that should have been accomplished, he painted a fu-

JIbid., no. 377, p. 308.

kIbid., no. 377, enclosure, p. 311; IV, no. 465, pp. 513-515. Later phases of
this correspondence over Afghanistan are given below, pp. 270-278.

lBé D., I, no. 302, p. 244; no. 310, p. 249. G. P, XV, no. 4464, footnote ¥,
p. so8.

™ Popov, Krasny Arkhiv, XIX, 57-58.

nIbid., pp. 56, 61-62.
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ture in which Russia could participate in the affairs of the Far
East and make its will forcefully felt.° His ardor must have
been dampened by the reply of Tyrtov who pointed out that,
while the possession of Port Arthur permitted Russia to ex-
ercise powerful influence in northern China and at Peking, its
strategic importance vis-a-vis Japan was quite limited. This
minister recommended that it should be an aim of Russian
policy to obtain, either by diplomatic bargaining or by pur-
chase, some one of the more advantageously located Korean
ports, as Masampo, where of late Japan had not been paying
much respect to Russian ‘‘rights.”” * Muravyev acted quickly
upon this recommendation and forced the Korean government,
by an agreement signed on 30 March 1900, to grant a con-
cession of land for a Russian coal depot and a naval hospital
near Masampo, ‘‘by common consent far the finest harbor in
the East.”” * Both British and Japanese opinion feared that
the Russians would proceed to develop the concession into a
naval base of greater importance than either Vladivostok or
Port Arthur, which would consitute “a permanent menace to
Japan.” As a result, however, of vigorous opposition this
agreement was finally thwarted." Despite his animosity for
Great Britain and his feverish, but inconstant efforts, Mura-
vyev had not been able to take advantage of the embarrass-
ment of that country to win any profit for his own. Soon after-
wards he died and was succeeded by Count Lamsdorff, a more
cautious and abler man.*

The general situation in the Far East, from the British
point of view, remained “far from satisfactory” largely be-

°Kriegsschuldfrage, VI, 653-654.

P Ibid., pp. 659-660.

4B. D., 11, no. 40, pp. 32-33.

rIbid., no. 39, p. 32; no. 41, p. 33, no. 117, p. 105.

s Lamsdor ff took over Muravyev’s office in midsummer 1900 and was definite-
ly appointed foreign minister by the tsar early in 1901. He had spent his entire
previous career at the foreign office, and Witte described him as “a walking
archive of this ministry.,” Lamsdorff and Witte were close friends, and un-
doubtedly Witte’s recommendation of him to the tsar played a rdle in the
appointment. (Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 160.) While Lamsdorff was no genius,
he was greatly superior to his predecessor, considered reliable by the Germans
(Bernhard, Fiirst von Biilow, Denkwiirdigkeiten, [Berlin, 1930], 1I, 6), and
soon won the compliment from Lord Lansdowne that he ‘“has always impressed
me favorably, and I am as ready as you [Sir Charles Scott] are to give him
credit for a desire to pursue a conciliatory policy.” Newton, p. 215.



44 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

cause ‘‘the influence of Russia in China was increasing.” ' A
grasping policy, nominally conducted by the disapproving
Lamsdorft, was forced upon him by a selfish group headed by
the unprincipled concessionaires and chauvinists Bezobrazov
and Abaza, and by the political-military adventurer Admiral
Alexeyev, eager to exercise power in the Far East. What gave
weight to the aims of this clique was the fact of their influence
over the weak tsar, Nicholas II. Russia also participated fully
in the international military efforts to suppress the Boxer
movement around Peking, and when the disorders spread into
Manchuria with the Chinese attacking the Russian railroad
line during July 1900, a more private venture began with the
military occupation of that province. On 4 August the town
of Newchwang and its customs house were seized.® Lamsdorff
gave assurances that no permanent conquest was contemplated,
but that the Russian troops would be withdrawn following the
pacification of the territory and the conclusion of an agreement
with China intended to protect the railroad line from future
raids, in addition to regulating the conditions of the evacua-
tion."

The terms which the Russians sought to include in the
arrangement with China proved to be a new source of trouble.
They were declared by some European powers and by Japan
to be incompatible with the sovereignty and territorial integ-
rity of China, besides constituting an impairment of the treaty
rights of other powers.” In an attempt to forestall any
Russian advantage and to protect their own positions Great
Britain, Japan, and to a lesser degree Germany, endeavored
to strengthen the back of the Chinese government by giving it
the advice not to conclude any separate agreement with a single
power which contained provisions of a dangerous character.*
This supporting counsel was appreciated by the Chinese gov-

tB. D, 1, no. 311, p. 250.

urbid, 11, no. 1, p. 1.

"Ibifi., no. 42, and enclosure, p. 34.

¥ Ibid., no. 44, p. 36, no. 45, p. 37; no. 46, p. 37; no. 71, p. 53. For the text
of the first Russian demands upon China as transmitted from Peking to London
on 6 March r9o1, see no. 47, pp. 38-39.

XIbid., no. 44, p. 36; no. 6o, p. 48; no. 67, p. st. G. P, XVI, no. 4812, pp.
317-318; no. 4814, p 321.
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ernment and it continued to decline the Russian proposals,
even when slightly modified.” Annoyed by the Chinese recal-
citrancy, the Russian government suddenly announced, early
in April 1901, that in the existing circumstances it appeared
as if the efforts being made to arrive at a preliminary arrange-
ment looking toward the restitution of Manchuria might cause
serious difficulties for China rather than serve as a proof of
Russia’s friendly sentiments. The Russian memorandum
ended on a threatening note:

Therefore the Imperial Cabinet not only does not insist on the conclu-
sion of the arrangement with the Chinese government, but itself declines
all further pourparlers on this subject and, resolutely faithful to the
program which it has followed from the beginning, calmly awaits the
development of events.”

In spite of their differences in China, the British foreign
office believed that the Russians were in a friendly mood, with
Nicholas II “all in favor of working on a good understanding
with us.” Lamsdorff seemed inclined to adopt a more con-
ciliatory attitude, especially because he feared a future war
with Japan* This apparent friendliness was welcomed in
London, where the generally hostile feelings of the great
powers manifested during the South African war had revealed
the dangers of British isolation as neither splendid nor secure.
The activity of the venerable Salisbury was drawing to a close;
his opinions were no longer unquestioned.® There was enough
favorable feeling in the British government and in public opin-
ion so that a ‘‘second attempt” was made ‘‘to arrive at a
friendly understanding with Russia on Chinese questions”

¥ The Russian revised demands are summarized and commented upon by
Lansdowne in B. D., 11, no. 6o, pp. 47-48.

2 Ibid., no. 65, enclosure, p. 50. G. P., XVI, no. 4838, pp. 351-352. The Ger-
man comments and notes on this document clearly show that the veiled con-
clusion was fully appreciated. The Russian memorandum was made public on
5 April 1901.

aB. D, 11, no. 73, p. 55. Newton, p. 215,

b Nicolson, pp. 130-131. Grey, I, 40-31. Lee, I, note 3, p. 748; II, 727. Salis-
bury also had misgivings about the adequacy of British isolation, but he thought
that “it would hardly be wise to incur novel and most onerous obligations, in
order to guard against a danger in whose existence we have no historical reason
for believing.” (B. D., 11, no. 86, p. 68.) Lansdowne admitted the force of this
observation, but replied that “we may push too far the argument that, because
we have in the past survived in spite of our isolation, we need have no mis-
givings as te the effect of that isolation in the future.” Ibid., no. 92, p. 77.
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after the manner of that of 1898.© The Russians quickly made
it clear that Great Britain could reach no agreement with
them over the Manchurian situation, and this ‘‘second at-
tempt” failed with hardly a trace left to show that it had
ever been made.® Russian policy in Manchuria would concede
nothing to the views of another power. Before long the de-
mands which China must accept prior to the Russian military
evacuation of the province were being pressed again. The
British could do little more than to make a series of requests
that Russia should promise to get out of Manchuria, in much
the same manner that France had tried since 1882 to get Great
Britain to withdraw from Egypt.®

The British were no more successful in 1901 in escaping
from isolation by means of an alliance with Germany. The
irrepressible Joseph Chamberlain had let the Germans know
that the time had come when England must choose between
the Triple or the Dual alliance, and that most of the cabinet,
including himself, and the foreign office favored the first alter-
native, only turning to the other in the event of German un-
willingness.! These negotiations, arising from a nebulous

¢ Newton, p. 216. Sir T. H. Sanderson, the permanent under secretary for
foreign affairs, thought that “a good understanding [with Russia] . . . would
be much the best plan if it could be managed.” (B. D., II, no. 73, p. §5.)
Speaking in behalf of the opposition, on 26 July 1901 Sir Edward Grey declared
that an understanding with Russia was “really vital to any satisfactory condi-
tion of affairs.” (Parliamentary Debates, 4th series, XCVIII, 286-287.) An
article by J. W. Gambier, “A Plea for Peace — an Anglo-Russian Alliance,”
Fortnightly Review, LXXIV (1900), 1002, 1006, based a desire for agreement
with Russia on the grounds of commercial advantage as well as in behalf of
world peace.

4 Again during November 1901 Lansdowne suggested to Staal that Great
Britain and Russia should reach an agreement in their Chinese relations. Staal
replied evasively. While he personally wished to see the mutual distrust ended,
he thought that Great Britain ought to make the first proposals because it had
always attributed hostile intentions and malevolent plans to Russia. France,
Ministére des affaires étrangéres, Commission de publication des documents
relatifs aux origines de la guerre de 1914, Documents diplomatiques francais
(1871-1914), 2° série (rgorI-191r1), (Paris, 1930-), I, no. 493, p. s81; no. 523,
p. 617. (Hereafter cited as D. D. I'. All volumes used are in the second series.)
Langer, II, 756-759.

¢ Newton, p. 216. B. D, II, no. 1, p. 2; no. 75, pp. 56-57. It is rather sur-
prizing to find Lansdowne calmly admitting that “Russia cannot be expected to
withdraw at once and without precautions from territories which have been
the scene of serious disturbances and which so closely adjoin her possessions,
and the necessary provisional 'arrangements pending evacuation can scarcely
fail to involve some derogation from the sovereign rights of China.” [Ibid., no.
75 P. 57-

£G. P, XVII, no. 4982, p. 19; no. 4994, p. 42. Lee, I, footnote 1, p. 798.
Nicolson, p. 132. Fischer, pp. 201-202.
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beginning in the spring, never became wholeheartedly intimate,
languished over the summer, and were broken oft entirely in
December, leaving relations between the two countries only the
worse for the trouble. Neither side had found the proposals
of the other acceptable.® In both foreign offices, more espe-
cially in the German, there were ministers not in favor of an
alliance. As the conversations dragged on without success,
the feeling was voiced that the proper time had not yet come.®
The British believed that the Germans demanded too much.
The Germans were interested in getting the British to pay
their price, and more often speculated academically how high
that price ought to be than they made efforts to reach an
agreement.! In consequence Great Britain looked in still an-
other direction to find a partner for an alliance.

Ever since Great Britain had refused to join Russia, France
and Germany in pressing Japan to reduce its demands upon
China after the victorious war of 189g, British and Japanese
policy towards China had followed a similar direction.! The
Japanese government authorized its ambassador 1n London,
Baron Hayashi, to suggest to LLord Lansdowne, on his own
responsibility, that ‘“some permanent understanding for the
protection of their interests’ in the Far East should be reached
between them. No definite proposals were made at an inter-
view on 17 April 1901, but after the Anglo-German discus-
sions had lulled in midsummer, on 31 July Lansdowne hinted
strongly that he would be ready to discuss Far Eastern policy
“with a view to the possible establishment of an understanding

€B. D, II, no. 86, pp. 68-69; no. 91, p. 76; no. 92, p. 78; no. 94, p. 81. G. P.,
XVII, no. 4989, p. 35. For further details of this negotiation see G. P. Gooch,
History of Modern Europe 1878-1919, (New York, 1923), pp. 324-330; S. B.
Fay, The Origins of the World War, (New York, 1929), I, r35-141; Langer,
II, 711-746; Eugene N. Anderson, The First Moroccan Crisis 19og-1906, (Chi-
cago, 1930), pp. 52-81; Fischer, op. cit.; G. P., XVII, pp. 3-129.

hB. D, II, no. 81, p. 63; no. 91, pp. 73-76; no. 94, p. 82; no. 96, p. 85. G. P,
XVII, no. 4983, p. 21; no. 4984, p. 22; no. 4989, p. 36; no. 4995, note 4, pP. 44,
for Bilow’s “Kastanientheorie.”

! Fischer, pp. ix, 201. G. P., X1V, part 1I, no. g019, p. s44+; XVII, no. 4991,
P. 39; no. 4998, p. 49; no. sorg, pp. 86-88. Biilow believed that “British difh-
culties will still mount in the coming months, and therewith also the price which
we can demand will increase. We must not show Great Britain any too great
ardor, which would only heighten British claims and diminish our prospects for
winnings.” Ibid., no. 4983, p. 2o0.

IB. D., 11, Editors’ Note, p. 89; no. 102, p. 91; no. 124, p. 113.
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between our two countries.” ¥ Two weeks later the Japanese
acknowledged a readiness to treat, and Lansdowne told
Hayashi that he should obtain definite proposals from the
Japanese government, while the British foreign secretary
would endeavor to be ready with a reply. The Japanese am-
bassador offered the first definite terms for an alliance with
Great Britain on 16 October, when formal negotiations were
begun.'

In undertaking these negotiations with an Asiatic power for
the defence of British interests in Asia, British diplomacy fol-
lowed established precedents.™ The two parties easily agreed
that if either were attacked in defence of their respective in-
terests, the other needed only to maintain a strict neutrality.
If, however, the attacking power were joined by an ally, (and
in all probability this would be Russia aided by France), then
both parties to the treaty would conduct the war henceforth
in common, and would make peace in mutual agreement.® Each
party had, however, certain bothersome special interests. The
most coveted gain desired by Japan from the alliance was
expressed with unmistakable frankness: the concern for the
future of Korea. The Russian aggression in the Far East
menaced Japanese interests not only in Manchuria, but also
threatened to result in obtaining a preponderating influence in
Korea, which Japan was determined to oppose.® The Japanese
government declared that ‘“‘they would certainly fight in order
to prevent it, and it must be the object of their diplomacy to
isolate Russia, with which power, if it stood alone, they were
prepared to deal.” * The British were well informed of the
Japanese warlike attitude toward Russia, so they endeavored
to avoid being drawn into a war as a sequel to any measures
to which Japan might resort “however reckless or provocative,

X Pooley, Hayashi, p. 116. B. D., 11, no. 99, p. 89; no. 102, p. 9I.

'1bid., no. 103, p. 92; no. 105, p. 97. In a memorandum of r1 November
1901, Lansdowne wrote: “In approaching the Japanese we have, indeed, vir-
tually admitted that we do not wish to continue to stand alone.” Ibid., no. 92,
P. 77.

m Dennis, p. 18.

" B. D., II, no. 125, p. 117.

©Ibid., no. 105, p. 97. Pooley, Hayashi, p. 12s.

PB. D., 11, no. 102, p. 91.



TOWARDS A BETTER UNDERSTANDING, 1900-190§ 49

in order to support her interests in Korea.”” ¢ The best check
that Great Britain could obtain in the treaty upon Japanese
aggressiveness was the mutual statement in the preamble that
both countries were ‘‘specially interested in maintaining the
independence and territorial integrity of the Empire of China
and the Empire of Korea,” as well as the assertion in the first
article that they both were “entirely uninfluenced by any ag-
gressive tendencies in either country.”

For the purpose of getting a treaty at all Great Britain
recognized the special interests of Japan in Korea. Lansdowne
then wanted to extend the scope of the treaty to include
British special interests in India, because it was only equitable
that Japan should assist Great Britain if it became involved
with two powers in a dispute originating over India. No
persuasion, however, could win the acceptance of this proposal
by the Japanese, and no mention of India was made in the
final treaty.® In a diplomatic note which accompanied the
treaty, the British government refused to assume an obliga-
tion to maintain a definite naval strength which would be at
all times superior to that of any third power in the extreme
east, but promised to maintain that superiority in so far as
possible.* The journey of Marquis Ito to St. Petersburg at the
end of 1901, however, temporarily threatened the successful
issue of the alliance. In common with certain of the more
venerable statesmen of Japan, he thought it would be more
profitable to obtain an agreement with Russia over Korea than
with Great Britain.* This mission to Russia caused some de-

97bid., no. 110, p. 99; no. 117, p. 105. Pooley, Hayashi, pp. 129, 165. The
griti{h Documents are replete with indications of the Japanese bellicosity toward

ussia.

'B. D, II, no. 125, pp. 115-116. Hayashi had told Lansdowne that in his
opinion “it was most unlikely that Japan, knowing as she must know what a
war with Russia must mean, would light-heartedly involve herself in such a
war for any but the most amply sufficient reasons.” (Ibid., no. 116, p. 104; no.
117, p. 105. Dennis, p. 6.) Nevertheless, “the Japanese, while no doubt desirous
of peace, too, were careful to leave a loophole which would give them an excuse
for war with Russia over Korea if necessary.” Newton, p. 228.

sB. D., 1I, no. 110, p. 99; no. 115, p. 102; no. 117, p. ro4. Langer, I, 783.
The expression “extreme east” in place of “Far East” was therefore used in the
treaty to make sure of this limitation of the scope.

*B. D, 11, no. 115, p. 103; no. 121, p. 111; NO. 125, pp. 119-120.

U Pooley, Hayashi, pp. 155, 158. Alexander A. Savinsky, Recollections of a
Russian Diplomat, (London, 1927), p. 23. Newton, p. 223. K. K. Kawakami,



§0 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

lay in the Anglo-Japanese negotiations and aroused suspicion
in London, although the Japanese denied that his visit was
responsible for the pause, or that he was in any manner au-
thorized to discuss or to conclude an arrangement with Rus-
ia.¥ Ito did in fact nearly succeed in coming to an agreement
in St. Petersburg, but when the Russians, as usual, procras-
tinated, he left without an answer.” A Japanese crown council
definitely decided on 7 December for the agreement with
Great Britain, after which the negotiations were hurried
along so that the first alliance between Great Britain and
Japan was signed on 30 January 1902.*

The reception of this treaty by the powers of Europe was
quietly reserved, with an occasionally scornful remark be-
cause a western nation had made an alliance with one of the
yellow race. The British foreign office was most interested in
the reaction of Russia and France, against whom the alliance
was primarily aimed. The French ambassador in London
betrayed no sign to L.ansdowne that he was aware that “the
agreement was in any way directed against France,” but he
did complain of the excessive distrust in England ‘‘as to Rus-
sian designs in different parts of the world,” while in Paris
by the very brevity of his comments Delcassé showed how little
he liked the alliance.” Lamsdorff sought to cloak his surprize
and displeasure by seeing in the objects and terms of the
treaty only those “in such complete accordance with intimated
views and repeated declarations of the Russian government
that he was disposed to ask permission to associate Russia

“Prince Ito’s Confidential Papers,” Foreign Affairs, XI (New York, 1933),

493-495. _
vB. D, 11, no. 112, p. 100; no. 113, p. 1or. Kawakami, Foreign Affairs,

XI, 49s.

¥ Savinsky, p. 23. Savinsky believes that Russia hesitated to give Japan a
free hand in Korea because of the need felt for a port between Port Arthur
and Vladivostok, and because Russia doubtless harbored later designs on Korea;
but had the agreement been concluded with Ito there would not have been war
in 1904. (Ibid., p. 301.) In 1905 Witte said: “If in r9or we had accepted
Marquis Ito’s proposal, Japan would not have formed an alliance with Eng-
land.” (I. Ya. Korostovetz, Pre-War Diplomacy. The Russo-Japanese Problem,
[London, 1920], p. 57.) See also G. P., XVII, no. 5042, pp. 144-145.

xC.H B F. P, I1], 2g2. W, L, Langer “Die Entstehung des russisch-japan-
ischen Kriegs,” Europauc/te Gespriche, 1V (1926), 300-303. Pooley, Hayashi,
PP. 195, 206. Kawakami, Foreign Affairs, X1, 495-3496.

YB. D., II, no. 131, pp. 124-12§; no. 137, p .128
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with the two governments in their agreement;" but he was
dissuaded from this step by his inability to understand pre-
cisely why the articles regarding the eventuality of any hostil-
ities were included.* A few days later he expressed his regret
that the Anglo-Japanese agreement would probably retard
the realization of the desire ‘“for a frank and friendly under-
standing” with Great Britain in the Far East.®

Lamsdorff, however, quickly and secretly set about devising
a rejoinder to neutralize the effect of the Anglo-Japanese al-
liance, to which he hoped the nations of Europe would sub-
scribe. After the tsar had approved his proposal, he sent it
to Paris where Delcassé promptly accepted it in principle.
With some revision the joint Franco-Russian note of 16
March, which set forth the manner in which they regarded the
recent treaty, was made ready for communication along with
an invitation to the great powers to associate themselves with
it. The note approved the declared purposes of the agreement
to preserve peace in the Far East, to maintain the independ-
ence of China and Korea, and the “open door” for the com-
merce and industry of all nations, but concluded with this
strong declaration: |

Nevertheless, being obliged themselves also to take into consideration
the case in which either the aggressive action of third powers or the
recurrence of disturbances in China, jeopardizing the integrity and free
development of that power, might become a menace to their own In-
terests, the two allied governments reserve to themselves the right to
consult in that contingency as to the means to be adopted for safeguard-
ing those interests.®

Austria-Hungary willingly adhered, but Lamsdorft was pain-
fully disappointed when Germany, although appreciating the
substance of the statement, remained aloof because it had only
commercial interests in China.® This counter-declaration was

21bid., no. 130, p. 124. G. P., XVII, no. 5047, p. 155.

2B. D., 11, no. 140, p. 130.

D. D. F, II, no. 79, p. 87; no. 97, p. 112; no. 98, p. 113. G. P., XVII, no.
5049, p. 157; no. 5057, p. 170.

¢ The full text is reprinted in D. D. F., II, no. 145, pp. 177-178. G. P., XVII,
no. 5064, Anlage, p. 180. B. D., II, no. 145, enclosure, p. 135. English transla-
tion partly in Dennis, pp. 8-9.

4G. P, XVII, no. 5050, p. 158; no. 5064, pp. 179-180. D. D. F., 1I, no. 156,
pp. 187-188,
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as little to the liking of Great Britain as the treaty in reply
to which it was made had been to Russia or France. For the
immediate future Anglo-Russian relations were cool, and once
again the prospects for a general understanding went glim-
mering.*

Russian policy then followed its own course, but no provok-
ing incidents upset Anglo-Russian relations during the re-
mainder of 1902. Russia succeeded in making an agreement
with not too derogatory conditions for China by which the
Russian troops would be withdrawn from Manchuria in three
stages, to be completed by 8 October 1903, if nothing hap-
pened to alter the plans." The real region of rivalry between
Great Britain and Russia in Asia was centering around Persia,
where Russian activity had progressed slowly and surely for
many years but of late had been intensified. This was partly
because with the coming of Lord Curzon’s impetus, British
policy discarded its apparent indifference. Attempts were made
to retain and to regain the British paramount position in
southern Persia with some indications of success, although the
increased opposition to the expansion of Russian political and
commercial influence in the rest of the land remained futile.®
The British position in the Persian Gulf also seemed threat-
ened by the plans for the Bagdad railway, so that the London
financial interests refused, early in 1903, to participate in its
construction, partly because the German terms did not guaran-
tee equal influence to other nations in the control of the pro-
ject, and partly because British public opinion was vigorously
hostile to it." In order to defend British interests around the

¢B. D., 1, no. 338, p. 273; II, no. 145, minute by King Edward, p. 136. G. P,
XVII, no. so6s, p. 181. Newton, p. 234

IB. D., II, no. 144, pp. 132-135; no. 225, p. 198. The text of this agreement
of 8 April 1902 is in Accounts and Papers, CXX, 172-173.

&D. D. F, I, no. 225, p. 265; no. 396, pp. 474-476; II, no. 256, pp. 311-312;
III, no. 232, p. 312; no. 410, pp. 548-549. B. D., IV, no. 321 (a), pp. 369-371.
Newton, pp. 234-2135.

h Lansdowne disapproved of ‘“the ‘scuttle’ of the financiers.” He believed
that “although our abstention may have the effect of retarding the completion
of the line, I feel little doubt that it will eventually be made. That it should
be made without British participation would, to my mind, be a national mis-
fortune.” (B. D., 11, no. 216, p. 187; no. 224, p. 196.) Russia did not approve
of the project, and France officially refused to participate. Ibid., no. 217, p.
188; no, 223, p. 194. .
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Gulf from Russian aggression and from a future terminus of
the Bagdad railway, if not under British control, Lansdowne
pronounced his famous warning in the house of lords on s
May. Great Britain did not desire, he insisted, to exclude
from the Gulf the legitimate trade of any nation, but ‘“‘we
should regard the establishment of a naval base or of a forti-
fied port in the Persian Gulf by any other power as a very
grave menace to British interests, and we should certainly
resist it with all the means at our disposal.”!

Anglo-Russian relations suddenly clouded over again when
it became known late in April 1903 that Russia was insisting
upon new conditions which China must accept before Russian
troops would be finally withdrawn from Manchuria as had
been stipulated. In Great Britain these additional demands,
seven in number, were ‘‘considered highly objectionable, as
being derogatory to the sovereignty of China and detrimental
to the interests of the powers.” ! Lamsdorff denied that there
was any intention ‘“‘of departing from the published declara-
tions and assurances which had been given with regard to the
evacuation of Manchuria, or infringing on the treaty rights
of other powers.” * It was quickly apparent that Lamsdorft
was badly informed and that this question was not being
handled by the Russian foreign office, but in some more devious
way. On 13 August Admiral Alexeyev was appointed viceroy
of the Far Eastern provinces, and the tsar elevated Bezobra-
zov to be a special foreign minister, reporting directly to him-
self. This establishment of ‘“‘two foreign offices” became well
known in Europe and made Russian policy hopelessly incon-
sistent, and Count Lamsdorff’s position ineffective.!

This latest Russian adventure immediately produced an
exceedingly tense atmosphere in Japan, and the Japanese for-
eign minister, Baron Komura, spoke “with unwonted serious-

1 Parliamentary Debates, 4th series, CXXI, 1348. B. D., II, no. 222, pp. 193-
194; IV, no. 321 (a), pp. 370-371. G. P., XVII, no. 5364, pp. 560-561. D. D. F.,
IV, no. 5, pp. 10-13; no. 25, pp. 35-37.

YB. D, 11, no. 225, p. 198; no. 226, p. 199.

kIbid., no. 230, p. 203; no. 231, p. 203.

V1bid., no. 244, p. 213; no. 248, p. 216; no. 250, p. 218; no. 258, p. 223. G. P,
XVIII, part I, no. 5425, pp. 81-83. D. D. F., 1V, no. 5, pp. 10-13; no. 25, pp.
35-37. Bompard, pp. 20-24, 31. .
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ness”’ to Sir Claude MacDonald, the British minister at Tokyo.
The earliest indications of the Japanese attitude revealed a
willingness to go to extreme, although as yet not precisely
defined lengths. On 3 July 1903 Lansdowne was informed
that Japan no longer felt safe in maintaining its “‘attitude of
watchful reserve” or ‘‘the policy of forbearance” towards
Russia, but proposed to offer to that power as a solution of
the present situation ‘‘a mutual engagement to respect the
independence and territorial integrity of China and Korea,
and to maintain the principle of equal opportunity for the
commerce and industry of all nations in those two countries.”™
The British government, with some reluctance, saw ‘‘no reason
for dissuading the Japanese government’ from embarking on
this new departure, but reserved the right to protect its own
interests, or to consider becoming a party to any successful
issue, under proper conditions.® The Japanese government
thereupon addressed proposals to the Russian foreign office
and negotiations were opened, which appeared for some time
as if they might lead to a satisfactory understanding.®

This notice of Japanese intentions to seek an agreement with
Russia was followed from August onwards by a renewed effort
on the part of Lansdowne to engage Russia in discussions for
a friendly arrangement with Great Britain on those “other
points” of clashing interests not resolved by the agreement of
1899, which now ‘“‘must, of course, include the Manchurian
question.” * While never a word was written that might be-
tray any interrelation between the two moves, no stretch of
the imagination is required to perceive that British policy was
trying to rival the Japanese ally in gaining the benefits to be
derived from agreement with Russia. An agreement between
Russia and Japan would make one with Great Britain needless

mB. D, II, no. 226, p. 199; no. 237, pp. 206-207. Japan professed a desire
for “an amicable adjustment” with Russia. “It was not necessary at this time
to attempt to say what the result of Russia’s rejection of such proposals would
be, but the responsibility for whatever consequences might ensue would lie
solely upon her.” [Ibid., no. 238, p. 208.
_ "1bid., no. 239, p. 210. The best reason why Japan received British permis-
sion was expressed by Sir Claude MacDonald: “I do not think any objection we
may make will deter them.” Ibid., no. 240, p. 211.

°1bid., no. 245, p. 214; no. 248, p. 216; no. 254, p. 220.

P Ibid., no. 242, p. 212; no. 243, p. 213.
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for Russia, since the British would no longer be in a position
to offer anything to Russia in Manchuria. Indeed Bencken-
dorff had received Lansdowne's assurance that, if Great Brit-
ain and Russia should make an arrangement over that prov-
ince, Russia could count on British assistance in bringing about
an arrangement with China satisfactory to Russia.®

The French were eager to promote good relations between
their older ally and their coming friend, and this had been a
motivating purpose in Delcassé’s foreign policy during his ten-
ure of office. Some care had also to be bestowed on Franco-
Russian relations, because the honeymoon ardor of the allies
had worn off : they were no longer self-sufficient, and sought
for other distractions and friendships." While France had
taken ‘‘an extra dance’ with Italy, coquetted with Spain, and
flirted across the channel, Russia had shown no jealousy but
had turned to Vienna, where a family welcome had been ex-
tended. This intimacy with Austria, which had arisen from
cooperation in Balkan affairs, had also produced improved
relations between Germany and Russia, until by 1903 talk of
the revival of something similar to the old League of the
Three Emperors echoed in the chancelleries.® Some suspicion
existed that LLamsdorff was not pleased with Delcassé’s anglo-
philism, in consequence of which the Dual alliance ‘“had been
penetrated by a mortal virus.”* The French realized that
Russia must be assured that their alliance still formed the
basis for French policy, but that only the benefit of improved
relations between Russia and Great Britain would come from
a successful agreement between the latter and France. Lams-
dorff seemed to agree that there were no insuperable barriers
to the realization of harmony with Great Britain, where it
was becoming realized that the full advantage of a rapproche-
ment with France would never be enjoyed until an understand-
ing had also been achieved with Russia."

a71bid., no. 243, p. 213.

'D. D. F, II1, no. 370, p. 484; 1V, no. 317, p. 422. Newton, p. 28s.

sD. D. F, 1II, no. 32, pp. 41-43; IV, no. 317, pp. 419, 421. G. P., XVIII,
part II, no. s911, pp. 839-840.

tIbid., no. 5888, pp. 806-807. D. D. F., 1V, no. 317, p. 420.

uIbid., II1, no. 397, pp. 527-528; no. 410, Pp. 547, 550. Lee, II, 281. Bencken-
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Reports had already come from the German embassy in
London which placed the prospect of a new three power com.
bination of Great Britain, France and Russia before the off-
cials of the Berlin foreign office. The British had tried to get
the Russians to consider a peaceful settlement of their con-
flicting interests in Persia and elsewhere, but had received no
encouragement. Negotiations for the composition of Anglo-
French differences were, however, reputedly under way."
While Biilow thought that there was scant probability of the
achievement of either agreement, he was not so certain of his
opinion that he did not at once ask for the ripely considered
views of the ambassadors in London, St. Petersburg and Paris.
The replies were nearly unanimous in their conviction that
far too many insurmountable obstacles still existed in the way
of the creation of any such combination that could be danger-
ous to Germany.” Billow summed up these reports as giving
additional proof that there was no likelihood of a ‘““Russian-
French-English brotherhood” within any predictable time, and
that “we cannot take things too coolly.” * Once again full
faith in Holstein’s unalterable antagonisms was reaffirmed.

On the eve of Lamsdorft's visit to Delcassé in Paris at the
end of October, Lansdowne made his greatest attempt to draw
Russia into conversations by which a stop could be put to their
disputes. He complained to the French ambassador that he
had not been able to start negotiations with the Russian gov-
ernment, and that he knew neither what it desired nor what it

dorff, who replaced Staal in London in 1903, told Paul Cambon that Russia was
not disturbed by the Anglo-French conversations but counted upon them to
help improve Anglo-Russian relations. D. D. F., III, no. 393, p. 521.

VG. P, XVII, no. 5361, p. 557; no. 5369, p. 569.

¥ 1bid, no. 5370, Pp. 571-572; no. 5371, pp. 573-577, from London; no. 5372,
Pp. 577-580, from St. Petersburg; no. 5373, pp. s81-585, from Paris. A second
report from Paris did mention that there was some belief that an Anglo-French
agreement could be realized, but the German ambassador was not impressed by
the sources of his information, nor was it seriously considered in Berlin. (/bid.,
no. 5374, pp. 585-587.) Alvensleben reported that an attaché of the British
embassy in St. Petersburg had admitted that “the Russians would indeed be
foolish if they let themselves in for such an understanding” with Great Britain.
1bid., no. 5372, p. 578.

X1bid., no. 5375, pp. 588-589; XVIII, part II, no. 5911, pp. 839-840. Alvens-
leben advised that there was no reason why Germany should not press on with
no show of weakness in the forthcoming negotiations with Russia for the
renev;al of the favorable commercial treaty of 1894. Ibid., XVII, no. 5372, pp.
579-580.
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was prepared to do. He hoped that during their meeting
Delcassé would be able to prevail upon Lamsdorff to discuss
matters with Great Britain in the same frank spirit as the
British were carrying on the exchange of ideas with France.”
Delcassé took full advantage of the occasion to impress upon
[.amsdorff that ‘‘a little more frankness was desirable and
would be calculated to smooth difhculties’ in Russian relations
with the British. Lamsdorff recognized that this was true and
declared that Russia was ready to explain things in a most
conciliatory and friendly manner through Benckendorff, who
would soon receive instructions.* An unusually long and pleas-
ant interview between I.ansdowne and Benckendorff followed
on 7 November, which “broke the ice.”

Count Lamsdorff felt strongly [so Lansdowne noted] that it was of
importance that an endeavor should be made to remove all sources of
misunderstanding between the two governments, and that there should
be “a change for the better” in our relations. Count Benckendorff was
therefore instructed to discuss frankly with me the various questions
outstanding between Great Britain and Russia, with the object of
arriving at an agreement as to the manner in which they should be dealt
with. In the meantime, the Russian government would be careful to
avoid any action bearing the appearance of hostility to this country.®

Lansdowne expressed his real pleasure upon hearing Lams-
dorff’s views, as well as his readiness to contribute to the
realization of an agreement.® A second meeting ten days later
was less satisfactory because Benckendorfl, willing enough to
discuss the Russian attitude, was still without authority to
offer specific proposals. LLansdowne was less encouraged and
even ‘‘disposed to think that our discussions are not likely to

YB. D, 11, no. 242, p. 212; no. 250, p. 218. D. D. F., IV, no. 44, pp. 66-67;
see also III, no. 393, pp. s20-521. Un Diplomate, Paul Cambon, ambassadeur
de France, 1843-1924, (Paris, 1937), p. 218. This volume is hereafter cited as
Paul Cambon.

:B. D, Il, no. 257, p. 221. D. D. F., IV, no. 49, p. 72; no. 58, p. 83. The
German foreign office noticed that the unfriendly criticism of Great Britain in
the Russian press was replaced by kindlier comments and suggestions of a pos-
sible agreement. It was believed that Lamsdorff had requested this change fol-
lowing his visit in Paris. G. P., XVII, no. 5366, p. 562; no. 5367, p. 563.

¢B. D, II, no. 258, p. 222. G. P. Gooch, “Die Entstehung der Triple En-
tente,” Berliner Monatshefte, VII (1929), 595.

b Lansdowne complained to Cambon that only generalities were discussed,
and nothing precise was suggested. D. D. F, IV, no. 77, p. 103.
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"

have much result.” Nevertheless he explained to the ambas-
sador in considerable detail, on 25 November, what conces-
sions would be expected from Russia, along with what recog-
nition would be accorded Russian interests, in any agreement
for the regulation of their relations in Asia.°

In truth these conversations did not have much result partly
because the Russian attitude remained vague, but more be-
cause the British had not been careful to avoid actions in Asia
which upset the Russian government by their evident hostility.*
To emphasize the warning given in the Persian Gulf declara-
tion of § May, Curzon had already been granted the permis-
sion refused him in 1901 to make a triumphal cruise in those
waters to parade the greatness of British predominance before
the eyes of the impressionable natives. This pompous show
went on through November with the viceroy “escorted . . . by
an imposing naval force . . . in almost swashbuckling style.” °
Appearances were made in well-nigh regal circumstance at
many of the port towns where speeches of welcome, often im-
posed textually in advance, were pronounced by humiliated
natives.! What Lansdowne delightfully phrased as ‘“George
Curzon’s prancings in the Persian puddle’ worried the Russian
government, while in London it was hoped that no serious con-
sequences would follow.# Curzon was also sponsoring a diplo-
matic mission to Tibet led by Colonel Younghusband, but the
Tibetans had stubbornly refused to treat with it. By the end

. ¢B. D, 1V, no. 181 (a), pp. 183-184; no. 182, pp. 186-188. King Edward was
interested in these conversations and had a long discussion with Benckendorff.
(1bid., no. 181 (b), p. 186. Lee, II, 281.) Sir Charles Hardinge, an under
secretary in the foreign office but soon to be ambassador in St. Petersburg, be-
lieved that Benckendorff had talked matters over with Lamsdorff so that the
views he expressed, even if without instructions or details, “represent to a
certain extent those of Lamsdorff, although he has very likely kept something
back.” B. D., IV, no. 181 (b), pp. 185-186. Bompard, p. 237.

4 Newton, p. 287.

¢ Ronaldshay, II, 314. D. D. F,, IV, no. 6, pp. 13-15; no. 55, p. 78. The
British Documents are remarkably silent on this episode.

tD. D. F., 1V, no. 92, p. 119. Newton, p. 243. The French thought the whole
show to be “a simple bluff in the familiar English style.” (D. D. F., IV, no. 355,
P- 79.) M. Defrance wrote from Teheran an amusing description of the voyage,
of Curzon’s kidney trouble, and of his failure to arrange a sufficiently imposing
reception for himself at Bushire. Ibid., no. 123, pp. 178-181.

8 Newton, p. 287. D. D. F.,, IV, no. 92, pp. 119-120. Lansdowne assured
Cambon that Curzon was making an “inspection of the consulates” run by the

government of India, but that there was no intention of altering the status quo
in the Gulf. 1bid., no. 76, p. 102.
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of 1903 a strong military escort was added, which virtually
transformed the mission into an expeditionary corps, osten-
sibly to assure the protection of the commissioner, but actually
to fight its way into Tibet even to the forbidden city of Lhasa,
there to compel the monks to enter into negotiations.® As this
expedition went slowly along its route, the Russian govern-
ment became increasingly anxious, not only for the spread of
British influence in a new region, but for the impression it
would make upon a few million Buddhist Buriat subjects in
Siberia, who looked upon the holy places of LLhasa as some-
thing in the nature of a Vatican. The Russian attitude was
one of ominous silence, and LLansdowne took occasion to ex-
plain to Benckendorft that the expedition had been undertaken
“owing to the outrageous conduct of the Tibetans . . . but that
this step must not be taken as indicating any intention of
annexing or even of permanently occupying Tibetan terri-
tory.” !

What definitely put an end to Lansdowne's quest for friend-
ly relations with Russia was the steadily growing trouble
between Russia and Japan in the Far East. Their relations
took a turn for the worse early in October 1903 when the
ascendancy of the clique of adventurers revealed the impotence
of Witte and Lamsdorff.’ By the beginning of 1904 the nego-
tiations had reached an impasse and the Japanese, becoming
continually more warlike, had presented their last proposals
which were ‘“‘the irreducible minimum” that they would ac-
cept.* On the other hand, Russia had moderated its position
until it was willing to accord nearly all Japan demanded in
Korea. Of the three disputed points remaining (the unre-
stricted right of Japanese settlements in Manchuria, the crea-
tion of a neutral zone in Korea south of the Russian border,

b B. D., IV, Editors’ Note, p. 305. D. D. F., IV, no. 73, p. 99. Lee, 1I, 369.
For a more detailed description of the Younghusband expedition see below,
PP- 67-70, 185-191.

'B. D, II, no. 258, pp. 223-224. D. D. F., IV, no. 129, pp. 188-189; no. 168,
PP. 237-239.

iIbid., no. 5, pp. 10-13; no. 14, p. 25; no. 25, pp. 35-37; no. 82, pp. 108-109.
B. D, 11, no. 263, p. 227. G. P., XVIII, part I, no. 5425, pp. 81-83.

kB. D., 11, no. 265, pp. 227-228; no. 267, p. 229; no. 275, pp. 233-234 G. P,
XIX, part I, no. 6038, p. 187. D. D. F., IV, no. 146, pp. 203-204.
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and Russian recognition of Manchuria as an integral part of
China), the last was the most important.! The Russian gov-
ernment refused to enter into a treaty engagement with Japan,
or any other power, to recognize the sovereignty and territorial
integrity of China in Manchuria, but was ready to make a
simple declaration to this effect to all the powers, including
Japan.™ Most of the opposition in Russia to satisfying the
Japanese demands centered around the tsar, but in January
1904 the ‘‘earnest efforts” of ‘‘powerful influences” to per-
suade him to give some satisfaction to Japan seemed to be
succeeding. It was believed that Lamsdorff had been restored
to control in Far Eastern affairs; and the British ambassador
reported from St. Petersburg that the ‘‘situation appears to
have changed for the better.” "

Lamsdorft needed some time to prepare a concihiatory an-
swer to the latest Japanese proposals, which he thought he
could accomplish. Meanwhile he eagerly turned to Delcassé
with requests that France should try to persuade Japan to
adopt a moderate attitude, as well as asking Great Britain
to associate itself with France in the task. Lamsdorff gave
unmistakable hints of his personal desire for mediation, more
than once directly to the British.® Delcassé promptly took up
Lamsdorft’s suggestion and worked hard to moderate Japan,
but without success because ambassador Motono admitted
that he had little credit with his government, while evidence

11bid., no. 181, note 2, p. 254. B. D., 11, no. 284, p. 241. Bompard, pp. 40-44-
Tyler Dennett, Roosevelt and the Russo-Japanese War, (New York, 1925), p.
102. The Japanese themselves did not care whether the territorial integrity of
China in Manchuria was preserved or not. They were clearly concerned to
keep Russia from establishing a protectorate over Manchuria, as well as a loop-
hole for their own later penetration. (B. D., II, no. 274, p. 233; no. 284, p. 240.)
The last thing that the Russians would have conceded was the free right of
settlement to Japan, because if that were “granted to [the] Japanese [it] would
mean their swarming over Manchuria.” (/bid., no. 280, p. 237) It has taken
more time for other powers to appreciate the Russian viewpoint.

m Ibid., no. 252, p. 219; no. 283, p. 240; no. 295, p. 247. Lansdowne thought
the Japanese insistence upon a treaty engagement proper because they were
willing to pledge themselves in an agreement ‘“‘to respect the integrity and
independence of Korea.” (Ibid., no. 296, p. 249.) Yet he had already been in-
formed that a successful conclusion to the negotiations with Russia “would
permit the Japanese to consolidate their position in Korea, which they would
strain every nerve to do.” Jbid., no. 254, p 220,

n Ibid., no. 264, p. 227; no. 281 p. 237. D. D. F., 1V, no. 211, p. 285s.

°1bid., no. 171, pp. 241-242; no. 185, p. 258; no. 193, p. 270. B. D., II, no.
279, p. 236. Bompard, pp. 46-49.
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continued to accumulate that Japan desired and was rapidly
preparing for war.? The French minister tried valiantly to
have Great Britain join in offering ‘‘sedative advice’” to its
yellow ally, but Lansdowne absolutely refused to encourage
Japan to modify its demands.® At no time throughout the
crisis, not even in behalf of peace known to be endangered, did
the British foreign office put any pressure upon Japan, because
it knew that no mediation or interference was wanted.” Just
when the Russian reply to the Japanese demands was nearly
ready to be sent, Lansdowne first showed some willingness to
advise Japan to accept it if the terms were at all reasonable.®
Before anything happened, without waiting for the Russian
reply to arrive, the Japanese broke off the negotiations on 6
February and determined to “‘take such independent action
as they may deem best to consolidate and defend their menaced
positions as well as to protect their established rights and
legitimate interests. . . .”*

The Japanese action caught the Russians oft guard. While
Lamsdorft was surprized and disappointed at the rupture, he
still did not expect that war would come in a hurry. He
turned now with urgent appeals to the British government
to use its influence, but Lansdowne ‘had no idea of putting
pressure upon Japan.” * Suddenly, two days in advance of the
formal declaration of war, hostilities began on 8 February
with the Japanese attack on Russian warships in the harbor of

?D. D. F, 1V, no. 172, pp. 242-243; no. 208, pp. 282-283; no. 222, pp. 300-301I.
Both the French and German documents give much clearer indications of
Japan's spirit and preparations for war than do the British.

91bid., no. 195, p. 272; no. 215, p. 293. B. D., 11, no. 283, p. 240.

TIbid., no. 268, p. 229; no. 280, p. 237. D. D. F., IV, no. 220, p. 297; no. 246,
p. 327. In a telegram of 5 February 1904 to the British ambassador in Washing-
ton, Lansdowne indicated some of “our private views” in declining to ask
Japan to abate its demands: “We might, moreover, incur [the] lasting resent-
ment of Japan if we were to stand in her way and deprive her of an oppor-
tunity which she is apparently determined to turn to account. If she were to
miss her chance now she might suffer for it hereafter.” B. D., II, no. 288,
p. 243. Newton, p. 309.

sD. D. F,, 1V, no. 239, pp. 319-320. B. D, 1I, no. 284, p. 241.

tIbid., no. 287, pp. 242-243; no. 292, pp. 245-246. Bompard, pp. 48-49.

YB. D, 1I, no. 293, p. 246; no. 294, p. 247; no. 295, pp. 247-249. D. D. F.,
IV, no. 245, pp. 324-325; no. 246, p. 327. It has been suggested that Great
Britain acted callously “in the hope that the struggle would weaken and exhaust
the Japanese just as well as the common enemy [Russial].” Langer, Europdische
Gesprdche, 1V, 322,
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Port Arthur.” For the duration of the Russo-Japanese war it
was naturally impossible to expect any prolongation of the
Anglo-Russian conversations for an understanding in Asia.
Large groups of important opinion in Russia were, and for a
long time remained, bitterly angry at Great Britain believing,
with good reason, that the “‘race of monkeys” would never
have dared move against great Russia without the surety of
the British alliance.® Yet, for the first time since the idea of
a broad understanding between Great Britain and Russia had
been gingerly tossed about, this last overture was destined not
to be completely forgotten. During the entire course of the
war, even when incidents happened which threatened the peace
between the two powers, the idea persisted with just enough
life that at some more auspicious, future time, the considera-
tion of the methods by which a compromise of their conflicting
interests could be reached would be revived.*

The progress of Japanese soldiers into Manchuria and
around Port Arthur, with the Russian troops slowly but
steadily retiring, came as something of a surprize to a world
not then believing in the possibility of a Japanese victory.
Even Japan’s first great success at the Yalu river at the begin-
ning of May 1904, and the continued investment of Port
Arthur did not seem to forecast other and greater victories in
the future. Yet the steady Japanese advance had upset so many
expectations that governments, and the writers of articles, cast
around increasingly throughout 1904 for explanations of the
illogical military situation. Upon consideration it became ob-

YD. D. F.,, 1V, no. 257, pp. 338-339; no. 274, footnote 2, p. 356. Savinsky,
p. 80. Billow retails the story that, at a ball given by the tsar on the evening
before the Japanese attack, the Japanese ambassador “with the immovable
countenance” of the Oriental told the Countess Alvensleben, wife of the Ger-
man ambassador: “The poor tsar does not know that while he speaks with me
here, his squadron in Port Arthur is being sunk by us.” Biilow, Denkwiirdig-
keiten, 11, 22-23. H. H. Fisher, editor, Out of My Past. The Memoirs of Count
Kokovtsowv, (Stanford University, California, 1935), pp. 8-9.

¥ Bompard, p. 54. Lansdowne agreed with this judgment in a memorandum
of 18 April 1904 to King Edward: “The Anglo-Japanese alliance, although not
intended to encourage the Japanese government to resort to extremities, had,
and was sure to have, the effect of making Japan feel that she might try con-
clusions with her great rival in the Far East— free from all risk of a
European condition such as that which had on a previous occasion, deprived
her of the fruits of victory.” Newton, p. 309.

X Bompard, pp. 8, 237. Paul Cambon, p. 219.
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vious that Japan had several initial advantages. It was much
nearer the theater of operations and consequently could trans-
port troops and supplies in greater numbers and quantities
than could the Russians. All Russian reénforcements had to
come over the single-track railroad across Siberia; and even
this railroad was not completed around the mountainous
southern end of Lake Baikal before 1905. Dissensions existed
among the Russian generals; the disorder in the army was
amazing. The warships stuck close to their anchorages at Port
Arthur and Vladivostok, while the soldiers, being outnum-
bered and awaiting reénforcements, defended only the most
favorable positions.” The German emperor merely expressed
a generally held belief when he wrote to the tsar on 6 June
1904, that he hoped General Kuropatkin would not risk ex-
posing his troops to a serious check ‘“‘before the whole of his
reserves have joined him, which are as I believe still partly on
the way.” * It was commonly thought that Time was on the
side of the Russians; with time, the troops and supplies on the
way from Russia would recover what had been lost.

The Russian people as a whole even from the beginning had
very little interest in the war, and did not support the govern-
ment in its efforts to carry on the fight. A belief quickly arose
that Japan would not have gone to war had it not been en-
couraged by Great Britain, and secured against complications
by the agreement of 1902.* Anglo-Russian relations were em-
bittered, and the British government felt itself confronted by
one of the greatest dangers which had threatened it in recent
years.” The mobilization of Russian troops, the great increase
of their number in central Asia and the Turkestan steppes,

¥ See the tsar's remarks on the situation to the kaiser, G. P., XIX, part I,
no. 6034, p. 181. In April 1904 the German General Staff believed in the event-
ual victory of Russia, even if it had no definite views on the matter. So too
did Kuropatkin. Ibid., no. 6031, p. 175; no. 6043, pp. 196-197.

1. D. Levine, (edited by N. F. Grant), The Kaiser's Letters to the Tsar,
(London, [1920]), p. 118. Hereafter cited as Kaiser’s Letters. G. P., XIX,
part I, no. 6035, p. 183.

eD. D. F,, 1V, no. 274, p. 357. Bompard, pp. 52-53, 238.

®D. D. F., 1V, no. 274, p. 357. B. D., 11, no. 263, p. 227. Russian public
opinion in general was very uncomplimentary in its references to Great Britain
at this time. G. P.,, XIX, part I, no. 6028, p. 166; no. 6030, p. 173; no. 6033,
p. 177. Gwynn, I, 403.
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with the hastening of the strategic Orenburg-Tashkent rail-
way line towards completion in the autumn, indicated that an
angry Russia might attempt some retribution against the Brit-
ish position in Afghanistan and India. To this there was
joined the fear that Russia might again try to form some con-
tinental combination of European powers, in which the attitude
of an unloving Germany might become seriously menacing.c
In these circumstances the British government endeavored to
act carefully so that Russia would feel reassured that no un-
fair advantage of its difficult position was being taken. The
British used the friendliness in Anglo-French relations to ask
the French to quiet the apprehensions of their ally. Delcasseé
admitted that, although the task was difficult and the opposi-
tion of interests seemingly unsurmountable, he was still hope-
ful of bringing Russia and Great Britain together.®

King Edward himself had an opportunity to work for the
improvement of relations with Russia when he met the Rus-
sian minister in Copenhagen, Alexander Izvolsky, at the British
legation for the first time on 14 April 1904, and had a long
and friendly conversation with him. This meeting has re-
mained famous as a landmark on the slow and difhcult road to
an Anglo-Russian agreement. Speaking on his own initiative,
without promptings from the British foreign ofhce, the king
declared to Izvolsky that the conclusion of the Anglo-French
entente “‘gives me the hope of attaining by the same methods
still more important results, that is to say, to a similar entente
with Russia, — an entente which has always been and con-
tinues to be the object of my most sincere desires.” © The king
admitted that it would be most difficult to bring this about,
but since an agreement was so necessary and desirable the new
British ambassador, Sir Charles Hardinge, who was to replace
the pessimistic and now inadequate Sir Charles Scott in St.

¢1bid., pp. 392-395, 404, 409. G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6048, pp. 214-2135;
part II, no. 6342, p. 645.

4D. D. F., 1V, no. 350, p. 462; no. 382, p. 527. G. P., XVII, no. 5368, p. 564;
XIX, part II, no. 6345, p. 648. Lansdowne wrote to Sir Charles Hardinge on
27 July: “I feel sure that the more quietly we can proceed, the better . . . and
we must blacken their faces as little as possible.” Newton, pp. 313-314.
. ©Lee, II, 284, 287. Izvolsky drew up the record of this conversation, showed
it to King Edward at his own request, who approved it and took a copy. Ibid.,
p. 286. B. D,, 1V, no. 183, note 1, p. 188,
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Petersburg in May, “will have as instructions to devote him-
self to the establishment of the most cordial relations with the
Russian government and to seek the means for arriving at a
full agreement on the questions which divide us in the different
parts of the world.” The conversation then naturally turned
to the ‘“‘unfortunate” and ‘“‘regrettable’”’ Russo-Japanese war.
The king lamented the intensity of the anti-English sentiment
it had provoked in Russia and the serious obstacle this ill-
feeling placed in the way of an entente between the two coun-
tries. With astonishing exaggeration, perhaps pardonable for
the occasion, the king declared that “‘his government had done
everything that was possible to moderate Japan, which had
not desired to listen to reason, and had demanded to be left free
to regulate its differences [with Russia] as it pleased.” * Izvol-
sky let pass the royal remark that the Anglo-Japanese alliance
had been conceived for an entirely pacific purpose, indeed even
to restrain Japan, but he did not hesitate to express his con-
viction that the alliance had in reality been one of the principle
causes of hostilities. While he had been the Russian minister
at Tokyo he “had been able to observe personally its effect on
the psychology of the Japanese and to judge how much it had
inflamed the bellicose party in Tokyo and had aided it to com-
bat the opposition of the elder statesmen.” ® This interview
between King Edward and Izvolsky did not result in any im-
mediate action. Both the Russian and the British foreign
offices were pleased with the courtesy and the sentiments ex-
pressed at Copenhagen, but understood perfectly well that the
time was not suitable for discussing Anglo-Russian disputes.”
Meanwhile nothing could be attempted except to keep the fu-
ture open, and in the end this exchange of views was not with-
out result. Izvolsky never lost the impression that it made

Lee, II, 285. King Edward by this time had “little faith” in the “efficiency”
of Sir Charles Scott in St. Petersburg. 1bid., p. 281.

EIbid., pp. 285-286.

hD.D.F., V, no. 15, pp. 17-19. B. D, IV, no. 183, p. 188; no. 185, pp. 190-191.
Tsar Nicholas and King Edward exchanged friendly letters with each other
over this meeting. (Ibrd., no. 184, p. 189; no. 185, note 1, p. 190.) King Edward
told the Germans the substance of this interview on his visit to the kaiser at
Kiel, 26 June 1904, and described Izvolsky as ‘“the most capable Russian
diplomat.” G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6038, p. 188.
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upon him and over two years later, when he had become for-
eign minister, he succeeded in smoothing out the difficulties
which made the convention of 1907 possible.'

As the Russo-Japanese war became more rigorous, new in-
cidents arose to disturb Anglo-Russian relations. Great Brit-
ain, for so long unquestioned mistress of the seas and accus-
tomed to name the articles contraband in time of war, was
angered by the Russian order of 29 February 1904, and its
later extensions of 18 March and 9 May. The lists of com-
modities which the Russians designated in these proclamations
struck heavily against British products, particularly when coal
was finally added.! This question became far more acute when
the Russian Volunteer Fleet was increased by the addition of
two cruisers which had successfully passed from the Black Sea
through the straits at Constantinople, temporarily disguished
as merchantmen. The ships of this Volunteer Fleet began the
seizure of both German and British vesels, which were de-
clared to be loaded with contraband goods.* In response to
protests by both governments, many of these prizes were re-
leased after protracted delays, but long after the end of the
war the British government was pressing a large bill of claims
against Russia for damages with only indifferent success.! The
British also considered the possibility that the Russian Black
Sea squadron might try to run through the Straits in violation
of the existing régime, while the Japanese, alarmed by rumors
of this intention, urged the British government to oppose any
attempt. The British attitude was never precisely formulated,
and Lansdowne limited himself in reply to the Japanese solici-
tations by explaining that, while he ‘‘could not undertake to
say what action we might think it necessary to take by way of
response,’”’ British policy nevertheless “‘in regard to this ques-
tion remained . . . unchanged.” He did not believe, however,

1Lee, II, 287. Friedrich Stieve, Iswolski und der W eltkrieg, (Berlin, 1925),
P- 2; English edition, Isvolsky and the World War, (New York, 1926), p. 10.
Alexander Izvolsky, Recollections of a Foreign Minister, (Garden City, N. Y,
1921), p. 22.

I Gwynn, I, 389.

X Lee, 11, 297. C. H. B. F. P, 111, 330. D. D. F., V, no. 272, pp. j21-322.
B. D.,.IV, no. 49, p. 53; no. sI, p. 54; no. 53, enclosure, p. 56.

11bid., no. 56, pp. 60-64. D. D. F., V, no. 278, p. 326; no. 282, pp. 329-330.



TOWARDS A BETTER UNDERSTANDING, 1900-190§ 67

that the Russian government would ever order its warships
to leave the Black Sea.™

There were other actions by Great Britain which just as
effectively hindered congenial relations with Russia. The
march of the armed Younghusband expedition into Tibet had
started by January 1904, and the first collision with the natives
occurred on 31 March. Despite the resistance offered by the
uncouth people, the expedition reached the little trading-mart
of Gyangtse on 11 April. Still finding the Tibetans recal-
citrant, with no one among them with whom to negotiate, the
mission soon set out for Lhasa some 150 miles away, to main-
tain the famed British prestige and to compel the conclusion
of a satisfactory treaty.” This last move caused more appre-
hension in St. Petersburg than could be safely ignored even
while war was going on with Japan. No Russian government
would have tranquilly watched the rise of British influence in
Tibet, so the ambassador in London asked LLansdowne if some
reassuring statement could not at once be made.® The Russian
distrust was not allayed by Lansdowne’s reference to past
statements of British policy; but shortly thereafter he pro-
posed a bargain which the Russians entered into with caution.?

mpB D, IV, no. 40, p. 48; no. 41, p. 49; no. 45, p. 51; no. 55, p. 57. Lans-
downe was most explicit on 29 April in describing the British position privately
to the French ambassader Cambon: “The passage of the Straits by a Russian
squadron for the purpose of attacking our ally in the Far East could not . .
be tolerated by this country.” (Ibid., no. 43, p. 50.) A few days before, on 22
April, King Edward and Sir Charles Hardinge took the view that “there did
not appear to be any reason for preventing the passage of the Dardanelles by
Russian warships as we have endeavored to do in the past,” and that this ‘‘con-
cession of an unopposed passage might prove a very useful asset in the event
of the general negotiations for an arrangement with Russia being resumed.
It would be a useful ‘quid pro quo’ to have in hand.” (Lee, II, 289-290. B. D.,
IV, no. 55, note 1, p. 60.) This may very likely explain why no outright
assurance was given to Japan,

1 Lee, II, 369. Ronaldshay, 1I, 345. King Edward himself took the jingoistic
view of the mission, writing on 9 May: “We must be firm with the Tibetans,
England’s prestige must be maintained.” (Lee, 1I, 369.) Colonel Francis Young-
husband’s travelogue and very partial version of his expedition is nevertheless
interestingly told in India and Tibet, (London, 1910), pp. 84-307.

°B. D, IV, no. 183, p. 188. C. H. B. F. P, 1II, 325. Lessar, the Russian
minister at Peking, said that Russia still possessed certain means to moderate
Curzon’s most recent activity if it were pushed too far. Herat, in Afghanistan,
could be occupied, indeed within twenty-four hours, provided Russia had com-
plete liberty of action in the Far East, which was not momentarily the case.
D. D. F, 1V, no. 168, and note 1, p. 239.

PB. D.,, IV, no. 183, pp. 188-189. D. D. F., IV, no. 168, pp. 237-239; no. 388,
p- 532. Paul Cambon, pp. 219-220.
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In conformity with an ardent French suggestion, Lansdowne
told Benckendorff that if Russia would subscribe to the terms
of the Khedivial decree contained in the Anglo-French entente
of 8 April, the British government would be so gratified that
it would willingly give an assurance that it still adhered to its
old Tibetan policy. It would not attempt to annex the land,
or to establish a protectorate over it, or to control its internal
administration in any way.® By the beginning of June the
Russian approval to the Khedivial decree was given ‘“as a
friendly act towards both England and France,” although it
had been an unpleasant surprize to find that, besides the decree
itself, there had been an additional clause which had concerned
no Russian interest.” The British government then omitted
this clause and handed over a memorandum again proclaiming
the innocuousness of its intenticns with regard to Tibet and
the Younghusband expedition. Count Lamsdorfl regretted to
find in this statement the weakening qualification “that H[is]
M[ajesty's] gov[ernmen]t cannot undertake that they will
not depart in any eventuality from the policy which now com-
mends itself to them,” but he finally expressed his satisfaction
and hoped that other bothersome questions could be as amica-
bly settled in the future.®* For a time it appeared that Anglo-
Russian relations might regain some cordiality.

The slight improvement was quickly checked when the Rus-
sian government learned of the convention concluded at Lhasa
on 7 September 1904 between the British commissioner, Col-
onel Younghusband, and the representatives who had been
compelled to act for the Dalai Lama.* The terms of the treaty

“B. D, IV, no. 184, p. 190; no. 291, p. 308. D. D. F., V, no. 41, pp. 47-48;

no. so PP 58-59.
, IV, no. 185, p. 191; no. 188, p. 194; no. 291, p. 307. D. D. F., V, no.

124, p. x41

§B. D., IV, no. 188, p. 194; no. 293, p. 310; no. 295, p. 311. D, D. F., V, no.
145, p 164, no. 214, pp. 247-248.

tIbid.,, no. 190, p. 210; no. 214, p. 248. G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6036, p. 185;
part 11, no. 6346, p. 649, no. 6347, p. 6so. When ng Edward met the kaiser
at Kiel near the end of June he told Bilow that he hoped to reach an under-
standing over conflicting interests with Russia. (Ibid., part I, no. 6038, p. 188.
Lee, I, 294.) Later in the year the British monarch accepted sponsorship for
the tsar’s infant heir. Ibid., pp. 300-301.

v B. D., 1V, no. 298, Pp. 314-316. D. D. F., V, no. 299, pp. 350-352; No. 349,
p. 402. Younghusband gives a descriptive account of the negotiations and cere-
monies in his book.
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had been framed on the basis of instructions sent by the govern-
ment of India, but which had not been approved by the cabinet
in London.” Lamsdorff’s first knowledge of the treaty was
derived from a text published in the London Times, so that
his remonstrances against the provisions were consequently
made unofhicially to Sir Charles Hardinge. He found much
that was in violation of the assurances he had recently received
from Lansdowne, and summed up his protest with the asser-
tion that the treaty conferred upon Great Britain ‘“‘a virtual
protectorate over Tibet.” The British ambassador made a
sorry attempt to justify the supposed terms of the treaty and
exhibited much petulance before he admitted how useless it
would be ‘“‘to prolong the discussion of a treaty of which
neither of us knew the authentic text.” ¥ When the Russian
chargé d'affaires in London, Sergey Sazonov, complained on
27 September about the unfavorable impression which the
excessive demands 1n the Tibetan convention had called forth
in St. Petersburg, Lansdowne also resorted to devious justi-
fications. He asserted that the British government intended
to remain faithful to its announced policy, and to the assur-
ances given to Russia. He believed that the version of the
treaty published in the Times was ‘‘shightly misleading in one
or two passages.” He attempted to reassure Sazonov that
nothing would be done ‘‘to give ourselves a pretext for the
permanent annexation of Tibetan territory.” *

The excessive zeal of the government of India and of its
representative had embarrassed the home government. It had
not wished to become involved in Tibet for a long stay, and the
objections raised by Russia to the Tibetan convention could
not be wholly denied. It was privately recognized that Young-
husband had far exceeded his authority and had regrettably

VB. D., IV, no. 296, p. 312. Lee, II 371,

¥ B. D, 1V, no. 299, pp. 317-318. D. D. F.,, V, no. 145, pp. 407-109; no. 346,
pp. 409- 410 Although Lamsdorff’s protests were made unothcially, Hardmge
was mildly deceptive when he told his German colleague, Count Alvensleben,
that “he had informed Count Lamsdorff of the content of the Anglo ~Tibetan
convention, and the minister had raised no objections against it.” G. P., XIX,
part 11, no. 6347, pp. 649-650.

BD IV, no. 301, pp. 319-320. C. H. B. F. P, 111, 324. D. D. F., V, no.
357, PP. 427-428.
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“acted in direct disobedience of orders.” > Lansdowne was
uncomfortably concerned with the existing situation and the
British government, although reluctant to give up entirely
the tutelary control of Tibet thus acquired, conceded that the
terms of the treaty must be modified to harmonize with
the promises given to Russia.* No changes could be made
in the convention before the British mission had left Lhasa,
but some modifications were contained in a declaration signed
on 11 November by the acting viceroy of India, Lord Ampt-
hill, which softened some of the most objectionable provi-
sions. Russian remonstrances ceased after the middle of
October because of the continuance of the war with Japan®
Great Britain may have tried to avoid giving the appearance
of taking advantage of Russian preoccupation in war, yet the
knowledge that a mission under Mr. Louis Dane, foreign
secretary to the government of India, was being prepared to
visit the Amir of Afghanistan still further aroused the Russian
government towards the end of October 1904. The Amir
Habibullah, who had come to the Afghan throne in 1901,
had never accepted the annual subsidy paid by Great Britain
in return for control over Afghan foreign relations, and had
stubbornly declined to accept invitations to visit in India. In
order to clear up this uncertain conduct, so it was asserted,
the Dane mission was being sent to negotiate new agreements.”
Other nations promptly suspected greater enterprize, and the
German consul-general reported from Simla that it was be-
lieved to be the chief purpose of the expedition to establish
an unquestioned British supremacy of influence, both political

v Ibid., 1V, no. 388, p. 532. “The home government in fact deemed Young-
husband worthy of censure. In December, however, Mr. Brodrick [the secretary
of state for India] gave way to the King's urgency so far as to agree to the
?fstowal of a K[night]. Clommander]. [of the] I[ndian]. E[mpire].” Lee,

, 371

2B. D., 1V, no. 303, pp. 321-322. D, D. F., V, no. 382, pp. 459-460; no. 430,
pp. 507-508. Lee, II, 371. G. P,, XIX, part II, no. 6354, pp. 655-656. The Amer-
ican minister in Peking is said to have informed his government that the Anglo-
Tibetan convention had injured the policy of preserving the open door, and
that Great Britain made claims in Tibet to what it had reproached Russia for
attempting in Manchuria. Ibid., no. 6348, p. 651.

¢ B. D,, 1V, no. 298, p. 317; Editors’ Note, p. 322. G. P., XIX, part II, no.
6354, p. 655.

®B. D., 1V, no. 466 (a), note 1, p. 520. D. D. F., V, no. 379, pp. 454-455-
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and military, in the country in order to prevent any Russian
advance upon the Indian frontier from this direction. If it
could be managed, it would also be most acceptable if the
trade between Afghanistan and India could be increased.°
Again in response to pressing inquiries from Russia, Lans-
downe gave the customary assurances to Benckendorft on 17
February 1905, that “our present negotiations with the Amir
did not portend any attempt to annex or occupy Afghan ter-
ritory.” ¢ Lamsdorff admitted that the Russian government,
in its helplessness, must ‘“proceed with the utmost circum-
spection’’ and was not disposed to start any discussions so long
as Afghanistan continued to remain a “buffer state,” an ex-
pression which Lansdowne believed to be ‘‘an appropriate
description of the position which both governments desired to
assign to Afghanistan.” ® Nothing serious happened in any
event because the Amir kept the Dane mission waiting an un-
conscionable time before he signed a new treaty on 21 March,
which merely confirmed the agreements that had been made
with his father, and granted no new concessions to British
importunities. Nevertheless Russia became so deeply alarmed
at British activity that large reénforcements of troops and sup-
plies, intended for the war area, were sent instead into Turkes-
tan where, in turn, their mounting numbers only succeeded in
disquieting the British until some Russian action was thorough-
ly expected.” Even so, it remained for another incident, in
another part of the world, to embitter Anglo-Russian rela-
tions almost to the breaking point, to be followed by a full
year of cordiality between Germany and Russia unmatched
since the best days of Bismarck and Alexander III.

During the night of 21-22 October the Russian Baltic Sea
fleet was steaming through the North Sea on its long cruise
to the scene of war in the Far East, where it was to regain
control of the water routes by which Japanese troops and

¢ G. P, XIX, part 1I, no. 6355, pp. 656-657. Lovat Fraser, India under Cur-
zon and After, (London, 3rd edition, 1911), p. 67; see Chapter 1], section 1V.

4B. D., 1V, no. 466 (a), p. 520.

eIbid., no. 466 (b), p. s521.

IG. P, XIX, part 1, no. 6342, p. 645; no. 6343, p. 646; no. 6356, p. 658.
Wroblewski, Kriegsschuldfrage, V, 1225.
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supplies reached the mainland. This fleet had been rapidly
collected, with many ill-assorted and old vessels included;
manned by a crew still imperfectly trained, a deficiency to be
made good through drill on the way; prematurely sent off on
11 October, impressive indeed in numbers, but utterly lacking
in effectiveness.® The progress of the fleet through the Baltic
Sea had been without incident, but the numerous warnings of
the rumored presence of Japanese torpedo boats lying in wait
in the North Sea to cause all possible damage had aroused con-
siderable nervous tension in Admiral Rozhdestvensky and his
sailors.® The day of the 21st found this overstrained fleet
firing wild shots on scattered fishing boats of Swedish and
Norwegian nationality, but the incidents were quickly hushed
up and adjusted by the Russian government.! Sometime short-
ly after midnight as the fleet was passing the Dogger Bank, it
found itself in the midst of some ffty British small fishing
vessels. Suddenly the Russian fleet opened fire, which lasted
only a few minutes and then as suddenly ceased, with the fleet
continuing on its way without stopping. In those few minutes,
however, one boat of the fishing fleet had been sunk and others
damaged; two humble British fisher-folk had been killed and
more wounded; and an international incident of first magni-
tude created.’

& Fisher, pp. 45-46. G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6056, p. 223; no. 6057, p. 225.
The Emperor William favored the tsar with much advice on military and naval
strategy, even as he had the British government during the Boer war, and
especially on this occasion. The advice was not followed. Ibid., no. 6057, pp.
224-225. Kaiser's Letters, pp. 124-129.

hKorff, p. 38. G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6100, and footnote * p. 281. M. A.
Taube, Der grossen Katastrophe entgegen. Die russische Politik der Vorkriegs-
zeit und das Ende des Zarenreiches (1904-1917). Erinnerungen, (Berlin, 1929),
p. 29. This fuller German edition is always used in preference to the French
edition, La politique russe d’avant-guerre et la fin de Pempire des tsars, (Paris,
1928). Izvolsky, then Russian minister at Copenhagen, had arranged with the
Danish government for skilled pilots to assist the passage of the Russian fleet
through the Kattegat and Skagerrak. Izvolsky, footnote * pp. 29-30.

1 Gwynn, I, 390. Taube, pp. 30-32. Izvolsky, pp. 29-30.

}B. D., IV, no. s, pp. 5-6. Taube, pp. 5, 28-30. Agnes Fry, editor, 4 Memoir
of the Right Honourable Sir Edward Fry, G. C. B., 1827-1918, (Oxford, [1921]),
p. 181. British accounts tend to make the period of firing rather longer: “main-
tained for a considerable time” (B. D., IV, no. 6, p. 6) ; “the firing lasted nearly
half an hour” (C. H. B. F. P., 111, 332). Taube reproduces from memory de-
tails from the log-books of the Russian ships indicating a period of about three
minutes. (Taube, p. 37.) The details there given make the shorter time more
plausible; the damage actually done was small.
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Years afterwards it was difficult for so mild a commentator
as Sir Edward Grey “to understand what the Russians did
think they were firing at, and why their guns went off at all.”" ¥
At the time the effort to understand was hardly made, and the
British and Russian diplomatic versions varied in the extreme.
To the British it was “‘a most dastardly outrage’ that a peace-
ful fishing fleet, pursuing their legitimate occupation ‘‘in ac-
cordance with international regulations, presumably well
known to Russian Naval Authorities,” should have been fired
upon as ‘‘nothing but the most culpable negligence could have
led to their being mistaken for anything but what they were.” !
The action of Admiral Rozhdestvensky was all the more repre-
hensible because his fleet continued on its course without having
made any attempt to succor ‘‘seriously injured and defenceless
people.” ™ Count Lamsdorff, for the Russians, from the outset
admitted that ‘‘the news had filled him with horror,” which
the Russian government could only believe to be the result of
“some terrible misunderstanding.” His government, even as
that of Great Britain, had at the moment only the information
that had been given by panic-stricken fishermen, which could
not be accepted as entirely correct before the explanations of
the admiral in command had been received. Until this report
arrived, and wireless telegraphy was not then in general use,
the Russian explanation for “this deplorable incident’ attri-
buted it ‘“‘to a disastrous mistake due to the apprehension of
an attack by Japanese vessels in disguise.” * This assumption
naturally found no credence in Great Britain. The Russians
were greatly distressed and promised to hasten an investiga-
tion. The tsar and Lamsdorff at once expressed their sincere
regrets, and promised that the innocent victims, or their fam-
ilies, would be guaranteed a most ample indemnity.® The
Russian government had quite properly gone out of its way

 Grey, I, 53.

1B. D, 1V, no. 5, minute by King Edward, p. 6; no. 6, p. 6. Taube, p. s.

mB. D, IV, no. 7, p. 7; no. 8, p. 8.

nIbid., no. 7, p. 7; no. 11, p. 10; no. 13, p. 12. Gwynn, I, footnote 1, p. 390.
’Il‘f'le Russian government had had trouble before in communicating with their
ships.

°B. D, 1V, no. 10, p. 9; no. 11, pp. 9-10; no. 13, enclosure 1, p. 13. D. D. F,,
V, no. 387, pp. 465-467. Taube, pp. 5-6. Savinsky, p. 95s.
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to do all in its power to atone for the indefensible action of its
nervous fleet.

Yet these expressions of regret and promises of compensa-
tion were bluntly declared by the British not to be enough.
From the first news of the wanton attack oft the Dogger Bank,
British righteous indignation flared up to a remarkable degree,
and gained in heat every succeeding day, going so far as
lightheartedly to contemplate war." The British government
could not, or would not, do anything to moderate the outburst
of feeling in the press and among the people, while the “pet-
ulant patriotism’ of the prime minister, Mr. Balfour, is said
to have made Lansdowne’s efforts for a pacific solution of the
crisis more difficult.® To appease popular feeling and to make
sure that the Russian fleet did not continue beyond the Spanish
harbor of Vigo before stopping, the British admiralty issued
telegraphic orders to all nearby British fleets to be ready to
stop the Baltic squadron ‘‘by persuasion if possible, but by
force if necessary.”” When Lansdowne called Benckendorft’s
attention to this regulation he warned the ambassador that,
if the Russian admiral did not put in at Vigo, “‘we might find
ourselves at war before the week was over.” -

The Russian government was eager to accord satisfaction
to most of the British demands. The British, however, urged
with unusual insistence that the Russian government should
remove from the fleet those officers responsible for the firing.
After their trial, during which the British were to be given
every facility for presenting evidence to make sure that the
investigation was thoroughly done, those found guilty were to
be appropriately punished.* This demand had not been acceded
to by the Russian foreign office, where it was considered
humiliating and unacceptable, when the belated report of

PB. D, 1V, no. 6, p. 6; no. 13, p. 12. G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6101, p. 282; no.
?Imz, pp. 283-284; no. 6103, pp. 284-285. Gwynn, I, 432. Taube, pp. 5-6. Lee,

, 302.

9 Arnold White, “Anglo-Russian Relations,” Fortnightly Review, LXXXII
(1904), 960. D. D. F., V, no. 432, pp. 510-512.

'B. D, 1V, no. 13, p. 12; no. 19, pp. 18-19. D. D. F. V, no. 388, p. 467.
Gwynn, 1, 436.

sB. D., 1V, no. 12, pp. 10-11; no. 13, enclosure 2, pp. 13-14; no. 14, p. 14.
G. P, XIX partI no. 6rog, p. 285. Lee, II, j302-303. The eagerness of King
Pdw:ud for the punishment of the responsxble Russian officers is most noticeable.
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Admiral Rozhdestvensky was received in St. Petersburg on 27
October. This document supposedly confirmed the Russian
contention that the fire of the Baltic fleet had been directed
against two Japanese torpedo boats which had suddenly ap-
peared out of the night, and that the British fishing smacks
had been struck by inadvertence. When the enemy’s ships had
been possibly sunk, or in any event had disappeared, the firing
had stopped at once. The fleet had continued on its way, not
giving assistance to the trawlers because of their apparent com-
plicity and suspicious movements." The Russian government
chose to accept this version, and a new turn was given to
the Dogger Bank incident. Before the British demand for the
punishment of the responsible officers could be considered,
the actual facts of the encounter itself must first be established,
as a basis for determining whether or not any question of
guilty conduct on their part existed at all.*

With public feeling in Great Britain continuing at fever
pitch, the way out of the threatening situation came on 28
October with the proposal of Nicholas II, which crossed with
a similar suggestion from Lansdowne, ‘‘to submit the scrupu-
lous examination of this question to an international commis-
sion of enquiry as foreshadowed by the Convention of the
Hague.” The Russian government promised, after this com-
mission had determined what actually had happened, that it
would adequately punish any persons found guilty of having
caused this regrettable incident." The acceptance of this pro-

tB. D, IV, no. 15, p. 15; no. 16, p. 15. D. D. F.,, V, no. 396, pp. 473-474.
C.H.B. F. P, 111, 333. Taube, pp. 5-6, 12. It is quite certain that Rozhdestven-
sky’s report was written with little regard for the truth and more to cover up a
serious and ridiculous blunder. Shortly afterwards, when the log-books of the
fleet were examined, it appeared from them that the two Japanese torpedo
boats fired upon had really been the Russian cruisers Dmitry Donskoy and
Aurora. It was suspected that the British government had also found this out.
In one of his discussions with Lamsdorff, if he did not actually know that the
Russians had fired on their own boats, Hardinge was extremely shrewd when
he “insinuated that the torpedo boats fired on by Rozhdestvensky might belong to
the Russian squadron.” (Savinsky, p. 96.) The details of this discovery are
interestingly related in Taube, pp. 36-38. See also Maurice Bompard, “Le
Traité de Bjoerkoe,” Revue de Paris, XXV (1918), 428.

uB. D, IV, no. 15, p. 15; no. 16, p. 16, Taube, p. 6. When the admiral's
report was received, Lamsdorff is said to have exclaimed to Hardinge: “You
ask for an inquest, but I insist on having one. . . . Infamous is the only term
for the act committed by the Japanese.” Savinsky, p. 9s.

vB. D, IV, no. 16, p. 17; no. 18, p. 18; no. 20, pp. 20-21. G. P, XIX, part
I, no. 6107, p. 288. D. D. F., V, no. 404, p. 480; no. 405, p. 481.
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posal removed the alarming prospects of war, and the im-
petuosity of British public feeling abated as rapidly as it had
arisen. Mr. Balfour, in a speech at Southampton which struck
the Russians as being ‘‘needlessly caustic and offensive” in some
of its passages, explained that the Russian government had
given satisfactory assurances for the settlement of the trouble
and against any future repetition.¥ By 4 November 1904 the
Russian foreign office had accepted the British draft describing
the composition and procedure of the International Commis.
sion of Enquiry. The firing of the Baltic fleet on the British
fisherfolk was thereupon consigned to the formality of an
unspectacular settlement by a commission of admirals with
their legal advisers.”

The affair of the Dogger Bank, however, pushed Russia
away from any thought of an agreement with Great Britain
to a closer friendship with Germany. The tsar had summoned
Hardinge on 30 October for one of the infrequent audiences
that he granted. In this long interview the tsar expressed his
great pleasure that war had been avoided, although he
defended the Russian viewpoint with more than usual stead-
fastness. He remarked that the late unpleasantness had
undoubtedly provoked new bitterness which would endure for
some time, but he thought that the improvement in Anglo-
Russian relations could be revived.” The tsar had really hidden

¥ B. D., 1V, no. 22, p. 23; no. 23, p. 23. D. D. F,, V, no. 409, pp. 484-485. It
is interesting to note how completely King Edward’s own attitude had moderated
by this time. He now felt that the “unbridled language of the press” had un-
necessarily “egged on” public opinion which might have led to war which, in
turn, “would be a dire calamity for this country . . . after all for the sake of
the heirs of two harmless fishermen.” He also reversed his insistence on punish-
ment of the Russian admiral and officers which he now “strongly deprecated”
as “Russia could not accept such a humiliation.” (Lee, II, 303-304.) The French
worked diligently throughout the crisis to preserve peace. In St. Petersburg
they urged the Russians to be prompt and conciliatory, while in London they
insistently admonished the British to control the excessive clamor of the press
and public opinion. D. D. F., V, no. 390, p. 468; no. 399, pp. 476-477; no. 403,
p. 480; no. 413, p. 489; no. 432, pp. 509-512. Paul Cambon, p. 222. Bompard,

*B. D., 1V, no. 22, p. 23; no. 25, enclosure 1, pp. j0-31. There was a slight
hitch in November when Lamsdorff successfully revised the wording of one
article to gain a better juridical position for Russia. (Ibid., Editors’ Notes,
PP. 31, 36, 38; no. 27, p. 36; no. 28, pp. 36-37. D. D. F., V, no. 446, pp. 533-
5§34 ; NO. 449, PP. 535-540; no. 458, pp. 552-553. Taube, pp. 12-16.) The German
ambassador in London predicted a peaceful outcome from the beginning. G. P.,
XIX, part I, no. 6101, p. 282; no. 6102, pp. 283-284; no. 6111, p. 29I.

yB D., 1V, no. 24, pp. 25- 28 D. D. F., V, no. 414, p. 489, no. 416, p. 49I.
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his true feelings from the ambassador, but had confided them
to the pages of his diary where he was less restrained over
the “impudent behavior’ of his “scabby enemy.” * Of much
greater significance was the rapid rise in the friendliness of the
tsar and of important groups of Russian public opinion for
the kaiser and his country. The kaiser almost alone, often
for only selfish reasons, had praised the tsar’s entrance into
the war with Japan, had sympathized with him, encouraged
and counselled him from the time of the first Russian reverses.*
Such an attitude on the part of Germany aroused grateful
satisfaction in the Russian government, the more so because
France was still in the “eighth honeymoon" with Great Britain
after the signature of the entente cordiale. The Franco-
Russian alliance was suffering temporarily from the anglophil
policies of Delcassé and France had given no aid and little
comfort to its older ally, a fact which the kaiser never ceased
to cast up before the tsar.® Benckendorft assured his German
colleague in London that the position maintained by the
kaiser’s government had made a deep impression in Russia,
which would lead in ““due course of time necessarily to a fur-
ther rapprochement of the three imperial powers.” ¢

Witte had been in Berlin during the latter half of July 1904
to negotiate the renewal of the 1894 commercial treaty be-
tween Germany and Russia which, the kaiser complained, had
not yet been done because of the lazy ‘“Geheim-Rithe and
chinovniks.” Witte had also explained how much the influence
of the kaiser had mounted with the tsar in recent years. Short-
ly before that Nicholas had distrusted his cousin and had been
uneasy in his presence, but a great change had taken place
since then, which had continued to grow until now the former

2 Taube, pp. 6-7. D. D. F., V, no. 422, pp. 496-499 ; no. 468, p. s6s.

L G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6035, p. 183; no. 6047, kaiser’s note 3, pp. 211-212.
D. D. F., V no. 450, Pp. 540-541.

b The expression “eighth honeymoon” is Delcassé’s; see Taube, p. 27. G. P,
XIX, part I, no. 6028, pp. 166-167; no. 6035, p. 183; no. 6037, p. 186; no. 6120,
p. 307. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 118, 132. The French were worried for fear that
Russia was slipping away, thus weakening the military efhicacy of the Dual
alliance against Germany. Nelidov, the Russian ambassador in Paris, suggested
that France should furnish some evident proof to Russia that the entente with
Great Britain had not weakened regard for Russia. D. D. F., 1V, no. 366, p.
507; NO. 390, PP. 543-544- Bompard, pp. 71-72.

¢G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6029, p. 168.
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suspicion had been replaced by full confidence.® William II
was pleased with the warmth of this new appreciation of him-
self by the tsar.® The first tangible result of this more cordial
relationship, as well as an indication of the helplessness of the
Russian international position, came with the conclusion of the
negotiations on 28 July for the renewal of the commercial
treaty. This treaty conferred considerable preferences on
Germany, although these were deprecated, as the fortunate
party so often can afford to do.*

The Dogger Bank incident created both an opportunity and
a necessity for proposing some kind of an alliance on the part
of Germany to Russia. The necessity sprang from the sudden,
but imaginary fear that a war might be forced upon Germany
by Great Britain over the question of the supply of coal to the
Baltic fleet by German ships, which might further involve “a
reckoning with France on land” because of its greater friend-
liness for Great Britain than for its old ally.®* The opportunity
came because the anger in Russia against the attitude of Great
Britain was extreme, and the tsar could not find words ‘‘to
express my indignation with England’s conduct.” * The cal-
culated mildness of recent German policy towards Russia had
been in sharp contrast to the harsh actions of Great Britain,
and had won a still mounting appreciation.' The German effort
commenced on 24 October in favorable circumstances when
Holstein proposed an entente between Russia, Germany and
France, and assured Osten-Sacken that Germany intended to

d41bid., no. 6034, footnote *, p. 182; no. 6043, pp. 199-200. Kaiser's Letters,
p. 116. D. D. F., V, no. 269, p. 318.

e Bilow, still the impeccable courtier, congratulated his master on his ‘de-
served reward for [his] knightly and intelligent bearing.” G. P., XIX, part I,
no. 6049, p. 216; no. 6os0, p. 217.

f[bid., no. 6042, p. 195; no. 6043, footnote *, p. 203. Kaiser’s Letters, p. 119.
B. D, 1V, no. 4, pp. 4-5; no. 69, p. 77. D. D. F., V, no. 291, pp. 343-344-

8 G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6084, pp. 257-258. Max Montgelas, “Russland und
Europa 1904-1914,” Berliner Monatshefte, VIII (1930), 241. Savinsky, p. 97.
The contract for coaling the Russian squadron had been arranged by a private
Russian company with the Hamburg-American line, which had let a subcontract
to a British concern for both the coal and ship transportation. G. P., XIX,
part 61, chapter 133. Bernhard Huldermann, Albert Ballin, (Berlin, 1922),
p. 146. :

b G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6119, p. 305. Kaiser's Letters, p. 138. Bompard, p. 83.

iD. D. F, V, no. 106, p. 119; no. 283, p. 331; no. 310, pp. 371-372. G. P.,
XIX, part I,,no: 6068, p. 238. 37
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stand by Russia should Great Britain participate in the war
on the side of Japan. On the 27th the kaiser also sent a tele-
gram directly to the tsar wherein he depicted the danger which
he fancied threatened Germany, and adroitly sketched as a
solution the same powerful combination which Holstein had
laid before the Russian ambasador, a group so strong that
Great Britain and Japan ‘“‘would think twice before acting.”

When these two telegrams arrived in St. Petersburg the
impression they made on their two recipients was not identical.
The cautious Lamsdorft submitted his opinion to the tsar that,
while in general he agreed that the time had come for a closer
relationship between Russia and Germany, he perceived in this
latest proposal the continued wiles of the German government
to disturb the friendly relations existing between Russia and
France. The foreign minister thought that it was not the
right time to antagonize France, and his conception of a cor-
rect foreign policy for Russia suggested that no rigid alliances
should be made with any country, taking no step nearer Berlin
than towards Buckingham palace.* Nicholas II, on the other
hand, held quite difterent views and believed that it was “cer-
tainly high time” to make it clear to Great Britain that all its
arrogant demands could not be fulfilled, while its excessive
impudence must be restrained. Such a three-power continental
alliance as was now outlined, the tsar asserted, had long lain
close to his heart, and Lamsdorff would see from his answer
already telegraphed to the kaiser that the latter had been
asked: “Would you like to lay down and frame the outlines of
such a treaty and let me know it?""!

Would the kaiser like to frame the outlines of such a treaty!

1Ibid., no. 6118, pp. 303-304, and footnote ** p. 303. Montgelas, Berliner
Monatshefte, VII1, 241. Kaiser's Letters, p. 138. Taube, p. 43. “Der in Bjérkoe
abgeschlossene russisch-deutsche Vertrag vom Jahre 1905,” Kriegsschuldfrage,
II (1924), pp. 456-458. The Russian original documents are in Krasny Arkhiv,
\' (19g4). For a more detailed account of this negotiation see J.-P. Reinach,
Le traité de Bjoerkoé (1905). Un essai d’alliance de PAllemagne, la Russie et
la France, (Paris, 1935), pp. 76-98.

kG. P, XIX, part I, no. 6118, footnote ** p. z03. Taube, pp. 41, 44, 56.
Savinsky, p. 97. A. A. Savinsky, “Guillaume II et la Russie. Ses dépéches a
Nicolas II, 1903-1905,” Rewvue des deux mondes, XII (1922), 7¢ période, 790-791.

1'G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6109, pp. 289-290; no. 6118, footnote **, p. 303; no.
6119, p. 305. Kaiser's Letters, p. 139. Taube, pp. 44-45.
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He sent a telegram in answer to the tsar on the folowing day,
to tell him that a letter with a draft treaty had already been
despatched.™ This joyful letter found the kaiser expediently
modest: ‘‘Be it as you say. Let us stand together.” With the
cooperation of Bilow, a purely defensive treaty had been
composed ‘“‘in the form of a mutual fire insurance company
against incendiarism’” which France was to join, and which
would serve to warn Great Britain to maintain peace. The
only reservation was an afterthought that the North Sea
incident must be closed before the treaty should become valid,
or France approached.” In this draft treaty the two emperors
entered into a defensive alliance for the announced purpose of
localizing the Russo-Japanese war as much as possible. The
casus foederis was set out in the first article and was to arise
“in the event of one of the two empires being attacked by a
European power,” whereupon “‘its ally will help it with all its
land and sea forces.” In case a war arose the two allies would
act together ‘‘to remind France of the obligations she has as-
sumed by the terms of the Franco-Russian treaty of alliance.”
The second article was a conventional stipulation that no sep-
arate peace would be made with a common enemy. An awk-
ward attempt was made in the third and last article to arrange
for assistance in the event that certain actions done by one ally
during the war, *‘such as the delivery of coal to a belligerent,”
as Germany was then engaged in doing for the Russian Baltic
fleet, should give occasion to a third nation to complain re-
garding “‘pretended violations of the rights of neutrals.” °
The tsar and Lamsdorff accepted this draft as a satisfactory
start and throughout November proceeded to make small al-
terations in its wording. After other changes had been made
in Berlin the purpose of the alliance in the last version made
was transformed to read ‘“‘to assure the maintenance of peace
in Europe.” No alteration was made in the casus foederis of
the first article, nor of the provision against a separate peace

mG. P, XIX, part I, no. 6121, p. 308. Kaiser’s Letters, p. 139.

"G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6120, Anlage I, pp. 306-307; no. 6123, p. 3IO.
Kaiser's Letters, pp. 130-133.

°G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6120, Anlage 11, p. 308. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 135-137.
Taube, pp. 45-46.
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in the second. With regard to the action to be taken towards
France, the tsar insisted that this part of the first article must
be altered to read: ‘““His Majesty the Emperor of all the
Russias will take the necessary steps to inform France of this
agreement, and to invite her to associate herself with it as an
ally.”” * A new third article, prepared in Berlin, provided that
this treaty should remain in force until denounced a year in
advance.® The question of coaling the Russian fleet offered
more difficulty, and was being considered as material for a
separate and secret article to the treaty. Both parties agreed
to make common cause against any complaints brought by a
third power relative to alleged violations of neutrality in the
instances mentioned in the kaiser’s original draft. This trou-
blesome question, arising out of the German fear of war with
Great Britain, had not been settled before it was pushed into
the background by a far more serious difference of opinion.
The kaiser made no attempt to conceal his annoyance when
he received a telegram from Nicholas II on 23 November, in
which the desire was clearly expressed that the Russian gov-
ernment should acquaint France with the text of the treaty
before it should be approved by the two rulers.* He diagnosed
the tsar's concern as a case of ‘‘cold feet,”” and correctly
suspected Lamsdorff of having insisted upon consultation with
France in advance of signature. Witte was also believed to
have joined Lamsdorft’s opposition, motivated by his anxiety
for French loans, so that these were the two persons who, as
William II wrote, “had spit in the soup.” ' The kaiser tried
to stiffen the tsar’s courage by explaining that he considered it
absolutely dangerous to inform France before the treaty had
first been concluded between themselves, and that it would
be better to make no treaty at all if it could not be done in

PG. P, XIX, part I, no. 6124, Anlage, p. 311. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 134-136.

qG.6 P., XIX, part I, no. 6125, Anlage, pp. 313-314. Kaiser’s Letters, pp.
135-136.

T'The latest formulation of the treaty is in Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 135-137.
Another text of the treaty is in G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6124, Anlage, p. 312;
see also no. 6126, p. 316. Taube, p. 47.

$G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6126, Anlage, p. 317.

tIbid., no. 6126, p. 316. Kriegsschuldfrage, 11, 471-372. Savinsky, Rewvue des
deux mondes, X11, 790.
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this order. Lamsdorff persuaded the tsar not to change his
opinion, but in his letter of 7 December Nicholas did remark
to the kaiser that if France refused to join, then only that
part of the treaty referring to it need be eliminated.* This
opportunity to make a dual alliance, similar in conception to
Bismarck’s reinsurance treaty of 1887, was never taken up in
Berlin. The German foreign office determined to come to some
binding agreement before everything else on the limited sub-
ject of the coaling question.” Nicholas readily agreed to do
this, which would relieve the German alarm over a war with
Great Britain, as well as continuing to make certain of the
coaling of the Baltic fleet. On 12 December Lamsdorff gave
Count Alvensleben a formal note of assurance that the Rus-
sian government would make common cause with Germany in
all the difficulties which might arise from this undertaking
during the period of the Russo-Japanese war.* The negotia-
tions for a triple continental alliance of Germany, Russia and
France were dropped with the acceptance of this note by Ger-
many. The kaiser again wrote the tsar on 21 December still
insisting that any treaty must first be accepted by them before
France could be informed, but eagerly promising that ‘“‘we
shall under all circumstances remain true and loyal friends.” *
Count Lamsdorff had won out in his policy of making no
definite alliances fully as much because of German methods as
from his own efforts upon the tsar; and he had won also the
enduring distrust of the kaiser.”

The German foreign office determined that no signs of dis-
pleasure or irritation over the failure should be disclosed to

U G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6127, Anlage, pp. 318-319; no. 6131, p. 323. Kriegs-
schuldfrage, 11, 473-474. Savinsky, pp. 104-106.

vVG. P, XIX, part I, no. 6129, p. 321; no. 6130, p. 322; no. 6132, p. 325.
Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 149-150.

% G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6133, p. 325; no. 6136, p. 328; no. 6137, p. 329. The
coaling of the Russian fleet was successfully continued. (Kaiser’s Letters, foot-
note 2, p. 149.) Lamsdorff was doubtless more willing to give this note because
he did not believe that either Great Britain or Japan would make war upon
Germany over this question. G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6134, p. 326; no. 6136,
p. 328.

x Ibid.,, no. 6141, pp. 330-341. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 151-152. The kaiser
was bitterly disappointed when no further mention of the treaty appeared in
the tsar’s answer of 25 December, and he lamented his “first failure” to Biilow.
G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6145, p. 346; no. 6146, pp. 346-347.

¥ A critical review of German policy is in Taube, pp. 47-50.
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Russia, but that on the contrary an effort should be made to
maintain agreeable relations so that Russia should not be
forced into the arms of Great Britain.* The German govern-
ment suspected that France and Great Britain had heard some-
thing about the negotiations which had taken place, and knew
that Delcassé was endeavoring to bring about a friendlier feel-
ing between Great Britain and Russia.* At this time the
International Commission of Enquiry had just begun its sit-
tings in Paris to investigate the true facts of the episode oft
the Dogger Bank. Russia was being courted by two opposing
groups out of which a new three-power European alignment
could be formed, and Lamsdorff could tell the Russian legal
adviser that Russia was still “for certain people in Europe
‘a rich bride’ which one would unwillingly see in the arms of
another.” ®

Under the conciliatory influence of the French government
the long intermittent sessions of this commission ended sur-
prizingly well for the Russian position. The final award of 25
February 1905 declared that there had been no Japanese tor-
pedo boats anywhere in the vicinity of the Dogger Bank, and
that there had been consequently no justification for the Rus-
sian fire. As British trawlers had been damaged, with two of
the fisherfolk killed besides others wounded, the Russian
government was called upon to pay an indemnity of £65,000
in compensation. The commission glossed over the failure of
Admiral Rozhdestvensky to render aid because of the uncer-
tainty of the danger, so no discredit was cast upon either the
valor or the humanity of the Russian navy. Nothing at all was
said about the earlier violent demand for the punishment of
the Russian officers responsible for the dastardly outrage.
Now, however, this mild solution of the incident was received
with satisfaction in England.© Delcassé had done much to

2G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6127, p. 318; no. 6143, p. 343. Bllow, Denkwiirdig-
keiten, 11, 66.

8 G. P, XIX, part I, no. 6114, pp. 296-297; no. 6146, p. 347; no. 6148, p. 349.
Bompard, pp. 80-83. Taube, p. 48.

bIbid., p. 18.

¢D. D. F., VI, no. 144, p. 191. C. H. B. F. P., 111, 334. Taube, p. 39. Lee, II,
304. The racy and interesting Russian version of the labors of the commission,
written by the Russian legal adviser is in Taube, pp. 19-41; the prosaic and
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bring about the peaceful settlement, even to “‘predisposing”
Russia and Great Britain ‘‘toward greater friendship in the
future.” ¢ At an official luncheon at the Quai d'Orsay, Del-
cassé¢ frankly told the Russian legal adviser that he hoped
the friendly solution of the commission’s task would be “a
turning point in the history of the future, where former
enemies take the first step to understand each other better and,
perhaps, to go along together thenceforth.” While the time
was not yet ripe to make a natural extension of the entente
cordiale into a three-power understanding, Delcassé admitted
that he had already undertaken to peg out its boundary posts.
In the early spring of 1905 there appeared to be just as much
chance for an entente between Russia, France and Great Bri-
tain as for the continental grouping of three powers which the
kaiser’'s recent efforts for a treaty with Russia had outlined.
Yet with Lamsdorff’s clinging to his particular version of a
“free hand” policy, wanting no alliances with any other na-
tions, some new and decisive alteration in Russia’s interna-
tional standing had to occur before either of these two nebu-
lous constellations could become a reality.

This change in the importance and authority of Russia
among the states of Europe was not long in coming. The fall
of Port Arthur on 2 January initiated the train of disasters
that was to mark the year 190§ as one of the most dismal in
Russian history, and rapidly to reduce the eastern colossus to
a position of helplessness. Nowhere more than in Germany
did this create concern for the future, and the kaiser forthwith
wrote of the ‘“great commotion” caused by the news. He
inquired of the tsar what plans he had in mind “so that, if
possible, I may make myself useful to you and be enabled to
shape the course of my policy.” # Even more humiliating for

slight account of the British legal adviser is in Fry, pp. 180-193. President
Roosevelt wrote to Spring Rice on 27 December 1904 that he had “reason to
believe that the Japanese were disappointed and unfavorably impressed by the
English vehemence of speech and exceeding moderation of action in the Hull
fishing fleet affair.” Gwynn, I, 442.

d Izvolsky, footnote *, pp. 29-30. Bompard, pp. r14-115.

¢ Taube, pp. 27, 40.

tIbid., pp. 41, 50-51. G. P., XIX, part I, no. 6033, p. 179.

8 Ibid., no. 6180, p. 404. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 154-155. D. D. F., VI, no. 19,
pp. 22-23.



TOWARDS A BETTER UNDERSTANDING, 1900-190§5 8%

Russia was the massacre on Bloody Sunday, 9/22 January,
which was followed by numerous strikes in the cities and
revolutionary disorders throughout the countryside, arising
from the paralysis of the government's internal policy and the
wretched economic condition of the nation, which Witte had
so penetratingly described to Bilow in July 1904." The im-
potency of Russia steadily became more evident as each pass-
ing month saw the internal excesses not only not stopped but
spreading, and the military forces slowly pushed backwards
on the war front. Public opinion in Russia was becoming
more united in favor of peace without victory, indeed in some
sections favoring an alliance with Japan after the peace. Only
the tsar and the war clique surrounding him stubbornly insisted
on prosecuting the war to a hopefully successful conclusion.!
The uncertainty of the Russian situation was deeply disquiet-
ing to the German government in March 1905. Bilow feared
that the disappearance of the monarchy and the end of the
tsar would be a great danger for monarchical Germany, so he
sought means for working upon the tsar to strengthen the
latter’s determination to suppress all revolutionary disorders
and to continue the war, because time was on the side of the
Russians.’

During the first half of 1905 there was no pronounced tend-
ency in Russia to lean in the direction of either Great Britain
or Germany. Some of the sting had gone out of Anglo-Rus-
stan animosity as a result of the settlement of the Dogger
Bank affair. British policy had subsequently been closely
modelled on Sir Charles Hardinge's caution against “the great
risk which may at any moment be incurred of a long and costly
war by an action having the semblance of menance or humilia-
tion, the Russian government being at the present moment
exceptionally sensitive as to their dignity as a great power.” ¥
The irritation produced by the Younghusband expedition into
Tibet and the Dane mission to Afghanistan had subsided, and

hG. P, XIX, part I, no. 6043, pp. 197-198. D. D. F., VI, no. 53, pp. 69-70.
'B. D., IV, no. 31, p. 40; no. 67, pp. 75-76. Gwynn, 1, 467.

1G. P, XIX, part 11, no. 6191, pp. 417-419.

kB. D., 1V, no. 26, p. 35. Bompard, pp. 237-238. Gwynn, I, 422-423.
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nothing new was undertaken by Great Britain which might
drive Russia any farther along the road toward Germany. On
the other hand the increasing distraction of the Russian gov-
ernment had enabled the kaiser to shape the course of his
policy to have a reckoning with France by seizing upon the
Morocco question, and to test the strength of the entente
cordiale.'! Many Russians had noticed how Germany had taken
advantage of their inability to resent actions which had netted
so much profit “without losing a man or spending a sou,” yet
the tsar could still write his cousin on 31 May: “Let me thank
you, dear Willy, for the true and loyal friendship you and
your country have shown us during this unfortunate war.” ™
Foreign relations, however, received only a minor share of
Russian governmental attention in the first half of 1905, being
overshadowed by the unsuccessful efforts to suppress strikes
and disorders, as well as to carry on the war until the Baltic
fleet could win the expected decisive engagement against the
Japanese navy in the China sea. When, at last, the sickening
news of the almost total destruction of Rozhdestvensky's
squadron in the straits of Tsushima on 27-28 May gradually
seeped out, the general reaction of the country, in opposition
to the tsar and the war party, advocated the conclusion of
peace with Japan, while the demands for the reform of the
system of government took on additional vigor.® The kaiser
lost no time in writing again to the tsar, to advise him to
make peace at once since now all was honorably lost. It would
be dangerous to prolong an unpopular war which no longer
had a prospect of success, and the kaiser offered his services,
especially under American leadership, “for the preparatory
steps intended to bring about peace.” ° President Roosevelt

VIbid., pp. 469, 477. Anderson, pp. 397-398. Spring Rice wrote to Mrs.
Roosevelt in a letter of 26 April 1905, intended for the president to see: ‘It
[the impotence of Russia] is just like the departure of a big bully from a school.
The other bullies have such a good time and kick the little boys, Did you
realize that France really is a little boy in comparison with Germany, simply
from not having children enough?” Gwynn, I, 469.

m B, D, 1V, no. 69, pp. 77-78; no. 190, p. 197. G. P., XIX, part II, no. 6193,
footnote *, p. 419. Gwynn, 1I, 53. Dennett, pp. 87, 172-175. Bompard, Revue de
Paris, XXV, 432.

nB. D, 1V, no. 76, pp. 83-84. D. D. F.,, VI, no. 481, p. 574; no. 489, pp. s81-
582; no. 490, pp. 583-58s.

°G. P, XIX, part 1I, no. 6193, pp. 419-422. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 183-190.
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had for some time been anxious to bring about peace between
Russia and Japan. His eflorts were made easier by the real
need of peace by Japan, which had been feeling around for an
end of the war since the late months of 1904.” In Russia the
greatest obstacle to peace was to win the reluctant consent of
the emperor, which was finally obtained by the president, with
the secondary assistance of the kaiser, on 7 June 1905, and by
the 12th both belligerents had agreed to send their plenipoten-
tiaries to Washington.? With the end of the war in the Far
East, the Russian government was enabled to devote some
larger consideration to the remains of its diplomatic position
in Europe. Although ‘‘the Russian diplomatic currency has
become debased and discredited” as LLansdowne said, Russia
still remained the ‘“rich bride” with whom France, Great
Britain, and Germany wished to stand in closer relationship.”

The first advantage in position came to the benefit of Ger-
many. After the proposed treaty of alliance between Germany
and Russia had lapsed since Christmas 1904 because of the
impossibility of gaining French adhesion, the kaiser had con-
tinued to write his lively and aftectionate letters to the tsar
in undiminished quantities, which maintained his influence up-
on the latter at its effective peak. Towards the end of July
1905 both the kaiser and the tsar were cruising nearby in the
waters and bays of the Baltic Sea and the Gulf of Finland. It
was hardly surprizing that the self-extended invitation of the
kaiser to pay his cousin a visit, ‘“‘coming as a simple tourist
without any fétes,”” won a delighted acceptance. Nicholas
proposed that they should meet on their yachts in the Bjorko
sound near Viborg, “quite singly and homely.” ®* In anticipa-

Bilow now thought it essential for the best interests of Germany that Russia
should conclude peace so that the monarchy in Russia, and the position of
Russia as a world power, should not for long be weakened. G. P., XIX, part
11, no. 6!97, PP. 425-426. .
PB. D, 1V, Editors’ Note, p. 73; no. 57, p. 64. G. P, XIX, part II, no.

6178, p. 401 Pooley, Hayashi, p. 226. Dennett, footnote 1, p 214; p. 26o0.

a1bid., Pp. 192-198, 221-226. This is a supremely good account of the entire
peace negotiations, especially for President Roosevelt’s share. See also B. D.,
IV, no. 78, p. 85; no. 80, p. 86; no. 83, p. 87. G. P., XIX, part II, no. 6196
footnote * p. 425. D. D. F VII no. 46, pp. 53-54; no. 67, p. 73.

T Newton, pp. 339-340. G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6358, p. 659.

sIbid., no. 6202, and footnote *, p. 435. For a longer account of the meeting
at Bjorko and its aftermath, see J.-P. Reinach, pp. 109-182.
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tion of this meeting, which was to be kept strictly secret, the
kaiser at once telegraphed to his foreign office for a copy of
the text of the alliance project of the previous year. This
request was eagerly complied with, and Bilow and Holstein
collaborated in framing advice for the emperor’s use. The
opportunity was deemed most valuable because it permitted
Germany to make sure of Russia before Great Britain could
renew its efforts to reach an agreement over Asiatic disputes,
and before LLamsdorft and Witte could bring about the Anglo-
French-Russian entente which, in Berlin, they were suspected
of desiring." In an attempt to prevent a repetition of the
failure of the previous winter, the German foreign office hoped
that Lamsdorft would not be present; but if he did appear, the
kaiser was to paralyze his influence upon the tsar by killing
him with kindness.* It now seemed permissible to let Russia
sound out the French government, in the first place because it
was somehow believed that the new French cabinet under
Rouvier would not be so opposed to joining the alliance as Del-
cassé had been, as well as because it was realized that the need
of a loan by Russia made that government unwilling to take so
serious a step without the agreement of France.

Thus carefully loaded in advance with the text of the pro-
posed treaty and with cues for his actions, the kaiser steamed
towards Bjorko to meet the tsar. It is not possible to do full
justice to William's rapture over the interview, and his elegaic
description of it was seldom equalled in all his writing. At the
first conversation with Nicholas, the kaiser declared that the
Morocco crisis with France was calming down and that Ger-
many desired to be on good and lasting terms of friendship with
the Gallican neighbor; while the tsar, striking the table with
his fist in rare determination, vehemently denied that King
Edward would ever get “a little agreement” out of him that
would be directed against Germany." So well did the conver-
sations and entertainment of the first day prepare the way

tG. P, XIX, part 1I, no. 6202, p. 436; no. 6203, p. 438; and following
documents.

v 1bid., no. 6208, p. 445.

v Ibid., no. 6207, pp. 441-442.

¥ Ibid., no. 6218, p. 455; no. 6220, p. 460.
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that on the next morning, 24 July, the kaiser stuck the copy of
the treaty in his pocket to be ready for any eventuality.* After
breakfast aboard the tsar’s yacht the conversation picked up
where it had left off the day before, and when the tsar again
complained of King kEdward's penchant for ‘little agree-
ments,’”’ the kaiser felt his time had surely come to suggest
that such a transaction should be made between Russia and
Germany, as had been considered last year. The tsar was
properly impressed, but regretted that he did not have a copy
of the treaty, whereupon the kaiser replied that ‘“‘so entirely
by chance” he had it with him. After the tsar had read the
draft and approved of it, William pulled himself together to
ask: “Should you like to sign it? It would be a very nice
souvenir of our entrevue.””* When the two emperors had
signed the document, and a member from each of their suites
had countersigned, the treaty of Bjorko entered upon its short
and unsuccessful existence.

The treaty signed at Bjorko was nearly unchanged from the
project considered in the foregoing year.® The preamble ex-
pressed the purpose of the two monarchs in concluding this
defensive treaty as being in order to maintain the peace in
Europe. The casus foederis in the first article declared that
when one of the two empires should be attacked by another
European power, its ally would aid it with all its forces by
land and by sea in Europe. Only the words “‘in Europe’ had
been inserted by the kaiser into the draft as telegraphed from
Berlin, and this was done so that Germany should not be
called upon to aid Russia in Asia, while no great worth was
laid upon a fanciful Russian march against India in the event
of war with Great Britain, either by William or by the Ger-

X Ibid., no. 6220, p. 462.

YIbid., no. 6220, p. 463. Tschirschky’s sober report to the foreign office is in
general agreement with the kaiser’s emotional letter. Ibid., no. 6218, p. 455.

2The French text of the Bjorké agreement is in ibid., no. 6220, Anlage, p.
465. A facsimile of the treaty, on a folio of paper bearing the seal of the
kaiser’s yacht “Hohenzollern” is reproduced in Bilow’s Denkaiirdigkeiten, 11,
140. The copy from which Baron Taube made his translation (op. cit., p. 52)
was written on the paper of the tsar’s yacht “Polar Star” and is probably the
one written by the tsar’s brother, Grand Duke Michael Alexandrovich, at the
time of the signature. See G. P, XIX, part 1I, no. 6220, p. 464. Bompard,
Revue de Paris, XXV, 425.
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man chief of staff.* In the second article of the treaty, the
two allies engaged not to conclude a separate peace with any
common enemy. The treaty was not to come into force, so the
third article read, until Russia had succeeded in making peace
with Japan, and was thereafter to remain valid until a year’s
notice in advance had been given. The fourth and last article
left the task to the emperor of Russia to inform France of the
treaty, and to obtain its adhesion as an ally sometime after
the document should come into force. By this treaty it was
anticipated that British arrogance would be checked; that the
poison of the Alsace-Lorraine question would at last be re-
moved from Franco-German relations; that in the face of so
powerful a triple continental European alliance all the lesser
powers would necessarily fall into line, and the peace of
Europe would be secured.” It may be doubtful whether these
benefits would have resulted from the treaty signed at Bjorko;
but the early years of the twentieth century never saw any
other arrangement fabricated that would have come so near.

The bare information that the treaty had been signed was
pleasurably received at the German foreign office, and Biillow
at once telegraphed his praise to the kaiser for his efforts in
bringing about so great a success, which the kaiser, in a mo-
ment of elevated generosity, ascribed to an act of God.® Only
after his glowing account had been received, accompanied by
the text of the treaty, was the insertion noticed of the words
limiting the scope of the treaty to “in Europe,” and Bilow
felt that this spontaneous modification introduced by his mas-
ter made the treaty worthless for Germany.® The chancellor
thereupon began a whirlwind campaign to convince the kaiser
of the sinfulness of his action, and to search for expedients to
get the offending phrase either entirely out of the treaty, or

2 G. P, XIX, part 11, no. 6220, p. 458; no. 6225, p. 471; no. 6229, pp. 477-
73 no. 6233, p. 48s.

b Ibid., no. 6203, p. 438; no. 6208, p. 444 ; no. 6220, p. 460; no. 6221, p. 466.

¢ Ibid., no. 6216, p. 452; no. 6220 P- 459.

dIbzd no. 6222, p. 467. O. Hammann, Deutsche Weltpolitik, p. 144. Erich
Brandenburg, Von Bismarck zum W eltkriege, (Berlin, 1925), p. 202. In his
recent Denkwiirdigkeiten (11, 143), Billow wrote: ‘“This addition took a high
trump out of our hand, while Russia retained its trick and England no longer
had to fear the opponent’s ace.”” Biilow must have played bridge badly to have
written such nonsense.
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else satisfactorily explained so as to insure the participation of
Russian troops in Asia in the event of a war with Great Brit-
ain.® William II, however, was reluctant to admit that he
had erred and defended his position with ardor, even with
clarity until phantasy spurred on the flow of his rhetoric.* To
win his point and to make his sovereign knuckle down, Biillow
alleged his inability to take responsibility for such unbridled
action. He wrote out his resignation on 3 August and for-
warded it to the unsuspecting kaiser, still enjoying his vacation
in the Baltic. This manoeuver quickly brought the kaiser to
time, who thereupon gave up his defence and in unseemly
abjection begged his chancellor and friend to retain his post.®
Biilow also came fairly close to stampeding Holstein into
sharing his point of view, but the great authority of the for-
eign office regained his ascendancy. By 14 August he definitely
expressed his opinion that the Bjorko treaty, whatever its
imperfections, ought to be left alone. A great measure of
profit remained in it for Germany, while to tamper with its
provisions in any manner could only furnish Lamsdorft with
an opportunity to ruin the whole accomplishment. Now that
Billow had won his stand against the uncontrolled action of
his master, he accepted Holstein's advice, and for some in-
definite time no German efforts to bring about either an inter-
pretation or a revision of the treaty were undertaken.”

No signs of Russian activity in regard to the treaty of
Bjorké were noticed, undoubtedly because the weak tsar had
not yet revealed what he had done to his foreign minister, and
because the final struggle in the peace negotiations with Japan
at Portsmouth was just approaching.! At this peace confer-
ence Witte had been surprizingly successful in drawing sym-
pathy to the Russian side, while the Japanese were steadily

¢G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6225, p. 471; no. 6228, p. 476; no. 6229, p. 480.

fIbzd., no. 6229, pp. 477-479; no. 6233, p. 48s.

€ Jbid., no. 6230, p. 481; no. 6235, p. 489; no. 6237, pp. 496-498.

b Ibid., no. 6227, pp. 474-476; no. 6232, pp. 483-484; no. 6234, pp. 487-488;
no. 6239, p. 501; no. 6240, p. 502.

1The French were naturally much concerned about what happened at
ij)l'-kf). Several instances in volumes VII and VIII of the Documents diplo-
matiques frangais reveal how eagerly rumors were investigated and precise
information was sought, without notable success.
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finding themselves in an ever more precarious position. They
were finally confronted by an ultimatum offering either the
choice of accepting the last Russian concessions, or of resum-
ing a war which could no longer with certainty bring them
added profit.! The Japanese acceded and Witte, disregarding
the tsar’s last-minute instructions to break oft the negotia-
tions,* concluded peace on 23 August / § September on terms
so favorable for a defeated country that Russia appeared as
the victor in the peace, yet also with such skill that a period
of friendly relations could soon be instituted with the disap-
pointed victor in the war.! The immediate reception of the
treaty in both Russia and Japan was unfavorable, but dis-
pleasure in the latter country was quickly mollified by the
publication of the treaty renewing the Anglo-Japanese alliance
in advance of the normal time.™

Towards the end of December 1904 the Japanese prime
minister had expressed the satisfaction felt by his government
for “the particularly friendly manner” in which Great Britain
had fulfilled its obligations as an ally. He hoped that if the
Russo-Japanese war should result in victory for Japan, “the
present Anglo-Japanese alliance might be strengthened and
extended.” ™ In the early months of 1905 these sentiments
were repeated, and LLansdowne suggested to Viscount Hayashi
that he obtain instructions from his government relative to the
terms and scope of a new treaty. By 19 April Hayashi replied
that his government would favor a new treaty with a longer
duration, but that it should not be extended beyond the present
limits.® The British cabinet was quite willing to renew the

JKorostovetz, pp. 102-103. Pooley, Hayashi, p. 226. Gwynn, I, 498-499.
Dennett, pp. 260, 297-301I. )

k C. Nabokov, “Why Russian Statesmanship Failed,” Contemporary Review,
CLXXXIII (1923), 182, The order sent to Witte read: “Convey to Witte my
order in any case to terminate the negotiations.” In later official Russian pub-
lications the word “terminate” was changed to “conclude.”

I'D. D. F.,, VII, no. 395, p. 486. Izvolsky, pp. 125-126. Izvolsky gives some ex-
cellent sketches of Witte (pp. 107-136), and his statement that “no career diplo-
mat could have made such a treaty” (p. 125), exactly expressed what Witte
thought of himself. The text of the treaty of Portsmouth is in B. D., IV, no.
101, pp. 107-111. It was ratified by Russia and Japan on 1/14 October 1905.

m ., D, F., VII, no. 396, p. 487; no. 427, p. 531. Dennis, pp. 26-27. Gwynn,
I, 486, 496. C. H. B. F. P, 111, 336.

nB. D, 1V, no. 31, pp. 40-4I1.

°© Ibid., no. 112, p. 122,
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agreement for a longer period of time, but also believed that
it would be opportune to increase its scope in order to
strengthen the alliance. It would be useful to have some
modification of the former provisions whereby the premature
renewal could be more easily, publicly justified. Lansdowne
therefore suggested that each party should come to the aid
of the other in the event that it had been attacked without
provocation by any single power, whereas the 1902 agreement
required that there should be an attack by one hostile power
supported by a second before the casus foederis arose. Great
Britain proposed to assist Japan with the full strength of its
navy, although not assuming any new military obligations on
land, if in return Japan would help Great Britain both on
land and sea ‘“‘within certain geographical limits” eventually
defined as “‘the regions of Eastern Asia and of India.” » These
two regions were patently offsets for each other.® As each
embraced the gain most cherished by Great Britain and Japan
in renewing the alliance, the negotiations were rapidly ter-
minated, and the treaty of renewal was signed at LLondon on
12 August 190§."

The British government soon decided to furnish the French
and Russian governments with advance copies of this treaty,
along with explanatory and reassuring statements calculated
to lessen the painful impression which the communication was
certain to produce.®* The British ambassadors carried out their
duty on 8 September, three days after the treaty of Ports-
mouth had been signed. In Paris the renewal was regretted

P Ibid., no. 116, p. 125; no. 13, p. 144; no. 136, p. 150; no. 155, p. 165.

4Lansdowne wanted Japanese aid for the defence of India because he
thought Russia “would almost certainly turn her attention to other parts of the
Asiatic continent” rather than plan for revenge against Japan. (Ibid., no. 115,
p. 124; no. 151, pp. 161-162. D. D. F., VII, no. 375, pp. 451-452. Lee, 1I, 311.
Dennis, pp. 25-26, 68.) Nevertheless the British general staff feared that even
if Japan did send troops to India, Great Britain “might lose rather than gain
by their help,” which Lansdowne characterized as an “extremely important
expression.,” (B. D. 1V, no. 127, pp. 139-140, and minute on p. 140. For a
similar statement by Lord Roberts see Annual Register, [1905], p. 229.) In
Eastern Asia the Japanese admitted that the freedom “to establish a protec-
torate over Korea” after the war ‘“was the real object of the whole alliance”
for them. B. D, IV, no. 129, p. 142; no. 132, p. 143.

rIbid., no. 154, p. 164. The text of the treaty is in no. 155, pp. 165-169.
Lansdowne declared that there were no secret articles. [bid., no. 163, p. 172;
no. 169, p. 175. Annual Register, [1905], p. 228.

sB. D., IV, no. 160, p. 171; no. 167, p. 175.
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because ‘“‘Russia could not be expected to like it,” although
the hope was expressed that Russia and Great Britain could
be brought together, in which France was ready to assist.t
Lamsdorff was outwardly serene when Hardinge called the
treaty to his attention and attempted to explain how harmless
it all really was to Russia, since it was a purely defensive alli-
ance, and that by the very renewal of this agreement the
conclusion of peace between Russia and Japan had been
facilitated.® The Russian minister declared his willingness to
work with the British ambassador to remove all the causes of
dissension between their countries, but now deprecated any
too early renewal of negotiations for a friendly understanding
as this could possibly defeat the object in view, because Rus-
sian public opinion was not yet reconciled to such a step.”
Although the Russian press took the publication of this treaty
quite reasonably, and was speaking of Great Britain in tem-
perate language, Hardinge again spoke with Lamsdorff on 4
October, this time to inquire explicitly what the real attitude
of the Russian government was toward the renewal of the
Anglo-Japanese alliance and the resumption of negotiations
with Great Britain. In reply Lamsdorft chose to speak unofh-
cially and privately; what he had to say was disappointing.”
He plainly admitted that the renewal of the alliance with
Japan was resented in Russia and had left an unpleasant im-
pression, so that he considered ‘it would be a mistake to
attempt at the present moment the resumption of the previous
negotiations.”” He warned Sir Charles that, while personally
he was sincerely desirous of good relations with Great Britain,
“systematic and untiring efforts” were being made in St.
Petersburg to prevent their realization.*

Something about these systematic and untiring efforts was

tIbid., no. 172 (a), p. 177. D. D. F., VII, no. 428, pp. 532-536.

v B. D, 1V, Editors’ Note, p. 172; no. 172 (b), p. 178. Gwynn, I, sor.

YB. D., IV, no. 172 (b), p. 179.

¥ G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6358, p. 660; no. 6359, p. 661, D. D. F., VII, no.
433, PP. 540-543; no. 449, p. 565. B. D., IV, no. 193, pp. 203-204. Taube, pp.
65-66. Gwynn, I, sor. Bompard, p. 170.

XB. D., 1V, no. 195, pp. 206-z07. Benckendorff told Lansdowne in London
practically the same thing on the next day, concluding that “it would be better
to give time for the effect [of the Anglo-Japanese alliance renewal] to pass
off.” Ibid., no. 196, p. 208. D. D. F., VIII, no. 19, pp. 32-33; no. 44, pp. 62-65.
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suspected in London and Paris. After the Bjorké meeting of
the kaiser and the tsar, Hardinge was forced to report that he
knew ‘‘nothing authentic” except that Nicholas II had
returned ‘‘thoroughly pleased with his interview.” ¥ Almost
a month afterwards the kaiser relayed to the tsar that King
Edward had been hard at work trying to find out what had
been going at Bjorko, and had been disgusted with his lack of
success.” The French government also had become anxious as
to the possibility of a rapprochement between their Russian
ally and German enemy. As a result of this anxiety the French
ambassador in St. Petersburg, Maurice Bompard, confided to
his British colleague on 4 October that ‘‘he had been obliged
to defer taking leave,” while his government was hoping that
Great Britain would make an attempt to establish better rela-
tions with Russia, in which France would be able to codperate.*
While the definite details were not known, it was clear to the
French and the British that, at the end of the Russo-Japanese
war, Germany occupied a more favorable position with the
Russian government than they did; and some grounds existed
for suspecting a closer friendship between Russia and Ger-
many after the Bjorko meeting.

Russian foreign policy did not take on any clear direction
until after Witte returned from Portsmouth, when certain
incidents happened to him on his homeward journey which
were to have some bearing upon it. After disembarking at
Cherbourg, Witte came first to Paris. He was careful not to
antagonize the French with his ideas on foreign combinations
which Russia might join, because of the approaching need for
a loan.® To the German ambassador, Prince Radolin, Witte
was less reserved, and declared his conviction that the renewal
of the Anglo-Japanese alliance had barred the way to an under-
standing between Russia and Great Britain for many years. In
these circumstances, Witte went on, the three greatest con-

YB. D., 1V, no. 91, p. 95s.

2 Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 198-200, 202. Lee, II, 357.

aB. D, 1V, no. 195, pp. 205-206. D. D. F,, VIII, no. 32, p. 48; no. 65, pp.
97-98. Bompard, pp. 141, 170, 179.

b Bompard, p. 150. In a conversation of 25 July Rouvier had told Witte
that there was no possibility of France joining in a combination with Russia
and Germany: “you forget '70.” D. D. F., VII, no. 258, p. jo0.
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tinental powers should stick together in order to restrain
Great Britain. There had never been a better time, nor a
more favorably disposed French cabinet than that of M.
Rouvier, to bring France and Germany together, provided the
opportunity was not lost by pressing the difhculties over Mo-
rocco too far.® Present also in Paris to see Witte was the first
secretary of the Russian embassy in LLondon, Poklevsky-Kozell,
bearing an invitation from the British government, which King
Edward approved, asking Witte to come to England.® Poklev-
sky spoke of the king’s wish to have friendly relations with
Russia by removing the misunderstandings between the two
countries in Persia, Afghanistan and Tibet.* Witte made no
effort to obtain the tsar’s permission to make the visit, but told
Poklevsky that he believed good relations between the two
nations were desirable, in behalf of which he would work on
his return to Russia, if he was then to have influence or power.
He feared, however, that any treaty would cause trouble with
Germany, and Russia should do nothing to harm its standing
with the continental powers. While in Paris Witte's opinion
was that Russia needed years of peace without alliances with
other nations."

Witte did, however, receive the tsar’'s command to betake
himself to the German emperor’s hunting lodge at Rominten,
where his presence had been requested.® On his way, Witte
stopped over in Berlin. He had a meeting with Prince Bilow
on 25 September, to whom he explained his opinions, again
portrayed the necessity of a combination against Great Britain,
and asked that greater consideration be shown in the Moroc-
can question in order to win over France to this continental
scheme, for which some time would be needed.® The interview

¢ G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6241, p. 504.

d Lee, II 307-308. Wltte, Vospominaniya, 1, 407; 11, 406. Dillon, p. 350.

¢ Lee, II 308. Witte, Vospominaniya, 11, 406; see English edmon pP- 433.
There is no substantiation for Witte’s declaration that Poklevsky held in his
hand a written document proposing an agreement in the same general fashion
as the convention signed by Izvolsky in 1907.

fLee, 1I, 308. Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 406-407 ; II, 407. Witte, always
making claims for hlmself later asserted that it was because of his objections
that an Anglo-Russian treaty did not come before 1907. Ibid., I, 432.

EG. P, XIX, part II, no. 6241, footnote *, p. 503.

h 1bid., no. 6243, p. 506. Bilow, Denkwiirdigkeiten, 11, 170. Despite his
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at Rominten the following day passed oft favorably for both
William II and Witte. On the afternoon of his arrival Witte
had a political conversation with the emperor, at which he
dilated once more with fervor on his theme of a three-power
continental alliance which should include France. Thereupon
the kaiser, with the previous consent of the tsar, ‘‘described”
in detail to Witte the Bjorko rendezvous and ‘‘communicated”
the accomplishment of the alliance which had been made
there, so well in accord with the hopes Witte had just ex-
pressed.! The latter was amazed by this information and
declared that the first task was to gain French acceptance.
Partly as the result of Witte’s intercession the kaiser did com-
mand the issuance of the necessary instructions to overcome
the last difficulties in the way of an agreement upon the pro-
gram of the international conference which was to settle the
dispute over Morocco.! With a German decoration and an
autograph portrait of William with the cryptic inscription
“Portsmouth-Bjorko-Rominten’ in his baggage, Witte set out
for St. Petersburg with an undoubtedly exaggerated idea of

variability, the belief in an alliance of Russia, Germany and France was
doubtless Witte’'s firmest conviction. It betokened no particular sympathy for
the Germans; it represented a way to keep Great Britain under control. If
Russia were allied with the military power of Germany the outbreak of a
European war would be more effectively prevented. With France included,
Russia would benefit from its money power, and also not become the satellite
of Germany. Finally, a close connection with Germany was required to pre-
serve the monarchical idea and the ruling house in Russia. Witte, Vospom-
inaniya, 1, 412. Bilow, Denkawiirdigkeiten, 11, 44. Ilzvolsky, p. 53. See also
D. D. F, 111, no. 416, pp. 556-559. Bompard, Revue de Paris, XXV, 436-437.

1 G. P, XIX, part 1I, no. 6244, p. 507; no. 6246, pp. s08-s10. At this time
Witte did not know much more about the Bjérké meeting than that it had taken
place. (Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 421, 427. G. P., XIX, part II, no. 6242, foot-
note ¥ p. s05. D. D. F., VII, no. 255, p. 295; VIII, no. 244, p. 331.) The kaiser
did not show him the text of the treaty, and it is also impossible to tell how
accurately it was described. (Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 414; English edition,
p. 420. G. P., XIX, part II, no. 6246, footnote *** p. 510.) After the conver-
sation with the kaiser, Witte told Prince Eulenburg, who accompanied him to
his quarters, “B)orko is the greatest comfort of my life!” Bilow, Denkwiirdig-
keiten, 11, 172.

1G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6245, p. 508; no. 6246, pp. 509-511. D. D. F.,, VII,
no. 466, and note 2, p. 585, VIII, no. 19, p. 23. Bompard PP- 153, I55. Wxtte
had not the sllghtest ground for saying that his intercession prevented a Franco-
German war over Morocco. (Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 419; English edition,
PP. 424-425.) Franco-German tension was relieved because the Bjorko treaty
provided for the eventual adherence of France. To gain this objective both
Biilow and Holstein were ready to go easy with France over the Moeroccan
troubles. (G. P., XX, no. 6782, pp. 531-532.) When the Bjorko treaty failed,
Germany caused plenty of trouble during the Algeciras conference.
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the accomplishments he had won for his country, for France,
and for the peace of Europe.*

Even before Witte reached Russia, the treaty of Bjorko
had there fallen upon evil days. Nicholas had delayed showing
its text to Lamsdorff until at the close of an audience on 30
August / 12 September.! This revelation caused Lamsdorft to
return to his ministry where he burned his light throughout the
evening. Before he had finished he had written out two notes,
one for the tsar, which summarized all the reasons which
made the treaty objectionable for Russia, and the other for
Nelidov, the Russian ambassador in Paris, to apprize him of
the situation and to obtain his advice whether or not to sound
out the French government respecting its eventual association
with the Bjorko agreement.™ On the next morning the foreign
minister wrung the tsar’s approval of both, although Nicholas
insisted that he did not believe the treaty could be turned
against France, or that William had been insincere during the
interview.” The letter to Nelidov was sent by special courier,
and the ambassador’s prompt reply so thoroughly excluded
the advisability of approaching France on the subject that
Lamsdorft determined to undo his sovereign’s work.®

It was at this point that Witte arrived home and had his
audience with Nicholas, who conferred upon him the title of
“Count”, but only when he visited his old friend Lamsdorff
did he have the chance to read for the first time precisely what
the treaty of Bjorko contained.” Because Witte still insisted
that a continental alliance was the best policy for Russia and
spoke favorably of its realization at Bjorko, Lamsdorff asked
him whether he had ever read it. When Witte admitted that
neither William nor Nicholas had showed him the text, Lams-
dorft shoved it over and urged him to read this wondrous docu-

kK Ibid., XIX, part II, no. 6244, p. s07. Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 416. Taube,
p. 57. B. D., IV, no. 193, p. 202; no. 195, p. 205.

1Savinsky, p. 114. Savinsky, Revue des deux mondes, XII, 798. Taube, pp.
55-56. Bompard, pp. 155-157.

m Savinsky, Revue des deux mondes, X1I, 799-800. Bompard, pp. 156-157.

n Savinsky, Revue des deux mondes, X11, 8o1. Taube, pp. 55-56.

°Bompard, pp. 157-158. Savinsky, Rewune des deux mondes, XI1I, 8or.
Kriegsschuldfrage, 11, 478-480.

P Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 421-422, 426-427; see English edition, p. 425.
Bompard, pp. 158-159. B. D., IV, no. 193, p. 202.
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ment.* From his own inexact reproduction of the provisions
of the treaty it is clear that he ‘“‘could hardly realize what the
words implied,” entirely missed the declaration that it was a
defensive arrangement, so that he came to the conclusion that
the treaty of Bjorko was incompatible with the Franco-Russian
alliance.” Whether or not this was the correct interpretation,
the two counts seized upon it as the means for getting out of
an alliance that Lamsdorff never wanted and which Witte
threw over completely.® Strengthened by the presence of
Grand Duke Nicholas Nicholayevich, the ministers went to
Peterhof early in October, where they persuaded the reluctant
tsar to recover the honor of Russia by forsaking his private
venture in diplomacy.*

The Russian efforts to get out of the Bjorké arrangement
began with the personal letter of Nicholas to William of 7
October." The kaiser sent an impassioned appeal to keep the
treaty alive, but his plea was ignored.* Nelidov continued to
admonish Lamsdorff that, even although the Rouvier cabinet

a Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 421, 426-427. Taube, pp. 56, 6o. Dillon gives
a lengthy account (pp. 354-367) of what Witte told him, but admits that during
their acquaintance Witte related several versions varying in details.

r'Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 426-427; see English edition, p. 426. Taube,
pp. 60-61.

8 Witte, Vospominaniya, I, 427. Taube, pp. 57, 61. It is difficult to explain
Witte’s wolte face. Possibly he did misinterpret the treaty, although this is
disputed. Izvolsky declares (p. 44) that his action was motivated by the “deep-
seated dislike which he felt towards Emperor Nicholas.” Baron Taube suggests
(pp. 57-59) that Witte’s conduct is explicable on the grounds of wounded
vanity. Hammann (Deutsche W eltpolitik, p. 145) believes that Witte's idea
for a continental alliance was one for economic union, but not for political or
military purposes. Bompard offers the opinion (pp. 169, 175) that Witte
was concerned to retain the French money market. In a conversation with
the French ambassador in St. Petersburg on 10 September 1914, Witte left
the impression that something else influenced him: “I’'m sworn to secrecy on
this matter.”” (Maurice Paléologue, An Ambassador's Memoirs, [New York,
6th edition, n. d.], I, 124-125.) It is likewise difficult to explain Lamsdorf's
acceptance of the argument that the Bjorkd treaty conflicted with the French
alliance. He had characterized the former to Nelidov as “strictly defensive”
and “entirely pacific.” (Bompard, pp. 157, 165.) Taube believes that Lams-
dorff knew better, but agreed with Witte in order to gain his help to keep
Russia free of “the German yoke.” Taube, pp. 57, 61. See also Kriegsschuld-
frage, 11, 480-481. Biilow, Denkwiirdigkeiten, 11, 133.

t Witte, Vospominaniya, 1, 428-430; see English edition, pp. 427-429. Taube,
p. 63. Savinsky, Revue des deux mondes, XI1, 801. Kriegsschuldfrage, 11, 487.

U G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6247, pp. 512-513. Witte wrote a letter to Eulen-
burg intended for the kaiser to see. (Ibid., no. 6250, Anlage, pp. 519-520.)
Osten-Sacken also transmitted an informal communication to Biilow which
contained Lamsdorff's objections. Izvolsky, p. s6.

vG. P, XIX, part 11, no. 6248, pp. 513-514. Kaiser’s Letters, pp. 216-217.
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had been more pliant in its policy to Germany, the Russian
government ought not to make any proposals to France to join
the continental combination, because the French premier had
already warned him that ‘‘there could be no question of French
participation in such a project.”” ¥ As it became increasingly
apparent that the three-power grouping would not materialize,
Lamsdorff let Nicholas propose a declaration in his letter of
23 November to the kaiser that could have transformed the
Bjorko treaty into a dual alliance between Russia and Ger-
many, not operative only in the event of a war with France.”
This suggestion, however, was not enticing enough to gain
either an acknowledgment or a counter-proposal from Berlin.
At last, with the tsar's letter of 2 December, and a formal
communication through Osten-Sacken that Russia considered
the treaty of Bjorko inoperative, the affair was dropped and
Russia escaped from the orbit of strong German influence.”

Meanwhile the British government persevered in its efforts
to win favor with Russia, in which it received the active sup-
port of France, especially because of French alarm at the possi-
bility of an arrangement between Russia and Germany.* In St.
Petersburg, twice within the first week of October, Bompard
had suggested to Hardinge:

His Majesty’s government should make some advance to the Russian
government in order to show their conciliatory disposition. . . . The
object of this step . . . would be to forestall any action on the part of
Germany and to frustrate any overtures for a Russo-German combina-
tion in the Far East which the Russian government might be disposed

v B. D, IV, no. 203, p. 217. Bompard, pp. 164-169. Kriegsschuldfrage, 11,
489-490. Taube, p. 63. See also D. D. F., VIII, no. 47, pp. 68-69. In St. Peters-
burg, Bompard frequently expressed his fears to Hardinge that “Germany was
making a serious endeavor to inveigle Russia into some sort of agreement or
undertaking to which Count Lamsdorff was personally unfavorably disposed.”
By 21 October, however, Hardinge could write: “I am reliably informed that
the idea of any combination with Germany has now been definitely dropped.”
B. D., IV, no. 198, p. 212; no. 201, p. 214.

xG. P, XIX, part 1I, no. 6254, Anlage, p. 524. Taube, p. 64.

yG. P, XIX, part II, no. 6258, p. 527, and footnote **, p. 528; XXII, no.
7376, p. 61. Taube, pp. 64-65, 129-130. Montgelas, Berliner Monatshefte, VIII,
243. Bulow Denkawiirdigkeiten, 11, 150. Izvolsky, pp. 55-56.

“ Newton, p. 328. Bompard, Revue de Paris, XXV, 426-427. Indications of
the French alarm are evident in D. D. F., VII, no. 323, p. 392; no. 401, p. 497;
no. 434, p. 546; and B. D., 1V, no. 197, p. 209; no. 198, p. 212; no. 201, p. 214;
no. 203, p. 217,
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to accept as a salve to their wounded amour-propre if His Majesty’s
government held aloof.*

Hardinge did accede to the proposal of his French colleague
and offered some ideas to Lansdowne on the manner in which
“2 friendly advance” might be made to Russia. He mentioned
the fact that Russia was trying to place part of its forthcoming
loan on the English market. While Lansdowne felt that such
financial negotiations should “‘take their course independently
of any negotiations having reference to political affairs,”
Hardinge could cite to the tsar some two weeks later “the
presence in St. Petersburg of Lord Revelstoke who, with the
countenance of His Majesty’s government, was endeavoring to
negotiate with an international group of bankers a loan to the
Russian government.” ®

There was no lack of desire on the part of the British
foreign office to reach an Asiatic agreement with Russia. It
would be easier to agree with Russia over disputed interests
than to face possible attempts made by Russian agents to
assert claims to local domination which had long lain dormant,
but which had never been entirely abandoned. An agreement
would finally lay the ghost of a Russian attack upon India,
and at the same time prevent too great an ascendancy of Ger-
many over Russia.® Fear of Germany was becoming genuine
in Great Britain. The continued progress of the German
commercial penetration of Turkey had already occasioned
Lord Ellenborough’s remark in 19o4 that it would be far
better to see Russia at Constantinople than a German military
depot on the Persian Gulf; and this seemed always more likely
as each further mile of the Bagdad railway was constructed
without benefit of international control.® The steady increase

& Ibid., no. 197, p. 209. Bompard, p. 239. See also D. D. F., VIII, no. 32,
p- 48; no. 65, pp. 97-98.

YB. D, IV, no. 197, minute, p. 210; no. 202, p. 215. King Edward wanted
the tsar to know of his “earnest desire that the best and most durable relations
should be established between the two countries.” Lee, II, 310.

¢ Gwynn, I, 422-423, 497-498; II, 77. Nicolson, p. 234. G. P., XIX, part II,
no. 6359, p. 661. D, D, F., VII, no. 401, p. 497; no. 445, pp. §61-562.

41. Reisner, “Anglo-russkaya konventsiya 1907 goda i razdel Afganistana,”
[The Anglo-Russian Convention of 1907 and the Partition of Afghanistan],
Krasny Arkhiv, X (1925), 57. Wroblewski, Kriegsschuldfrage, V, 1226.
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of the German navy was yearly more disconcerting.® In the
English press, shortly after the conclusion of peace between
Russia and Japan, the possibility of reaching an agreement
with Russia became increasingly popular. Hardinge did not so
unfairly exaggerate when he pointed out to the tsar on 24
October that ‘‘complete unanimity prevailed in England on
this subject, since it constitutes part of the policy not only of
the government but also of the opposition, while the press
without exception was favorably disposed towards the idea.”
Yet in seeking to bring about more friendly relations with
Russia, the British insisted from the outset that an agreement
regulating their interests in Asia must not be considered as
having a point aggressively directed against any other country.
“It was not a question of getting Russia to join England
against Germany: it was solely a question of preventing Russia
from joining Germany against England.” ®

This trend in British policy to court pleasanter relations
with Russia did not escape unnoticed in Berlin. By the middle
of September it was no secret that efforts were being made in
London to start the discussion of an Anglo-Russian agree-
ment.® A month later Benckendorft positively admitted to
Metternich that LLansdowne wished for an understanding with
Russia on local differences, but no political entente. He now
awaited concrete proposals from Great Britain, although none
had yet been made.! This development was not to Bilow’s
liking. He had hoped to keep Russia so much involved in the
Far East that Russian attention would be distracted from the
Balkan peninsula, and the Russian army kept away from the

e Bernadotte E. Schmitt, England and Germany, 1740-1914, (Princeton, 1916),
p. 180. Gwynn, I, 422-423.

tB. D, 1V, no. 202, p. 215. The return of Russian influence in European
affairs, in a manner friendly to Great Britain and France, was steadily more
appealing in London. (Prince G. Trubetzkoy, Russland als Grossmacht, [Stutt-
gart and Berlin, 2nd edition, 1917}, p. 92.) See also René Marchand, editor,
Un livre noir. Diplomatie d’avant-guerre d’aprés les documents des archives
russes, novembre I9ro-juillet I9ry, (Paris, 1922-1923), I, 14, where Neklyudov,
in a despatch of 14/27 December 1910, recalled how the French had dreaded
the weakened condition of Russia as a source of danger to themselves, and
worked for an Anglo-Russian agreement as added security for France.
I EB. D., 1V, no. 194, p. 204; no. 196, p. 208. Nicolson, pp. 234-235. Gwynn,
’ 501' :

hG. P, XIX, part II, no. 6357, p. 658; no. 6358, p. 659; no. 6362, p. 666.

1Ibid., no. 6360, p. 663. D. D. F., VIII, no. 37, p. 55; no. 87, p. 124.
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German and Austrian frontiers.” If Great Britain thought to
push Russia on at Constantinople, that was only less objection-
able in the German estimation than the sharp rivalry which it
would engender between the Austrian and Russian empires,
which would not be to the advantage of either.* The Austrian
and German ambassadors in London, however, were not par-
ticularly disquieted by the prospect of an Anglo-Russian recon-
ciliation, which to them was still something nebulously far
away; but Billow had become more skeptical and felt that “we
must keep our eyes wide open . . . precisely in this direction.”
The repeated professions from both the British and Russian
governments that no agreement that might be contemplated
would be directed against Germany were not sufficiently reas-
suring. In a remarkable sentence Bilow combined a statement
of the German attitude toward the prospect with a prediction
of its future sequel: “If Russia goes with England, then that
necessarily means a point against us, and this would lead
within a reasonable length of time to a great international
war.” ™ Although such a possible combination was judged to
be “necessarily’’ directed against Germany, Biilow devised no
moves to obstruct its progress.

The discussions for better relations between Russia and
Great Britain picked up quickly from the middle of October
1905, after the Russo-German treaty of Bjorko was definitely
headed to its grave. Hardinge was able to report that the
political situation in Russia had improved, and that at an
interview on 20 October the change in Lamsdorft’s attitude
“was very marked and his manner was far more friendly than
it has been since the communication of the text of the Anglo-

1Biilow, Denkaviirdigkeiten, 11, 130.

kG. P, XIX, part II, no. 6364, p. 672. See also no. 6361, p. 665 for Met-
ternich’s remark drawing the attention of Mensdorff, his Austrian colleague in
London, to this danger, and Biillow’s marginal note 5 in which he expressed his
approval, p. 666,

V1bid., no. 6361, Biillow’s marginal note 6, p. 666.

™ Ibid., no. 6359, p. 661; no. 6360, p. 663; no. 6361, p. 665; no. 6364, p. 672.
The Hamburger Nachrichten at this time printed an article according to which
Benckendorff was setting “heaven and hell in motion” to bring Russia over
from Germany to the side of Great Britain; and rather brilliantly remarked
that the existing international situation was rushing on to a diplomatic revolu-
tion comparable to that which had begun in 1756. Ibid., footnote *, p. 674.
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Japanese agreement.” ® Lamsdorff even referred with satis.
faction to the friendliness of the former discussions on the
questions at issue between the two countries, which he was
pleased to think indicated “‘the friendly intentions actuating
both governments and was of happy augury for the future.”®
The British ambassador was considerably encouraged and
asked for an audience with the emperor before leaving for
England on the eve of the parliamentary elections in Novem-
ber. The audience was arranged for 24 October, and King
Edward was called upon for a few kindly words to be given
to Nicholas. The king graciously responded by telegraph, and
Hardinge was able to convey the message at the beginning of
his reception.” After this bit of pleasantry, which the tsar
reciprocated, the way was cleared for Hardinge to explain
that Lansdowne had proposed, and Lamsdorft had agreed,
that it would be better not to set out in quest of one grand
agreement settling the differences between the two countries,
which were really few in number, but to solve each question
separately, in piecemeal fashion, until all had been cleared
away.® Both Hardinge and the tsar hoped that no foreign
power would choose to regard any agreement as directed
against itself, since friendship was actually wanted with all
nations.”

This interview marked the zenith of the progress for reach-
ing an understanding with Russia which was attained during
1905, and by the Conservative government of Great Britain.
No further ventures were attempted before the parliamentary
elections, the outcome of which was the coming into power of
the Liberal party after ten full years in the wilderness of
opposition. The main outlines of British foreign policy con-

nB. D, IV, no. 201, pp. 214-215.

°Ibid., p. 215. D. D. F., VIII, no. 75, pp. 107-108.

P Lee, 11, 310. B. D., 1V, no. 202, p. 215s.

a7bid., no. 194, p. 205; no. 195, p. 207; NO. 202, p. 215.

rIbid., no. 202, p. 216. Gwynn, 1I, 7. D. D. F., VIII, no. 77, p. 110; no. 87,
p. 125. The Russian government was making it quite clear that it could not
afford to find itself faced with bad relations with Germany as a result of any
Anglo-Russian agreement; and to realize the latter more easily, Great Britain
needed to improve its own relations with Germany. B. D., IV, no. 192, p. 200;
no. 196, p. 208. G. P, XIX, part II, no. 6253, pp. 521-522; no. 6359, p. 66r1;
no. 6361, p. 66s.
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tinued, and the Conservatives bequeathed a considerable heri-
tage to their successors in the improvement of relations with
Russia. Some seven years before, in an early excursion away
from splendid isolation, Salisbury had seen the desirability of
an Anglo-Russian agreement which would eliminate the fric-
tion in Asia. The limited agreement of 1899 had been merely
a faint beginning with little cordiality, which had soon disap-
peared in the doubtful Russian attitude during the Boer war.
ILansdowne once more picked up the broken thread and, from
the end of 1902, tried consistently to persuade Russia to renew
the conversations looking towards an Asiatic settlement. His
efforts met with such success, so far as the general idea was
concerned, that on the eve of the Russo-Japanese war, while
no specific proposals had yet been exchanged, it could truthfully
be said that ‘“‘a point of hopefulness’” had been reached.®
When again the negotiations were interrupted by the Russo-
Japanese war, it was only with the mutual and oft-repeated
assurances that their checkered course would be resumed after
the peace. Many unforeseen incidents, however, threatened
that resumption, and the foreign policy of Russia turned
deeply into German channels before it veered back with the
failure of Bjorko towards Great Britain. In the brief time left
Lansdowne in charge of the direction of British foreign affairs,
the renewal of his assiduous courtship of improved relations
with Russia had not only regained that earlier point of hope-
fulness, but had gone on with such success as to become ‘‘of
happy augury for the future.” This was the Russian inheri-
tance that the Liberals were given: nothing of positive pro-
posals, but a kindlier spirit between two long and bitter ene-
mies, with a future in which the animosities and rivalry of the
past need not be perpetuated.' No one more succinctly or fairly

s Gwynn, II, 77.

tB. D, 1V, no. 201, p. 215. In a speech before the Junior Constitutional
Club on 6 November, Lansdowne declared that he would be happy to conclude
a “simple, loyal, and practical” entente with Russia. (D. D. F., VIII, no. 115,
p. 156.) Lansdowne's biographer evaluates his subject’s achievement rather
well, except for the overstatement in the first clause: “By the end of 1905
Germany was almost completely isolated, and Russia and England were on

more amicable terms than they had been for a century. Lord Lansdowne had
contributed not a little to the cordiality of Anglo-Russian relations. . . .” New-

ton, p. 339.
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characterized this legacy than did Sir Charles Hardinge, who
labored with much of the skill and persuasiveness that had
made it real: “The improvement which has already shown
itself in the relations between England and Russia only re-
quires careful fostering to bear fruit in due season.”

uB, D. 1V, no. 202, p. 216.



CHAPTER THREE

THE NEGOTIATION OF THE CONVENTION,
190§-1907

HE new British secretary of state for foreign affairs in
Tthe Liberal cabinet which replaced the Conservatives
took over his office on 11 December 1905. Since become
world-renowned, at the time of his appointment Sir Edward
Grey was not known for any particular achievements from
the past, nor for pronounced views or abilities. His prep-
aration for his new post had come entirely from subor-
dinate positions at the foreign office and, as had been true of
Count Lamsdorff, he had never held an appointment abroad.
His designation as the foreign secretary in the Liberal gov-
ernment had not come as a surprise; as early as 22 October
190§, before the elections, Count Metternich had told the
German foreign office that Sir Edward ‘“had the best chances”
for the position.* Since the ’nineties it had been known that
the new minister had been favorably disposed to the idea of a
reconciliation with Russia as a way out of British isolation, and
early in 1899, “in the impartiality of his spirit,” had spoken so
eftectively in behalf of an entente in the Far East with the old
adversary, that the Russian ambassador in London recom-
mended to his chief that the speech “‘merited being read in its
entirety.” ® As the years continued, Grey kept this viewpoint
with such moderation that no diplomat had characterized him
as a Russophil statesman. By the time he became minister he
had reached the conclusion that ‘“‘an agreement with Russia
was the natural complement of the agreement with France; it
was also the only practical alternative to the old policy of
drift, with its continual complaints, bickerings, and dangerous
friction.” © On 20 October, in one of his few speeches which
foreign representatives in England bothered to note, Grey

& G. P, XIX, part I1, no. 6360, p. 664.
> Grey, I, 4. Meyendorff, 11, no. 6, p. 416.
¢ Grey, I, 148.
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had declared that ‘‘there was, indeed, no British government
that would not gladly let Russia have a free hand in the Near
East if it should come to a general Anglo-Russian agreement.”
This remark did not escape Metternich’s attention, and Wil-
liam II singled it out for comment.? Unlike Baron de Staal
in 1899, neither commented on the impartiality of Sir Ed-
ward's spirit.

The Liberal cabinet decided early in its course to obtain
an agreement with Russia. The recent military defeat of that
country had materially altered the importance and the weight
of its position in European affairs, and it struck John Morley
as reasonable to “‘suppose even that we held the upper hand in
the negotiation” of an understanding. He therefore asked
Lord Minto, then the viceroy of India, to advise the home
government ‘“‘what would be the terms that you would exact
from Russia as essential to the bargain.” ° In his own first
conversation with Count Benckendorff on 13 December, Grey
frankly expressed the hope ‘“‘that an agreement might be
reached between Great Britain and Russia with regard to out-
standing questions in which both countries were interested.”
Unfortunately, the ambassador could only respond that “it
was quite impossible to make any progress’’ with the discus-
sions while the internal revolutionary conditions in Russia
remained an open humiliation for the monarchy. Sir Edward
considerately declared that he realized that some delay was
inevitable, and explained that it would be Great Britain’s
policy ‘“‘not to do anything which would make the resumption
of negotiations or a settlement more difficult later on,” which
Sir Charles Hardinge, soon after New Year's, summed up in
one word as a policy of “inaction.” ' The Liberals were mak-
ing it clear to Russia, right from the start, that they were fully
as eager for a friendly arrangement as their predecessors had
been.

4G, P, XIX, part II, no. 6360, p. 664, and the kaiser’s marginal note s, p.
665. The kaiser felt that the change of ministry would be good for both Anglo-
German and Anglo-Russian relations. Ikbid., XXV, part I, no. 8502, p. s.

e John, Viscount Morley, Recollections, (New York, 1917), 11, 167. C. H. B.
F. P, 111, 357.

tB. D, 1V, no. 204, p. 218; Appendix III, p. 623. See also D. D. F,, VIII,

no. 378, pp. 496-499.
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Also like their predecessors, the Liberal ministers were to
discover during the first half of the year 1906 that there was a
series of unavoidable hindrances, which compelled a continu-
ance of the policy of inaction. Hardinge had a final audience
with the Emperor Nicholas on 10 January, at which time he
presented a letter from King Edward announcing his recall to
London as permanent under secretary for foreign affairs.
The interview passed off cordially with expressions of satis-
faction over the recent improvement in Anglo-Russian rela-
tions, as well as of the conviction that the future would find
them better still. Nicholas admitted the seriousness of the
Russian internal situation, but declared that the government
was taking vigorous measures to prevent the repetition of the
December Moscow uprising and to restore order, although ‘‘it
could hardly be expected that the series of outrages would
cease at once.” ® By this change in the diplomatic personnel,
Russia gained one friend more at the British foreign office.
The newly appointed ambassador, Sir Arthur Nicolson, was
himself “most anxious to see removed all causes of difference
between us and Russia.”” * Nicolson, however, did not at once
enter upon his duties and, while the pessimistic, letter-writing
Spring Rice took charge of the British embassy, no attempts
were made to carry on the negotiations further.

The new British ambassador did not proceed to his post and
the negotiations were not resumed because the international
conference over the Morocco question opened on 16 January
at Algeciras, where Nicolson was first sent as the British rep-
resentative. This conference offered an opportunity for Anglo-
Russian coéperation in support of France, and for eftective
improvement in the relations between themselves.! The tsar
had promised Hardinge, at the time of his leave-taking, that
Great Britain and Russia would work together for a favor-
able conclusion of the gathering ‘‘since Russia would also
loyally support France.” ! The powers had not been long at

8B. D., 1V, no. 206, p. 221; no. 208, p. 223. G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8501, and
footnote *, p. 3. Lee, II, 310.

hB. D, 1V, no. 520, p. 580. Nicolson, pp. 206-207.

'B. D, II1, no. 223, p. 204.

1Ibid., 1V, no. 206, p. 220. While in Paris at the end of January 1906 Lams-
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work before it was agreed that the cooperation of Nicolson
and Cassini, the Russian representative, formed another indi-
cation of ‘“‘good augury for future good feeling” between
their respective governments.* While Lamsdorft avoided any
sign of an aggressive policy in Europe, and Cassini was con-
tent to report that it was Nicolson's ‘‘zeal” which backed up
France at Algeciras, the foreign minister declared it to be “a
source of satisfaction to him” that both Great Britain and
Russia were ‘“‘working side by side for the maintenance of
peace.” It was becoming clear that the old animosities really
were not unsurmountable, and that the ‘‘atmosphere,” as
Benckendorft described it, was changing to one of willingness
for a better understanding.!

The policy of inaction was not entirely dominant at the
beginning of 1906. So far as Witte was concerned, the time
had come when a treaty could be quickly arranged. After his
return from Portsmouth he had been appointed the tsar’s chief
minister, not from preference but from necessity, because he
was the one man in Russia most capable of preserving the
monarchy from the revolutionary disorders. Now again in
power, and weaned from his continental combine, Witte ‘‘had
suddenly made a new departure,’” shifting from one grouping
to another with a dexterity which Chamberlain had earlier
possessed. On New Year's day 1906, using his good friend
Dr. E. J. Dillon, a British press correspondent well versed
in Russian affairs, as intermediary, Witte explained that Russia
had needed during war times a strong military friend on its
western border, which Germany had been; but in the present
circumstances Russia preferred as a friend some liberal and
commercial power, and British sympathy would be admirably
calculated to strengthen the party of order in Russia. In his
estimate of the existing situation Witte was sure that “Ger-
many could give a finger’s length of help and England an
arm’s length.” It was his idea that “‘if England could see her

dorff, with the approval of the tsar, publicly proclaimed: “Les amis de nos
amis sont nos amis.” Ibid., 111, no. 272, p. 246.

kK Ibid., IV, no. 208, p. 223.

VIbid., pp. 223-224. C. H. B. F. P, 111, 3s6.
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way to such an open and evident sign of sympathy he himself
could undertake to arrange permanently for the settlement of
all difficulties between the two countries in the form of a satis-
factory treaty.”” The method of attaining this result was
characteristic of the egotistic impatience of the man: he wished
to avoid the delays of diplomatic channels and “much pre-
ferred to send a messenger straight from himself who knew
his inmost thoughts and could express them as he wished them
to be expressed.” ™ When Hardinge returned temporarily a
few days afterwards to St. Petersburg, Witte called in hot
haste to defend his idea. He insisted that negotiations through
Lamsdorff and the regular diplomatic corps oftered no guaran-
tee of success, but were certain to be protracted, with a golden
opportunity lost as the result. Now Witte “opened fire”’ with
the bolder proposal that King Edward should come at once,
winter and revolution notwithstanding, to St. Petersburg, there
to “arrange directly with the emperor for an agreement,” a
most feasible method because Nicholas was, so Witte credited
him for his purpose, ‘“‘the only government in Russia and that
nothing else was any real good.” ®

Of course it was most unlikely that Witte could have carried
out his scheme even at home, but he never had the opportunity
because his proposal was so undiplomatic and abrupt that no
British statesman would have entered into it. Hardinge
returned the call on the following day and raised up many
objections. Witte's disappointment was plain to see; ‘‘the
conversation then drifted off to secondary topics [and] the
attempt had failed.” ° His proposal had not been to the
British liking anyhow because it was suspected, and Witte
candidly admitted, that the ‘“‘open and evident sign of sym-
pathy” which Great Britain should show to Russia could only
be in the form of a loan. There was no doubt that the granting
of a loan would immensely strengthen the Russian govern-
ment’s position before the duma which was soon to assemble,
but the wisdom of doing so “before it was certain whether

™ B. D,, 1V, no. 205, p. 219. Gwynn, II, 54-56.
n"B. D, IV, no. 207, p. 221. Gwynn, 1I, 5s7. Bompard, pp. 240-241.
°B. D, IV, no. 207, p. 221.
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the government was about to renew the old order of things or
seriously to inaugurate reforms” was questioned.” Spring
Rice was skeptical as usual. He believed that Great Britain
would have to advance the money immediately, in return for
which Russia would promise readily enough to begin negotia-
tions. An agreement, however, would come after long delays,
if at all, because once having the money, Russia might not
appear disposed ‘‘to make any serious or permanent conces-
sions.”” ¢ The British attitude in general did not favor buying
Russian good will through the grant of a loan, and King
Edward later decided that even the suggestion of his visit was

calculated only to enable Witte to float this loan, — “an

extraordinary idea! and one that does not appeal to me in any
M r

way.

In face of the internal disorders in Russia and the
importance of the Morocco conference to European chancel-
leries, only informal conversations and exchanges of views
continued between Russian and British diplomats. At the end
of January 1906 Spring Rice wrote that ‘“‘the Russians still
think that we are dying to have an arrangement with them
and would pay anything to have one.”” ®* All the attempts up to
then had come from the British side, but Benckendorff had
just told Spring Rice that for Russia to sign a treaty with
Great Britain in the unfavorable situation of the moment might
be regarded as a sign of weakness, unless provisions advan-
tageous to Russia were included. Benckendorft did admit that
an agreement would be popular in Russia if some concessions
were written in for ‘“‘publication.” In his personal opinion
these could be a dual arrangement over the Bosphorus and the
Dardanelles, which he judged Great Britain might now be
willing to accept, and the granting to Russia of ‘“the longed-
for commercial access to the Persian Gulf.” The Russian
foreign office, Benckendorft was sure, strongly desired to
receive definite proposals from Great Britain which would
start things going. Once negotiations had been initiated, an

P Ibid., no. 205, p. 219,
1 Ibid., p. 220.

T Lee, 1I, 565.

s Gwynn, II, 61.
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«entente’’ could be carefully framed in its main outlines in
secret; then ‘‘clinched” during personal conversations at a
meeting between King Edward and the tsar.* Russian interest
in the matter was picking up; Benckendorft was freely using
the word ‘‘entente’’ and hoping for generous British proposals
since ‘‘a beginning must be made by someone,” but which
would be embarrassing for Russia to attempt. Spring Rice
remained skeptical: about a dual arrangement for the Straits,
“we ought to say that it is impossible.” The Russians ‘“‘want
us to declare what we will give them, in order, as before, to
count it as given.”’ *

The proposal that the king should visit the emperor in
Russia was less easily shelved than Witte's method for con-
cluding a treaty. Nicholas himself was eager for the meeting
and suggested how perfectly feasible and pleasurable it would
be to have it at the palace in Tsarskoye Selo, which would
avoid all the objections to a land journey to Russia and a stay
in St. Petersburg while the internal condition of the nation
remained unsettled.Y Despite persistent opposition on the
score of the risk involved, the possibility of the visit hung fire
until after the middle of March. It was admitted that the
moment was opportune except for the unrest in Russia, and
Nicholas was certain to be sensitive to a refusal.” King Edward
practically settled the matter when he noted on 22 March
that he could see no particular object in going, because he
could do nothing to improve the state of affairs in Russia and
because British public opinion would probably not approve of
the journey. On 28 March, Sir Edward Grey agreed that
“for the present it is impossible to come to any decision and
we must wait upon events;’ and this marked the end of the
suggestion.*

tB. D., IV, no. 208, pp. 222-223.

v Gwynn, II, 61.

VB. D., 1V, no. 208, p. 223.

¥ Ibid., no. 211, p. 227. Witte now believed that an early visit by King
Edward “would have a much greater effect than if it was put off till all danger
had passed, or until there was no court to visit,”

*King Edward had “no desire to play the part of the German Emperor, who

always meddles in other people’s business.” Lee, II, 565. B. D. 1V, Editory’
Note, p. 2131.
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Anglo-Russian relations continued to be “‘entirely indefin-
ite,” unguided in their course by any specific commitment, but
they were becoming filled with a spirit of friendly codperation.
Both sides remarked upon this with pleasure. I.amsdorff and
Benckendorft expressed their satisfaction that Great Britain
was tending to go along with Russia in settling the political
and religious troubles in Crete, and in the chronic effort to
cause Turkey to institute eftective reforms in Macedonia.’
“Nothing could exceed the friendliness of the [Russian] for-
eign office” when it was known there that Great Britain was
not inclined to make a loan to the tottering Persian govern-
ment, because no money could be lent unaccompanied by
political conditions, which would alter the situation in Persia.®
To strengthen the British position there by means of money-
lending coupled with political conditions was ‘‘an extension of
responsibility”’ which Grey did not desire. He was entirely
unwilling to prejudice future good relations with Russia, in-
cluding some arrangement on Asiatic questions, by attempting
to prevent any break-up of the government in Persia.* When
the Russian government, late in March 1906, revealed a num-
ber of documents to the British foreign office purporting to
show the existence of a secret agreement by which Great
Britain and Japan had promised to guarantee the territorial
integrity of the Turkish possessions in Asia Minor, Grey
noticed that “now for the first time the Russians are giving
us the opportunity of exposing the lies,”” while the Liberal
prime minister Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, in an excess
of sentiment, opined that ‘“‘this last fact is worth all the lies
put together.” ® The British repudiation of these documents
and warm acknowledgment of their communication caused
Lamsdorfl, nearing the close of his career, to explain that “he
was convinced by experience that the wisest policy in diplo-
matic dealings was a policy of frankness.” °

Anglo-Russian coOperation was most appreciatively shown

Y Ibid., I11, no. 272, p. 246; 1V, no. 212, p. 228.
¢ Ibid., no. 210, p. 226; no. 212, p. 228.

a Gwynn, 11, 65s.

b B. D, IV, no. 213, and minutes, pp. 228-229.
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early in 1906 at the Morocco conference, where the two powers
shared their information and worked together for a peaceful
settlement, which would also be satisfactory to France.? Al-
though the disorders within Russia combined with the recent
loss of international prestige to prevent giving much effective
assistance, Lamsdorft declared later that his government ‘‘had
never deviated for a moment from her policy of supporting
her ally.” ®© As time passed, however, Grey believed in the
recovery of Russia which ‘“‘would change the situation in
Europe to the advantage of France,” and hoped that then
Great Britain would be and remain on friendly terms with
Russia.! With this in mind, Grey worked to Keep open the
door that would lead to a reconciliation with Russia, because
thereafter ‘‘an entente between Russia, France and ourselves
would be absolutely secure.” He felt that the Algeciras con-
ference was a ‘“‘most unfavorable moment” for an attempt
to check Germany, but with an entente of the three abused
powers ‘it could then be done.” ® Still with perfect sincerity
on his part he insisted that such an entente must not be con-
sidered as conceived in a hostile sense against any other power,
nor to create unfair difficulties for Germany." This early it
was becoming a fine-spun distinction that this entente could
hold Germany in check by making aggressive interference in
the preserves of others less likely, at the same time that it in
no way was to hamper Germany’s own rightful enterprizes.'
The tendency toward friendly codperation between Great
Britain and Russia was worth encouraging, and Grey admitted
in the house of commons that if it continued the growing har-
mony ‘‘will naturally result in the progressive settlement of
questions in which each country has an interest.”! It was
amazingly difficult to advance this progressive settlement of
questions because of the unstable political conditions within

4 1bid., I1II, no. 283, p. 253; IV, no. 212, p. 228.

e Ibid., 111, no. 373, p. 316. See also Bompard, pp. 192-193. Fisher, pp. 90, 94.
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8 1bid., no. 299, p. 267.
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Russia. Lamsdorff was disinclined to offer proposals which
might be used against his government, but he would be glad to
know what England was prepared to suggest, whereupon Grey
also discovered that proposals were really ‘‘not easy to formu-
late.” It was unpleasant to anticipate, in turn, that “they may
simply be used against us by the next man,” if Lamsdorff
should relinquish the direction of Russian foreign affairs.*
The attitude of the emperor was naturally of importance.
Spring Rice declared that Nicholas had neither initiative nor
active courage, although the French ambassador believed that
“he was not under the kaiser's influence at all,”” which he
wisely qualified by adding, ‘“‘or at least not at the moment of
talking.” Grey had oftered by the end of May no general
conditions upon which an entente could be constructed.! To
suggest them would be useless until the tsar ordered discus-
sions and took a hand in them; ‘‘and that,” Grey said, “‘brings
us back to the king’s visit.”” ™

How reactionary the Russian monarchy might be in com-
pleting the suppression of the late revolutionary disorders,
thereby alienating liberal British sympathy from Russia, was
as yet uncertain; but Spring Rice was for once optimistic and
wrote that “our relations will very much improve as soon as
the duma is a working institution.” * The time that must pass
before the first duma should meet, and before a government
that would be stable under the new conditions could be formed,
meant further delay in the attempt to negotiate an understand-
ing with Russia. It had also been anticipated, ever since the
October manifesto of 1905 had limited the full autocratic
power of the monarch, that in all likelihood some other person
would be foreign minister in place of the aristocratic Lams-
dorft. Never at any time truly popular, increasing dissatisfac-
tion with his handling of foreign relations was being expressed
by the Russian press, and his position was steadily weakening.®

All his life long he had firmly believed and supported the

K Ibid., no. 208, p. 222; no. 212, p. 228. Gwynn, II, 71-72.
V1bid., 11, 36. B. D., IV, no. 210, pp. 226-227; no. 216, p. 232.
m Gwynn, II, 72. B. D, IV, no. 214, p. 230.

n Ibid., no. 210, p. 226. Gwynn, II, 70.

°B. D, 1V, no. 209, and minute, pp. 224-225. Taube, p. 83.
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autocratic idea. With the coming of an elected, even if almost
powerless duma, he neither could nor would fit into the new
order. His contempt for the amateur representatives of the
people he expressed clearly to the German ambassador Schoen,
whom he told that he “could wait a long time before I will
demean myself to talk with these people.”” ®* The first meet-
ing of the new institution took place on 10 May 1906; and, as
good as his word, Lamsdorff was no longer in office.

The choice of a successor to Count Lamsdorfl had been
determined in advance in the mind of the tsar, and in what
little there was of informed Russian public opinion. The new
minister, Alexander Petrovich Izvolsky, was summoned from
Copenhagen where he had been Russian minister at the court
of the Danish royal relatives of the house of Romanov.® This
advancement was rather a disappointment to the future arbiter
of Russian foreign policy, who had personally hoped to be
sent to one of the more important embassies; and to have
replaced the ailing Osten-Sacken in Berlin would have crowned
his aspirations.” In the closing days of 1905, however, it would
have been hard to find among the members of the Russian
foreign service a better choice for foreign secretary than
Izvolsky.®* The damage done to his reputation, in considerable
measure unfairly, in recent years by German writers, has no
connection with Izvolsky's appointment, nor with his conduct
of Russian foreign relations during the first year and a half
of his ministry. In 1906 Izvolsky was well received in his new
position in European diplomatic circles, German included.
The French minister at Copenhagen was actually ‘“‘distrustful”
of Izvolsky’s ‘“‘sympathy with, and leanings toward Germany,”
although his British associate concluded that ‘“‘Izvolsky had
held the scales pretty evenly balanced between his French and

P G. P, XXII, no. 7355, p. 22; no. 7356, p. 25. Taube, p. 83.

a1bid., pp. 83-84. Witte, Vospominaniya, 11, 302. Bompard, pp. 206-209.
While Witte was in Berlin negotiating the commercial treaty, he prophesied to
Bilow, on 15 July 1904, that Lamsdorff’s “successor would surely sometime be
Izvolsky. Izvolsky was more brilliant than Lamsdorff, but less objective.” (G. P.,
XIX_, part I, no. 6043, p. 199.) The French government remarked upon the
possible replacement of Lamsdorff by Izvolsky in November 1903. D. D. F,
1V, no. 82, pp. 109-110.

rIzvolsky, pp. 7, 14-15, 25-26. Taube, p. 86. G. P., XXII, no. 7355, p. 23.
s Taube, p. 84.



118 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

German colleagues, both of whom have possibly informed
their governments of the friendship felt by His Excellency to
their respective countries.” * The kaiser himself thought well
of Izvolsky, once early in 190§ having ventured to ask the tsar
to send him to Berlin if Osten-Sacken were to be replaced,
because ‘‘he is one of the best men in your foreign service,”
an intimate friend of Bilow “who would be overpleased at
having him here . . . as he cherishes Izvolsky much.” * In his
letter to Nicholas of 14 June 1906, William explained that
he had expected Izvolsky’s selection and hoped, as he was ‘“‘a
most clever man,” that the German government ‘“‘will be able
to continue working with him on the base [sic] of mutual
confidence arising out of the community of interests.” ¥ The
German ambassador in St. Petersburg was particularly well
acquainted with Izvolsky. He regarded him as “a very well
grounded, versatile and gifted diplomat and an upright and
reliable colleague,” who, without being ‘“a proven friend of
Germany," still valued highly enough ‘‘the worth of a close
and sincere friendship between Russia and Germany out of
regard for external as well as internal policy.” ¥ There were
few serious objections to Izvolsky expressed at the time by
German diplomats. While Schoen’s friendly opinions were
somewhat minimized, more especially in later years, others in
turn suspected that Schoen and Germany would have the in-
side track in St. Petersburg with the new Russian foreign
minister.* Prince Biilow’s judgment is far more correct than
that of the subsequent, bitter German detractors, when he
declared that Izvolsky was not at all anti-German in the be-
ginning, but only became so, gradually at first, as the result
of abuse.”

Among other qualities Izvolsky was judged to be motivated
by intense national patriotism, and possessed of ability enough

tB. D. 1V, no. 219, p. 235. Bompard, p. 273.

U Kaiser’s Letters, p. x58. Dillon, p. 365. D. D. F., VII, no. 434, p- 545.

¥ Kaiser's Letters, pp. 230-231.

v G. P., XXII, no. 7355, p. 22.

X Ibid., no. 7355, footnote ** p. 22; footnote * p. 23. B. D., IV, no. 219,

23s.
Y Biilow, Denkwiirdigkeiten, 11, 295.
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to work for the advantage of Russia.* His political outlook
was accepted as being liberal, but Benckendorft pointed out
that Izvolsky had never openly committed himself and could
consequently be expected to survive changes in ministries.
Baron Aehrenthal, while still Austrian ambassador to Russia,
with an early tinge of malice would not believe the liberalism
genuine, but considered Izvolsky to be an opportunist liable to
be found anywhere if it would help him to retain his position.*
His concern for his position, both in politics and in high socie-
ty, escaped no one, and Izvolsky’s vanity and sensitiveness to
criticism were his most evident defects of character, so that
others had often to handle him with patience and circum-
spection.” While his capabilities were praised, his past activi-
ties were not calculated to have prepared him for prompt
handling of Kuropean questions, which his cautious and some-
times annoying delays during his first year as minister verified.
His stay at Edinburgh, where he had attended the university,
led to his admiration for English institutions, his knowledge
of the language, and his interest in English literature and his-
tory, all of which was credited with influencing Izvolsky to his
timid liberal views.? From London the German foreign ofhice
learned that Sir Charles Hardinge had told Mensdorff that
Izvolsky, at an early opportunity, was expected to show
friendliness to England, which made the Austrian ambassador
regret all the more the departure of the “‘good Lamsdorff.” *
At the same time it was known that Izvolsky was properly
impressed by the power of Germany, and that he did not wish
any cooling off of relations with the western neighbor, a fact
which his conduct during his first year also eloquently attested.

B. D., IV, no. 219, p. 236. G. P.,, XXII, no. 7355, footnote **, p. 22.

& Ihid., XXV, part I, no. 8517, p. 22. See also, XXII, no. 7357, p. 29. Fisher,
pp. 160, 165. Héléne Iswolski, editor, (with introduction and notes by Georges
Chklaver), Au service de la Russie. Alexandre Iswolsky. Correspondance
diplomatique, 1906-1911, (Paris, 1937), I, 12-13. Subsequently referred to as:
Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique.

b A detailed and rather sharp sketch of these weaknesses of Izvolsky is
given in a word picture by Taube, pp. 96-105. Nicolson, p. 217. G. P, XXV,
part I, no. 8517, p. 22. Gwynn, II, 73.

¢G. P, XXII, no. 7355, p. 23.

4B. D., 1V, no. 219, p. 236. Nicolson, p. 217. G. P., XXV, part I, no. 8517,
p. 22,

¢ Ibid., XXII, no. 7356, p. 25.

TIbid., XXV, part 1, no. 8517, p. 22. Nicolson, p. 217. Taube, pp. 107-108.



120 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

Izvolsky entered upon his duties with a program which was
more clearly thought out than was at first apparent. In March
1906, after he had known that he was soon to become foreign
minister, Izvolsky had journeyed to Paris and L.ondon, meet-
ing with the ambassadors Benckendorff, Nelidov, and Mur-
avyev from Rome, all of whom were opposed to Witte's
recent efforts to bring Russia into an alliance with continental
European powers, especially Germany.® Izvolsky believed that
it was necessary to prevent Germany from obtaining too great
an ascendancy which would reduce Russia to a vassal of Ger-
many. He reached ““a communion of ideas” with the worthy
ambassadors that ‘“‘Russia’s foreign policy must continue to
rest on the indestructible basis of her alliance with France, but
that this alliance should be reinforced by agreements with
Great Britain and Japan.” ™ While Izvolsky had been minister
at Tokyo he had constantly opposed the schemes of the clique
of adventurers that had culminated in the Russo-Japanese war.
Then his views had brought him disfavor, but when the Rus-
sian defeats had served to justify his warnings, Izvolsky's
reputation had been enhanced.! He belonged with those who
viewed the Far Eastern gamble as a regrettable interlude in
Russia’s true foreign policy. He wanted to direct that policy
back into the course where it belonged, to Russia’s historic
interests in the Balkans and at the Straits, where Constanti-
nople would repay with interest the losses in the Far East,
and of Port Arthur.! Because of the weakening of Russia
through military defeat and the ensuing internal troubles,
nothing could be done alone in the Near East until the muddle
in the Far East had been liquidated in a reconciliation with
Japan, and until the disputes in central Asia with Great Britain
had been resolved by an arrangement, whereby British diplo-
matic support, in some undefined degree, could be expected in
Europe.*

& Izvolsky, pp. 21-22. Taube, pp. 91-92. Stieve, Isvolsky and the World War,
p. I0.

b Izvolsky, pp. 21-22, 72-73. Stieve, p. 12. G. P, XXII, no. 7155, footnote
* p. 23. B. D, 1III, no. 414, p. 356.

1 Stieve, pp. 2-3. Izvolsky, pp. 5-6.

I Reisner, Krasny Arkhiv, X, s4. B. D., IV, no. 219, p. 235.

k Reisner, Krasny Arkhiv, X, s4-55. Nicolson, p. 217. Taube, p. 92.
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When Izvolsky became the minister of foreign affairs on
12 May 1906, it was with the assurance “‘of the emperor’s
entire conformity’’ with these views.! In the first place, the
Russian international position was such that the maintenance,
even the strengthening, of the old Franco-Russian alliance was
fundamental in the new foreign policy. Then must come the
resolution ‘‘of the heritage of Count Lamsdorff in Asia” in a
reconciliation with the late enemy Japan. This should be sup-
plemented by an entente, and possibly an alliance, with Great
Britain by which the conflicting interests of Russia and that
power in Asia should be settled as sincerely and satisfactorily
as were the differences that had made the entente cordiale a
reality in 1904.™ There was still a third point in Izvolsky’s
program for a foreign policy: despite his English sympathies
and his intention to achieve a genuine rapprochement, Russia
was too powerless to become involved in any international
complications, and the revolutionary disorders made the Rus-
sian government look to the constitutional, yet strongly mon-
archical structure of Germany as the ideal model for its own
reconstruction. Therefore these real necessities of the moment
compelled Izvolsky to hold as an equally important part of his
policy the retention of the best possible relations with Ger-
many. He did not want to be drawn into any entanglement
similar to the old Holy Alliance, nor to the treaty signed at
Bjorko ; but neither could he afford to sacrifice good relations
with Germany for the sake of getting a general agreement
with Great Britain. His solicitude not to do anything that
would oftend the strong western neighbor acted as an effective
restraint on his personal prediliction for a friendly under-
standing with Great Britain.

No sooner had Izvolsky become foreign minister than
rumors of an impending agreement between Russia and Great
Britain emerged. Some of these figments were picked out for
an article in the London Standard on 19 May, which proceeded

'Izvolsky, p. 73. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, I, 14-19.

m Taube, pp. 92, 94-95, 105-106. Nicolson, pp. 237-238. B. D, III, no. 414,
p. 356.

" Taube, pp. 95-96, 106-108. G. P., XXII, no. 7355, footnote *, p. 23.
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somewhat sensationally to sketch the probable provisions of
the “expected Anglo-Russian convention.” ° This article made
it appear as if the negotiations had reached an advanced stage
in settling the conflicting interests of the two countries in
Turkey, Persia, Afghanistan, and Tibet, and that a concerted
attitude on the projects of the Bagdad railway, with its branch
lines, had been agreed upon.” The German government was
disturbed by this article and ordered Schoen to make inquiry
of Izvolsky concerning it. At the same time Bilow briefly
formulated the way in which his government would regard an
Anglo-Russian understanding:

We will welcome such an arrangement between the two powers, so far
as it has for its object exclusively Anglo-Russian interests, and promotes
the general peace through the removal of Anglo-Russian grounds for
dispute. We expect of the Russian government, however, that it will
not make decisions without our codperation in questions which touch
German interests, and place before us a fait accompli. We regard the
Bagdad railway as such a question, because it has become an object of
value to Germany through concession of the sultan.?

Izvolsky gave the German ambassador a preliminary answer
to his official inquiry on 20 May; and requested two days time
to study the subject thoroughly before making a definite and
considered reply. He could at once deny the newspaper state-
ment that actual negotiations for an agreement with Great
Britain had taken place, other than to preserve the existing
situation in Asia. So far as the Bagdad railway was concerned,
nothing had been done, nor would be done, without German
agreement.” With the approval of the tsar, Izvolsky made
his frank and straightforward reply within the agreed time,
repeating his previous denials, which he followed with an offi-
cial explanation of the direction which Russian policy could
be expected to take:

°B, D., IV, no. 218, and footnote 1, p. 233. G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8507,
footnote *, p. 11. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 43.

PB. D, IV, no. 216, p. 231. G. P., XXV, part I, no. 8507, pp. 11-12. The
Persian chargé d’affaires in St. Petersburg claimed to have heard that the ac-
count in the Standard had sprung from German inspiration. Even he did not
believe his information. Ibid., no. 8511, p. 15.

a Jbid., no. 8507, p. 12.

rIbid., no. 8508, p. 13.
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After all there can quite naturally develop out of this a concrete agree-
ment [with Great Britain] on the basis of mutual interests. The
Russian government has taken note, therefore, with especial satisfaction
that the German government will cheerfully welcome an arrangement
of that nature, in the event that it shall come into existence. The Rus-
sian government recognizes the interests of Germany in all respects in
the very important question of the Bagdad railway, and will not reach
any kind of a decision which could affect this same question without
previously having come to an understanding in absolute candor with the
German government.®

Schoen immediately thanked Izvolsky warmly for this “loyal,
thorough and conciliatory declaration,” while on the next day
Biilow telegraphed his personal thanks for having heard what
he had expected to hear from Izvolsky, whose opinions and
high statesmanlike discernment were known to him.' Izvolsky
completed his first act of loyalty and frankness by communi-
cating to London the substance of his reply to the German
interrogation. Grey admitted that Izvolsky ‘‘had described
the situation and the feeling between Russia and England in
terms with which I entirely agreed.” Since he knew that he
must soon answer a question in parliament about the reports
of an agreement, he had determined to ‘“‘adjust’ the language
of his answer to conform with that chosen by Izvolsky.* In
his statement on 24 May, Grey denied the existence of an
agreement, but added that the growing tendency of the two
countries ‘“‘to deal in a friendly way with questions concerning
them both as they arise” could lead to a progressive settle-
ment and the ‘‘strengthening of friendly relations between
them.” ¥

The British government agreed that the Bagdad railway
was a German interest, and there was no disposition to create
difficulties in an arrangement which was not intended to dis-
turb any other power. The British were willing to discuss
financial participation and cooperation with Germany in the
railroad, in common with France and Russia, should the latter

s Ibid., no. 8509, p. 14; no. 8511, p. 15. B. D, IV, no. 216, p. 231.

tG. P, XXV, part I, no. 8509, p. 14; no. 8510, p. 14. Izvolsky, Correspond-
ance diplomatique, 1, 41, 297.

“B. D, IV, no. 216, p. 231.

vIbid., no. 217, p. 232.
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withdraw earlier objections, and if the German proposals were
satisfactory.” So far as the negotiations for an Anglo-Russian
agreement were involved, the question of the Bagdad railway
was thenceforward of no direct interest, and constituted a
separate matter for diplomatic treatment. After the Algeciras
conference there were signs that Germany desired to establish
friendlier relations with Great Britain. It did not wish to be
left out of the developing “ring” of friendly association that
had already been formed between Great Britain and France,
and was now being fostered with Russia.* Grey privately
thought that *‘all that is necessary is for the Germans to
realize that they have got nothing to complain of,” and
that “England has always drifted or deliberately gone into
opposition to any power which establishes a hegemony in
Europe.” ¥ By the end of July 1906 Grey was explaining to
Metternich that “‘it was not the sentimental friendship, but
the practical results of an understanding with Russia that we
valued,” while to improve relations further with Germany
“time was all that was required, provided of course that things
went quietly and no new cause of trouble arose.” *

Those who were to become the ‘‘chief artificers’” of the
future Anglo-Russian convention were not in their places until
Sir Arthur Nicolson arrived in St. Petersburg on 28 May.
Hardinge became the permanent under secretary at the for-
eign office to give detailed knowledge to Sir Edward Grey,
who pressed forward “in the cause of European stability and
peace.” There was little further delay before negotiations
were opened in earnest with Izvolsky, who favored them and
hoped to recover something of the prestige Russia had lost in
the course of the last two years.* Nicolson came fresh from
his triumphs at Algeciras, where he had worked in harmony
with Count Cassini of Russia, but where he had also laid the
basis for the German belief that he was an intriguer and a foe.

W Ibid., no. 216, p. 232; no. 218, pp. 233-234.

x Ibid., 111, no. 416, p. 357; no. 422, pp. 363-364; no. 423, p. 365; no. 425,
P- 370-

Y Ibid., no. 416, minute, p. 358; no. 418, p. 359.

z Ibid., no. 422, p. 363.

& Gwynn, II, 82. Nicolson, pp. 203-204. Onslow, Slavonic Rewieaw, VII, 548.
Bompard, p. 241.
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He himself thought that his work at the conference had in-
creased his reputation at home, and would give him ‘the
authority necessary and desirable if he were to have any
weighty negotiations to do while ambassador to Russia. Nicol-
son, however, was not an uncritical admirer of the Russians,
and he afterwards wrote that he ‘“‘undertook the post with
great diffidence and considerable misgivings,” although he
was anxious to ‘‘see removed all causes of difference between
us and Russia.” ® Like many other Britishers of the day,
Nicolson had convinced himself that Germany was more deter-
mined to expand, and less to be trusted, than Russia. The
German unfriendliness during the Boer war had galled more
than the Russian. The growing hold being gained in Turkey
and the Near East through an active policy, the menace envis-
aged in the rapid rise of the German navy, and the recent
experience in the Morocco dispute with what Lord Salisbury
long ago had dubbed German “‘bad manners,” all constituted
important reasons for feeling that “England must cease to be
the enemy of all the world,” but should supplement the entente
with France by something similar with Russia. For doing this
the time seemed now more likely to permit success than ever
before.

Nicolson assumed his post with the determination to attain
the long-coveted general agreement with Russia which would
settle the disputed interests in Asia. It was his opinion that
such a reconciliation would probably not be pleasing to Ger-
many, where it was regarded as almost a certain impossibility,
but at the same time ‘‘there was no question of ‘encircling’
Germany.” ¢ He was convinced that

bC.H.B.F. P, 11l 356. D. D. F,, VIII, no. 185, pp. 252-253. Trubetzkoy,
p. 92. Onslow, Slavonic Rewview, VII, 548. Nicolson, pp. 197, 206-207. Lord
Onslow, in his appreciation of Nicolson (Slavonic Review, VII, 550), claimed:
“He knew the Russians and he knew their limitations. He knew that they were
the weakest link in the chain of the entente, and he knew that without Russia,
England and France could never make any headway against Germany.”

¢ Nicolson, pp. xi-xii, 235-236. Anderson, pp. 114, 404-405. “The German
historians are perfectly correct,” so writes Nicolson’s son and biographer, “in
regarding him as a protagonist in the so-called policy of encirclement. They
are apt, however, to attribute his efforts and convictions to an envious desire
to destroy the growing might of Germany. In this they are mistaken.” Nicolson,
p. xii.

d1bid., p. 23s.
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in dealing both with France and Russia, we had honestly no other object
than to place our relations on a safer and more secure basis in the general
interests of peace, yet the subconscious feeling did exist that thereby we
were securing some defensive guarantees against the overbearing domina-
tion of one power. We were trending towards a regrouping of the states
of Europe.®

This reasonable confession of faith, with which Grey had
agreed, was rounded out with an assertion of peaceful inten-
tions.

It can be safely postulated and admitted [ Nicolson wrote, a bit pompous-
ly] that neither France nor Russia nor Great Britain had the remotest
desire to disturb the peace or to impair the relations between themselves
and Germany, Austria and Italy. It can be asserted with absolute truth

that there was not an aggressive or bellicose feeling or aim existing
among members of what came to be called the Triple Entente.f

It is quite impossible to find a more balanced or milder decla-
ration of the intentions of those powers that felt compelled, in
1906, to seek a new grouping among the states of Europe.
The British embassy in St. Petersburg was occupied as well
by its regular routine, in reporting upon the internal condition
of Russia, the pacification of the revolution, and the working
of the government under the changes produced by the new
electoral regulations. In order to be assisted in these tasks,
and doubtless to be free to devote his best energies in quest of
the general understanding, Nicolson sent for his friend, the
publicist Sir Donald Mackenzie Wallace, who had a good
knowledge of the country.® Sir Donald resided at the embassy
for nearly seven months and devoted his attention to contem-
porary affairs, acquiring much valuable information from
varied sources, from personal interviews, from party meetings
of many political hues, as well as from revolutionary pamph-

e Ibid., p. 236.

f1bid. In words that Sir Edward Grey would undoubtedly have made his
own, Nicolson also wrote: “I am by no means overstating the case for the
Triple Entente when I assert that unless the powers composing it were exposed
to aggression, or to a wilful invasion of cherished interests and rights, they
were resolved that peace should be maintained throughout Europe. It was
indeed their hope, though not perhaps their expectation, that, as time proceeded,
a general unity of all the great powers might eventually be attained. Ibid.,
p. 237.

& Onslow, Slavonic Review, VII, 549.
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Jets.? Nicolson called upon Izvolsky on 29 May and told him
that Grey had instructed him “to exchange views on several
important matters, such as Tibet and others, and [Nicolson]
understood that the Russian government were desirous of en-
tering upon a discussion which might lead to a satisfactory
conclusion.” ' They agreed that the Bagdad railway was a
question which ought to be handled separately from the others
which they were to consider. Izvolsky assured the British
ambassador that “*he would cordially take part” in the conver-
sations, with all the more satisfaction because he had recently
learned from Germany that he could “‘set his mind at rest in
regard to any possible difficulties” in the way of an agree-
ment from that quarter. Nicolson concluded his interview
with the proposal to inaugurate the conversations after a few
days with an exchange of views concerning Tibet.! At last
after many years, and the discouraging failures and procras-
tinations that they had witnessed, a Russian foreign minister
had agreed cordially to discuss several important matters with
a satisfactory conclusion as the ultimate goal. While Russia
had appeared to be a strong power nothing had really ever
happened; but in 1906, after two disastrous years, a humbled
position among the great powers of Europe and an uncertain
situation at home had destroyed the reasons for pride. Now
years of quiet were vitally needed to recuperate and to reor-
ganize; but to recover a lost international prestige might
require both French and British assistance, besides freedom
from German domination.*

B Nicolson, p. 212. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatigue, 1, 341. Count
Witte, who was the close friend of another English correspondent, E. J. Dillon,
but hardly of Wallace, has belittled the latter. He rightly pointed out the
aristocratic weakness of Sir Donald’s viewpoint and social relations, but Witte
was merely spiteful in saying that Wallace “was not taken seriously in Eng-
land.” (Witte, Yospominaniya, 1, 372; English edition, p. 138.) Well over a
year later, the German chargé d’affaires in London, Wilhelm von Stumm, re-
ported on 22 August 1907 that he had it on good information that both Wallace
and “a Mr. Baring” had undertaken ‘“to win over the Russian press for the
idea of an entente, and indeed even with financial arguments so far as neces-
sary.” It appeared that the Novoye Vremya had been reached by “such argu-
ments.” (G. P., XXV, part I, no. 8533, p. 38.) Many Russian papers, for some
reason or other, were favoring an Anglo-Russian agreement.

1B. D., 1V, no. 221, p. 237. Nicolson, p. 215.

1B. D., 1V, no. 221, p. 237. lIzvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 298, 303.
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The British overture to start discussions that would ter-
minate in a settlement of the outstanding differences in Asia
with Russia was also earnestly approved by Nicholas II during
the course of the audience which he granted to the new British
ambassador on 4 June 1906.! Nicolson was properly impressed
by the cordiality of the tsar, who repeated his desire for a
satisfactory understanding ‘‘not only in the interests of the two
countries but in those of the peace of the world.” Nicolson
believed the tsar would facilitate the task and ‘‘doubtless exer-
cise a useful influence over the attitude of the minister for
foreign affairs.”™ To both the tsar and Izvolsky, Nicolson
proposed that the interchanges should be kept strictly conf-
dential, because the questions at issue concerned only their own
countries. He wanted to prevent, if possible, any Russian
consultation with other powers, particularly with Germany.
He was not sanguine, however, that Izvolsky would keep his
promised discretion, as he evidently had one eye cocked on
Berlin and might take his friend, the German ambassador
Schoen, more into his confidence than would be desirable.®
Since all the initiative had come hitherto from the side of the
British, Nicolson remarked that both nations stood on an
equal footing during the negotiations, in an attempt to ward
off any likelihood of the Russians considering the British as
suppliants, consequently setting up more exacting demands.’

In his first interview with Izvolsky, when proposing to open
the discussions with an exchange of views over Tibet, Nicolson
had declared that he preferred to wait a few days before exam-
ining them, which turned out to be a suggestion, in dealing with
Russians, that he needed never to repeat. On 7 June, he came
to recount to Izvolsky the various treaties that Great Britain
had with Tibet and China, and explained the five points of the
British demands deemed necessary for securing the proper

1 For the remainder of the chapter only the steps in the negotiation of the
convention, and the attitudes taken by other powers towards it during this
time, are described. The actual difficulties encountered, and the settlements
finally arranged respecting Tibet, Afghanistan and Persia, are left to the three
following chapters.

m B, D, IV, no. 222, p. 238. Nicolson, pp. 215-216.

nB. D, IV, no. 221, pp. 237-238. Nicolson, p. 215.

°B. D, 1V, no. 223, p. 239.
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enjoyment of the position then held in Tibet.” Izvolsky had
already confessed that ‘‘his mind . . . was a blank on the ques-
tions with which we should deal,” but promised to study the
entire past correspondence before another meeting.® In response
to his query as to the mode of procedure, Nicolson laid down
the method that was to be followed during the course of the
negotiations. Because of the hardiness of the old suspicions,
the proceedings must be thoroughly business-like, with the
discussions purely matter of fact concerning opposing interests
within specific and strictly defined regions. Only after a virtual
agreement had been reached on one question should another
be taken up. When all subjects had been examined, and their
discussion terminated, a convention should be drawn up and
signed which comprised everything, “but that settlement of
each question must depend on a general understanding being
arrived at.” ™ Izvolsky agreed to this suggested method of
procedure and did not later seek to change it, although how
much he may have deliberately delayed to cause the prior
revelation of British views cannot be told.

Nevertheless, throughout the whole of the coming summer
the conversations over Tibet failed to make real headway,
which is explained by several factors besides the need of diplo-
mats for vacations. No doubt Nicolson overestimated the sin-
cerity that he ascribed to the tsar’s desire for an agreement,
for the emperor had written to the kaiser shortly after Nicol-
son’s audience that the British were ‘‘fiddling around” about
Asia, but that their proposals were being calmly awaited.®
Izvolsky from the outset had been dilatory in taking up the
discussions, alleging that he was not yet well enough versed in

PIbid., no. 224, p. 239. The five demands are printed in no. 311, enclosure
2, p. 333. Nicolson, pp. 217-219.

eB. D, 1V, no. 223, p. 239; no. 224, p. 240.

rIbid., no. 224, p. 230. Nicolson, p. 207. Grey was ready to reveal the
British desires in Tibet and in Afghanistan, but thought that Russia should
declare its demands about Persia where Russian interests were paramount.
Nicolson was to see to it that “as far as possible the disclosure of the Russian
point of view on each question should be equivalent to our own.” B. D,, IV, no.
224, Grey’s minute, and footnote 1, p. 240; no. 226, p. 241; no. 227, p. 241.

SIn his reply of 14 June the kaiser wrote that, if the British offers were
acceptable, “an understanding with them would remove many elements of
friction and conflict which would also give me satisfaction.” Kaiser’s Letters,
p. 231,
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the subjects and needed time for study.! When he came to the
foreign ministry he had not found its organization nor its
personnel to his liking, and his efforts to remedy these defects
consumed his time and largely distracted his attention from
political considerations." One of Izvolsky's personal weak-
nesses, his concern to build up a secure and important social
position, annoyed Nicolson, especially when the foreign min-
ister neglected his official duties to pay ceremonial visits to
Russian grand dukes who lived at a distance from the capital,
and whose importance Nicolson did not appreciate.Y Two
incidents also arose during the summer, of no lasting import-
ance to be sure, but which produced momentary touchiness in
Russia, and served to keep mutual relations distant and cool.

Towards the end of May, a practice cruise of a part of the
British fleet into the Baltic Sea had been ordered, and the
Russian government had been asked if it would be convenient
to receive a visit from a naval squadron at Kronstadt and
other Baltic ports.” This suggestion was made “with a view
to easing the relations between the two countries;”’ but an
afirmative answer was returned reluctantly by the Russian
government. The British request was badly timed, and both
Izvolsky and the tsar spoke of it as being in the nature of
unwelcome self-invitation.* Izvolsky objected because the visit
was calculated to indicate a greater degree of warmth in An-
glo-Russian relations than the actual circumstances warranted.
It came unwelcomely at a time when the country was still
troubled with internal disturbances, with its fleet almost non-
existent after the losses in the Japanese war, and consequently
in no position to return the visit in corresponding style within
a predictable time.¥ The projected visit which became steadily

tB. D, IV, no. 223, p. 239.

v G, P, XXV, part I, no. 8508, p. 13. Taube, pp. 86-87, 100-104.
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"SLee, II, 565. G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8512, p. 17; no. 8513, p. 17. The kaiser
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more unpleasant to the Russians also ‘“‘aroused dislike and
opposition among Liberals in the House of Commons.” This
caused embarrassment in the British foreign office, which
hesitated to cancel the trip for fear that it would be construed
as a rebuff to Russia. The troublesome question was solved
when a request came from St. Petersburg on 12 July that the
visit should not take place. Izvolsky explained, with discretion
and tactfulness, that it would be better if the British fleet
stayed away, since its presence could lead to unpleasant dem-
onstrations while the internal situation in Russia remained
unstable. The tsar also sent a personal telegram to King
Edward in which he pointedly expressed his anxiety: “To
have to receive foreign guests when one’s country is in a state
of acute unrest is more than painful and inappropriate.” The
king at once replied that he fully understood and appreciated
the objections, but hoped that the visit might take place the
following year.* The British proposal was doubtless well-
intentioned but over-hasty, and succeeded only in irritating the
Russian government. By Izvolsky’s own admission it resulted
in a temporary lull in the drawing together of Russia and
Great Britain.

The second incident which wounded Russian feelings hap-
pened in London at the opening of the sessions of the Inter-
Parliamentary Union, where the representatives of all the
European parliaments had foregathered. The British prime
minister, Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, was almost ready
to give the address of welcome on the morning of 23 July
1906, just as word was received that the first Russian duma
had been dissolved in displeasure by an ukaz of the tsar two
days previously.© This momentous event could not be ignored
in his speech, and Sir Henry hurriedly bethought himself of a
few French sentences which seemed to him felicitous, so he
incorporated them into his address, although they had been

2Grey, I, 150. G. P., XXV, part I, no. 8514, p. 19; no. 8515, p. 20. Izvolsky,
Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 320, 327, 331, 333-

&Lee, 11, 565-566. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 332, 338.
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¢Ibid., no. 8517, footnote *, p. 21. J. A. Spender, The Life of the Right
Fgonograblc Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, G. C. B., (London, 1923), II,
261-262.
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written ‘‘rather too late” to be passed upon by the foreign
office. When he came to this passage in his remarks, the prime
minister adroitly disclaimed any intention of casting either
blame or praise on the dissolution. He asserted that new
institutions often were known to have troubled youths, but
that the duma would be revived in some form or other. His
happiest inspiration he saved to the end in the adaptation of a
familiar cry: “La Douma est morte, Vive la Doumal!” ¢ This
brought rousing cheers from the parliamentary delegates, but
inquiries from the Russian government, and anxious moments
to the British cabinet. Sir Henry declared himself “desolated”
to understand that his words were considered as a rebuke to
the tsar and an interference in the internal affairs of Russia.
This second misadventure in British attempts to be friendly
was only closed after the most conciliatory assurances had
been tendered both by the prime minister and Sir Edward
Grey.® Anglo-Russian relations retained a temporary dullness,
and an article in the London Times, abusing the Russian
emperor, poured no soothing oil on sensitive feelings. It irri-
tated Nicolson to realize that these were minor incidents of
no vital concern, but in his diary he had to note for 6 August:
“Izvolsky’s former eagerness has been replaced by silence and
apparent indifference. The emperor is wounded. Two months
ago there was every hope, and now very little.” !

As the summer waned and the Anglo-Russian negotiations
lagged, the British foreign office plodded serenely along doing
the necessary spade-work to be ready for the future. The
British plan for a settlement in Tibet had long been in Russian
hands, and a counterscheme had been promised which was not
yet forthcoming. The British government knew fairly defin-
itely what it wanted in Afghanistan, and near the middle of
August Grey hoped that he had sufficiently prepared his in-
structions to enable Nicolson to take up this subject.s8 Very
likely the dilatory pace set by the Russians had not been

d1bid., pp. 262-263. lzvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 336, 338.
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entirely unwelcome in London, because the views of the gov-
ernment of India in regard to Afghanistan had been so intem-
perate that they were likely to be rejected by the India office
at home.” The essential terms for which the government of
India spoke were so staggering that they would have made any
discussion with Russia futile. Although Morley was not sur-
prized by ‘“the frowns of incredulity, suspicion, and dislike
with which the idea of an Anglo-Russian agreement was
greeted at Simla,” he had to exercise a moderating influence
early and often, which he started to do in his reply of 6 July
1906. He declared explicitly that ‘“the policy of a Russian
entente was not open to question, that the home government
were definitely decided on an entente, and that there could not
be two foreign policies, one at Whitehall and the other at
Simla.” ' The Indian government persisted tenaciously in its
recalcitrant viewpoint and Grey had to admit that ‘it takes a
little time to lead them to the waters of conciliation and get
them to agree that they are wholesome.’

Sir Edward Grey was not impatient with the slow movement
of the conversations and cared to go no faster than was neces-
sary to keep them alive for the time that Russia remained, in
his opinion, on the brink of revolution. Only by 7 September
did he despatch to Nicolson the authorization to open discus-
sions on Afghanistan, as well as to receive any proposals
concerning Persia that Izvolsky should choose to put forward.*
Yet Nicolson could only reply that there was no evident eager-
ness to pursue the negotiations; no counterdraft was forth-
coming on the Tibetan question; Izvolsky listlessly agreed to
discuss Afghanistan, but made no eftort to do so; and when
Nicolson hinted that he would like to hear the Russian views
on Persia, Izvolsky looked at him blankly and replied that he
had no views at all.' The minister was then much more wor-
ried about the loan desired from impecunious Russia by the

b Ibid., no. 226, p. 241. Habberton, p. 77.

1 Morley, II, 151, 176. Lee, 11, 569. Even King Edward urged that there
should be greater “coéperation.”
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Persian government, and wished for British participation in
order to be able to forestall any solicitation being sent to
Germany.™ The reports that Persia had recently oftered a
concession for a German bank in Teheran further alarmed
Izvolsky, even despite the assertions that the bank would
serve only commercial and no political German interests.” All
this Nicolson found ‘“‘a little discouraging,” and he suggested
that it would be better to help settle these more pressing
special questions, and to leave Izvolsky alone for a while on
the major subjects.°

By the last week of September, Izvolsky had made “‘a step
or two in advance” and showed more interest in the course
taken by the negotiations than lately he had, but even so he
had expressed only his personal views in the vaguest outline.?
It was becoming clear, however, where the difficulties were to
be found. Izvolsky's early initiative had been diminished, so
it was suspected, by the objections of the military party in the
Russian government, whose desires for a port upon the Indian
Ocean, connected by a railroad with Russia, and for greater
control in the strategic Persian province of Seistan would not
harmonize with the idea of an agreement with Great Britain.
The real attitude of Nicholas II would be a deciding factor
which, despite his pleasant assurances, was really something
unknown.® Nicolson assumed that the Russians were proceed-
ing more cautiously than was usual because they realized the
weakness of the country and feared that Great Britain would
take advantage of it.” Most of all, however, the delay sprang
from the recent activity of Germany in Persia, which alarmed
Izvolsky both because it was an invasion into a region where

m I'bid., no. 336, pp. 386-387; no. 340, p. 389. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplo-
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Russian domination had been hitherto unquestioned, and be-
cause this forward movement weakened the assurances ob-
tained from Germany in May that no objection would be
raised against an Anglo-Russian agreement which did not
injure the interests of other powers. During October 1906
Izvolsky made a journey to western Europe, essentially for a
vacation and to select apparel for himself and his wife as
would be fitting for their new position, with some lesser time
devoted to the cares and perplexities of state.® At a meeting
in Paris on 22 October with the British ambassador Sir Francis
Bertie, Izvolsky explained his attitude and purpose with
notable frankness:

Before coming to arrangements with England, I must find out at Berlin
what interests the German emperor and his government consider that
Germany has in Persia, not necessarily in order to allow them to stand
in the way of an agreement with England, but in order to avoid a repeti-
tion by Germany of her attitude in the Morocco question and Russia
being placed in the dilemma of France. . .. I require all this information
in order to enable me to judge how far I can go without the risk of
meeting with German opposition. In the present position of Russia it is
essential to consider German susceptibilities.

On his way to Paris Izvolsky had stopped off in Berlin
where, on 12 October, he told Schoen that on his return he
would take the opportunity to discuss with the chancellor and
the emperor his general policies and special questions. In
particular he would consider friendly and neighborly relations
with Germany in keeping with the good, old tradition. He
would explain frankly and fully the aims, the bounds and the
progress of the attempt for a reconciliation with Great Britain.
He would also speak about the recently disquieting reports of
German interests developing within Persia, where Russian
political and commercial influence occupied a privileged posi-
tion." British and French statesmen paid close attention to
Izvolsky while he remained in Paris, where he revealed to
them how important it was for Russia not to become involved

8G. P, XXII, no. 7362, p. 35; no. 7364, p- 38. Taube, pp. 108-109. Izvolsky,
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in any unfriendly way, and that anything like the Morocco
crisis must be avoided as a result of an agreement between
Russia and Great Britain." King Edward extended an invita-
tion to Izvolsky to include London in his tour, but this was
declined, although the French seemed to think that Izvolsky
had altered his previous intentions.* When he explained that
this visit had not been planned and that his remaining time was
fully occupied; that the negotiations were not sufficiently
advanced nor the occasion propitious before he had discovered
the real German attitude to them, or their intentions in Persia,
King Edward was able to ‘“‘understand and appreciate the
reasons given,” although he would “always regret that M.
Izvolsky was unable to come to London this year.” *

The second stay Izvolsky made in Berlin, between 28 and 30
October, was marked by straightforward discussions at the
foreign office and with the kaiser. Izvolsky explained how
necessary it was for his country to reach a settlement of the
differences with Great Britain. The unfavorable position of
Russia in the Far East left no other choice, as the renewal
of the Anglo-Japanese alliance was a standing menace, all the
more threatening because Izvolsky could foresee no direct
reconciliation with Japan for many years. The regions
wherein Russia contemplated reaching an agreement with the
century-old enemy comprised Tibet, Afghanistan and Persia,
but there was to be absolutely no point in the agreement
directed against Germany, as the rights and interests of third
parties were to be scrupulously preserved. Contrary to the
trend of the articles and rumors published by the press, par-
ticularly the English, Izvolsky gave the honest assurance that
the negotiations were only in an elementary stage and were
progressing slowly.Y He spoke forcefully respecting the recent
German moves in Persia and declared that Russia could not
look with equanimity upon the establishment of a German
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bank in Persia, empowered to grant loans to the local govern-
ment or to undertake the construction of railroads or tele-
graph lines. These were matters reserved in part to Great
Britain and to Russia which, because of their financial and
political obligations, must be respected. On this point Izvolsky
was at once reassured: the concession for a German bank in
Teheran was far from reality. If it did ever materialize it
would be a commercial bank to assist the developing German
trade with Persia, (in itself displeasing to Russia), but all
political plans were entirely beyond its compass.* So far as his
attitude to the Bagdad railway was expressed, 1zvolsky had
no personal objection to it so long as any Persian connections
would not endanger the Russian position in northern Persia,
and he agreed to attempt to overcome traditional Russian
opposition against an understanding on this question acceptable
to Germany.* Before quitting Berlin, Izvolsky called upon the
British ambassador, Sir Frank Lascelles, to tell him that he
believed he had convinced Billow that an Anglo-Russian under-
standing would not be directed against Germany. He now had
hopes of reaching a complete agreement with Great Britain,
although time would be required to allay important and long-
enduring Russian suspicions.®

The Berlin sojourn restored to Izvolsky the contentment
of the May interchange, and he was pleased in the highest
degree with the reception of himself and his explanations.°
When he was back in the Russian capital, Schoen told him that
the kaiser had been impressed by his unreserved frankness and
loyalty, which had moderated the painful memories of recent
Russian-German relations, whereupon Izvolsky assured him
that Germany ‘“‘could be certain not to experience any disap-
pointment through him.” ¢ Nicolson also was witness to
Izvolsky's renewed spirits and described him as ‘‘evidently
relieved at the removal of the fear which was haunting him

2Ibid., p. 40. lzvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 215-217.
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that Germany would step in at a given moment and make
matters uncomfortable for Russia,” and believed that ‘“‘the
assurances which he has received have stimulated him to take
up the discussions more actively than he has hitherto done.” ®
Izvolsky in turn succeeded in quieting German anxiety over
exaggerated rumors appearing in the press concerning the
nature of the Anglo-Russian conversations. Biilow gave a long
address in the German Reichstag on 14 November, in which
he asserted that the Anglo-Russian negotiations were fraught
with no danger to Germany. ‘“We have no thought,” said the
chancellor, “of wishing to push ourselves in between France
and Russia or France and England. . . . We have no reason at
all to disturb these [ Anglo-Russian] negotiations, or to regard
their probable result with mistrustful eyes.” *

In other places Izvolsky’s reception in Berlin, and the assur-
ances that he gave there, did encounter mistrustful eyes. To
Baron Aehrenthal, who had been appointed minister of foreign
affairs for Austria-Hungary while Izvolsky had been away,
and who was lingering on in St. Petersburg only to take his
leave, Izvolsky spontaneously repeated the assurances that
had quieted the extreme sensitiveness of the Germans about
the Anglo-Russian negotiations.® Aehrenthal had, from the
first rumors, desired to obstruct the possible conclusion of any
such agreement. He was now less contented with the explana-
tions. His own opinion was that Russia would have done more
wisely to have conciliated Japan, and plant the seed of distrust
between that empire and Great Britain, consequently remain-
ing free to participate in some renewal of the old League of
the Three Emperors.” Aehrenthal realized that the time was
not suited for this, but he also remained skeptical that Izvolsky
would act as much in harmony with Austria in the Balkans as
Lamsdorff had done, or that his will power was strong enough
to keep him from gravitating toward Great Britain, for this
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would be popular among the liberal element in Russian
politics.'

The French government was also worried over Izvolsky's
reception in Berlin. Latterly Franco-Russian relations had lost
considerable cordiality and the two countries had been tied
closely together mostly because of the serious need of Russia
for loans supplied by French investors in search of what
appealed to them as good security for their savings.! The
French ambassador in St. Petersburg had communed with
Nicolson shortly after Izvolsky's return from Berlin. Bom-
pard admitted that there had been some uneasiness in France,
where it was believed that Izvolsky had been forced to promise
that no Anglo-Russian agreement would be made that could
be turned to the disadvantage of Germany. The Frenchman
had been calmed by Izvolsky’s declaration that recent reports
of the contemplated revival of the Three Emperors’ League
were ‘pure myths,” and that the French alliance still stood as
the cornerstone of Russian foreign policy.*

Despite the careful explanations already received from
Izvolsky while he had been in Paris, Grey had remained sus-
picious of the intimate meetings which the Russian minister
had had with the Germans. He let Nicolson know that the
British would expect some frank statements as to what had
passed between Izvolsky and his hosts, as well as some pro-
gress in the negotiations with England to serve as a proof
“that the Germans are not putting spokes in the wheel.”'
Early in November, Nicolson found out from Izvolsky that
no details of the Anglo-Russian conversations had been dis-
closed by him in Berlin, but that he had allayed the misgivings
in the German mind that an effort was in progress to isolate
Germany and to confine that nation within a ring of hostile
powers.”™ In return Izvolsky was at ease in his own mind that
Germany would put no obstacles in the way of an arrangement
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that would remove the causes of friction between Great Britain
and Russia in Asia, wherefore “laying his hand on his heart”
he pledged to use “all his energies” to accomplish his task,
and to attain that understanding which he ‘‘honestly and sin-
cerely” desired, being convinced that it was “the right policy
for Russia to pursue.”” Nicolson expected that Izvolsky
would still move slowly and plead for time because of the
strong opposition that persisted in the government against his
plans. In one respect it appeared that the critics of Izvolsky
were on strong ground, and would force him to obtain com-
pensations, for which Nicolson suggested that the British
government should be prepared. When the bargaining should
begin over Persia, if Russia then promised to retire from the
strategically valuable region of Seistan alongside the Afghan
frontier, the demand was certain to arise for something ade-
quate in return for Russia. To propose giving Russia a free
hand in the north of Persia would not satisfy, because Russian
influence was already supreme there. Nicolson recognized
that “in the present case we are not in a position either in
Persia, Afghanistan or Tibet, to make any great concessions
or as our hostile critics say any at all.”” * Izvolsky, however,
had hinted that he would probably need some balancing gain,
and Nicolson thought that sometime there would come ‘“some
proposals as to a deal over the Near East,” for Great Britain
either to “support or, in any case, not oppose Russia in obtain-
ing some modifications of certain treaty clauses which hamper
and restrict her liberty of action.”° It was clear that the
negotiations would not gain any encouraging speed unless
Russia got some rewards for leaving positions coveted by
Great Britain, and Nicolson's warning that the Near East
would play a part in the course of the conversations was
timely, enabling the foreign office to prepare to entertain the
subject.?
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As the year 1906 drew to a close something like the outline
of an agreement respecting Tibet took shape. There had been
many notes interchanged since midsummer, and no conflict of
interests had proven permanently insurmountable.® The difh-
culties had been considered leisurely and in a conciliatory spirit
by both sides, and the time was not far off when ‘“‘the reluctant
compromise was embodied in a convention which is a master-
piece of drafting.” * In the face of approaching harmony Grey
had authorized, as far back as September, that Afghan ques-
tions could be examined and that Russian proposals on Persia
should be requested. Afghanistan, however, was hopelessly
lost in the tangle of more pressing problems, and no discus-
sions were attempted before February 1907. Izvolsky alleged
that he was unprepared to talk about a Persian settlement, and
besides was deeply exercised by German attempts to increase
its commercial influence in northern Persia.* His most imme-
diate concern was to win the prompt association of Great
Britain in making a joint loan to the impoverished Persian
government in order to prevent German participation, because
it would be difficult for the Russian government in its straight-
ened financial circumstances to find the money for the first
advance on the loan.' In the discussion of this question Nicolson
had mentioned that the British desired the southeastern part of
Persia, behind a line between the towns of Birjand and Bandar
Abbas, as their special region; and on 17 September 1906 Izvol-
sky had agreed that ‘“we should delimitate our respective
spheres of influence as soon as possible,” but that the process
should not be associated with the making of a loan." Izvolsky
recognized that the mention of spheres of influence opened up
the whole question of Persia, and the reconciliation of the con-

the hostility and friction between Russia and us.” He then indicated what
British policy would be: “But it is not for us to propose changes with regard
to the treaty conditions of the Dardanelles. I think some change in the direction
desired by Russia would be admissible, and we should be prepared to discuss
the question if Russia introduces it.” (Ibid., no. 370, p. 414.) The Russian
embassy in London also put out feelers on the Near East. Ibid., no. 241, p. 254.
Nicolson, p. 243. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 24, 400-402.

9B. D., IV, no. 314, pp. 336-345.

T Nicolson, p. 239.

SB. D., 1V, no. 228, p. 242; Editors’ Note, p. 522.

t1bid., no. 344, p. 391; no. 348, p. 393. _ .

UIbid., no. 347, p. 392. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 377.
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flicting interests in this part of Asia was to be one of the most
important tasks on the way to any agreement.

The idea of partitioning Persia into Russian and British
spheres of influence was not at all new, but it had not fre-
quently been greeted with mutual approval. To go no further
back than the autumn of 1903, when Lansdowne began his
supreme bid for a rapprochement with Russia, Benckendorft
had “let fall the observation’ that his government would not
favor any arrangement which would place northern Persia
under Russian or southern Persia under British influence.’
The Russian government, he said, “saw no reason why their
commercial development should be limited to the northern
half,”” and while willing to recognize British predominance in
the Persian Gulf, a commercial outlet there would probably
be demanded for Russia, although without a naval base or
a garrison of troops.” This authoritative language had been
delivered before the war with Japan had humbled Russia; and
almost two years afterwards, as .ansdowne resumed his quest
for a reconciliation with Russia, Benckendorft believed that the
Persian question offered most difficulty, but that it could be
solved. Lamsdorff himself declared that, since the integrity
of Persia was to be upheld, the technical difficulties in the way
of an agreement, among which was the delimitation of spheres
of influence, should be easily adjusted.* Nearly a year later, on
19 September 1906, Izvolsky had agreed that this was the sole
method “‘of solving the Persian question so far as Russia and
England were concerned.” ¥

In “his humble duty to the king” of 24 September, Grey
proposed to demand of the Russians a sphere in southeastern
Persia which should include the strategic Seistan district in
order to minimize the danger of military invasion into India,
releasing to Russia large regions in the north and west. The
government of India desired a much vaster extent for Great
Britain, which the foreign secretary rejected because it could

vB. D, IV, no. 181 (a), p. 183.

v Ibid., no. 181 (b), p. 185. Benckendorff blythely remarked to Lansdowne,
“You may guard it if you like!”

x 1bid., no. 196, p. 208; no. 202, p. 216.

Y Ibid., no. 148, p. 393.
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not be obtained by diplomacy.* He did not intend to relinquish
all of Persia outside of the British sphere into Russian hands,
but first brought out the suggestion that “there will have to
be a sphere open to general or common interests.” * With
somewhat surprizing complaisance, Izvolsky found the tenta-
tive description of the British region perfectly acceptable. He
gave no sign of the limits desired for the Russian region
except that it would be considerably removed from the British,
thereby independently reaching the view that most of the
middle of Persia would be left open to general enterprize.
While he declared this to be his own firm conviction, Izvolsky
did not hide the fact that he would have a strong opposition
to overcome, or that when the Russian sphere had been finally
allotted, they might then do in it pretty much as they pleased.”

No sooner had this general agreement been reached than
trouble arose. The British foreign ofice became impatient to
obtain the definitive recognition of the limits of their sphere
of influence ‘‘as a starting point for common action,” and as a
condition for making the joint advance to Persia. Izvolsky
was upset and devoted some energy to elucidating for Nicol-
son’s benefit how British impetuousness would render negotia-
tions exceedingly difficult. ‘“The question of spheres of influ-
ence in Persia was not a matter to be settled off-hand at
twenty-four hours notice. It was an extremely delicate ques-
tion requiring much thought and consideration.” © It would
cause him trouble enough to gain the acquiescence of others
who approved of it far less than he did. It was also too im-
portant a matter to be tied up with another so relatively small
as a loan to Persia. Izvolsky repeated his earlier objections
to this association, and capped his exposition with the promise
that Russia would find the small sum necessary for its share
in a Persian loan out of its own resources, however inconven-
ient that might temporarily be, if the British government per-
sisted in its attitude.! Nicolson accordingly advised London

2 Ibid., no. 350, p. 395.

2 Ibid., no. 347, minute, p. 393.

b Ibid., no. 349, p. 394.

¢1bid., no. 352, p. 397. Nicolson, p. 242.

:Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 377. B. D., 1V, no. 352, pp. 397-
398.
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not to rush Izvolsky with the negotiations, nor to tie on
impossible conditions, because ‘‘we may frighten him off the
whole question.” There was suspicion enough that Britain
was taking advantage of Russian difficulties to force matters,
and if the negotiations were to be ultimately successful, it
would be prudent to remove this suspicion from Russian
minds.® Nicolson’s advice was taken in London and remem-
bered.! For one of the few times during the negotiation the
timid, hesitating Izvolsky had spoken his mind with sharp
clearness, and got his way.

No advance in the conversations could be expected during
the October days when Izvolsky took his vacation, and made
his visits to Paris and Berlin. In London, Grey thought of a
slight extension in the British region in Persia, and wished to
avoid using the term sphere of influence in the coming nego-
tiations.® Nicolson found Izvolsky troubled at their first
meeting in November by technical difficulties in the way of
defining those spheres of influence, a term which he also wished
not to mention. He was puzzled how to accomplish this pur-
pose, which appeared to be a bald division of Persia, and yet
reconcile i1t with an inescapable profession of a mutual desire
to respect the integrity and independence of Persia. Both
parties would affirm that there was no departure from the
principle of equal opportunity, yet neither Great Britain nor
Russia intended to let another power obtain concessions within
its sphere. There would be no temptation for Germany to seek
concessions in the area envisaged for Great Britain; but there
could be made no sphere for Russia in northern Persia in which
Germany might not want all kinds of concessions, practically
forcing Russia to come to terms with Germany.® In some
degree Nicolson knew how to assuage these doubts, although

e Ibid., p. 398. Nicolson, p. 242. See also Izvolsky, Correspondance diplo-
matique, 1, 402, 407.

f Hardinge summoned his long acquaintance with the Russian character in
order to minute: “The Russians always move slowly and do not like being
‘rushed’.” (B. D., 1V, no. 352, minute, p. 339.) In the middle of November 1906,
Grey was repeating back to Nicolson: “We must avoid raising in M. Izvolsky’s
mind the suspicion that we wish to force the pace in order to take advantage
of Russia’s present situation.” Ibid., no. 370, p. 414.

& Ibid., no. 366, p. 407.

h Ibid., no. 367, pp. 408-409; see also no. 231, p. 244.
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he had no ‘‘ready drawn formula to submit.” Something could
be done to explain away the appearance of a partition of
Persia, and the ‘““open door’ would be left ajar to the legiti-
mate commerce of other nations in both the spheres of influ-
ence, ‘‘and in any case throughout the whole of the rest of
Persia’’ in every respect.! Nicolson had full confidence in
Izvolsky’s intentions and desires for an understanding, but
believed that he would proceed with such “extreme and delib-
erate caution’’ as would “‘unduly prolong the negotiations,” so
that he did not wish to wait for Russian proposals. He sug-
gested that a draft of an article be sent to him that would
serve as a preamble to a Persian agreement, besides stimu-
lating Izvolsky to greater zeal.

As a result Grey had prepared and despatched a sketch of
an agreement for Nicolson to present to Izvolsky. This sketch
was not in treaty form, but was intended to serve as an aide-
mémoire of what had been talked over. It had a rudimentary
preamble in which the respect for the integrity and independ-
ence of Persia, and the assurance of equal opportunity for the
commerce of all nations were placed. The line within which
the British government would expect to have a free hand in
seeking concessions of whatever nature was precisely specified,
while the corresponding engagement oftered for a Russian
region was left undefined.* The British region included the
district of Seistan, which would free India from the appre-
hension of an attack by Russia. Grey recognized that Russia
would obtain no equivalent gain for this in the northern part
of Persia, and anticipated that Izvolsky would seek for a
counterbalance somewhere else, most probably at the Dar-

1Ibid., no. 367, p. 409, and minute, p. 411. The phrase “the whole of the rest
of Persia” was a happy one! In the famous “Curzon Despatch” of the govern-
ment of India of 21 September 1899, the whole of the rest of Persia is described
as being ‘“deserts that form a natural barrier of division between northern and
southern Persia. . ..” (Ibid., no. 319, pp. 358, 360.) In April 1907, Sir Charles
Hardmge was to contrlbute his descnptlon of what had become the “neutral
zone” “of such a barren and mountainous character, chain after chain of
mountams rising diagonally across any railway route from the north, that
there need be no fear of any company or gov[ernmen]t attempting such a
glgantxc task as a railway to the s[outh] of Persia.” Ibid., no. 411, enclosure
and minute, p. 457.

1Ibid., no. 367, p. 410.

kIbzd no. 371, enclosure, pp. 415-416.
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danelles. Nicolson was instructed that because this question
was a Russian interest in which the other powers of Europe
were concerned, Izvolsky must ‘‘say what he wants,” but that
he should receive these requests and refer them home.! When
the substance of this was handed to Izvolsky in an aide-
mémoire of 3 December, it marked the first written proposal
offered for the Persian discussions. Izvolsky read the copy
with care, and his only immediate criticism, which Nicolson
did not share, was the honest recognition ‘“‘that even as drawn
up others might regard it as a division (‘partage’) of Persia
into spheres of influence.” Since an off-hand answer was not
required at the moment, Izvolsky requested to be permitted
“to study carefully” the document in hand.™ Whenever Izvol-
sky desired to study anything carefully it was sure to consume
time; but it also needed time for him to overcome his scruples
to a partition of Persia only thinly concealed, and the objec-
tions of others to any partition at all.

Sir Edward Grey by now had a better comprehension of the
opposition the Russian foreign minister had to meet. He
no longer was inclined to force the pace, only wishing that the
negotiations should not ‘“‘go to sleep.”” ™ What afterwards
could be described as ‘‘an amicable and expectant pause,” but
which at the time was a delay with which Nicolson “was not
wholly satisfied,”” stopped the discussion of Anglo-Russian
interests in central Asia from the beginning of December 1906
until into February 1907.° In this interval Izvolsky made con-
siderable progress in negotiations with Japan, to carry out the
provisions of the peace of Portsmouth which had been left for
future settlement, and to form a basis for safer relations with
Japan in the Far East. The seriousness of these negotiations
which, with the help.of France, were just passing out of a
threatening stage, claimed Izvolsky’s earnest attention.” Benck-
endorff stated that there was so little likelihood of a prompt

1Ibid., no. 370, p. 414. Grey, I, 156-158. Nicolson, p. 243.

mB. D, IV, no. 373, p. 417.

" Ibid., no. 370, p. 414.

° Nicolson, p. 243.

P Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 288, 414-415. The French govern-
ment prevented a loan to Japan until after the success of the Japanese-Russian
treaty negotiations was assured. Bompard, pp. 250, 253-254.
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renewal of the discussions with England that he expected to
prolong his vacation in St. Petersburg for several weeks.? Yet
Nicolson, in his annual report for 1906, believed Izvolsky to
be sincerely in favor of an understanding with Great Britain.
It was true that relations between Russia and Germany were
“intimate and cordial,” and that *‘a suave, conciliatory attitude
and a gentle solicitude are the characteristics of German
diplomacy in this capital.” It was unfortunate that the Dual
alliance had suffered a temporary eclipse with “many influ-
ential quarters’” feeling that ‘‘the union between Socialistic
freethinking France and Orthodox Russia is not a sympathetic
one.” The attitude of the court and the military party was
doubtless inimical to the negotiations, but the Russian cabinet
on the whole seemed willing to conclude a fair bargain, so
Nicolson could view the coming year with hope.

The first days of 1907 were, nevertheless, clouded with
doubts for Sir Arthur. He hoped that the dismal Russian
winter had not affected his judgment, but he confessed to some
misgivings as to the speed of the negotiations, as well as to
recent changes in Izvolsky's attitude. The occupation of the
Chumbi valley in Tibet after 1905 was a touchy question be-
cause the British were reluctant to promise that it would not
be extended under any circumstances, while Izvolsky expressed
the fear, whether genuinely his own or, as Nicolson preferred
to believe, insinuated to him by the Russian general staff, that
Great Britain ‘“‘might indirectly instigate incidents in order to
justify a prolonged occupation.” The discussion of the differ-
ences in Tibet had progressed the farthest of any, but Nicol-
son was still uneasy because Izvolsky persisted in speaking
“as if our interests in Tibet were no more than those of
Russia,” although Izvolsky's viewpoint was nearly correct.
In regard to Persian affairs, it was distressing to observe the
reversal in the Russian minister’s attitude. Until lately Russia
had been eager for British association in a loan to the Persian
government and Great Britain had originally been reluctant

1G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8521, pp. 27-28; no. 8522, and footnote *, pp. 28-
29, no. 8523, pp- 29-30. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 414.
'B. D., 1V, no. 243, pp. 255-260. Nicolson, p. 243.
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to participate, whereas now Izvolsky was anxious to withdraw
the advance at precisely the same time that reports from
Spring Rice at Teheran revealed a growing disinclination of
the Russian colleague to work in harmony. This time it was
Nicolson who wished not to lose the associtation which had
been “of such admirable augury for a general arrangement,”
because “‘if we unlink our arms on this question, we may find
difficulty in hooking him on again.” ®* The French ambassador
Bompard, an interested spectator, while not wishing to be
indiscreet, ‘‘feared our negotiations were unduly dragging”
and in need of ‘“‘some little more stimulus.” * He was uneasy
because Izvolsky was extremely sensitive in his ‘‘regard for
German susceptibilities,” but Nicolson did not attribute the
existing slowness to any German action after the assurance
of “benevolent indifference” that had been given to Izvolsky
in Berlin. The lagging was better attributable to the necessity
of overcoming opposition in Russia, in addition to the fact
that Great Britain “had several different and widely separated
authorities to consult: and all this caused some unavoidable
delay.” ®

The treaty discussions with Japan, although progressing,
were another cause for delay. It perplexed Nicolson to under-
stand why this should be so; but his explanations had the merit
of being rational. It might be that Japan would make some
demands to which Russia could not effectively object, yet which
would be seriously disadvantageous to Russia. It would hardly
do for a new foreign minister in his first two agreements to
show nothing but concessions to Japan in the Far East, and to
Great Britain in middle Asia. Nicolson and the Japanese
ambassador agreed that it would be ‘““an admirable consum-
mation’’ if both countries could succeed in obtaining such
understandings with Russia as could only make for peace in
their relations throughout Asia.” Izvolsky was earnestly seek-
ing an agreement that would end the danger of a second war

sB. D, IV, no. 244, p. 266.

t Nicolson, p. 243. Bompard, pp. 255-256. B. D., IV, no. 245, p. 267.

U Jbid., no. 244, p. 266; no. 245, pp. 267-268; no. 247, p. 269.

vIbid., no. 246, pp. 268-269. Nicolson, p. 243. Izvolsky, Correspondance
diplomatique, 1, 418.
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with Japan; while Count Witte, although out of power but not
without influence, approved the policy that ‘““Russia should
endeavor to make terms with Great Britain and Japan rather
than be cajoled by the allurements which might emanate from
Berlin.”” * As the Russo-Japanese negotiations developed ever
more favorably through February and March, Izvolsky hoped
to attain something that, if not actually constituting an entente,
would at least produce ‘‘des relations,” while Grey desired
Russian friendliness with Britain’s ally Japan, so that his
object of getting on good terms with Russia would not be
frustrated or minimized.* As the prospects of success seemed
ever more certain of crowning his labors with Japan, Bompard
found Izvolsky at last becoming “radiant and sanguine.” ?
Nicolson's hopes were in the ascendant again before January
was gone. Izvolsky had returned to an earlier suggestion that
Benckendorff should join their conversations while he remained
in St. Petersburg. This was thoroughly acceptable, not alone
because of Benckendorft’s pleasant company, but also because
he was a cordial proponent of an agreement, whose more
decided opinions might stimulate Izvolsky's, besides cutting
down the opposition in military and court circles.* Bencken-
dorff declared that the tsar had been “sincerely desirous that
an arrangement should be reached” when last he had been
received in audience, while it was surely encouraging to listen
to him say that ‘“he did not consider the opposition of the
military party would be so strenuous as was feared.” There
had been some feeling that Great Britain had originated the
negotiations at the close of the Japanese war for the purpose
of benefitting from the weakened condition of Russia, but
Benckendorff had taken pains to explain that these conversa-

¥B. D, 1V, no. 250, p. 273; no. 251, p. 274. Nicolson, p. 250.

*B. D., IV, no. 253, p. 275; no. 256, p. 279; no. 388, p. 430. Dennis, p. 29.
Pooley, Hayashi, pp. 230-232. On 27 February/ 11 March 1908, Izvolsky ex-
plained in the duma that the agreements with Japan were made with the
approval of the tsar, and to institute friendly relations with Japan following
the peace of Portsmouth. Stenografichesky otchet: Gosudarstvennaya duma,
[Stenographic Report: Imperial Duma], third convocation, first session, (1908),
PP. 112-115, 1X7.

YB. D., IV, no. 252, p. 275; no. 388, p. 430. France was contemporaneously
engaged in making an agreement with Japan. Dennis, p. 28. André Tardieu,
France and the Alliances, (New York, 1908), pp. 234-237.

2B. D., 1V, no. 248, pp. 269-270; no. 467, p. 522.
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tions had commenced long ago, and had only been resumed
upon the close of the war.* On g February Benckendorff again
brought Nicolson interesting news to the effect that the much
dreaded attitude of the Russian general staff had moderated
enough to accept in principle the desirability of an agreement
with Great Britain if “some concessions of a political nature
should be made to Russia in return for her projected with-
drawal from a ‘military position’.” While Benckendorff pro-
fessed not to know what concessions were meant by this state-
ment, he did let fall an observation about the Dardanelles,
which neither Nicolson nor the British foreign office failed to
note.” Fully as encouraging were the statements by Izvolsky
and Benckendorff that “‘a small commission” or “inter-depart-
mental committee” of the government was to meet shortly
to discuss some of the matters about which the negotiations
were concerned, after which the Russian views could be pre-
sented to Nicolson more precisely. This body of dignitaries
did meet on 1/14 February, and Nicolson’s first indications
of the results came through Bompard, who had found Izvolsky
more animated in spirit, and ‘“satisfied with the outlook of his
negotiations’’ with Great Britain, with whom he now possessed
‘“a good prospect of coming to terms.” °

The meeting of 1/14 February had really been a Russian
ministerial council, assembled to discuss the advisability of
entering into a treaty with Great Britain on Persian affairs.
Izvolsky had declared that it was necessary for the council to

8 Ibid., no. 249, p. 272. Sir Charles Hardinge made a very curious minute to
this despatch: “C[ount] Benckendorff might also add that after the war the
initiative in the resumption of negotiations was taken by the Russian govern-
ment.” This is at variance with the published British documents which show
Hardinge himself, then British ambassador to Russia, eagerly doing his part
during the war to keep the future open for a resumption, and after the war in
endeavoring to overcome Russian reluctance to resume, induced particularly by
the displeasure caused by the premature renewal of the Anglo-Japanese agree-
ment. See also Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, go1.

b Ibid., no. 250, p. 272.

¢1bid., no. 248, p. 270; no. 250, p. 273; no. 252, pp. 274-275. Bompard, p. 274.

4 The mmutes of this session first partlally appeared in B. de Siebert, (Gcorge
Abel Schreiner, editor), Entente Diplomacy and the World, (New York 1921),
no. 548, pp. 474-477. This is reprinted in B. D., IV, pp. 270-271. The entire
document was subsequently published in Graf Benckendorffs diplomatischer
Schriftwechsel, (Berlin and Leipzig, 1928), I, no. 1, pp. 1-9, hereafter cited as
Benckendorff.
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come to a decision respecting ‘‘the proposal of the British
government to divide Persia into spheres of influence.” He
reminded the ministers that such a proposal would not have
had an agreeable reception until recently, because it had been
Russian opinion that all of Persia would come under Russian
influence. The conditions under which this would have been
possible had meanwhile disappeared.

The events of the past few years, however, have shown this plan to be
impossible of realization and that everything must be avoided that might

lead to a conflict with England. The best means for achieving this pur-
pose is the demarcation of the spheres of influence in Persia.

Later in the session other ministers suggested certain changes
to be made in the British draft, to make certain that no con-
cessions in either the British or Russian sphere should be
available to the subjects of third powers, as well as that these
“concessions of a political and commercial nature” should be
more precisely set forth in the articles of a treaty. So far as
Seistan was mentioned, the representative of the general staff
was reluctant to see such a natural route out of Persia into
India go over to British control, although it was pointed out
that at the present time it would be impossible to prevent a
British occupation of the region. In return for so important a
concession, corresponding compensations should be obtained
from Great Britain. The close connection of Seistan with
Afghanistan should not be ignored, while the latter state
must be preserved as a buffer, in order to prevent the passage
of Indian troops through the country, or the use of Seistan as
a concentration region for troops in the defence of India. The
military reorganization of the Indian army, which Lord
Kitchener was actively effecting, had thoroughly disquieted the
Russians.® Izvolsky summed up that the opportunity to reach
an agreement with Great Britain was at hand, by which the
possibility of a conflict would be obviated. Therefore it would
be wise not to be too unyielding in demarcating the lines of the
spheres of influence, and to gain as much compensation as
possible elsewhere for relinquishing the strategic district of

¢See Grey, I, 155. Reisner, Krasny Arkhiv, X, s6.
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Seistan to the British sphere. The council of ministers in the
end “‘accepted the principle of spheres of influence as the only
basis possible’” for an agreement with England.

Thereupon Izvolsky turned to an equally weighty and closely
connected subject. The full value of a treaty with Great
Britain would accrue to Russia only in the event that Germany
raised no objections to it. Assurances had already been tend-
ered, and accepted, that no agreement concluded would injure
any German interest. To be completely at ease, however,
Russia would have to arrive at a definite understanding with
Germany whereby their mutual interests were satished. Izvol-
sky posed the question before the council whether the previous
opposition to the construction of the Bagdad railway should
be exchanged for a recognition of the Russian sphere of influ.
ence in the north of Persia, where German banking and com.
mercial interests were expanding uncomfortably for Russia.
The minister of finance, Kokovtsov, while he believed the
German penetration into Persia was greatly exaggerated, and
that the disturbed condition of the country made the under-
taking of any new ventures unlikely, approved of an under.
standing since he could not deny that German interests did
exist. The council frowned upon the prospect of the Bagdac
railway, and bemoaned the fact that Russia had not the powet
to prevent its construction, nor even to postpone it for any
length of time. It was an unavoidable menace to the existence
of which Russia must become reconciled. Not that the transit
trade from Europe to the Persian Gulf really mattered, foi
Russia had never shared in that, but the financial position of
the government was too uncertain to permit of decent partici
pation, and any fictitious influence behind French capitalist:
offered no great attraction. From the military angle, th
Bagdad railway was a total loss to Russia, and could only be
equalized by burdensome extensions of the existing Russiar
lines in the Caucasus, including a large increase in the numbe:
of troops maintained in that area. No military compensation:
could be obtained from other nations because there was non
to give.! There was no hope for building a competing line tc

t Siebert, no. 548, pp. 474-477. Benckendorff, I, no. 1, pp. 1-9.
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India through Russian connections, because Great Britain
would probably dread such a railroad even more# In fact,
the Russian position was so unenviable that concessions of any
real worth could hardly be hoped for at all. Nevertheless the
council realized that Russia could not block the Bagdad route,
and that such compensations as could be secured should be
sought in return for no future obstruction. Possibly one of the
worst of all menaces, the construction of branch lines leading
to the Persian frontier, which would open all the north Persian
markets to foreign enterprize where Russia had so far mon-
opolized them, could be prevented by agreement with Ger-
many. The support of both Great Britain and Germany might
be won for securing the renewal or extension of old treaties
with Persia and Turkey which conveyed virtual control of rail-
road building in northern Persia, and in the region along the
south shore of the Black Sea, into Russian hands. Under such
conditions Russian consent to the existence of a Bagdad rail-
way might regretfully be given to Germany, since nothing else
could be done.”

The first Russian step in carrying out the recommendations
agreed upon by the council of ministers came when Bencken-
dorff informed Nicolson that ‘“‘considerable progress has been
made,” and voiced the belief that the ‘‘time was approaching
when the whole convention would be concluded.”' When
Nicolson next met Izvolsky himself on 18 February his hopes
touched a new “high” for the year. In the first place, the last
British draft respecting Tibet was practically accepted except
for a few additional explanations. Izvolsky then read portions
of the proposals from the first complete Russian draft on the
Persian question, and explained that the military party had

8In March 1908 the idea of a competing line through Russia, Persia and
Afghanistan, connecting with British roads to India, was still unaccepted, al-
though being thought about. On the 17th Hardinge wrote to Nicolson: “The
government of India is far too suspicious to regard any such scheme with com-
placency. A few years more are required to remove prejudices which have
existed for more than fifty years. . . . The idea of through connection with
India was negatived as premature. . . , but the great thing is to cut out the
Bagdad R[ailwaly in the meantime.” B. D., VI, no. 254, p. 359.

h Siebert, no. 548, pp. 476-477. Benckendorff, I, no. 1, pp. 3-4. B. D, 1V,
no. 256, p. 278.

11bid., no. 469, p. 523.
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virtually conceded the inclusion of the strategic district of
Seistan within the British zone. At the end of the conversation
Izvolsky disclosed his anxiety to learn the conditions Great
Britain had in mind for an arrangement in Afghanistan, which
he felt he needed to know because of its close relation to the
Persian question, which made it impossible to settle the one
independently of the other.! Izvolsky did not disguise his
concern lest British influence in Afghanistan might be increased
beyond anything hitherto enjoyed, against which some guar-
antee would be required. When Nicolson asked if that meant
that ‘‘Russia desired the maintenance of [the] political status
quo,” lzvolsky assented and suggested that ‘‘some arrange-
ment should be made as to relations of local frontier officers
and as to trade.” Nicolson, however, remained silent and gave
no indication of what Great Britain intended to propose.*
Two days later Izvolsky turned over the full Russian draft
proposals for a Persian agreement, with appropriate com-
ments.! At last he gave indications of wanting to push on with
the negotiations, which so impressed Nicolson that he strongly
recommended to the foreign office that ‘“‘the favorable condi-
tions which now prevail in regard to our negotiations should
not be allowed to disappear,” nor long silences to interrupt
the continuous flow of the discussions.™

Nicolson had wanted to run the risk of an early revelation
of the British Afghan proposals in order to take advantage of
Benckendorft’s presence in St. Petersburg. Because of their
“moderate and conciliatory character” Nicolson had thought
that their disclosure would help the sympathetic members in
the Russian council of ministers to strengthen the chances for
an Anglo-Russian understanding." These demands had been
sent to Nicolson in September 1906, but he had continued ‘‘to
sit upon them in the meanwhile’’ because Russia had not made
any openings relating to Persia.° When the first Russian draft

11bid., no. 388, p. 429.

k Ibid., no. 253, p. 275.

L 1bid., no. 254, p. 276; no. 389, pp. 431-433.

™ [bid., no. 388, pp. 430, 431; no. 469, p. 523; no. 470, p. 524.
n Ibid., no. 467, p. 522.

°Ibid., no. 339, p. 388; no. 341, p. 389; no. 368, p. 5213.
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on this question had been handed over, Nicolson was author-
ized on 22 February 1907 to communicate the British views
about Afghanistan. On the next day Nicolson gave Izvolsky a
paper containing five headings which “merely represented in
outline” the British position, and wished to draw in reply the
“full details of the views of the Russian government.” For
the first time the three major topics existing between Great
Britain and Russia were all uncovered, and the negotiations
for an agreement were in full swing.”

The negotiations did go on at a lively pace, with draft
bringing counterdraft and long discussions, careful and polite
even when over small points, and a grammarian’s funeral on
matters of phraseology. Tsar Nicholas was quoted as having
said with emphasis that ‘‘the agreement must be made,” which
was encouraging because ‘‘his good will to that end will natur-
ally be a weighty factor with the Russian government.” ¢ The
same feeling had been entertained before without subsequent
signs of success, but once again all was pleasure regarding the
progress being made. The main dificulties left for settlement
were in the arrangement over Afghanistan, where Great
Britain wanted to make sure of its existing favored position,

P Ibid., no. 390, p. 433; Nno. 472, p. 526. Rumors of the resumption of Anglo-
Russian relations quickly appeared in the press. Mr. Cartwright wrote from
Munich on 13 March: “If one is to judge of public opinion in England as
expressed in her newspapers, it must be evident to everyone that the British
public are determined to arrive at an understanding with Russia, and they
will in no way be influenced by the manner in which the internal affairs of
Russia may be eventually settled.” (Ibid., VI, no. 5, p. 16. See also G. P., XXV,
part I, no. 8523, and footnote ¥, pp. 29-30.) Earlier in the month Metternich
inquired of Grey whether the press reports were true. Grey admitted that
they were, but emphasized the fact that no German interests were affected
in any way. Anglo-German relations were momentarily touchy, but Metternich
wrote privately and with understanding on the 28th to his friend Tschirschky,
the German foreign secretary: ‘“The Anglo-Russian compromise, within the
limits already frequently sketched, stands on the threshhold. Here they will
seek to make much capital out of it, for the most part because of fear of us.
They wish here to secure themselves from us. Consequently the new search for
friendships. Nevertheless I still insist that they do not wish to be aggressive
here” (Ibid., no. 8526, footnote *, p. 32.) Prince Kinsky, a former Austrian
diplomat, shrewdly predicted the nature of the coming convention to Metter-
nich: “The entire agreement would be of a purely negative nature,— promises
not to encroach upon the preserves of the other.” (Ibid., no. 8525, p. 31.) The
semi-official Novoye Vremya declared that “the international ill-feeling towards
Germany is explicable, not by the envy of her neighbors, but by . . . the un-
broken record of German aggressiveness. . . . It is this method of action that
accounts for the moral isolation in which Germany finds herself.” Annual
Register, (1907), p. 330.

4B. D, IV, no. 255, pp. 276-277.
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where Russia wanted to make sure that it would not increase
and, perhaps after all, to keep the future open.” It was inevi-
table that the question of the Straits would be brought up
sometime before any Anglo-Russian negotiation could be con-
cluded, and for a year the Russians had, on occasion, unmis.
takably hinted that British concurrence with a new interpreta-
tion of the régime of the Straits was desired.® On 15 March
Benckendorff intruded the subject by way of the side door of
his own personal views, when “he wished to point out that the
opening of the Straits to Russia would strengthen and ensure
a good disposition in that country, and complete the success of
the arrangements we were now discussing.” He stated the
present Russian position as based on the preference that “the
Straits should remain closed to all powers than that they
should be opened to all powers.” There would be no objection
that access to Constantinople be on the same terms for all, but
if Russia could not obtain egress from the Black Sea without
permitting ingress to others, it would be better not to raise
the question at all. Benckendorft suspected that any arrange-
ment made with Great Britain would have to be ‘“‘platonic” in
its nature, because other nations were involved in the question,
although even this much would have a great, beneficial effect
on Russian public opinion.

Sir Edward Grey was prepared for this question and gra-
ciously replied:
I had felt all through these negotiations that good relations with Russia
meant that our old policy of closing the Straits against her, and throwing
our weight against her at any conference of the powers must be aban-
doned. It was this old policy which, in my opinion, had been the root
of the difficulties between the two countries for two generations. And,
for us and Russia to settle our difficulties in Asia, and then to find our-
selves afterwards in opposition on some other important matter, would

be to undo the good which would be done by the present negotiations as
to Asiatic frontiers.

Right at that moment, however, ‘it would be difhcult for us

r Ibid., no. 256, pp. 277-278; no. 473, p. 527. G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8525,
p. 3I.

s Bompard, pp. 269-270. B. D., IV, no. 210, p. 226.

t 1bid., no. 257, p. 279.
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to put anything concerning the Straits in the form of an en-
gagement,”’ soO Grey “wanted, therefore, to have a little time
to consider the question.” With the gentlest irony he concluded
that if Izvolsky was expecting to hear something on this sub-
ject, which Benckendorff had broached without instructions,
“I should not like him to infer from silence that the mention of
it had been unfavorably received.” * No great period of time
was needed to consider the British attitude towards the Straits
question, because already before 1904 the leaders in the
foreign office no longer professed to pursue the old anti-Rus-
sian policy in Turkish affairs, but believed that it was “if desir-
able, possible to make an important concession to Russia in
relation to the Dardanelles without fundamentally altering the
present strategic position in the Mediterranean.” ¥ While this
theoretical change in British policy had not been revealed to
Russia, it had been recognized in London that some satisfac-
tion must doubtless be granted in return for the surrender of
valuable regions, and previous policies, in central Asia. As
long ago as 28 November 1906 the Russians had been in-
formed that ‘“‘we would be very glad to consider any proposals
which the Russian gov[ernmen]t might submit to us but that
they must emanate from them.” * By the time Benckendorff
touched upon the question in the following March, Grey had
cogent reasons ready for not wishing to include any engage-
ment on that subject in an Asiatic agreement.

On 19 March Grey reverted to the two days’ old conversa-
tion and repeated the views of the British government, because
he “thought it better to give Benckendorft [his] record of that
conversation, to avoid misunderstandings afterwards.” * He
brought up three points to buttress his opinion that no definite
provisions regarding the Straits should be written into the
forthcoming agreement. To begin with, the time was not yet
ripe :

uIbid., p. 280.

vIbid., Editors’ Note, p. 60; no. 199, p. 213. See also G. P., XIX, part II,
no. 6359, p. 662; no. 6360, p. 664; no. 6362, p. 667.

¥ B. D, 1V, no. 241, p. 254; no. 370, p. 414. Grey, I, 156-158. Nicolson, pp.

243, 250. Gwynn, II, 53.
*B. D., IV, no. 258, p. 280. Grey, I, 158.
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It might be that some important sections of public opinion would be
very critical of a particular engagement on this question. I had no
doubt the house of commons would accept whatever we proposed, but it
would be better to propose something which secured general acceptance
than to make a proposal which would cause party feeling though com-
manding a majority.

Then he explained that Great Britain would naturally expect,
in return for such an important concession, ‘“Russia’s support
about some Egyptian and other kindred things in the Near
East, which matter to us and are not important to her.””
Lastly, Grey reminded Benckendorff that Germany had been
promised many times that nothing was to be in the agreement
which touched the interests of a third power:

If our agreement was to include an article about the Dardanelles and
the Bosphorus, it would be necessary to tell Germany beforehand that
the original scope of the negotiations had been widened; otherwise I
should be open to a charge of having mislead [sic] the German ambas-
sador intentionally.

Yet with all these serious limitations, Grey ended his explana-
tion on an encouraging note: ‘I wish it to be understood that
the question was one which we were prepared to discuss. If,
however, the Russian government desired a discussion now,
it would be for them to take the initiative.” *

For once Sir Edward had said something that aroused the
Russians to spirited action. Only a few hours after the con-
versation the counsellor of the Russian embassy, Poklevsky-
Kozell, was on his way to St. Petersburg, and Metternich
observed that his view of the negotiations was ‘‘very rosy.” ®
After Izvolsky had heard Poklevsky's report, Nicolson found
him “beaming with pleasure' and ‘‘rarely ... so contented and
satisfied.” ® Izvolsky was enraptured by the vista that Grey's
attitude seemed to let open, and he accounted it as ‘‘a great

YB. D., 1V, no. 258, p. 281. Grey, I, 158. Russian support would be wanted
gl relation to the capitulations in Egypt and the Bagdad railway in the Near

ast.

zB. D., IV, no. 258, p. 281.

a8 G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8525, p. 31.

bB. D., 1V, no. 259, p. 282; no. 261, p. 283. Bompard, p. 270. Nicolson, p.
243. Nicolson’s biographer has Izvolsky “beaming with pleasure” over Hard-
inge's intimation of 28 November 1906, rather than over Poklevsky's report of
March 1907, when Nicolson actually reported Izvolsky’s beaming.
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evolution in our relations and a historical event.” © He
pledged the most careful consideration from all points of
view, “‘especially as to the method and moment of advancing
further in the question.” ® Izvolsky did not complete his study
before 14 April, when he agreed that it would be inopportune
to complicate the existing negotiations with a special arrange-
ment as to the Straits, and submitted a memorandum on the
Russian attitude towards a revision of the treaty stipulations
concerning the passage of the Straits on some more favorable
occasion.® This memorandum essentially reaffirmed the decla-
rations that Grey had made to Benckendorfl, and only gave
detailed expression upon one point which Grey had not himself
specified. Izvolsky had written in his version:

We also attach the greatest importance to the fact that Sir E. Grey has
not made any objection in principle to a plan of arrangement which will
give to Russian warships the exclusive right to pass the Straits in both
directions, while the naval forces of other powers will not be permitted
to enter the Black Sea.t

Possibly it was fortunate that Izvolsky did not know the
manner in which Lord Fitzmaurice, the parliamentary under-
secretary of state for foreign affairs, pounced upon this decla-
ration. Fitzmaurice, typically illustrating that critical, partisan
feeling which Grey had already warned still existed, vigor-
ously objected that ‘‘the Russian government are taking a most
unfair advantage of the expressions used by Sir E. Grey. . .. I
hope a clear and emphatic caveat will be at once put in against
the language of the Russian foreign office and their covert
insinuations.” & Sir Edward gave Benckendorff another mem-
orandum on 27 April, commenting upon the Russian reply, in
which his attitude was more chilling than it had been.

The original [British] proposal did not exclude a right of exit from
the Black Sea and the Straits being allowed to other limitrophe powers
on the Black Sea. And the [Russian] memorandum makes no definite
mention of the fact that the proposal contemplated the passage of the

¢B. D, IV, no. 261, p. 284.

41bid., no. 259, p. 281.

elbid., no. 264, p. 286.

1bid., no. 265, enclosure, p. 287.
E Ibid., minute, p. 288.



160 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

Dardanelles and the rest of the Straits being made available for other
powers as far as the entrance to the Black Sea on the same terms for
all, although it is clearly implied.

I do not wish, however, to discuss the particular conditions under
which the existing arrangements with regard to the Straits might be
altered . . . and I do not wish to be regarded as committed to any
particular proposal, though, on the other hand, I do not wish to attach
conditions now which would prevent any particular proposals from being
discussed when the time comes.

I am glad that the Russian government have agreed to let the matter
rest for the present. . . . If the negotiations now in progress between
the two governments with regard to Asiatic questions had a satisfactory
result, the effect upon British public opinion would be such as very
much to facilitate a discussion of the Straits question if it came up later
on. I have no doubt whatever that, if as a result of the present negotia-
tions, the British and Russian governments remained on good terms in
Asia, the effect on British public opinion and on any British government
with regard to other questions, including this, would be very great.®

So far as can be discovered, this memorandum did not notice-
ably disturb Izvolsky by its limitations, nor impair his esti-
mate of the great evolution this modified British outlook had
brought about in Anglo-Russian relations. His own final mem-
orandum, delayed until 10 July, then merely acknowledged
the receipt of Grey’s’and the ‘‘reservations’’ contained in it,
combined with the declaration that Russia would wait for a
more opportune moment before commencing any discusstons.'
Grey found nothing in this reply to which to take exception as
placing a wrong construction on any British statements, and
for the duration of the general negotiations the question of
the Straits was touched upon no more.’ A new British attitude
had been indicated to Russian aspirations for a more favor-
able régime at the Straits which, if sincerely applied, justified
Izvolsky's radiance and contentment; but not one definite com-
mitment had been given, and after the first fair start Grey
had been putting in reservations, the force of which Izvolsky
had possibly not sufficiently appreciated.

h 1bid., no. 268, enclosure, p. 291. See also no. 276, p. 296.
1 1bid., no. 275, pp. 295-296.
JIbid., minute, p. 296.



NEGOTIATION OF THE CONVENTION, 1905-1907 161

The original effect of this interchange of ideas about the
Straits was beneficial to the course of the Anglo-Russian nego-
tiations. Nicolson discerned that ‘‘the atmosphere from that
moment became more favorable [and] the opposition of the
Russian [general] staff diminished.” * The conversations were
taken up with renewed, and at last sustained determination. The
problems encountered over Tibet were settled, and those arising
out of the conflicting interests in Persia and Afghanistan were
laid into with unprecedented vigor.! As a gesture of friendli-
ness, King Edward extended an invitation to a group of officers
and satlors from a Russian squadron of three vessels which
had put in at Portsmouth to visit London. On 26 March the
delegation was entertained at a theater, with a banquet in the
evening followed by a gala performance in the Alhambra
variety theater, which was also attended by dignitaries of the
British government, among whom was Sir Edward Grey.™
Such unusual display of cordiality was not overlooked, and
newspapers carried articles suggesting that a return visit of
British warships to the Russian Baltic ports was possible later
in the year, but nothing ever came of the rumors, very likely
because the time was still inopportune and the Russian fleet
not yet of respectable size." This exhibition of courtesy, but
far more the unconcealable increase in the speed of the nego-
tiations, unleashed a number of press accounts, with each
succeeding week becoming more particular in describing the
presumed contents of the forthcoming understanding.® All this
aroused the curiosity of other powers, which sometimes proved
unwelcome to the two contracting parties.

The French ambassador came to warn Nicolson that he

k Nicolson, p. 243.

'B. D., 1V, no. 314, p. 348; no. 404, PP. 445-447; NO. 474, P. 528.

mG, P, XXV, part I, no. 8526, p. 32. Metternich found it “indeed unprece-
dented that an English foreign minister will go to a variety theater for the
welcoming of strange guests.” Ibid., footnote ¥, p. 32.

" Ibid., no. 8528, p. 34.

°B. D, IV, no. 260, p. 282; no. 267, p. 28¢9. G. P.,, XXV, part I, no. 8527,
Pp. 32-33. The tsar’s idea of the value of the press remained typical of him,
but he expressed it with considerable truth. “The control of these irresponsible
people who compose the newspapers, is one of the most difficult questions of
the present time.” B. D., IV, no. 266, p. 28¢.
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suspected Izvolsky was becoming disquieted over the attitude
of the German press, which was cutting up nastily with warn-
ings to the public that attempts were under way to isolate
Germany. Bompard presumed that Izvolsky was sensitive to
the possibility that “Germany was contemplating some inter-
vention in the Anglo-Russian negotiations of a disagreeable
nature.” ®* The excited ambassador urged that the pending
negotiations be quickly concluded, to prevent the introduction of
unhappy obstacles from the outside. Nicolson, on the contrary,
was serenely calm and believed that Russia had gone too far,
and was too eager to conclude an arrangement in order to be
free to regain European prestige, to forsake the policy followed
for the last year. Nor did he close his eyes to the intimate
relations existing between the Russian and the German courts,
yet he felt that it would take more than personal sympathy to
draw Russia into the orbit of Berlin. Like any cautious man,
however, Nicolson was ‘‘strongly of opinion that it will be
well to terminate the negotiations without undue delay and
to bring the convention safely into port.”” ¢ London also re-
mained placid and unruffled, and found real solace in the speech
Bilow gave in his genially reassuring manner before the
Reichstag on 30 April" The chancellor attempted to allay
the criticism that he took the Anglo-Russian rapprochement
too nonchalantly. He explained that repeated promises had
been received that the two nations desired to reconcile their
conflicting interests in Asia, but that those of no other power
would be impaired. Bilow took especial pains to dissociate
himself from any belief in Holstein’s old dogma, and declaimed
that “we cannot introduce the opposition between the whale
and the elephant as an unalterable factor in our political
calculation.” There was no enmity between two nations which
Germany could constantly use as an opportunity for itself, and
there was no cause to look with pessimism upon the attempt of

P Ibid., no. 260, p. 282. Bompard, p. 25s.

aB. D, IV, no. 260, p. 283; no. 271, p. 293.

rIbid., no. 269, p. 291. Grey only understated the German predicament when
he told Benckendorff: “It seemed to me that Germany was jealous of the way
in which other powers were settling their differences with each other and
improving their relations, while she was not settling any difficulties with
anyone.”
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Great Britain and Russia to compose their old quarrel; but
also not with any lightheartedness.®

From another direction there came prying queries as to the
extent of the Anglo-Russian negotiations, this time in behalf
of the sultan of Turkey, who “was perplexed and somewhat
disturbed at the reports he had heard.” The British ambas-
sador, Sir Nicholas O’Conor, was called upon for such general
information as he could give. On 8 April he explained the
nature of the conversations as being concerned with conflicting
interests in Asia, in no way molesting any Turkish territory.
Sir Nicholas had not at the time known that there had been
any communications dealing with the passage of the Straits,
but when he was informed of that interchange he was ‘‘rather
inclined to believe that the suspicions of the sultan have . . .
been aroused and that it is probable that he has spoken with
greater freedom to the German ambassador on the subject.”
It was not the fact that the Straits question had been consid-
ered secretly by Great Britain and Russia which gave Sir
Nicholas pause, nor his opinion that there was ‘‘nothing the
present sultan would more dislike or would more strenuously
oppose than the opening of the straits of the Dardanelles to
foreign men-of-war.” He did fear that somehow Germany
would find out, either from Izvolsky directly, or in some sub-
terranean manner, and then fill the sultan’s mind “with still
further distrust of British policy while at the same time
advancing their own interests.””' The British foreign office
appreciated fully the force of this warning, and determined
“to urge upon [the] Russian gov[ernmen]t the necessity of
observing the strictest secrecy in the matter for the present,”
which Grey admitted, a bit ruefully, was “all we can do.” "
Both Benckendorff and Izvolsky were advised of “‘the undesir-
able consequences which might ensue’” should any revelation
occur, even to the length of driving Turkey into an alliance
with Germany. Izvolsky, however, took the matter quite

8G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8531, footnote **, p. 35. Izvolsky, Correspondance
diplomatique, 1, 88.

tB. D, IV, no. 267, p. 289,

u Ibid., minutes, p. 290.
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easily and assured the British that no “leakage’ had or would
come from him." Nothing further happened to warrant any
worry that Germany had learned about the exchanges of views
regarding the Straits, and the incident was simply indicative
of the distrust in which the great powers of Europe commonly
held each other.

From far distant Teheran came an unwelcome despatch,
dated 11 April, from the testy Sir Cecil Spring Rice. He had
just received, in a leisurely manner, a copy of Izvolsky’s first
Persian proposals of the previous 20 February. “It is clear
from the date and manner of the communication that my
opinion on this proposed arrangement is neither invited nor
desired.” ¥ Nevertheless Spring Rice’'s moral indignation
spurred on his pen over many eloquent pages wherein he did
his duty by reporting on ‘‘the strong current of public opinion
which now prevails’” in Persia, and delineated the severe loss
British prestige and influence would sustain upon the publica-
tion of such an agreement, which would “simply be regarded
as a treaty for the partition of Persia.” * He bitterly pointed
out that the proposals sent to him would be taken by the
Persians as a full admission ‘“‘that England will be held to have
abandoned their cause.” In prophetic words Sir Cecil summed
up:

Although in a sense the convention only recognizes what already exists,
and what we cannot prevent, namely the immense preponderance of
Russia in northern Persia and in the capital, its publication will I think
produce a considerable effect on the general situation. It will imply the
definite withdrawal of England from the diplomatic struggle at Teheran

on which the Persians have so long relied as the safeguard of their
independence.”

The irate minister was right in his estimate of Persian opinion
of British actions; but he did not see clearly enough that the
foreign office had decided that it was not worth the candle to
support the flea-bitten government of Persia against Russian
advances, when an agreement with Russia, with a division of

v Ibid., no. 272, p. 294; na. 273, p. 294.

¥ Ibid., no. 389, enclosure, p. 432; no. 409, p. 450.
X I'bid., no. 409, p. 451. Nicolson, p. 252.

¥B. D., IV, no. 409, p. 452.
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the spoils in Persia, could more easily be had.* Before Grey's
reply written “in pained reproof” could reach him, the Persian
arrangement was practically settled. Spring Rice’s opinion
had not been especially wanted.*

The Russian government had, in fact, determined to pursue
a mild policy in Asia, intent only on strengthening the defence
of the existing position rather than to prepare for new aggres-
sions or extensions. Another council of ministers was held in
St. Petersburg on 14/27 April, some fragmentary traces of
the existence of which have since come to light, again to con-
sider the proposals for an agreement with Great Britain.® The
combined thought of the ministers was centered upon a deter-
mination of the Russian viewpoint toward Afghanistan, in
addition to an investigation of the recent British proposals
for the settlement of the conflicting interests of the two coun-
tries in central Asia. A memorandum, composed by the Rus-
sian ambassador at Constantinople, I. A. Zinovyev, was read
in which this shrewd authority set forth that nothing could
be more immediately desired than to release the Black Sea
fleet from its inactivity by opening up the Straits, thereby
permitting egress into the Mediterranean. To obtain this priv-
ilege the sincere support of Great Britain was a prime
requisite; and if that power was disposed to codperate, then
Russia should be prepared to make equivalent concessions in
central Asia.® In his turn Kokovtsov, the minister of finance,
spoke in favor of concessions in return for an agreement with
Great Britain. Afghanistan, he asserted realistically, was too
far distant and inaccessible to fall handily within the sphere
of Russian influence. Russia might well, therefore, quiet
British alarm by renouncing pretensions in this direction, which
would guarantee the security of the Indian frontier, without
which Great Britain would conclude no convention.® The coun-
cil concluded that the British proposals were for the most part

21bid., no. 421, p. 471.
“Nlcolson, p. 252.

bB. D., IV, no. 260, p. 283; no. 271, p. 293; no. 476, p. 529 Reisner, Krasny
Arkhiv, ,55-56.
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acceptable for Russia. These were eventually written into the
final treaty with only one minor reservation which the Em-
peror Nicholas soon thereafter described blandly as “necessary
in order to enable the neighboring people to live in amity with
each other,” but which was really inserted to permit arrange-
ments for the direct settlement of local frontier questions, and
the regulation of trade between Russia and Afghanistan.®
There was little more left to be done to complete the Per-
sian agreement because, by the end of April, both parties
“were now of one mind as regards Persian affairs,” and it
appeared evident that the tsar considered this question as
settled. Yet not quite, for Great Britain expended some efforts
during May to push back the line of the Russian sphere in
Persia to the town of Zulfikar. This was done in order to
keep Russia away from any part of the Afghan frontier which
touched eastern Persia. Although brought up regrettably late
in the day, no great opposition was offered, and by 27 May the
alteration was accepted by Russia. In the following month,
however, when the British tried to make good for what had
been ‘“‘an afterthought on our part’” by having the Russians
agree to the insertion of a clause in the preamble “referring
to the special interests which Great Britain had in the main-
tenance of the status quo in the Persian Gulf,” no success what-
ever resulted.® Plead and explain as he did, Nicolson could
not persuade Izvolsky to accept this addition. Izvolsky found
sound refuge for his stand behind the same argument Grey
had used before in order to keep all mention of the Straits out
of the agreement: it was a subject which would widen the scope
of the negotiations, because it touched upon a question in which
other powers could claim an interest. Consequently Izvolsky
refused to consider the Persian Gulf in order to be certain
that he should cause no friction between Russia and Ger-
many.” So adamantly did he stick to his opinion that Nicolson
willingly gave up the quest, because any insistence ‘‘would

elbid., p. 56. B. D., IV, no. 266, p. 288.

tIbid., no. 266, p. 288; no. 270, p. 292; no. 411, enclosure, pp. 455-456; no.
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h1bid., no. 429, pp. 478-479; no. 431, pp. 482-483. Nicolson, p. 253.
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have in the first place suspended a continuance of the negotia-
tions for a long period, and in the second place would have
very possibly endangered their ultimate success.” Izvolsky
was “immensely relieved . . . and promised to hasten on the
termination of our affairs.”” ! Grey decided that he could issue
instead a public statement which “would reafirm the declara-
tion of Lord Lansdowne in 1903,"” and the Persian agreement
with Russia was safely in the outer harbor of the port.’

The last difficulties in the way of a full reconciliation came
out of the bitter feelings existing between Russia and Great
Britain in their positions towards Afghanistan. Nicolson had
first declared his readiness to discuss this Asiatic squabble late
in February 1907, but little more than a beginning had been
made two months afterwards. The first of May found Grey
complaining that the Russians were taking a long time about
Afghanistan.* That month was filled with serious, technical
exchanges, with the Russians trying hard to win promises that
no change in the political status of Afghanistan would subse-
quently be made by Great Britain without previous consulta-
tion with Russia, while Great Britain endeavored to close all
openings whereby Russia could deal directly with Afghanistan,
whether over political or commercial affairs.! The truly des-
sicating discussions grew in volume through the early summer,
yet on 10 July Grey lamented to Nicolson:

Your recent telegrams on Afghanistan are not reassuring. We cannot
admit the possibility of Russian intervention in Afghanistan nor the
limitation of our own right of intervention. They must trust us to act
in a friendly way to them in our relations with the Amir and to honestly
endeavor to carry out the engagements which we have undertaken.™

The British had come to suspect that, with the improvement
of the internal affairs of Russia, the military party was again
in the ascendant, and that an agreement with Great Britain

!B. D, 1V, no. 280, p. 299; no. 432, p. 483; no. 435, p. 485; no. 439, p. 489;
no. 440, p. 489. In hxs manuscript Diplomatic Narrative Nicolson wrote: “I am

quite sure that I should not have overcome his [Izvolsky’s] objections.” Nicolson,
p. 253.
IB. D., 1V, no. 439, p. 488; see also no. 428, minutes, p. 477.
kIbid., no. 266, pp. 288-289; no. 270, p. 292.
LIbid., no. 479, p. 536; no. 480, p. 537. G. P., XXV, part I, no. 8529, p. 34.
mB. D, 1V, no. 274, p. 294



168 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

was no longer as essential as it had been. Anxious as the
British foreign office was to terminate these long negotiations,
it feared that it would likely require some very plain speaking
to obtain an Afghan solution.® Nicolson hung on with dogged
tenacity, and Izvolsky was entirely friendly as well as eager
to finish with the business. Nicolson finally wormed out of
him an unofficial memorandum on the Russian attitude and
objectives regarding Afghanistan, which he took along on his
trip to London for some three weeks during July and August,
to discuss in full detail at the foreign ofice. In that interval,
the Anglo-Russian negotiations passed through their last, but
expectant lull.°

In accordance with the new spirit of relations developing
between Great Britain, Russia and France, there was the need
of coming to terms with Britain’s ally, and Russia’s late enemy,
Japan. The conclusion of political treaties between France
and Japan on 10 June, and between Russia and Japan on 30
July 1907, at least insured toleration if not cordiality.® The
Franco-Japanese treaty negotiations had been going on with
Russian knowledge and approval in direct connection with
those between Russia and Japan.? The German government

n Ibid., no. 274, p. 294; no. 487, pPp. 549, 550.

° Ibid., no. 490, footnote 1, p. 55I; no. 491, enclosure, pp. 553-554. G. P.,, XXV,
part I, no. 8530, p. 35.

P The text of the French treaty is given in English in Pooley, Hayashi, pp.
321-322; the essential passages in French are in G. P., XXV, part I, no. 8547,
footnote ** p. 67. The Russian treaty text is given in English in Pooley,
Hayashi, pp. 323-324; in French in G. P.,, XXV, part I, no. 8545, footnote ¥,
p. 62. Russia and Japan also had signed an agreement regulating railroad
lines in Manchuria on 13 June 1907, and over fishery concessions in Far
Eastern waters, including the use of land for drying and preparations to Japan
on 28 July. Both the political treaties provided for the strengthening (in the
case of France) or the consolidation (in the case of Russia) of peaceful and
friendly relations, as well as for the removal of all cause of future misunder-
standing. Both mentioned respect for the existing territorial integrity of China,
and declared belief in the principle of equal opportunity for the commerce and
industry of all nations within the Celestial empire. France and Japan agreed
to maintain by all peaceful means their respective positions and territorial
rights on the continent of Asia, and for order and peace in Chinese territory
adjacent to their own. Russia and Japan agreed similarly to respect the existing
positions of each other as well as all rights accruing to each from any treaties
made with China not violating the principle of equal opportunity. By a secret
agreement Russia recognized Japanese special interests in Korea; Japan recog-
nized that Russia had interests in Mongolia; and drew a line of demarcation
in Manchuria virtually creating spheres of influence, in which each would
keep out of the way of the other. See Dennis, pp. 28-29. Tardieu, pp. 231-237.
Bompard, pp. 276-277. Fisher, p. s572.

1 G, P, XXV, part I, no. 8541, p. 53.
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obtained wind of these negotiations and took some stock in
the rumors of a possible quadruple alliance in the Far East
directed against German enterprizes. lzvolsky was warned
that Russia should not join any such hostile combination unless
that country was ready to be classed thereafter among the
enemies of Germany.” Izvolsky sincerely denied all possibility
of that, and often and fervently explained that the negotia-
tions were no evidence of love, but were dictated by compelling
and bitter necessity. The perilous condition of Russia made
it essential that all complications must be avoided with Japan
which might lead to another war, while the treaty of Ports-
mouth had deliberately left some questions for future agree-
ment which only now, after much dificulty, were being ar-
ranged.® In very truth, Izvolsky declared, the treaty did not
contemplate fabricating an alliance against Germany, but far
more was intended to hold Japan to the status quo, and to
circumscribe further its aspirations for expansion.! This first
step in a marriage of unlovely convenience between Russia
and Japan, with France appearing in a supporting role, was
bitterly yet helplessly resented by China. This Chinese hos-
tility was expected in Berlin to improve the position of, and
the trust reposed in, Germany at Peking." For a brief moment
the idea of a more righteous counter-alliance of the United
States, Germany and China appeared; but however salutary
it might have been, it quickly vanished because the United
States could not be inveigled into any combination.”

The Emperor Nicholas, in his acceptance of a cordial invi-

T Ibid., no. 8542, p. 58.

s Ibid., no. 8527, p. 33; no. 8541, pp. 53-55; no. 8543, p. 59. Witte, Fos-
pominaniya, 11, 403. Izvolsky also gave this explanation in his speech to the
members of the duma on 27 February / 11 March 1908. Stenografichesky otchet:
Gosudarstvennaya duma, third convocation, first session, (1908), pp. 112-115,
117,

tG. P, XXV, part I, no. 8543, p. 59; no. 8544, p. 61.

U Ibid., no. 8547, pp. 67-68; no. 8548, pp. 69-71. Chinese press organs fully
appreciated the respect these treaties professed for China. “Our newspapers
can see nothing to congratulate China on in the agreement, and cannot say
with any show of unction that the integrity of our country is more strongly
assured by the consummation of the entente or that the peace of the Far East
is rendered more secure.” Pooley, Hayashi, pp. 217-219.

Y For the details of this project engineered by the kaiser see Luella J. Hall,
“Germany, America, and China, 1907-8,” Journal of Modern History, 1 (1929),
219-235.
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tation, notified the kaiser on 12 July that he could be expected
at Swinemiinde on 3 August for a three days’ meeting, to
review the German navy, on the occasion of his first visit away
from Russia since the start of the disasters of the past two
years.” Aside from naval officials, the tsar was to be accom-
panied by Izvolsky, whose pleasure in associating with such
royal society can be presumed. Schoen contributed in advance
of the gathering a résumé of Izvolsky's conduct of Russian
foreign policy, and pointed out that this minister, despite diff-
culties and some failures in minor instances, still strove to be
loyal to Germany and to work for more cordial and neighborly
relations. In particular Schoen emphasized that Izvolsky had
kept his year old assurances that no German interests would
be molested in the Anglo-Russian negotiations and, while not
denying that he was much more liberal than Russian ministers
had formerly been, insisted that he was by no means pro-
English. Schoen rightly reminded the foreign office that the
quest for an understanding with Great Britain was begun in
Lamsdorft’s days, which Izvolsky had continued out of neces-
sity, although the ambassador in plain truth should not have
covered up Izvolsky's readiness.* The days at Swineminde
passed happily in monarchical solidarity, in accordance with
the spirit of Bjorko even if the treaty itself was not alive.”
Here Izvolsky gave a copy of the recent Russian-Japanese
agreement to the German chancellor, to the accompaniment
of the dire necessity explanation, and of the need to clear up
the many obscurities of the Portsmouth peace. Bilow ex-
pressed his entire concurrence with the provisions of the
agreement, which was said to be in harmony with the aims of
German policy in the Far East.* Nothing in detail was told
of the contents of the Anglo-Russian negotiations, as Izvolsky

v G. P, XXII, no. 7374, PP- 56-57; no. 7380, p. 72.

xIbid., no. 7377, pp. 61-66. With exceptional dispassionateness the kaiser
noted: “On the whole quite right, perhaps somewhat too favorable for Izvolsky.”
(1bid., p. 66.) Earlier the kaiser had written of Izvolsky: “Aha! He was and
is anglophil.” (Ibid., XXV, part 1, no. 8527, marginal note 1, p. 33.) The Ger-
man critical attitude towards Izvolsky first became earnest only when the
convention of 1907 appeared certain. Ibid., no. 8533, pp. 38-39. Izvolsky, Cor-
respondance diplomatique, 1, 93, 9s.

¥ G. P, XXI1I, no. 7378, p. 67; no. 7379, p. 69.

zIbid., no. 7378, pp. 67-68. Biilow, Denkwiirdigkeiten, 11, 295-296.
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only declared that the agreement was soon to be completed,
and concerned such Asiatic affairs in which no German rights
or interests were harmed, with not a word said about the
Bagdad railway.* Throughout the meeting the tsar was in
good humor, and lzvolsky enjoyed the opportunity to have
profound conversations on all subjects in order to win mutual
confidence. On his return to St. Petersburg, Izvolsky appeared
greatly contented; to the British chargé his description of the
Swinemtnde visit “‘was excessively couleur de rose.” *

The British and French representatives in Russia, however,
looked upon this interview in no roseate light. The announce-
ment of the royal meeting had been carefully concealed until a
few days before it was to be held. The news sent the French
ambassador scurrying to Izvolsky in a state of nervous excite-
ment, mildly reproachful because of the secrecy used. Izvolsky
could hardly have soothed his ruffled disposition when he
remarked that ‘“‘one could also have good friends alongside
of allies.” The British embassy was likewise discomfitted, and
the undying suspicion of a renewal of something like the Three
Emperors’ [.eague momentarily plagued excited minds.© Some
rumors were being bandied about which suggested that Ger-
many was actively engaged in blocking a reconciliation between
Russia and Great Britain, but this was promptly denied, and
Nicolson later assured Schoen that nothing of the kind was
believed by the British government.® Immediately after the
Swinemiinde gathering the Russians took great pains to con-
tradict rumors that Izvolsky had revealed to Bilow the terms
of the Anglo-Russian agreement soon to be signed, or that
anything had transpired that would prove in any way prejudi-
cial to the conclusion of an understanding, or to the future
improvement of relations. Sir Edward Grey gladly accepted
all the assurances, while he explained how he relied on the
Russian government not to be influenced by Germany to the

& G. P., XXII, no. 7378, p. 68; no. 7379, p. 70.

b Ibid., no. 7378, p. 67; no. 7379, pp. 69, 71-72; XXV, part I, no. 8533, p. 37.
B. D, 1V, no. 279, p. 298. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 97-98, 227.
Bompard, p. 277.

¢G. P, XXII, no. 7379, pp. 68-69. Bompard, p. 274. Izvolsky, Correspond-
ance diplomatique, 1, 93, 157.

4G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8530, p. 35; no. 8531, p. 35; no. 8532, p. 37.
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disadvantage of Great Britain “in matters which affected Rus-
sia and ourselves alone.” ® All bad impressions were finally
dispelled in London following the successful meeting on 14
August at Wilhelmshohe between the kaiser and King Ed-
ward.

Before the middle of August Nicolson was back in St.
Petersburg, having brought with him the well-considered con-
cessions that the British foreign office was prepared to offer
for an Afghan settlement. These latest proposals had been
arrived at without consulting the government of India, the
objections of which would have blocked every chance of agree-
ment.® Nicolson warned Izvolsky that this offering was as far
as his government was prepared to go in meeting Russian
wishes. Izvolsky was encouraging in his reception, for he
admitted that ‘“‘certainly a great step had been made towards
an agreement.” Although his first impressions were distinctly
favorable, and he promised to do his utmost to hasten a
conclusion, he would need to study these drafts carefully,
besides obtaining the sanction of the tsar.® In London it was
believed that Izvolsky's present cordial disposition was attri-
butable to. the favorable outcome of his conversations with
Bilow at Swinemiinde, and that agreement had at last been
reached with Russia over the main difhculties, leaving the time-
robbing labor of formulating the texts the most important
task yet to complete.! The weightiest dialectical problem
centered around what the final treaty should be styled;
whether, as the British desired, it should be described as a
convention, the most formal way possible; or, as Izvolsky
vigorously contended, as anything else, such as an arrange-
ment, agreement or a declaration, although both parties
admitted that these forms had equal validity in international
law, and were just as binding. Izvolsky based his argument

°B. D, 1V, no. 277, p. 297; no. 278, p. 297; no. 279, p. 298.
fG. P, XXV, part I, no. 8533, p. 38. B. D., VI, no. 25, pp. 43-44; no. 28§,

48.

g Ibid., IV, no. 274, p. 293. Grey, I, 160.

hB, D, 1V, no. 493, p. 556.

1'G. P, XXII, no. 7380, p. 74; XXV, part I, no. 8530, p. 35. B. D, 1V, no.
280, p. 299.
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for an arrangement concerning Tibet and Persia on the ground
that, as Great Britain and Russia were simply defining their
line of conduct in both places, an arrangement “would not
have [the] character of an encroachment on [the] sovereign
rights”” of Persia, an independent nation, or of China as the
suzerain power of its vassal Tibet. On the other hand Izvol-
sky professed to believe that formal conventions would cer-
tainly excite the suspicion of both the Persian and Chinese
governments; but he had no scruples against calling the
Afghan settlement a convention, because of the special rela-
tionship in which Afghanistan stood to Great Britain.!
Although the British foreign office preferred to have its
way, it was recognized with philosophical resignation that “‘if
a power wishes to disregard her obligations she will be just
as ready to do so whatever they are called.” Since it was
“undesirable to argue about what is really only a matter of
form . .. Sir A. Nicolson . . . may be safely left to settle the
details.”” ¥ In the end both parties received satisfaction because
of an idea which Izvolsky had on 23 August and which, even
although unprecedented, Nicolson thought ‘‘seems a good
one.” To avoid three separate ratifications, and to cast all the
agreements into one instrument, Izvolsky proposed to have a
general preamble preceding the three parts and a single ratifi-
cation for all.! The following day Nicolson despatched the
French texts of the agreements to London in the belief that no
vital modifications would follow, and that the final Russian
approval was near at hand.™ With commendable alacrity the
foreign office took up Izvolsky's idea, and Grey sent back the
twist to it that satisfied every viewpoint as to the title by which
the understanding should be known. “We agree,”” he tele-
graphed to Nicolson on 27 August, ‘“to one general preamble
and one ratification, but in that case there must be one instru-
ment styled a convention since it includes one of that category”
and two arrangements. On the next day Izvolsky accepted this

i1bid., no. 281, pp. 299-300; no. 282, enclosure, pp. 300-301; no. 452, enclosure,
PP. 499-500.

kIbid., no. 281, minute, p. 300.

11bid., no. 283, pp. jo1-302.

m Ibid., no. 284, pp. 302-303; no. 508, p. 566.
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style for the Anglo-Russian understanding — if there was to
be one.”

The long-sought general understanding between the two old
enemies retained its elusiveness until the end. Even the last
British proposals touching upon Afghanistan still did not meet
with Russian approval. The issue that encountered the last
full measure of objection was the British insistence that Russia
should promise ‘‘not to annex or to occupy any part of Afghan-
istan, nor to take any measures involving interference with the
internal government of the territories of the Amir.”” ° Such an
unconditional undertaking on its part the Russian govern-
ment had always opposed since Great Britain would not give
a similar promise in return; but Nicolson had come back with
a British proposal, to use only if necessary, that “should any
change occur in the political status of Afghanistan the two
governments will enter into a friendly interchange of views on
the subject.” * If the Russian government preferred to leave
out their unconditional guarantee, then to match this the
British formula was also to have no place in the final agree-
ment.® Izvolsky candidly explained that the Russian govern-
ment wanted to be sure that should Great Britain cause any
alteration in the political status of Afghanistan, there would
be an amicable exchange of views on the situation ‘‘so that the
equilibrium in central Asia should be maintained.” * Izvolsky
was ready to accept the British additional statement on 23
August, promising to give an official reply on the morrow after
obtaining the assent of his colleagues.®

On the 22nd Izvolsky had won the tsar’s limited consent to
the treaty, but he had insisted that a council of ministers must

n Ibid., no. 285, p. 303; no. 286, p. 304.

°Ibid., no. 483, p. 543, last sentence of article II of the British counterdraft.
For details of this last dispute see below pp. 295-304.

P B. D, IV, no. 492, pp. 554-555. Grey, I, 159-160.

aB. D, 1V, no. 494, p. 557; no. 496, p. 558; no. 506, p. 564.

T Ibid., no. 504, p. 563. lIzvolsky had himself proposed that Great Britain
should include the engagement to consult with Russia should the political status
of Afghanistan be changed; or else to write “a despatch to the Russian ambas-
sador in London to be published with the convention saying that if [the]
political situation were changed Russia was freed from her obligations.”
Nicolson at once replied that this alternative “would never do.” Ibid., no. 494,
p. 557

s [bid., no. 505, pp. §63-564; no. 508, p. 566.
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unanimously agree to all of the texts. The council held its
session on the night of the 24th, which lasted well into the
morning hours because strong opposition developed, leaving
Izvolsky and his supporters in a minority. Nicolson tele-
graphed his disappointment and doubts on the 2gth, stating
briefly: ‘‘An unexpected and serious hitch has occurred.”*
The trouble centered mainly in the unfair attitude of the
majority of the council, who demanded that Russia be freed
from its own unconditional promise, yet with the British
formula for consultation in the event of the alteration of the
political position of Afghanistan inserted. Nicolson knew that
there was no need to argue with Izvolsky, who understood the
British position, for he appreciated the fact that the majority
had taken the opportunity to embarrass Izvolsky because of
their disapproval of his policy.* The British foreign office
was ‘‘much disappointed at this unexpected difficulty,” but had
no more concessions to offer. Grey hoped that the Russian
government would yield not only because these agreements
regarding Asia would otherwise fail, but also because the
friendly relations for which they prepared the way would
never come. Without those friendly relations there was little
chance that Great Britain would cooperate advantageously
with Russia on questions which might arise elsewhere in the
world. This benefit was worth more than the agreements
themselves, and he wished that the Russian government would
keep this fact in mind.” Izvolsky must have labored well, for
on 28 August the council of ministers decided to give up both
the unconditional promise of Russia respecting Afghanistan,
and the insistence on an exchange of views with Great Britain
should the political status of the country undergo any change.
After wearisome months Nicolson could finally declare accom-
plished what had often seemed hopeless: ‘‘the negotiations are
now concluded.” ¥

British and Russian approval of all the agreements came

t1bid., no. 506, p. 564. Nicolson, p. 254.
UB. D., IV, no. 506, pp. 564-565.

v1Ibid., no. 507, p. 565.

% Ibid., no. 511, p. 572; no. 512, p. 573.
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without delay, and Nicolson and Izvolsky signed at St. Peters-
burg on 31 August 1907 the full text of the convention between
Great Britain and Russia relating to Persia, Afghanistan and
Tibet.* Mutual congratulations on the accomplishment, and
flattering paeans for kind support and guidance during arduous
labors, were promptly interchanged.” Izvolsky himself was
the grateful recipient of a kindly message from Grey; and
Nicolson, while not concealing his desire that the Russian had
a stiffer spine and was less sensitive to criticism, paid him the
deserved compliment: “He has acted most loyally to us
throughout, and I have not detected the slightest attempt to
take an unfair advantage. The game has been played most
fairly.” * Izvolsky, indeed, had just reason for his buoyant
feelings. It was not many foreign ministers who, in their first
full year of service, could point with pride to two successful
major operations. One cleaned up the wreckage of the Russo-
Japanese war, the gaps in the treaty of Portsmouth, and insti-
tuted orderly relations with the late enemy. The other was
an almost miraculous achievement to settle century old differ-
ences, and even more potent suspicions, with a rival great
power, out of which tolerance for a time would at least arise
and, so it had been hinted, possibly also profit “elsewhere.”
August 1907 found Izvolsky's fame at its peak, his vanity
adequately appeased: it was his good fortune then that the
future is closed to man’s knowledge.* Almost to the finish it
had not seemed possible that the game could be played fairly
enough for Russia and Great Britain ever to agree, and to find
a similarly great diplomatic revolution one must go back in
time a goodly hundred and fifty years.

X Ibid., no. 287, p. 304. See also G. P, XXV, part I, no. 8534, p. 40. The
French text of the convention of 1907 is in B. D., IV, Appendix I, pp. 618-621.
Y Ibid., no. 288, p. 304; no. 520, p. 580; no. 537, p. 596. Grey, I, 160. Nicolson,

p. 255.

zB. D, 1V, no. 288, p. 304.

aG. P, XXV, part 1, no. 8520, p. 26; no. 8533, p. 39. Taube, pp. 107, 133.
It was German belief that Izvolsky wished to perform great deeds quickly and
escape from the ministry with a reputation into an ambassadorship, a place
more in keeping with his personal fortune. What these “deeds” were, was only
of secondary importance to him.



CHAPTER FOUR
THE ARRANGEMENT RESPECTING TIBET

F Great Britain and Russia had been content to mind their
I own business, this chapter, like many another, would never
have been written. Early in this century purely imperialistic
motives had brought first Great Britain and then Russia into
unsavory relations in Tibet, where neither country belonged,
and whom the half wild, unsociable natives had kept at proper
distance as long as their stubbornness had saved them from
their own weakness to defend their land by force. While
neither Great Britain nor Russia had won any security of
tenure before 1900, the serious efforts to acquire influence and
control in Tibet undertaken after that year were simply addi-
tional reasons for being bad friends with each other. An
almost inaccessible country, hard to reach because of the neces-
sity of crossing the highest and most unfriendly mountains in
the world, it was harder still for small bands of adventurers
to get into after the frontiers were reached, because the
Tibetans were inhospitable people who belligerently desired
only to be let alone. They had no wish to become a white
man’s burden. Their rudimentary life had nothing enchanting
to offer, unless it could be a queer kind of Buddhistic religion.
The land itself long remained uncharted; still is in parts only
poorly known. Until contemporary times its wealth remained
undivined, therefore unenticing, while even yet the quantity is
estimated with no degree of accuracy.®* After a while, how-
ever, Great Britain and Russia came to the conclusion that it
would be better for them if they became friends in spite of
Tibet. Even although animated by so noble a sentiment, it was
not easy to agree to be friends because of their intense mutual
distrust, and each wanted to be sure that no opportunity would
be left open to the other to steal a march in the future despite
their arrangement. Consequently it took a long time and much

2 Fraser, pp. 135-136.



178 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

wearisome argument to settle several remarkably unimportant
disputes.

If one wishes to become excited, and some do,® in a fine
frenzy of moral indignation, it can be shown that Great Britain
started to cast glances in the direction of Tibet late in the
eighteenth century, slowly slithering closer throughout the
next, fastening its tentacles around independent Nepal (by
1816), Bhutan (by 1865), and Sikkim (by 1861), both once
dependencies of Tibet, even while the Chinese empire was
formally recognized as the suzerain power of the land of the
lamas. Hereafter the way to Tibet itself was easier, for the
best route for penetration led through Sikkim into the narrow
Chumbi valley and across the Himalayas, inhabitable by white
men with some comfort. By 1890 the British encroachments
on Tibet picked up in pace. Hitherto no explanations by way
of justification had been needed; lack of success required none.
From the last decade of the nineteenth century, as successes
began to crown British enterprise, the fabrication of excuses
also commenced in order to put a decent and reassuring touch
to its activity. It was a misfortune that it seemed requisite
to make them; for, after all, no harm was really caused to
Tibet (it was too worthless), and Chinese suzerainty had
been for years little more than a politeness of speech. The
harm that was to result from the British expansion into Tibet
came when it created another region in which the culture of
Anglo-Russian suspicion could thrive. As yet, however, Russia
had hardly become possessively conscious of Tibet. Only
within recent times had huge chunks of central Asia been
absorbed; and Tibet lay still too far distant to make any more
exertion desirable. Once British designs upon Tibet became
clear, then Russia entered the scramble with no other excuse
than jealousy; and another bitter rivalry had its petty origin,
which had to be resolved as part of the convention of 1907.

Shortly before 1890 the Tibetans became involved in trivial
disputes with the population of Sikkim, and their primitive

b The complaining attitude of Indian subjects of Great Brita_in is‘especially
well known. Taraknath Das’ volume on British Expansion in Tibet is an
example.
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military inroads which followed were held to be a challenge
to British authority as the suzerain power of Sikkim. This
British claim ran directly counter to older Tibetan rights, but
a British punitive force drove out the Tibetans, who retreated
without attempting to fight. Their ‘“‘aggression and unneigh-
borly conduct” in a country formerly their vassal prompted
Great Britain to open up diplomatic communication with
China, as the suzerain of Tibet, but a year was frittered away
in desultory negotiation until ‘‘the stock of British patience
was exhausted.” © Only then did the Chinese stop exasper-
ating delays, and the Chinese Resident in Lhasa hastened down
to Calcutta, there to conclude on 17 March 1890 a convention
with Lord Lansdowne, the viceroy of India. The encroach-
ments of the British upon Sikkim at last won a legal reward
as China recognized the protectorate of Great Britain over
the small mountain country, which conferred ‘‘direct and
exclusive control over the internal administration and foreign
relations of that state’” upon the British government. The
convention reserved for later, mutually satisfactory settlement
several local, bucolic questions, most important among which
was ‘‘the question of providing increased facilities for trade
across the Sikkim-Tibet frontier.”” ® The regulations for these
reserved questions were only signed, after much dawdling, by
the British and Chinese commissioners on § December 1893.
So far as concerned the facilities for trade, a mart was to be
set up in Yatung, within the frontiers of Tibet, to which all
British traders were to have free access, full protection, and
every convenience, with no duty to pay for five years and with
British officers resident in the town at will to watch the condi-
tions for the British trade. Nothing was stipulated that in any
way could benefit Tibetan traders. There was also an addi-
tional political demand regulating the interchange of offcial
despatches, this to be accomplished with as much speed as
possible and the letters to be ‘“‘treated with due respect,” a
condition of later importance.®

¢B. D., IV, Editors’ Note, p. 305. Das, pp. 17-18.

4B. D., 1V, Editors’ Note p. 305. Accounts and Papers, LXVII (1904), 793.
Younghusband PP- 439-44

¢ Accounts and Papers, LXVII 808-809. Younghusband, pp. 440-441.
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The relations between the Tibetans and the British power
in India remained unimproved despite the convention and the
trade regulations. It would not have been difficult to have
established increased facilities for trade, because none had
previously existed. In fact, that there was any trade at all
which ought to be facilitated or protected was essentially a
myth, one of the first to do noble duty as a cloak for less hon-
orable ambitions. The science of statistics for the movement
of trade had already become so perfected that all but unim-
portant rivulets could be classified. Yet there are no official,
independent itemizations to prove the important extent or the
value of British trade with Tibet at the time of the regulations
of 1893, nor since the regulations to the conclusion of the
convention of 1907, and after." Of course some little swapping
must have taken place, but solicitude for an expanding, or even
an existing trade with Tibet never was a bona fide factor in
British relations and difficulties with China or with Russia.
After 1895 the efforts to delimit an actual boundary between
Tibet and India encountered the enmity of angry Tibetans,
who overturned boundary pillars with perverse regularity.
They furthermore violated the regulations of 1893, continuing
as of old to drive their flocks to pasture on lands within
Sikkim; and obdurately persisted in refusing to trade, as well
as obstructing the smooth flow of whatever trade there was.
Worst of all, they did not treat with due respect official letters
from the viceroy of India, the same remaining unanswered
and even being returned, on occasion, unopened. Neither the
British government nor the government of India, for a while,
took any extreme measures; but with the arrival of Lord

I The Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom aith Foreign
Countries and British Possessions, Compiled at the Customs House from docu-
ments collected by that Department, (London, annually), contains no separate
statistics for trade with Tibet in the volumes from 1895 to 1912, both inclusive.
This work is later referred to as Annual Statement of Trade. The Russian
Obzor vnyeshney torgovli Rossiy po Yewvropeyskoy i Aziatskoy granitsam, [Sur-
vey of the Foreign Trade of Russia over the European and Asiatic Frontiers],
a Work of the Statistical Division of the Department of Custems House Duties,
(St. Petersburg, annually), also contains no separate statistics for trade with
Tibet in the volumes from 1895 to 1912, both inclusive. The Russians, however,
at no time laid claim to any valuable trade with Tibet. This work is later
abbreviated as Obzor wvnyeshney torgovli Rossiy. See also Fraser, p. 146.
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Curzon as viceroy in 1898, British policy was forced out of
its lethargy.®

Lord Curzon's nervous excitability, and determination to
maintain and enhance the grandeur of Great Britain in strange
parts of the world, did not permit him to view unsatisfactory
relations with Tibet with equanimity. The Sino-Japanese war
had revealed the military powerlessness of China, and the lack
of control over Tibet had been proved by the past futility of
all negotiations through China as the intermediary. With an
unkind realism admirably adapted to his purpose, Curzon
explained that, because Chinese suzerainty over Tibet was
merely an outworn constitutional fiction, future communica-
tion with Tibet should be by direct correspondence, and this
proposal to remove China from the way was approved by the
British government at home." No more success with the
Tibetans greeted his literary efforts than his predecessors had
won, but Curzon felt the rebuffs as personal insults to his own
dignity equally as much as to British prestige. It was without
parallel that so important a personage should be ‘‘foiled by
the contemptuous silence of the Dalai Lama’ as though “he
were the representative of the pettiest of petty potentates,
with whom it was beneath the dignity of the Dalai Lama to
converse.”’ ' The failure of his diplomatic endeavors served
only to convince him of the need to use more forceful ways
of persuasion to bring the Tibetans to a decent respect of the
power which he represented. His conviction was intensified
by the first suspicious actions of Russia in Tibet, and Curzon
never could abide the presence of Russians in close proximity
to British interests or pretensions.

Russia had become interested in Tibet as a result of the
conquests of territories in central Asia, and of peaceful pene-

&B. D., 1V, Editors’ Note, p. 305. Ronaldshay, II, 204. Das, p. 27.

h Ronaldshay, II, 205. Das, pp. 33, 56. At this same period, but in reference
to Persia, Curzon excellently explained the nature of a ‘“constitutional fiction”:
“Within the limits of a nominally still existing integrity and independence so
many encroachments upon both these attributes are possible, that by almost
imperceptible degrees they pass into the realm of constitutional fiction, where
they may continue to provide an exercise for the speculations of the jurist,
long after they have been contemptuously ignored by statesmen.” B. D. 1V,
no. 319, p. 3s9.

! Ronaldshay, 11, 20s.



182 THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN CONVENTION OF 1907

tration into both Mongolia and Manchuria in satisfaction of
services rendered to China in the revision of the terms of the
peace of Shimonoseki of 1895 with Japan. It so happened that
large numbers of the native population in the regions recently
acquired or ardently coveted belonged to that particular brand
of Buddhism dispensed by the lamas and monks from Lhasa.
Russia then began to take an interest in Tibet, and based the
justification for it on purely religious motives, ‘‘due solely,”
as Count Lamsdorft still could assert in 1904, “to the large
number of Russian Buriats who regarded the Dalai Lama as
their Pope.” ! It was accurately, although less piously pre-
sumed that the newly discovered Russian interest in Tibet
could be traced to the influence of the lamas upon the Budd-
hist believers in those parts of Asia not yet effectively con-
trolled, and that that influence was not solely religious; for, if
Russia could win the favor of the lamas, these could materially
assist the Russian efforts to make placid subjects of the empire
the natives already snared, and to develop Russian influence
in those outlying provinces of the Celestial empire, lately
found so tempting. Russian foreign policy began to oppose
any change in the political position of Tibet, lest some other
nation should gain influence or control over the Buddhist lamas
to the detriment of Russian prospects outside Tibet.* The
greater activity shown by Great Britain in regard to Tibetan
affairs from the coming of Lord Curzon forthwith became a
matter of concern and suspicion to Russia.

Russian active interference in Tibet came only by 1898,
disguised in the person of a Siberian Buriat Buddhist belong-
ing to a monastic order in Lhasa, one Dorzhev by name. He
was often resident in Lhasa and kept in close relationship
with the Dalai Lama, and possibly may have come to be an
unofficial agent of the Russian government, although any
authorized connection was always denied. Everything that
Dorzhev may have attempted remains imperfectly known and
probably of little consequence, but he did work upon the Dalai
Lama in a sense favorable to Russia by means of valuable

I1B. D., 1V, no. 295, p. 3I11.
k 1bid., no. 307, pp. 327-328. Gwynn, I, 392, 415-416.
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presents, political advice, and alluring suggestions for religious
proselytizing in the Russian empire, and in the royal family.
His success culminated in a Tibetan spiritual mission to Russia
where it was received by the emperor and the empress. The
suspected deeper implications of the incident greatly disquieted
Great Britain, particularly because of the simultaneous ina-
bility of the government of India to obtain replies to commun-
ications sent to Lhasa.' In the years before 1902 Curzon had
prepared plans for the despatch of a mission to Tibet, empow-
ered to resort to force, to compel negotiations with the Tibe-
tans who had clearly shown that they desired none, to reéstab-
lish British prestige, and to act as balm for his wounded
dignity.™ The Russian solicitude for Tibet, itself in large
measure the result of the British activity, only gave rise to
additional distrust, and the rumors of secret agreements be-
tween Russia and Tibet and China increased the existing
tension throughout 1902. In his letter of 13 November to the
secretary of state for India, Curzon eagerly described himself
as a “‘firm believer in the existence of a secret understanding,
if not a secret treaty . . . and, as I have said before, I regard
it as a duty to frustrate this little game while there is yet
time. . . . I would not on any ground withdraw the mission. I
would inform China and Tibet that it was going; and go it
should.”

There were wiser and more cautious minds in the govern-
ment in London who did not relish the awkward relations with
Tibet, but who also were convinced of ‘“‘the growing dislike, if
not abhorence, of any forward move, or of any action likely
to entail military operations.” Lord George Hamilton, the
secretary of state for India, reminded the viceroy that a war
in Asia would be too costly, especially with the increasing
expense of naval construction in Europe, and that Great
Britain could not afford to be also in opposition to the strong-
est continental land power. Like gall and wormwood must
Lord George's observation have been that, if the matter were

1Gwynn, I, 362. B. D., 1V, no. 295, p. 311. Das, pp. 36-41.
m Ronaldshay, II, 208.
nIbid., p. 273.
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put to a vote, ‘‘there would be a disposition to abandon all our
present obligations, and to substitute nothing in their place
except an attempt to come to an understanding with Russia.” °
No such weakness ever daunted Lord Curzon's tenacity, and
another despatch had already been sent by him to L.ondon on 8
January 1903, to urge his forward policy to protect the “seri-
ously imperilled” British interests by means of an armed com-
mercial mission to Tibet, and the appointment of a permanent
British Resident in the capital.” The home government would
have none of such chauvinism and on 19 February, almost
unanimously, not wishing to incur the dangers of war, the
cabinet refused sanction to Curzon’s proposals. The next day,
when Lansdowne wrote this decision to the viceroy, for the
latter’s guidance he added the admonition that “it seems to me,
therefore, that the decision which was arrived at must be
taken, not only as regulating a particular transaction, but to a
large extent as governing our future policy in central Asia.” ¢
This was followed on the 27th by the further explanation that
the scheme could not then be sanctioned because the British
government was in communication with Russia, trying to
obtain a further definition of Russian policy in that part of the
world." When the request for a categorical statement of the
Russian intentions in Tibet was thrown up to him, Lamsdorft
was caught unprepared to make an immediate reply, and only
after some hesitation Count Benckendorft was authorized to
declare on 8 April that Russia had no ‘‘convention about Tibet,
either with Tibet itself, or with China, or with any one else,
nor had the Russian government any agents in that country, or
any intention of sending agents or missions there.” ® This
clear disclaimer of Russian designs upon Tibet sufficiently
removed British doubts so that the government in London
declined to accede to the request from the Indian government
that a permanent political agent should be stationed in Tibet.*

°Ibid., pp. 268-269.

PB. D., 1V, Editors’ Note, p. 305s.

4 Ronaldshay, II, 27s.

rIbid., p. 278. B. D., 1V, Editors’ Note, p. 305.

8 [bid., Editors’ Notes, pp. 305, 313; no. 295, p. 3II.
t Ibid., Editors’ Note, p. 313.
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Before the end of the year Lansdowne was engaged in his
serious, but also luckless attempt to reach a general under-
standing with Russia in Asia.

Lord Curzon’s government of India never for a moment
wavered or changed its views, persisted in believing in the
steady endeavors of Russia to gain political influence in Tibet
by unofhcial ruses, and prepared specific plans for a mission
into Tibet under the leadership of Colonel Francis Young-
husband. With the British position strengthened against com-
plications by the Anglo-Japanese alliance, and with Russia
becoming dangerously entangled with Japan over their Far
Eastern rivalry, the British cabinet, now reorganized after the
defection of Chamberlain and his followers, no longer seemed
able to resist Curzon’s unabated insistence upon an advance
into Tibet.* In the face of Tibetan refusals to enter any
negotiations, and the failure of the Chinese official to put in
an appearance, His Majesty's government felt that it would
be impossible not to take some action. Therefore, on 6 No-
vember 1903, the sanction for the advance of the mission
which Curzon had hatched was reluctantly telegraphed, quali-
fied by these clear limitations:

This step should be taken purely for the purpose of obtaining satisfaction,
that it should not be allowed to lead to occupation, or any form of
permanent intervention in Tibetan affairs, and that it should withdraw
as soon as reparation is obtained . . . and His Majesty’s government are
not prepared to establish a permanent mission in Tibet.

The Younghusband expedition, already at the frontier, was
quickly underway; but enough has already been mentioned of
the career of this aggressively ‘‘grandiose project’” and of the
Russian consternation when the news of it leaked out.¥ The

u Ronaldshay, II, 280. B. D., 1V, Editors’ Note, p. 313. D. D. F., IV, no. 388,
p. 532. Das, p. 64.

VB. D., 1V, the secretary of state for India to the government of India, p.
305. Ronaldshay, II, 280. Lee, II, 369.

¥ Tardieu, pp. 249-250. C. H. B F. P, 1II, 324. See above, pp. 67-70.
Spring Rice believed that British influence should have been wielded in Tibet
through gifts and through the lamas. He regretted Curzon’'s “more resounding
method” because “to win now we have to use a great amount of force and make
Russia the protector of Tibet against the foreign aggressor.” (Gwynn, I, 409.)
“The cardinal consideration with [the government of India] was to prevent
Tibet from falling under Russian influence.” (“The Durbar and After,” Round
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British cabinet experienced many anxious moments and feared
dangerous complications from the bold undertaking, from
which they were saved by the greater preoccupations, and the
paralysis of the power of Russia.”

The Younghusband expedition reached Lhasa in ample time
to spend the summer, marvelling at the quaint customs and
buildings, shipping generous quantities of valuable plunder
back to India, while waiting to start negotiations for satisfac-
tion and reparation with persons properly qualified to act for
the Dalai Lama. This personage had sought safety in flight
to the neighborhood of the lesser religious center of Urga in
Mongolia, where prudence bade him remain.” It made no
impression on the government of India that Lansdowne had
emphatically promised the Russian government that Great
Britain would not attempt to annex Tibet, or to establish a
protectorate over it, or to control its internal administration
in any way so long as no other power tried to intervene on its
own account.* No other power was trying; but the government
of India persisted in its plans for acquiring as great an influ-
ence over Tibetan affairs as it possibly could, once again
slipping out from the control of the home government to go
further than had been either desired or authorized.* By mid-

Table, 11 [1911-1912], 415.) “What . . . Lord Curzon wanted [was] an agent
at Lhasa.” Younghusband, p. vii.

xB. D., 1V, no. 289, pp. 306-307; no. 290, p. 307; no. 293, p. 310. C. H. B.
F, P, 111, 325. On 4 March 1904, Lady Curzon wrote from London these re-
vealing lines to Lord Curzon: “I think it would be very grave if a crisis hap-
pened in India now, as they [the cabinet] would tie your hands absolutely
here and you would have to resign. Tibet has frightened the whole cabinet,
and they think it rash and are frightened to death. People talk of it more than
of Russia, and their ignorance is amazing.” Ronaldshay, II, 344.

¥ Gwynn, II, 74. See Younghusband’s descriptive account of the expedition,
Pp. 84-307. A correspondent of the London Daily Chronicle is quoted as writ-
ing: “The expedition has looted monasteries, and for weeks past bales of plun-
der have been coming over the passes into India. Their contents have brought
joy to the officers’ wives and friends, whose houses in the hill stations began
to look as some of them looked after the sack of Peking four years ago.” Das,
p. 6s.
zB. D., IV, no. 293, p. j10.

4 Colonel Younghusband perfectly described the habit: “That strange force
which has so often driven the English forward against their will appears to
be in operation once more. It is certain that neither the British government nor

the British people wished to go to Lhasa. ... We have intended, and we have
publicly and solemnly declared our intention, not to intervene, or, if we have
to intervene, to withdraw immediately. . . . Somehow we have to intervene;

somehow we have to stay.” Younghusband, pp. 430, 437.
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summer 1904 the government of India had framed what
suited its estimation of the proper demands to make in the
conversations with Tibet. It sent them to the India office in
London as well as to Colonel Younghusband in Tibet, who
was to find out with what reception they would meet without
committing the government in any way, because the proposals
had not as yet been approved by the British government.
These demands entirely violated the solemn promises that
had been given to Russia, and they did not receive the assent
of the cabinet; but the government of India and its commis-
sioner were so wedded to the determination to stay in Tibet
and effectively to control its policy, that only one of the pro-
posals escaped inclusion in the treaty pressed upon Tibet.”
By dint of much strong language, Colonel Younghusband
successfully rounded up a quota of representatives of the
Tibetan government and from the three leading monasteries,
with a sufficiently important official to affix the seal of the
Dalai Lama, absent on tour. From this motley array he
extorted a convention signed on ‘‘the 27th day of the
seventh month of the Wood Dragon year,” prosaically on
7 September 19o4. There was still enough present to
throw together a disarming preamble proclaiming a desire
“to restore peace and amicable relations, and to resolve and
determine the doubts and difficulties” which of late “have
tended towards a disturbance of the relations of friendship
and good understanding which have existed.” Ten articles
followed which compelled such concessions from, and imposed
such restrictions upon Tibet as would insure the predominance
of British influence.° The Tibetans were first required to re-
affirm respect for the convention of 1890, and of the frontier
between Tibet and Sikkim, the effective starting point of
British aggression. In ardent pursuit of an elusive trade, new
Tibetan markets were to be opened forthwith in other towns,
and all the privileges and facilities conferred upon the British

bB. D, IV, no. 296, p. 312; Editors’ Note, pp. 313-314. Lee, II, 371. The
demand which failed envisaged a British Resident posted at Lhasa, or at worst
at Gyangtse, “to discuss matters” with Chinese or Tibetan officials.

¢The negotiations are recounted in Younghusband, pp. 231-307. The text of
the Lhasa convention is in B. D., IV, no. 298, pp. 314-316.
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merchants by the regulations of 1893 were to be maintained.
An indemnity of £500,000, the equivalent of seventy-five lakhs
of rupees, was exacted ‘‘for the expense incurred in the
despatch of armed troops to LLhasa to exact reparation for
breaches of treaty obligations and for the insults offered to
and attacks upon the British Commissioner and his following
and escort,” a sum calculated in accordance with a rate sug-
gested by the government of India.* This huge sum for an
impecunious people to pay was divided into seventy-five annual
instalments of rupees one lakh each on the first day of Janu-
uary, commencing in 1906; while as security “the British gov-
ernment shall continue to occupy the Chumbi valley until the
indemnity has been paid and until the trade marts have been
effectively opened for three years, whichever date may be
the later.”” Lastly of importance came an article which tied
Tibet in a straight-jacket in its relations with foreign powers.
No other state was to be let to intervene in Tibetan affairs,
to acquire or to occupy any territory, to gain a right to any
revenues, to send any representatives or agents into the coun-
try, or to obtain for itself or any of its subjects any concessions
or rights whatsoever, without the previous consent of Great
Britain.°

In everything except in name a British protectorate would
be established, and the Chinese government was properly con-
cerned lest its claim to suzerainty over Tibet should disappear.
The British government was willing to let a shadowy suze-
rainty remain, but distinctly warned China that it was not
expected that those rights would be exercised with extreme
effectiveness.” The Chinese were presented with the text of
an adhesion convention during 1905 by Great Britain, and
this action was held to show that the fact of Chinese suzerainty
was thereby recognized, although it was not emphasized that
its signature would also make valid the provisions of the Lhasa
agreement. Wearisome negotiations lasting to the end of the
year did not win Chinese acquiescence, and the British foreign

4 Ibid., no. 298, p. 315; no. 296, p. 312.
e [bid., no. 298, p. 316.
T Ibid., no. 300, and footnote 1, p. 318; no. 302, p. 32I.



THE ARRANGEMENT RESPECTING TIBET 189

office announced that it was not deemed worth while to con-
tinue them.® Possibly fearing the loss of position in Tibet, in
January 1906 the Chinese government offered to resume the
negotiations, which led to the convention signed at Peking on
27 April, whereby China agreed to the terms of the Lhasa
convention concerning Tibet with no important modification,
in return for a British engagement not to annex any Tibetan
territory, nor to interfere in the administration of Tibet. An
explicit recognition of the suzerainty of China may be hunted
in vain, and another stage in the wasting away of the Celestial
kingdom was confirmed.”

That the Russian government immediately took alarm at
the first rumors of the provisions of the LLhasa convention of
1904, which both Lansdowne and Hardinge had attempted to
minimize, has already been described. The British govern-
ment privately recognized that Younghusband had lost all
restraint, and that the agreement he concluded must be altered,
because the honor and the public policy of the nation were
involved.! The Russians were assuaged by LLansdowne who
explained that there would be no permanent occupation of
Tibet, no attempt made to deprive other powers of whatever
rights they possessed under existing treaties, and that the
Chumbi valley would be held only temporarily as a guarantee
for the payment of the reparations which had been demanded
from the outset. No sum would be stipulated that would be
more than the Tibetans could pay, and it was said in this
connection that ‘‘the indemnity of half a million sterling could
hardly be smaller.” ! Nevertheless, now that so strong a posi-
tion had been obtained for Great Britain in Tibet, even if by

g Ibid., no. 300, footnote 2, p. 319.

h Gwynn, II, 72. B. D. IV, Editors’ Note, p. 322. The text of the Peking
convention of 1906 is in ibid., no. 305, and enclosures, pp. 323-326. The negotia-
tion of this convention was of little moment in Anglo-Russian relations; Russia
was then in no condition to object effectively. Early in January Lamsdorff had
inquired about some rumors of Anglo-Chinese conversations, but allowed his
mild concern to be lulled by British characterizations of his information as
“purely imaginary,” which was momentarily true because the negotiations with
China happened to be suspended. Ibid., Editors’ Note, pp. 322-323; Appendix
III, p. 622.

1Lee, II, 371.

iB. D., IV, no. 299, p. 318; no. jor, p. 320; no. 303, pp. 321-322.
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broken promises to Russia and violated instructions, once
gained the government was reluctant to give up any more than
was compulsory. It would be ‘“‘a convenient means of disarm-
ing the opposition of other powers” to maintain in a general
way that the privileges actually won by Great Britain did not
harm their rights which had been previously secured.* Lans.
downe pointed out that the assurances given Russia *“‘must be
interpreted in a reasonable manner” because the Tibetans
had, indeed, behaved very badly.! Recourse was had once more
to a glittering concept, that of geographical propinquity, to
bolster British contentions; and it sounded quite well if the
isolation of Tibet from other countries, and the difficulty of
crossing the world’s tallest mountains in order to travel be-
tween India and Tibet were ignored. That this idea was
henceforth to be the prime justification for a privileged British
position was stated in an official formulation:

It would . . . probably be better to defend the agreement [of 1904] on
the ground that the only special privileges which it secures for Great
Britain are those which she has a right to claim as the power whose
geographical position entitles her to a preponderating political influence
in Tibet, and that the exercise of these privileges . . . is not likely to
have results injurious to other powers.™

In the end Great Britain had to relinquish very little of the
profits accruing from the forward policy of Lord Curzon and

k Ibid., no. 303, p. 32I.

11bid., no. 301, p. 320.

m Ihid., no. 303, p. 322. It was more than a thousand miles from the nearest
boundary, across dangerous country, before the Russians could reach the south-
ern frontier of Tibet and threaten the British power in India. There, “north
of Hindustan the greatest of mountain systems stretches for hundreds of miles
across inner Asia. Here, from table-lands that themselves overtop the highest
mountains of Europe, the titanic Himalayan peaks begin their rise into the
sky. . . . From northern India through Sikkim and southern Tibet the route
leads. In that broken land of mile-deep gorges the travelers trudge from the
tropics to the subarctic in a few hours; from valleys where gorgeous flowers
bloom and vivid parrots flash, to snowy passes where colossal icy sentinals like
Chomulhari stand guard. .

“On the wind-swept plateau of Tibet they march in winter garb, though
summer is so close behind. When the trail rises to hilltops they see mountain
splendor as men’s eyes seldom know, and at last, one morning, they see the
glory of the Everest group far ahead and get the first glimpse of that “rock
fang in the sky” where men before them have died.” L. H. Robbms, “Titanic
Peaks that Fling out Challenge,” New York Times, Magazine section, 26 March
1933, pp. 10, II.
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the disregard of instructions by Colonel Younghusband when
he imposed the Lhasa convention of 1904. In a declaration
appended to it when ratified on 11 November by Lord Ampt-
hill, the acting viceroy of India, that indemnity of seventy-five
lakhs of rupees, which “‘could hardly be smaller,” was reduced
to twenty-five, now payable in only three annual instalments
from funds which the Chinese government could advance for
Tibet. After the last payment had been received, the occupa-
tion of the Chumbi valley was to cease, provided that the trade
marts specified in the convention should meanwhile have been
effectively opened for three years." There were no other
modifications. Although Younghusband and other adherents
of the militant group bitterly lamented this concession, the
touchy incident of the Tibetan expedition sank into a welcome
quiescence, and no more protests came from the Russian gov-
ernment.° The next year was practically free of Anglo-Russian
interchanges over Tibet, and witnessed the resumption of the
attempts for an understanding in Asia by the Conservative
government in England, carried onward even more heartily
in the early months of 1906 by the Liberal successors. On 10
April, nearing the end of his own career, Lamsdorft charac-
terized the policy of his government towards Tibet as “one of
absolute non-intervention.”” Russia desired that Great Britain,
and all other nations, should leave Tibet alone, ‘“‘tranquil both
externally and internally.” » The declaration that Russia did
not wish to interfere in Tibet made enjoyable reading in the
British foreign office, but the implication that Great Britain
“should be equally debarred from all interference’” was not
relished, because it was not believed that the government of
India would appreciate such a limit on future action. The
British government was likewise unwilling to agree with Lams-
dorft’s views, because to do so would place Russia on an abso-
lute equality of position. This prospect made it really difhcult

to try for an agreement with Russia concerning Tibet, because
nB. D., IV, no. 298, p. 317; no. 310, p. 33I.

°C. H. B. F. P, 111, 325. Das, pp. 68-70.
PB. D, IV, no. 306, p. 326; no. 309, pp. 329-330.
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it seemed evident that the Russians would approach any nego.
tiation from that standpoint, which would be totally inadmis-
sable.?

Nevertheless the Liberal government and its foreign secre-
tary, Sir Edward Grey, had no love for the recent aggression
in Tibet, and preferred to reach a more enduring relationship
with Russia, for the realization of which the time seemed
ripe.” The Chinese adhesion to the Tibetan convention, which
would regularize the position that Great Britain had won in
Tibet, was nearly ready and would constitute a base from
which to begin the negotiations with Russia. By 16 April Grey
had decided that when Chinese adhesion was a reality, he
could then tell the Russians what had been done, what the
existing position was, ‘‘and suggest that it is very undesirable
to disturb Tibet, which is one of the few places in the world
where to leave things alone causes no inconvenience to any-
body.” * This was just as true in 1904 as when Grey wrote it,
except that the British influence had since been desirably ex-
tended and no inconvenience would be caused to maintain it, if
Russia could be persuaded to leave things alone in Tibet for-
evermore. After Izvolsky had become Russian foreign min-
ister towards the middle of May, and Sir Arthur Nicolson
had reached St. Petersburg near the end of the month, the
British government had ready a set of draft instructions for
attaining an arrangement respecting Tibet, by which the nego-
tiations for a general understanding with Russia should be
initiated. The instructions proceeded from the position that
Great Britain had sought no new advantages from Tibet dur-
ing the late disorders “‘except such as are necessary to secure
the full enjoyment of the rights” previously granted, and that
the government was ‘“most anxious to complete the evacua-
tion of Tibet;” but ‘it must be equally recognized that His
Majesty’s government could not admit the presence in Tibet
of Russian officials in any capacity whatever.” ' Armed with

a/bid., no. 307, minutes, p. 328.

rC.H. B. F. P, 11l 365. Gwynn, II, 74.
sIbid., p. 72. B. D., 1V, no. 307, minute, p. 328.
t [bid., no. 310, p. 331.
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these instructions, Nicolson proposed to Izvolsky that they
should ‘‘exchange views on several important matters, such as
Tibet and others,” and Izvolsky cordially agreed.

The Tibetan discussions were opened by Nicolson on 7 June
1906 when, after some preliminary explanations of the exist-
ing position, he disclosed the five points upon which he was
empowered to treat with Izvolsky. In the first place Russia
was expected to recognize, as Great Britain by implication
already had, the suzerainty of China over Tibet; to promise
to respect the territorial integrity of Tibet, and to refrain
from any meddling with its internal administration. Secondly,
the argument of geographical propinquity was pressed into
duty as the reason why Great Britain would expect Russian
recognition of its ‘“‘special interest in seeing that the external
relations of Tibet are not disturbed by any other power.” This
was the one demand that dogged the conversations the longest.
The third point was a mutual engagement not to send any
representatives to Lhasa, subsequently made more explicit to
read that no Russian officials should be permitted in Tibet in
any capacity whatsoever. This was followed by a reciprocal
self-denial of any attempt either to seek or to obtain any
concessions, commercial or otherwise, in Tibet on behalf of
the British or Russian governments, or for their subjects.
Lastly, both were to agree in the same manner that none of the
revenues of Tibet, in cash or also in kind, should be pledged
or assigned away. Izvolsky asked to be supplied with some
statement in writing of these points because it would be difh-
cult for him to recall them precisely, and he craved the indul-
gence of some little time to study the past records of a
question in which he was not well versed, in preparation for
his reply at a later meeting.”

Izvolsky's study of the past records was fruitful, and on
13 June he was able to tell the British ambassador that the

uIbid., no. 221, p. 237. Nicolson, pp. 215-217. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplo-
matique, 1, 303.

VB. D., 1V, no. 311, pp. 332-333; see also no. 224, p. 240. Nicolson, p. 219,
At the outset of the negotiations, Izvolsky apparently consulted with Bencken-
dorff over the terms of the Russian proposals for Tibet. Later on this method
was discontinued, and Benckendorff had to request information on the course
of the Persian conversations. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 310, 409.
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emperor himself had fully appreciated the liberal nature of the
British demands, which were satisfactory bases upon which
to proceed with the negotiations. Izvolsky expressed his belief
that there would be no serious difficulty in reaching agreement
on four of the five demands presented by Great Britain. He
felt uncertain, however, about the meaning of the second
point wherein Great Britain claimed as a special interest,
because of the geographical nearness to India, that the foreign
relations of Tibet should not be “‘disturbed” by any other
nation. Izvolsky said that “the word ‘disturbed’ somewhat
puzzled him,” and he inquired for an explanation as to how
much of a commotion would constitute a disturbance.” It also
appeared that Izvolsky had found among the past records a
couple of points of interest to Russia not covered in the British
draft. He suggested that if Russia should recognize British
special interests, it would only be fair that the ‘‘spiritual”
interest of Russia in Tibet should be acknowledged. He then
dilated on the orthodox Russian expression of this necessity:
that there was an important section of Buddhist subjects of
Russia who, “in view of their habitat and of their military
aptitude, looked to the Dalai Lama as their spiritual chief,”
so that Izvolsky ‘“did not see how it would be possible for
Russia to engage to abstain from all intercourse with the Dalai
ILLama without offending, and possibly estranging, her Buddhist
subjects.” It was desirable, therefore, that some loophole
should be left for Russia to communicate with whomever
should be the Dalai Lama ‘“‘on matters strictly and solely per-
taining to religious questions,”” permitting the Buriats to reach
their chief, and letting an occasional Tibetan religious mission
go to St. Petersburg.* Izvolsky had unearthed another point,
namely, that in recent years the Russian Geographical Society
had sent scientific parties into Tibet, which found out most of
what was known of Tibetan geography. Now Great Britain
proposed to exclude all Russian officials from Tibet, whereas

v B. D, IV, no. 313, p. 335; no. 314, p. 337. Nicolson, p. 219.

X On the Tibetan lamaism, customs and physical plant, see the descriptions in
Younghusband, op. cit., and C. Eliot, “The Buddhism of Tibet,” Quarterly
Review, CCIII (1905), 192-220.
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“every one of any note was an official of some sort in Russia.”
Surely the British did not desire to seclude Tibet from all out-
side contact, nor to bar men of learning from pursuing an
interest in Tibetan geography, which was ‘‘a perfectly non-
political and solely scientific object.” ¥ With this rejoinder by
Izvolsky, the important questions to be resolved concerning
Tibet in the coming conversations were disclosed.

Izvolsky’s reply gave Nicolson plenty to think about, and
he promised to refer to London for the views of his govern-
ment. He advised the foreign office that he expected the Rus-
stan minister would insist upon leaving the way clear for some
kind of relations with the Dalai Lama, as being something in
the nature of an equivalent for the British demand for the
right to regulate foreign affairs, and to determine the facilities
for commercial intercourse with Tibet. On the other hand,
Nicolson did not believe that the question of sending scientific
expeditions into Tibet would be pressed with equal insistence.
He suggested the attitude which the British government should
take towards this matter, which was eventually to be accepted
by the Russians and included in the final agreement. Rather
than to oppose the entrance of all such missions it could be
suggested that, for a specified term of years, both govern-
ments should agree not to send any scientific parties into Tibet,
thereby leaving the entire question open for definitive regula-
tion at some future time when ‘“‘the situation in Tibet was more
settled and satisfactory.” Before any further conversations
advanced the agreement, on 20 June Izvolsky turned up with
one last problem: they were proposing to make a settlement of
difficulties in Tibet, in which Great Britain demanded that no
Russian officials should appear. Hence it seemed essential to
come to an understanding of just what was comprised in Tibet.
During his researches Izvolsky had discovered that Tibet was
an inexact term, that it might be an expression used to indicate
geographical limits, or to describe an administrative unit. Now
the former was the more inclusive interpretation, ‘“‘as there
were certain districts in the northern and western parts of

YB. D, IV, no. 314, pp. 337-338.
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Tibet which lay within the boundaries of Tibet, but were not
under Tibetan administration.”” * In order to obviate any later
disagreement, Izvolsky wanted to know in what sense the
British government would interpret the expression Tibet:
although he could as well have guessed that this would be in
the most extended sense.

The discussions respecting Tibet were relatively easy to
handle, and the few difhculties encountered were settled in a
conciliatory spirit, even if at a sluggardly pace, so that “the
reluctant compromise was embodied in a convention which is a
masterpiece of drafting.” * The definition of the extent of
Tibet was not well known in London, so the government of
India was consulted by telegraph in what sense the expression
should be used, and was requested to advise how much terri-
tory was contained in the geographical area. That govern-
ment promptly answered with a description of the bounds of
geographical Tibet, and claimed:

The whole tract thus defined was within the plenary and autonomous
jurisdiction of the Tibetan authorities, so far as any jurisdiction could
be exercised over the northern portion, which is uninhabited during the
greater part of the year save by wandering hunters and gold-seekers.

The Indian government would have none of Izvolsky’s notion
of Tibet as an administrative unit, as one of the ordinary
provinces of China, especially because they held Tibet to be a
feudatory state under the suzerainty of China, already only a
constitutional fiction. In their presentation of the matter,
Tibet had large autonomous powers, among which was the
power ‘‘to conclude treaties with coterminous states’ on ques-
tions of the frontier and mutual trade. Nicolson was, there-
fore, instructed that in the conversations with Izvolsky, Tibet
was to be employed in a geographical sense.”

When this decision was told to Izvolsky in the middle of

zJbid., p. 338.

a Nicolson, p. 239. The correspondence relating to the negotiations on the
subject of Tibet is compressed for the greater part by the Editors of the British
Documents into one summary memorandum drawn up by 18 April 1907, in
striking contrast to the fulsome detail lavished upon the more vital difficulties
offered by Persia and Afghanistan. B. D., IV, no. 314, pp. 336-349.

b Jbid., p. 341.
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July, he only suggested that the geographical extent of Tibet
should be such as was recognized by China, whereupon the
matter was dropped until early in January 1907. At that time
Izvolsky reopened the subject because, ‘‘in order to know what
was forbidden ground and what not,” the boundaries of Tibet
would need to be described. Nicolson responded that he
thought it had been previously settled as consisting of the
territory which China considered to be Tibet, to which Izvol-
sky rejoined that it appeared that even the Chinese ‘‘did not
seem to have very clear and positive ideas on the subject.”
His assertion survived British investigation for, after making
inquiries, the Chinese could not discover any precise informa-
tion regarding the boundaries on the north and east of Tibet,
a failure which ought to have indicated a special urgency for
more of the scientific parties sent out by the Russian Geograph-
ical Society rather than for their suspension, as Great Britain
demanded. In the face of this lack of knowledge on the part
of the authorities most entitled to possess it, the British gov-
ernment fell back upon the Tibetan frontiers as formulated
by the government of India.© To these, however, Izvolsky was
opposed because, as could be anticipated, ‘“‘in his opinion these
limits were rather extended,” but he repeated his own unsatis-
factory proposal that the Chinese boundaries delimiting the
area should be accepted, as another opportunity for inquiring
about this problem from China would present itself later.
Nothing more, however, seems to have been done with this
question, and it may be an illustration of the “masterpiece of
drafting” that the arrangement respecting Tibet nowhere de-
scribed the geographical area of that which was Tibet.

The being styled the Dalai LLama, and the accessibility of

¢Ibid., pp. 341, 346.

41bid., p. 349. When China was informed of the conclusion of the Anglo-
Russian agreement respecting Tibet, a request was made that China should
define the boundaries of Tibet. The Chinese reply of 4 October 1907 was ex-
tremely touchy and ill-humored: “As regards the limits of Tibet . . . no change
has ever been made in them, and the old limits should be regarded as authorita-
tive. There is no necessity to send a definition of them. Nor is there any need
for a note on this subject.” After this display of temper, the question was not
taken up again with the Chinese government; and those authoritative, old limits
of Tibet, which it was unnecessary to define, remained “long and little known.”
Ibid., no. 543, pp. 603-604.
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his sacred person in Tibet to Russian Buddhist pilgrims, bulked
large in the conversations between Great Britain and Russia,
Since his flight from Tibet in 1904, His Holiness the Supreme
Head of the Tibetan people had passed, not unhappily, two
years in Mongolia as a guest of the local princes. A young
man around thirty-five he became, at last, restless to return to
the scenes of his supremacy, the more so because the Tashi
Lama, little his inferior and possessed of a religious adminis-
tration of his own, had flourished at LLhasa in his absence, and
had just been accorded a flattering reception in India by his
English and Hindu friends. The Russians also would like to
see him back in Lhasa, using his influence to promote Russian
ambitions in Mongolia and among its Buddhist subjects, and
counteracting the English-mindedness of his subordinate rival.
The Grand Lama expressed fears for his life on such a journey
to his Russian friends.® The Russian government wanted the
Dalai Lama to return, but once in Lhasa not to stir up trouble,
because he could count on no support or aid from Russian
sources. Something had to be done to screw up his courage,
and to dispel his fears for his safety; so the emperor of
Russia sent him a cordial telegram on 23 March /5 April
1906, possessed of no political significance, but intended to
reassure the lama and Buddhist communities within the em-
pire.. More tangible encouragement was oftered by some
Buriats, who banded together and armed themselves to furnish
an escort to conduct the Dalai Lama on the return route to
Lhasa. Only two weeks before he left office, Lamsdorft ad-
mitted that the escort was approved by his government, and
the British quickly countered that this escort “would give rise
to trouble.” ® ‘
The British protest complained that the armed escort would

e 1bid., no. 306, pp. 326-327; no. 307, pp. 327-328. Gwynn, II, 74.

tB. D, 1V, no. 306, p. 327; no. 309, p. 330.

g8 Ibid., no. 306, p. 327; no. 307, p. 327. The words were: “My numerous sub-
jects, professing the Buddhist faith, won the happiness of saluting their spiritual
chief during his sojourn in the north of Mongolia contiguous to the Russian
empire. Rejoicing that my subjects were able to receive a beneficent, spiritual
influence from Your Holiness, I beg you to believe my feeling of sincere grati-
tude and esteem towards you.” Ibid., no. 306, enclosure, p. 327.

h Ibid., no. 308, and footnotes 1, 2, and 3, p. 328.
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create disorders in Tibet, and was considered to be an inter-
vention in the internal affairs of the country now prohibited
by treaties, while the despatch of a new expedition was openly
threatened, however reluctant the British government would
be to undertake it. Grey proposed that the Russians should
issue the necessary orders to prevent the Buriats from crossing
over the Tibetan border, or to accompany the lama further on
his way.! Lamsdorft was willing to be conciliatory; there was
no wish on the part of Russia to interfere in Tibet, but the
Dalai Lama ought to return to I.hasa for the good of his
religious subjects of northern Asia. The Russian government
was not able to promise him a safe journey, nor could it well
refuse the request of loyal Buddhist disciples to guard the
sacred person of their master on his dangerous way home. It
was Lamsdorft's personal impression that the escort intended
to return as soon as the frontier was reached, but anyhow
“there never had been any question of the Buriats remaining
at Lhasa.” If he could do so by telegraph, he would try to
stop the escort at the frontier after it had turned over its
precious cargo to Tibetan coreligionists.! By the time Izvolsky
became foreign minister the whereabouts of the Dalai Lama
had become uncertain, but strict orders had been sent to keep
the Buriats out of Tibet if at all possible.*

The affairs of the Dalai Lama caused Izvolsky evident con-
cern, and his vacillation in handling it at times irked Sir Arthur
Nicolson.! Izvolsky realized the importance to Russia of hav-
ing the favorably disposed Dalai Lama return to Tibet but,
because he was conscious of British distrust, he asked whether
the presence of any Dalai Lama, or only of this one in particu-
lar, was opposed; and then at once requested this matter not

1 Ibid., no. 309, enclosure, p. 330.

11bid., no. 309, p. 329. The Russian government had sanctioned the armed
escort, “acting on the advice of the officials who had special knowledge of the
temper of the Siberian Buriats.”

kK Ibid., no. 311, p. 333.

1Ibid., no. 312, p. 334. Nicolson, p. 219. Benckendorff steadily advised
Izvolsky not to support the Dalai Lama or his desire to return to Tibet, where
his activity might give the British a pretext to send another expedition into the
country. Izvolsky determined to end Russian intrigues in Tibet so that the
negotiations with Great Britain could be conducted on firm ground. Izvolsky,
Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 300, 309, 319.
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to be mentioned to the British government.™ The British
foreign office did not desire the immediate return of this un-
friendly person whose actions, so Hardinge explained, had
once provoked a war, although in principle there would be no
objection to his return at some later, quieter time. Next, in
July 1906, Izvolsky veered around, as a result of further
study of the personality of the Dalai Lama, going so far as
to propose the determination of his future career by mutual
agreement, which was acceptable to the British government.
Nothing ever came of this suggestion, while the Chinese gov-
ernment during the autumn concerned itself with his wander-
ings. In October the British learned that the Chinese did not
want the lama to go back to LLhasa, and had taken him to the
town of Kanchan to keep him away from Russian influence.
A month later, on the contrary, Izvolsky announced that the
Chinese government were finding the holy man an “incon-
venient guest’’ and were urging him to resume his residence in
Tibet. The Dalai Lama was then stopping over in Gumbum,
where he had been informed that the Russian government
thought it was undesirable for him to return to Lhasa for the
present. British sources discovered that the influence of
Dorzhev was active again, and suspected that the Russians
actually were trying to keep the Dalai Lama at Gumbum in
order to gain the benefit of his influence over the Mongol
population, as Russian designs progressed for the control of
that still unexploited country.® The solicitude lavished upon
the person and the movements of this little known potentate
rapidly declined with the success of the conversations over
other Tibetan problems, and by the time that the Dalai L.ama

mpB. D, IV, no. 311, p. 333.

n Ibid., no. 314, p. 339.

°[bid., p. 342. For a few fleeting moments the Russians brought up the
question of their aggressive action in Mongolia, subsequent to the Russo-
Japanese war. The government would have been pleased if the British could,
in some way, agree to the maintenance of the status guo in Mongolia, which
would by then have favored the Russian position as against the lawful rights
of China. The British government was quite casual about the proposal, simply
stating that any approach of this nature which the Russian government might
choose to make would receive careful consideration. A Mongolian frontier
formula was afterwards bandied about during the spring of 1907, but eventually
the entire question was forgotten. Ibid., no. 262, and Editors’ Notes, pp. 284~

286; no. 280, p. 299; no. 314, pPp. 341-342.
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did reappear in Lhasa, where he received a good greeting, he
had ceased to trouble Anglo-Russian relations.”

Above every other consideration it was essential that there
should be a Dalai L.ama in Tibet in order to justify the Rus-
sian contention of spiritual interest in the country. Izvolsky
laid great emphasis on the maintenance of this spiritual con-
nection in behalf of the Buddhist population, and thought that
this argument should be accepted by Great Britain, if the
alleged special British interests arising out of the geographical
nearness of India to Tibet were to be admitted by Russia.®
In his remarkable studies on the Tibetan question, Izvolsky
ascertained in due time:

There was also a Tashi Lama, who had almost equal prerogatives, and,
as he understood, a separate administrative district. It was possible that,
in certain cases, the Russian Buddhists might find it necessary to be in
relations with the latter also.”

This was a perfectly true discovery, which bolstered the Rus-
sian proposal for direct religious communication and pilgrim-
ages into Tibet, whether or not a Dalai Lama should reside
within its boundaries. The advice of the government of India
was solicited from London, and in the reply of 13 July 1906
no desire was expressed to prevent the visitations of honest,
faithful pilgrims to the holy places as they had commonly
done in the past. No Russian representatives, however, were
to be allowed in Tibet since this would only lead to trouble,
because it would be impossible to draw a distinction between
political and religious matters. The Russians at once repeated
that only the preservation of the old relations had been re-
quested, whereby pilgrims brought money and presents to the
Dalai I.ama, and pointed out that no wish had been mentioned
to have an agent at Lhasa.®

The first Russian draft for an arrangement respecting Tibet
was handed to Nicolson on 8 October.! In this, at the end of

P Gwynn, II, 74. This is the Dalai Lama, potent in after years, who died at
Lhasa in December 1933.

4B. D., 1V, no. 313, p. 335; no. 314, p. 337.

rIbid., no. 314, p. 338.

sIbid., p. 340.

t Objections by the Russian general staff had delayed its submission nearly
a month. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 367.
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the second article, Izvolsky had included the Russian version
of the spiritual concern for Tibet, while including no reference
to the British claim of special interests in the field of Tibetan
foreign relations." In its phraseology the article gave equal
privileges to British Buddhists, although the brand of the
religion in India was not entirely the same. The British
reception of this particular point was not unfriendly, objection
being limited to a desire to see inserted some provision where-
by the two governments would try to prevent any visits from
taking on a political complexion. It was quite naturally sus-
pected that the effort might sometime be made to pass political
communications under the guise of a religious mission but,
with this act explicitly opposed, the British government felt it
would be in a stronger position to protest against any viola-
tion.Y In order to give effect to this view, Nicolson prepared
a revision of the second article in which he incorporated a long
addition designed to prevent any religious relations from
becoming political in character, and to promise that no politi-
cal communications would pass through religious hands into
Tibet. After this revised article had been approved in London,
Nicolson presented it to Izvolsky on § January 1907." The
latter, however, demurred against accepting this specific state-
ment, and countered ten days afterwards with his own reword-
ing, which provided in much weaker form that the two govern-
ments engaged not to permit these religious relations to injure
the other stipulations of the accord in so far as they could
prevent it. Izvolsky’s reason for refusing to agree to the
explicit British form was well founded: the Russian govern-
ment had elsewhere previously undertaken to negotiate with
Tibet only through the Chinese government, so that no use
could be made of religious pilgrims for passing political com-
munications if the terms of the agreement were observed. Sir
Edward Grey accepted Izvolsky’s version and considered that

uB. D, 1V, footnote 6, p. 342; p. 343. This part of the article read: “It is
clearly understood that Buddhists, whether Russian or British subjects, retain
the right of having direct relations on religious matters with the Dalai Lama
and other representatives of Buddhism in Tibet.”

vibid. p. 344.

w Ibid., footnote 8, p. 345.
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it gave adequate security against possible Russian political
designs in Tibet.* No further arguments resulted, and Izvol-
sky's text found its way into the final arrangement. The
Buriats could still have access to the sacred person of the
Dalai L.ama, and Tibet was not hermetically sealed against
the entrance of all subjects of the Russian empire.

The determination of Great Britain to keep all Russian
influence out of Tibet had been clearly revealed, but the
Russians were equally eager to close all ways by which British
interests could be advanced. The right of occupation of the
Chumbi valley for at least three years, and possibly for a
longer period if the Tibetans did not fulfil the terms of the
1904 convention, suggested possibilities which the Russians
wished to destroy. At the time of handing over the first draft
for a Tibetan accord, Izvolsky submitted a memorandum to
Nicolson in which he explained that it would be useful to
declare the temporary character of the British occupation
expressly in the agreement between the two governments.”
The government of India was consulted and it could neither
see any objection to repeating in the Russian agreement the
provisions of the viceroy’s amending declaration of 11 No-
vember 1904 and the Chinese acceptance in the adhesion con-
vention of 1906, nor any necessity for doing this in view of
the explicit statements already given to Russia of the intentions
of the British government.* The attitude of Izvolsky on this
question partly explained Nicolson's pessimistic misgivings at
the start of 1907. The foreign minister no longer seemed to
be content with a formal reassertion of the provisional nature
of the occupation of the Chumbi valley, but wished to have
an admission that the Lhasa convention should be revised if
the occupied valley were to be held for any reason beyond the
three years. Especially objectionable to Nicolson was the
insinuation that the British might indirectly instigate incidents
to justify the prolongation, and the fact that Izvolsky talked
as if Russian interests in Tibet were fully the equal of the

x Ibid., footnote 9, pp. 345-346; no. 549, p. 615.
¥ Ibid., no. 314, footnote 7, p. 343.
zIbid., p. 344.
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British; and doubtless Izvolsky felt that they were equally
real and justifiable.*

The British government authorized Nicolson to assure
Izvolsky that the statements regarding the occupation of the
little valley could be repeated in the agreement with Russia,
whereupon he wrote out a formula reciting the essential por-
tions of the viceroy’s declaration annexed to the Lhasa con-
vention, which he proposed should also be annexed to the
present agreement.” This procedure was approved both in
London and in India, while Nicolson’s formula was accept-
able, as far as it went, to Izvolsky; but it did not adequately
provide for future contingencies. Izvolsky, therefore, brought
forth a supplementary clause which read that “‘in the event of
anything occurring to prevent the evacuation, the definitive
term of the evacuation should be the subject of friendly nego-
tiation between the two governments.” More than the Rus-
sian government possibly realized, the Liberal cabinet had
not approved of the Tibetan policy of the last few years, and
were really anxious to get out of Tibet on scheduled time.
Izvolsky’s proposal was only inacceptable to them where a
discussion was contemplated for setting a definite term to the
occupation: that depended solely upon the fulfilment of the
conditions imposed upon Tibet; but it would be quite impos-
sible to discuss with Russia whether these stipulations had been
satisfactorily kept.® The British government did, however,
express its willingness to enter into an amicable exchange of
views with Russia if the occupation of the Chumbi valley were
continued for any reason, provided no definite time limit was
demanded within which the evacuation should be carried out.
When Izvolsky accepted, on 3 May 1907, this offer of a
general friendly discussion, the question of the Chumbi valley
was relegated to an annex to the proposed arrangement on
Tibet.* Doubtless Izvolsky felt satisfied that he had secured
concession enough to prevent an extended British occupation,

8 Ibid., no. 244, p. 266. lzvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, g12.
b B. D., 1V, no. 314, p. 345; footnote 10, p. 346.

¢ Ibid., p. 149.

4 1bid., no. 315, enclosure, p. 350.

e Ibid., no. 316, pp. 350-352; no. 317, p. 353-
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from which it would be easier for British influence to outstrip
that of Russia in Tibet.

In a way, it was a misfortune that Anglo-Russian suspicion
led to the exclusion of geographical and scientific parties of
exploration in Tibet. Little enough was known of this part
of the world. Expeditions into it would always be costly; the
knowledge brought back primarily of academic interest. Geo-
graphical discoveries could have embellished the cartogra-
pher’s art; new examplcs of flora and fauna might have graced
a few esoteric pages in the little-read book of some natural
scientist; while the accurate determination of the suspected
quantities of valuable minerals would for long have remained
worthless information, because of the inaccessibility of the
treasures. Izvolsky thought that the veto of such missions,
mostly undertaken by Russians, would be undesirable because
the objects were ‘‘perfectly non-political and solely scientific.” !
The British, however, were not so altruistic; doubtless it could
be a strain to determine with proper nicety when a scientific
mission slipped over into one for political, or commercial
purposes, and anyhow British missions had already been
prohibited, by their own government, for reasons not readily
apparent.® Yet in July 1906, in the course of a conversation
with Grey, Benckendorft explained that his government might
agree not to permit either Russian or British scientific missions
to enter Tibet for a term of five years. At the end of this
period, when conditions in Tibet had settled into some tran-
quillity, the question could again be considered and the prohi-
bition prolonged, if it then appeared desirable. The govern-
ment of India objected to any arrangement which would
“hamper their dealings” in Tibet; but the more conciliatory
men in London pointed out that such an attitude was not
conducive to successful negotiations with Russia, and that this
suggestion had come from the Russian side. Nicolson was
accordingly instructed to make the formal proposal to Izvol-
sky.®

TIbid., no. 313, p. 335; no. 314, p. 338.

E Ibid., no. 314, p. 340. .
hIbid., pp. 340-341. Izvolsky, Correspondance diplomatique, 1, 343.
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The Russian foreign minister now admitted that he thought
it was advisable to exclude all scientific expeditions from Tibet
for the present. He knew that he would be severely attacked
for this prohibition because it would, he had found out, arouse
much opposition in Russia. To obviate too formal announce-
ment of this restriction, the British had readily agreed that the
question of the scientific missions should not form an article
of the treaty proper, but should be treated in an exchange of
separate notes, to be done at the same time.! In February
1907 Nicolson gave a British draft for the note to Izvolsky,
in which Benckendorft’s original suggestion was worked out in
detail, with the prohibited period retained at five years.! This
note was left practically unaltered in the Russian reply, except
that Izvolsky reduced the time from five to three years within
which no scientific parties should cross the Tibetan frontiers,
and the problem was settled when the British government
accepted this formulation in its aide-memoire of 4 May.* Both
governments also agreed to approach the Chinese government
with a request that it should join with them in the eftort to
prevent the entry of scientific missions into Tibet for the same
three years. On 28 September the ministers of the two con-
tracting powers broached the matter to the Chinese. In its
reply of 4 October the Chinese government asserted that no
foreigners were permitted to travel in Tibet and that there
was every intention of pursuing this policy in the future,
although the British 